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TRANSPARENCY IN ACCOUNTING: PROPOSED
CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING FOR OFF-
BALANCE-SHEET ENTITIES

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2008

U.S. SENATE,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON SECURITIES, INSURANCE, AND
INVESTMENT, COMMITTEE ON BANKING, HOUSING, AND URBAN
AFFAIRS,
Washington, DC.

The Subcommittee met at 2:35 p.m., in room SD-538, Dirksen
Senate Office Building, Senator Jack Reed, (Chairman of the Sub-
committee) presiding.

OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN JACK REED

Chairman REED. The Subcommittee will come to order. Senator
Allard will be joining us in a moment. He is just moments away.

I want to thank the witnesses, not only the first panel but the
second panel. In the interest of time, I will go ahead and read my
statement and then ask Senator Allard to make his statement, in-
troduce the panel and ask for your statements. Thank you, gentle-
men, for joining us today.

At the outset, I want to acknowledge the importance of FASB’s
independence, and I appreciate their appearance before our Com-
mittee to discuss the topic of off-balance-sheet accounting. This
hearing is an opportunity to discuss some of the concerns with cur-
fent standards and FASB’s recent proposals to address these prob-
ems.

During the last 2 weeks, we have witnessed the most challenging
financial crisis since the Great Depression. The aftershocks from
these events continue and will be felt for many years. This pro-
longed crisis threatens not just individual firms, but the entire
global financial system. Moreover, the impact will be felt by fami-
lies, individuals, and businesses on Main Street as well as Wall
Street.

Given recent events, there is emerging consensus that companies
that have more accurately accounted for their balance sheets re-
main viable, while those companies that were slower to recognize
losses are punished by the marketplace. This is a clear signal for
investors that there is a premium on improved transparency. To-
day’s topic is at the heart of transparency in our markets: properly
acknowledging and understanding assets held off balance sheets.

Over the last year or so, we have seen revelations of a significant
build-up of off-balance-sheet exposures among some of the largest
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financial institutions. These exposures not only weaken these insti-
tutions but, indeed, place significant risks on the entire financial
system, contributing to the severity of the current crisis.

This phenomenon of moving assets off the balance sheets is ee-
rily familiar. We recall back in the days of Enron that its schemes
to manufacture false profits included special purpose entities that
conducted transactions off-balance sheet. The goal was to avoid fi-
nancial reporting. While no one is necessarily suggesting scandals
of the Enron kind, we cannot fail to admit the irony. We are deal-
ing with a similar problem yet again, only 6 years later.

Many experts, market participants, investors, and regulators
have been calling for a change in this area. Reports and rec-
ommendations of the Financial Stability Forum, the President’s
Working Group, and recently the private sector-led Counterparty
Risk Management Policy Group III all similarly recommended a
more rigorous accounting of off-balance-sheet vehicles in order to
provide a more accurate view of a company’s exposures.

The drivers of the subprime crisis were not only excess liquidity,
leverage, complex products, and distorted incentives, but account-
ing rules that allowed mortgage-backed securities be held off the
balance sheet. The securities packaged from these mortgages, many
of them risky subprime mortgages, remain far from the view of in-
vestors and less closely reviewed by regulators. If we have learned
anything from this recent mortgage mess—and I hope that we
have—it is that we need more transparency in our markets, not
less. Holding large amounts of assets off-balance sheet is not more
transparency. If firms hold such risk, it should be disclosed so that
investors can decide whether they are comfortable with such risk.
Given the current state of the financial sector, this is the time to
shore up confidence in our financial sector, not undermine.

FASB has wrestled with accounting for securitization for over
two decades. Most recently, FASB issued a rule in 2000 and then
additional guidance after the Enron disaster to address accounting
for securitizations and off-balance-sheet entities. In April of this
year, FASB voted to remove a designation known as a “qualified
special purpose entity,” or QSPE, which allows firms to move their
mortgage-backed securities off the balance sheet. These changes
were voted on in July and will now be effective in 2010. On Mon-
day, FASB issued exposure drafts for review and comment.

Now is the time to initiate these changes and to ensure that they
provide thorough transparency so that risk may be properly as-
sessed. With today’s hearing, we hope that we can, first, begin to
evaluate whether the proposed changes result in sufficient trans-
parency and bring appropriate market discipline to the process;
and, second, understand whether or not there is sufficient enforce-
ment of these rules to ensure they are implemented as written.

Though the topic may be technical and complex, its implications
are known. There is a real impact on investors, including many of
us who hold pensions and other savings. It matters to anyone with
mutual fund investments who want to know that their fund man-
agers can review all possible information in making investment de-
cisions with their money. And there is a real impact and con-
sequence for financial regulators who ought to be fully aware of the
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concentration of risk for the firms and, indeed, the health of the en-
tire financial system and the economy.

The ghost of Enron should be laid to rest finally. So let’s learn
from our mistakes and move forward for a stronger financial sector
and a stronger economy that investors at all levels can have con-
fidence in.

Now I would like to recognize the Ranking Member, my colleague
Senator Allard, for his statement.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR WAYNE ALLARD

Senator ALLARD. Mr. Chairman, thank you for convening today’s
hearing. I would like to welcome our panelists as we examine the
updated FASB rules regarding accounting practices and off-bal-
ance-sheet entity disclosure, and I look forward to the opportunity
to hear from our guests.

Off-balance-sheet finance is an accounting technique in which a
company’s debt obligation does not appear on the balance sheet as
a liability. Keeping that off the balance sheet allows a company to
appear more creditworthy but can misrepresent the firm’s financial
structure to creditors, shareholders, and the public.

It is critical that accounting methods for financial institutions
yield an accurate and transparent representation. In the past, com-
panies such as Enron have diminished our confidence in accounting
methods by not being open and forthright.

Other current economic concerns, including the mortgage crises,
have been blamed in part on opaque and obtuse accounting meth-
ods. In light of today’s markets, it is of the utmost importance that
accounting is regulated in a way that bolsters confidence by being
precise, comprehensive, and open.

Many people are asking how we reached this point. I think one
of the reasons is that we do not know the full extent of risk institu-
tions were involved in. Healthy risk can bring positive benefits to
a company. However, investors and regulators must be given a full
and total understanding of what risk is being undertaken.

Accounting practices that do not accurately represent a com-
pany’s actual position are detrimental and have played a substan-
tial role in creating financial turmoil. FASB has proposed changes
to its accounting rules that could potentially alter the way banks,
financial institutions, and other companies account for off-balance-
sheet assets. I am interested to see how these FASB regulations
could change long-term accounting practices. These new rules force
companies to be more careful, carefully consider which of their as-
sets they have effectively control over, and could have an impact
on how assets are accounted for. Bringing enhanced clarity to the
marketplace has the potential to shore up confidence and promote
stability.

On another note, this is most likely the last hearing for the Secu-
rities Subcommittee, so I want to take a moment to express my
deep appreciation to Chairman Jack Reed. He has been not only a
colleague but also a friend to me during my time here in the Sen-
ate. We served on a number of committees together. I think this
is our fourth or so that we have served on together through our
term. While some of the people here today may not know it, I have
been fortunate enough to share leadership with him on four dif-
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ferent Subcommittees: Securities, Insurance, and Investment; and
Housing and Transportation on the Banking Committee; and Per-
sonnel and Strategic Forces on Armed Services. I have consistently
found both him and his staff a pleasure to work with, no matter
what the issue, and he brings a thoughtful, insightful perspective.

In an increasingly partisan atmosphere, it has been refreshing to
find someone who is willing to put politics aside and work together
for productive, common-sense solutions to some of the problems fac-
ing our country. His willingness to work together has allowed us
to make progress in important areas, such as preventing and end-
ing homelessness and improving access to reverse mortgages for
seniors. Whether in hearings or work on legislation, Senator Reed
is a true gentleman, and I have always looked forward to the op-
portunity to work with him. His commitment to public service is
commendable, and I wish him and his staff all the best.

Again, thank you to our witnesses for being here today, and I
look forward to your testimony.

Chairman REED. Well, thank you, Senator Allard, not only for
your statement but for those very, very kind words. And I must re-
spond, it has similarly been a pleasure for me to work with you.
And we have, both on the Armed Services Committee and the
Banking Committee, seemed fated to be Chair, Ranking Member,
and then switch to be Ranking Member and Chair. And it has been
a pleasure, and your staff, as yourself, have been extraordinarily
kind to work with, and I appreciate it very much. One might hope
this is the last Subcommittee hearing of this Congress. [Laughter.]

Chairman REED. But if we meet again, it will still be a pleasure,
and I wish you the best as you embark on your different endeavors.
But thank you very much, Wayne.

Senator ALLARD. Thank you. I think we set an example perhaps
for how we can work together in a bipartisan way. So thank you.

Chairman REED. Thank you.

Now let me introduce our panel. First, Mr. Lawrence Smith has
served on the Board of the Financial Accounting Standards Board,
FASB, since 2007 and has led the efforts to address off-balance-
sheet accounting issues at FASB. Thank you very much, Mr.
Smith.

John White is the Director of the Division of Corporation Finance
at the Securities and Exchange Commission. Prior to his work at
the SEC, he was a partner in the law firm of Cravath, Swaine &
Moore. In his position there, among other responsibilities, he ad-
vised companies on corporate governance and public reporting re-
sponsibilities.

James Kroeker is the Deputy Chief Accountant at the SEC, and
prior to this position, he was at Deloitte as a partner in the Na-
tional Accounting Services Group, where he provided consultation
on accounting standards.

We will begin with Mr. Smith, and I assume Mr. White will have
a statement, and Mr. Kroeker will be available to respond to ques-
tions as well.

Mr. Smith, please.
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STATEMENT OF LAWRENCE SMITH, BOARD MEMBER,
FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD (FASB)

Mr. SMITH. Chairman Reed and Ranking Member Allard, good
afternoon. I am Larry Smith, a member of the Financial Account-
ing Standards Board. I am pleased to appear before you today on
behalf of the FASB, and I thank you for inviting me to participate
at this very important hearing.

The FASB is an independent private sector organization. Our
ability to conduct our work in a thorough and unbiased manner is
fundamental to achieving our mission, which is to establish and
improve general purpose standards of financial accounting and re-
porting for both public and private enterprises.

As significant reporting issues arise, the Board endeavors to un-
derstand those issues and to identify the reasons why they arose.
The events that have occurred recently in the credit markets cre-
ated such a review, and the Board accelerated its work in several
specific areas.

While we have been working on a number of different projects
to address the reporting issues we identified, it is important to un-
derstand and acknowledge that good financial reporting requires
both sound standards as well as faithful application of those stand-
ards.

For example, the two standards that are the focus of my testi-
mony—Statement 140, which address the sale of receivables, as
well as other financial instruments; and Interpretation 46(R),
which addresses the consolidation of variable interest entities,
which includes most securitization vehicles—both include disclo-
sure requirements regarding the extent of involvement with an en-
tity holding receivables.

Also, in 2005, the Board issued guidance in response to the pro-
liferation of loans with non-traditional characteristics to reinforce
the extensive accounting and disclosure requirements that are ap-
plicable to such products. Yet users have noted that such disclo-
sures were often missing from financial statements.

The two fundamental issues identified as problematic in State-
ment 140 and Interpretation 46(R) are the concepts of QSPEs,
which were meant to be pass-through entities that have minimal
decisionmaking authority and were, therefore, exempt from consoli-
dation, and reliance on a mathematical calculation to assess wheth-
er a holder of an interest in an SPE should consolidate that entity.

On Monday, the Board issued three interrelated exposure drafts
that address these issues. Specifically, the Board is exposing for
comment: one, that we eliminate the concept of the QSPE from our
literature such that all entities will be subject to our consolidation
principles; two, that we first require a qualitative assessment of
control be performed to determine whether an interest holder
should consolidate an entity in which it holds an interest; and,
three, improvements in disclosures to better enable users to assess
the extent to which an entity is involved with another entity, the
related potential risks related to that involvement, the degree to
which consolidated assets are restricted, as well as the judgments
and assumptions made in determining whether an entity should be
consolidated.
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You might ask, If we are eliminating QSPEs now, why did the
FASB create them in the first place? The Board at the time created
the concept to allow securitization transactions to be reported as
sales of receivables because the QSPE’s activities were supposed to
be significantly limited and entirely specified. In other words, they
were supposed to be simple pass-through entities. However, prac-
tices have evolved significantly such that the qualifying criteria
have been stretched well beyond the original intent and require-
ments of Statement 140. The Board no longer believes the concept
of a QSPE is workable since practice has shown that there are few
assets capable of being managed when the activities of the man-
ager of those assets are significantly limited and entirely specified.

You might also ask, If the FASB believes that a qualification as-
sessment of control is better than the mathematical calculation cur-
rently required, why didn’t the FASB require that in the first
place?

When 46(R) was written the Board thought the mathematical
calculation of expected losses would be a good indicator of who ulti-
mately controls the entity. However, we have seen in practice that
people have engineered around the math to avoid consolidation.
Some people have also questioned whether some of the probability
assessments made in connection with estimating expected losses
truly reflected the risks of those interests. Blind exuberance may
have contributed to overlooking some of the risks faced by those in-
volved with these entities, such as some risks like liquidity risk
and reputation risk which were virtually ignored. We believe it will
be more difficult to ignore these risks through a qualitative assess-
ment.

The Board is proposing that both the elimination of QSPEs from
Statement 140 and the requirement to first use a qualitative as-
sessment of control under Interpretation 46(R) be effective for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2009. The Board would have
liked to have eliminated the QSPE concept and required the quali-
tative assessment earlier. However, discussions with banking regu-
lators and preparers lead us to conclude that the consequential
consideration of regulatory capital requirements and other changes
are impossible to address any earlier. However, we have not de-
layed the improvements in financial statement disclosures. The ex-
posure draft proposes that these disclosure improvements be re-
quired for financial periods ending after the guidance is finalized,
which we expect to be late this year. We believe that the required
financial statement disclosures will enable investors to understand
a transferor’s continuing involvement in the financial assets that
have been transferred to an SPE, the nature of any restrictions on
those assets that continue to be reported by an entity in its balance
sheet, the judgments and assumptions made by the enterprise in
determining whether it must consolidate the variable interest enti-
ty, the involvement of an entity with a variable interest entity, and
the nature of and changes in the risks associated with an entity’s
involvement with a VIE.

The FASB shares your Subcommittee’s concerns about the role
off-balance-sheet entities have played in the current financial cri-
sis, and we are working hard to address the shortcomings in finan-
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cial reporting. We encourage all interested parties to provide us
comments on the three exposure drafts we issued earlier this week.

In closing, I again want to emphasize that good financial report-
ing requires both sound standards as well as faithful application of
those standards.

Thank you again, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Allard. I very
much appreciate your continuing interest in and support of the
mission and the activities of the FASB.

Chairman REED. Thank you, Mr. Smith.

Mr. White.

STATEMENT OF JOHN W. WHITE, DIRECTOR, DIVISION OF
CORPORATION FINANCE, SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COM-
MISSION, AND JAMES L. KROEKER, DEPUTY CHIEF AC-
COUNTANT, SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Mr. WHITE. Good afternoon. I would like to thank you, Chairman
Reed and Ranking Member Allard, for the opportunity to testify
today, along with Jim Kroeker, on behalf of the Securities and Ex-
change Commission.

I am going to start off by discussing transparency and disclosure
of off-balance-sheet arrangements, and then I am actually going to
ask Jim to complete our opening remarks with a discussion of our
work with the FASB, if that would be OK.

Chairman REED. Fine.

Mr(.1 WHITE. We also have submitted a written statement for the
record.

Starting with transparency, transparency is the bedrock of good
disclosure, and it allows investors to make informed decisions.
Clear and understandable information about a company and the
risk that it faces reduces uncertainty in the market. And, of course,
capital markets are constantly changing, and as markets change,
risks change; financial products change; and so a company’s disclo-
sure needs to change as well.

In response to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Commission in 2003
adopted a significant set of changes in the way that companies dis-
close information about off-balance-sheet arrangements. And as a
result of those disclosure rules, today financial institutions must
disclose extensive information about off-balance-sheet arrange-
ments if—and I underline the “if”—the arrangements are reason-
ably likely to have a current or future material effect on the com-
pany’s financial condition, revenues, expenses, or liquidity.

At the Commission, since the adoption of those requirements in
2003, we have continued to focus on enhancing transparency, and
in recent months alone, we have taken a number of actions aimed
at improving the disclosure requirements that came out in 2003,
including last December issuing a letter to the CFOs of over 25
large financial institutions about making additional off-balance-
sheet disclosures; in January of this year issuing a letter providing
additional guidance on the application of FAS 140; in March
issuing another letter about additional fair value disclosures; in
July we had a roundtable on fair value; in August we had a round-
table on market turmoil; and just this week we issued another let-
ter to over 25 financial institutions covering additional transparent
disclosure of fair value calculations.
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In addition to those activities, we continue to have our regular
ongoing work of reviewing the financial statements of every public
company, including all public financial institutions, at least once
every 3 years. So I think it is fair to say that we have a fair
amount of activity in this area at the Commission, both at the
Commission level and the staff level.

So that is what is happening on the disclosure front. I am going
to turn it over to Jim to talk about what is happened in our role
with the FASB.

Mr. KROEKER. I would also like to thank you, Chairman Reed
and Ranking Member Allard, for the opportunity to testify today.

The continued review of the effectiveness of existing accounting
standards for off-balance-sheet arrangements and the recent cap-
ital market pressures have highlighted the need for improvement
in the existing accounting guidance for off-balance-sheet arrange-
ments.

As you are aware, the FASB issued FIN 46(R) to improve the ac-
counting for off-balance-sheet arrangements after the Enron fall-
out. However, FIN 46(R) provided a scope exception for certain pas-
sive trusts, such as those commonly used in bank securitization
transactions.

To address the current issues related to off-balance-sheet ac-
counting, in January 2008, the Commission staff asked the FASB
to consider the need for improvements to the accounting guidance
and the disclosures for such transactions, including securitizations.
Based on the potential far-reaching impact of this accounting topic
and the important due process procedures required to evaluate and
implement the potential changes, the speed at which the FASB has
moved this project forward is commendable.

In November 2008, after a 60-day comment period, we expect the
FASB to host a public roundtable on their proposed amendments.
If the FASB adopts the proposed rule and the changes described
earlier by Larry, we expect that the SPE sponsors of such off-bal-
ance-sheet arrangements would consolidate some larger portion of
existing off-balance-sheet transactions, including some portion of
existing QSPEs, SIVs, and commercial paper conduits.

We believe that the proposed amendments hold promise in en-
hancing the transparency around the financial reporting for off-bal-
ance-sheet transactions, and we continue to monitor the effective-
ness of any changes and mandate further changes if necessary.

As John mentioned earlier, the Division of Corporation Finance
reviews the financial statements of every public company, including
financial institutions, at least once every 3 years. This effort is
aimed at enhancing disclosure and at improving compliance with
Federal securities laws.

In addition to this work, another important aspect of our involve-
ment in accounting standards is the rigorous enforcement of Fed-
eral securities laws. The Commission regularly investigates allega-
tions of accounting irregularities and reporting violations, including
those related to off-balance-sheet accounting. Just to highlight a re-
cent example, the Commission has brought action involving allega-
tions of improper accounting for mortgage securitizations by three
NYSE-listed Puerto Rican financial institutions. Additional exam-
ples of enforcement in this area are included in our written testi-
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mony. The Division of Enforcement will pursue allegations such as
these whenever warranted.

We look forward to evaluating the FASB’s exposure draft and the
related comment letters that they received, and, again, I want to
thank you for holding this hearing, and we would be happy to ad-
dress any questions that you might have.

Chairman REED. Well, thank you very much, gentlemen, for your
testimony.

Mr. Smith, you indicated in your testimony that there are short-
comings with the current rule, and that has prompted the reevalu-
ation by FASB. Could you highlight in more detail some of the
shortcomings with the current rule that you are trying to address
with this new rulemaking?

Mr. SMITH. Sure. First I will talk about 140. 140 has a concept
called “qualified special purpose entities,” QSPEs, and basically, as
the Board has discussed this over some time, the Board believed
that QSPEs should be brain-dead or pass-through entities. So, ef-
fectively, the person that is servicing the loans that are held by a
QSPE should not have any significant decisionmaking authority
over them.

Over time, as things change, et cetera, more and more different
types of assets or different types of receivables have been put into
QSPEs, such that the application and practice has been that
QSPEs are holding probably, you know, different types of assets
than the Board originally envisioned.

We went back and tried to—when we were dealing with this
issue—and we have been dealing with this issue for a number of
years. We tried to figure out ways to put parameters around the
operations of the QSPE in terms of defining the types of assets that
could go in, the types of activities or decisions that can be made.
But, ultimately, after careful consideration of existing structures,
et cetera, we decided that that was impossible and felt that be-
cause the QSPE is an exception to current accounting rule, we
should just eliminate that conception and fall back on the principle
regarding whether an entity holding those receivables should be
consolidated.

Now, in terms of the application of 46(R), which is the other one
that I mentioned, 46(R) was in direct response to Enron, and the
mathematical calculation that was put into place to determine
whether an entity should consolidate an entity was based upon the
expectation that the holder of an interest that has the most ex-
pected losses, that would absorb the most expected losses or reap
the most benefits would be effectively the entity that controlled
that special purpose entity.

Well, as time has gone on, people have engineered around that
concept. There have been various mechanisms put in place. Just
one example is an expected loss tranche, which is a way of getting
a group of investors that hold a fairly minor position in the special
purpose entity to absorb those losses, yet they have no other rights
associated with it. If those expected losses occurred, they would
lose their investment period, and that is all they could do. But yet,
because of the application of the math, they were deemed to be the
primary beneficiary, yet there were other people or holders of inter-
ests who had much greater potential risks.
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We also think that contributing to this was, you know, the overly
optimistic assessments of probabilities of expected losses. So the
Board decided that we should first consider some qualitative as-
pects of control, you know, whether from a practical standpoint the
combination of different interests effectively put another—a holder
of those interests in control rather than rely on the math, hoping,
truly hoping that people cannot structure around it the way they
can the math.

So that is what we have done. You know, we have put it out for
comment, and we will see what people say.

Chairman REED. I understand the proposal has as a default posi-
tion the quantitative measure, that if the qualitative approach does
not work, what is to prevent someone from doing sort of a paper
drill, you know, a qualitative analysis to satisfy Mr. White and Mr.
Kroeker and their colleagues and then essentially just say, well,
here is the number, and——

Mr. SMITH. We will fall back on——

Chairman REED [continuing]. We got this, this is under the rule?
We are right back where we started from?

Mr. SMITH. I will comment on that in two respects. First of all,
we put the fallback position in the exposure draft and put it out
for exposure and people to comment on. Whether we continue to
rely on that fallback position remains to be seen. A number of us
were uncomfortable with just removing the math to start out with.

We have also put in the standard—I think it is nine different ex-
amples of fairly common structures that you will see out there, and
put at least our assessment of whether in those situations someone
should consolidate. So we have given some illustrative guidance to
people in terms of how to apply this in the future, which we hope
will overcome that.

The staff at the FASB does not think there will be any situations
where people fall back on the math.

Chairman REED. I understand ISB does not use the quantitative
approach. They use the qualitative approach. Is that accurate?

Mr. SMITH. That is true. Currently, they have a standard that re-
quires a qualitative assessment. It is not the same as ours, but it
has similarities to ours. And at the same time, they are also taking
a more fundamental look at their consolidation model in general,
which, in fact, was the subject of—at least a staff draft was the
subject of a roundtable over in London just 2 days ago.

Chairman REED. What I think would make sense is let me finish
my questions of Mr. Smith and then ask Senator Allard for ques-
tions, and then we will do a second round, and I will have some
questions for Mr. White and Mr. Kroeker.

The purpose of some of the expansion, or whatever the right
term is, the use of the rules or the misuse of the rules, to avoid
regulatory oversight, to not diminish capital on, you know, the
overall institution. What do you feel is driving the creative use, if
you will, in retrospect of these rules?

Mr. SMITH. I think it is a combination of factors. I think eco-
nomic times informs people’s behavior. I think the complexity of
securitization transactions are tremendous. It is not—at least what
I have been told, it is not unusual for a particular securitization
transaction to have a stack of legal papers perhaps this high. So
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there might be, you know, some overlooking of certain require-
ments that are embedded in some of those legal documents.

I also believe that, you know, people looked at certain aspects of
what was permitted before and then evaluated something fairly
similar, but let’s say just a little bit over the line, and said, “Well,
that must be OK because it is only a little bit over the line.” And
over time, these practices just stretch.

A lot of people thought that securitization transactions through
QSPEs were permitted, and we had some guidance in terms of how
to apply that. And they looked to those and then made their own
interpretations themselves. But I think over time it is just that,
you know, things stretch. And that is what happens when you
have—when you basically have exceptions to accounting principles.
You know, we have been criticized for being overly rules based in
this country and that exceptions have really effectively created a
lot of those rules. And now we are going back, and we are trying
to eliminate them.

Chairman REED. Thank you, Mr. Smith.

Senator Allard, and then we will do a second round.

Senator ALLARD. If we were to apply the more stringent and dif-
ferent off-balance-sheet entity regulations and they were active sev-
eral years ago, would the mortgage crisis be worse today, or better?
Or where would we stand?

Mr. SMITH. I do not know the answer to that question. I mean,
it would be conjecture on my part as to try to say what would have
happened in terms of the extent to which people, you know, would
have entered into these transactions had other rules been in place.
I really do not know the answer to that question.

Senator ALLARD. So when we come to the case of securitized
mortgages, then you would not have an automatic pass-through
then. I would assume they are sort of considered special purpose
entities.

Mr. SMITH. Right.

Senator ALLARD. And so then they would not be just a pass-
through group. They would have—well, you do not even have them
now. But you have some mechanism now where they would be re-
calculated or reassessed as far as risk. Is that right?

Mr. SMITH. Yes. If we remove the QSPE status, there will still
be a vehicle that hold these mortgages, and what will happen is
there will be an evaluation of the roles and responsibilities of the
different parties who hold interest in these transactions to assess
who ultimately controls the entity. And it is usually a combination
of the ability to prescribe what types of assets go into the entity
to begin with, combined with the ability to service those assets, and
perhaps combine with some type of a liquidity guarantee or credit
guarantee or something like that.

Senator ALLARD. Now, just recently, Fannie Mae and Freddie
Mac have been basically taken over by the Government. Do these
accounting rules apply now to a Government agency in this par-
ticular instance?

Mr. SMITH. Well, if they continue to put out financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
U.S., yes, they will be subject——

Senator ALLARD. And they have done that in the past?
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Mr. SMITH. Have they?

Senator ALLARD. Done that in the past?

Mr. SMITH. Yes.

Senator ALLARD. And so we would expect that they would con-
tinue to do that, even though they are taken over by the Govern-
ment at this point in time.

Mr. SMITH. I do not know specifically, but I believe—I would not
be surprised if they continued to do that.

Senator ALLARD. Now, as I understand it, Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac, when they securitized their mortgages, they ended up
buying their own securitized mortgages off of the market. How
would these new accounting provisions treat something like that?

Mr. SMmiTH. Well, first you would evaluate the new accounting
rules pertaining to the vehicle that was set up to hold the mort-
gages that they guarantee. You would then assess whether Fannie
or Freddie effectively control that entity. And I will just give you
my personal opinion. Not going through any legal documents or
what have you, but based upon my understanding of the combina-
tion of risks, et cetera, it appears that Fannie and Freddie would
be the consolidator of those entities, and then in terms of them
buying their own interest, effectively it is an intra-company trans-
action.

Senator ALLARD. And so go in as an added risk?

Mr. SMITH. Well, no. It is just that it would be——they would be
dealing with themselves, if you will.

Senator ALLARD. And so what practical effect does that have on
their financial stability?

Mr. SMITH. You know, the accounting for this really does not, 1
do not think, enter into their financial or end stability. It will
change the way their financial statements look dramatically.

Senator ALLARD. Well, then, let me put it this way: Will their fi-
nancial statements reflect that increased risk?

Mr. SMITH. Yes. The assets and liabilities would be on their
books.

Senator ALLARD. I see. Okay. So then there would be more trans-
parency, for example, on Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac under these
new accounting provisions.

Mr. SmITH. That would be my expectation.

Senator ALLARD. Okay. Now, you plan on putting these into ef-
fect in the beginning of 2009. Is that correct?

Mr. SMITH. No. Let me explain.

Senator ALLARD. Okay.

Mr. SmITH. The changes regarding the elimination of QSPEs and
the change in how you would assess control under FIN 46(R) would
be applicable to 2010 calendar year companies.

Senator ALLARD. Starting on January 1.

Mr. SMITH. Yes. The disclosures, the enhanced disclosures, would
be in effect for the reporting period ending after we release them.
So if we release the final disclosure standard December 15th, they
would be applicable to December 31st year-end companies.

Senator ALLARD. Okay. And are we going to have adequate time
for comment between now and when we start requiring them to do
these evaluations?
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Mr. SMITH. We have put in a 30-day comment period for the dis-
closures and a 60-day comment period for the 46(R) and 140. We
believe that that—we know that people are watching us. We know
that interested parties have been following our projects, and we ex-
pect that they are geared up to respond to our proposals.

Senator ALLARD. Is this the same time period that you have al-
lowed on previous proposals?

Mr. SMITH. It varies from proposal to proposal.

Senator ALLARD. And so the time period you came up with here,
was that just some assumptions that you made? I mean, how do
you decide which ones you take a longer time period for comment
and which ones do you take a shorter time period for comment? Be-
cause I suspect there will be a fair amount of comment on this as
it applies from consumer groups as well as accountants and every-
boldy else that has an interest in it, companies probably them-
selves.

Mr. SMITH. I expect you are right there. In terms of the disclo-
sures, we did consider the timing of the application, and we are
hoping to get these disclosures in place by the end of the year. So,
yes, the comment period is a function of when we wanted these in-
creased disclosures applied.

In terms of the time period for the other two, we felt that this
was adequate time for people to respond and for us to release the
final standard probably by the beginning of next year, or some time
in the first quarter.

Senator ALLARD. Now, is it your view that if we had applied
these principles that you have now before the mortgage-backed se-
curities had proliferated to the point they are now that we would
not be dealing with a mortgage crisis, at least to the degree that
we are now?

Mr. SMITH. I really—again, I do not know the answer to that
question. You know, back in 2005, the Board became aware of the
significant proliferation of non-traditional loans, so these are loans
where there were no payments or, you know, no significant pay-
ments required, you know, negatively amortizing loans, et cetera,
and the fact that you did not need any kind of documentation to
secure a loan or regarding either your wanting to live—whether
you were indicating you were going to live in the house or what
your income was. And as a result of that, we put out a standard
to try to convey to the world that there are existing accounting re-
quirements that call for disclosures and how to account for these
types of transactions as well as the risks that are created by those
types of transactions. And we did not see any significant changes
in the disclosures as a result of that.

But I cannot really tell you how the market would have reacted
had we put these rules in place earlier.

Senator ALLARD. Yes. Well, Mr. Chairman, you said you have
more questions, so I will hold the rest of mine for the next round.
Thank you.

Chairman REED. Thank you, Senator Allard.

Mr. White and Mr. Kroeker, I have communicated with the SEC
and FASB regarding these issues in letters, and you have re-
sponded back. This goes to the issue of the overall regulatory re-
gime, which rules, principles, together with interpretations—you
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indicated that several interpretations have been given by SEC—
and then enforcement.

In a letter that FASB sent back to me, they indicated that they
had knowledge of some entities that were not following the ac-
counting standards with respect to these off-balance-sheet entities.
Have you had a conscious, concerted effort to follow up and to see
that these rules were being adequately embraced or applied?

Mr. WHITE. The answer is yes.

Chairman REED. And can you elaborate?

Mr. WHITE. Much of our efforts have been devoted on the disclo-
sure side, and I think I described a fair amount of that earlier. In
addition looking at whether companies are disclosing in accordance
with our rules, we have also looked to see whether companies are
complying with the accounting rules as they exist today. And I
would say, by and large, we have found that companies have been
complying with the existing accounting rules.

Chairman REED. Will you be reviewing these rules that are being
proposed to ensure that they capture what should be captured in
terms of off-balance-sheet entities and that are brought back on
properly? Is that something you can positively be engaged in?

Mr. WHITE. Jim, maybe you should respond.

Mr. KROEKER. Absolutely. Part of our ongoing process and our
oversight of FASB and their role in the standard-setting environ-
ment, we certainly will be following these rules. We will be particu-
larly interested in comments that they receive from investors about
the improved transparency that we believe these rules have the
promise to provide. So in addition following and commenting di-
rectly with the FASB our thoughts on the proposed enhancements,
including issues that Larry addressed in terms of the concept that
you might have an entity that is very limited in its power, yet
somebody has got to be there to service assets and liabilities, and,
therefore, it stretches what people think ought to exist in terms of
the notion of control, we will be looking right at that aspect in this
proposal.

Chairman REED. In my discussions with Mr. Smith, he noted, we
both noted, that the international accounting rules have a quali-
tative approach to this recognition, and that is the approach, the
direction that the new rules seem to go in.

Some commentators, I think Ms. Mooney in particular, have indi-
cated that under the IASB rules, there is a significant amount of
SIVs that could stay off the balance sheet. And this becomes par-
ticularly critical as the Securities and Exchange Commission is pro-
posing that companies, big companies, are able to elect one or the
other.

First, this would seem to be the ideal opportunity to work col-
laboratively together for one rule which both the international
standards and the FASB standards converged.

Second, would this allow an opportunity with the proposed sort
of choice of accounting regimes to essentially defeat what FASB is
trying to do by allowing a reporting company to use an inter-
national standard and keep these entities off their balance sheet?

Mr. WHITE. Maybe I will start it and then switch it over to Jim.

Chairman REED. Sure.
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Mr. WHITE. The proposal with respect to IFRS that you are refer-
ring to, if adopted—it is a proposal at this point—Dbut, if adopted,
would allow a limited number of U.S. companies to elect to use
IFRS if IFRS was the predominant accounting system used in their
industry internationally. So at least those companies would be able
to choose, if you want to use that word, between using IFRS and
using U.S. GAAP.

But, Jim, maybe you want to describe the differences between
the two.

Mr. KROEKER. Yes. It relates to the idea and the opportunity to
use what we are seeing today to foster convergence. I could not
agree more. I think it is a wonderful opportunity to move toward
a higher quality standard for off-balance-sheet accounting.

We are also, though, interested in ensuring that the FASB moves
quickly to improve off-balance-sheet accounting in the U.S. And so
to the extent that a convergence project would take longer than
simply addressing the more immediate issue of application of ac-
counting standards in the U.S., we have been supportive of the
FASB’s project to move quickly on improving off-balance-sheet ac-
counting.

The TASB likewise has a project on their agenda to improve off-
balance-sheet accounting, and as Larry mentioned, the FASB and
the TASB are working very closely on that.

Chairman REED. But it seems to me there still is at this juncture
the distinct possibility that there could be two different rules about
qualitative recognition, that a company could, in terms of regu-
latory arbitrage, choose the one that allows them to keep these en-
tities off their balance sheets, which would go against the very es-
sence of this hearing, getting most of these entities that should be
recognized on the balance sheets. And I think that adds a further
complexity to this notion of selecting either the international re-
gime or the FASB regime.

That is a comment, but if you would like to respond.

Mr. WHITE. I might mention that at the roundtable we had this
summer that I referred to earlier, one company that was there said
that when they switched to IFRS, they actually brought 200 of
their subsidiaries on balance sheet in the process of moving to
IFRS. So I am not sure there is a particular assumption about how
consolidation would work.

Chairman REED. I would presume—and this is a presumption—
that that issue of whether this effectuates the same thing that
FASB is trying to do, maybe not in exactly the same way is it ac-
complished, would be at least a factor that you would try to exam-
ine. Is that fair? Thanks.

We have talked about these, you know, special investment vehi-
cles, the QSPEs, but there is a whole other group of entities out
there—credit derivatives—that are in some cases off the balance
sheet, but we are seeing have a significant impact on the oper-
ations of a company. One could speculate that the reason that AIG
is now a subsidiary of the Federal Reserve is because their involve-
ment in the credit derivatives market is so significant. And yet do
you think that was properly reflected on their balance sheets, Mr.
White?
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Mr. WHITE. I guess I would not think that we should be dis-
cussing individual registrants that we review. That is not our com-
mon practice. AIG is one of the companies

Chairman REED. Well, in general terms then, do you feel that in
addition to these vehicles that are created, there are other classes
of investment securities or financial transactions that could have a
material impact on the company, but are not effectively disclosed
under current rules?

Mr. WHITE. I would not have thought that we thought there were
gaps in the disclosure requirements in our current rules.

Mr. KROEKER. As it relates to the accounting particularly for
highly complex things like credit default swaps, the FASB put in
place in the late 1990s, early 2000s, guidance on accounting for de-
rivative transactions, and many of those types of instruments are,
in fact, derivatives. And so in terms of bringing them on balance
sheet and reflecting the exposure, that has happened, although the
FASB recently issued—and Mr. Smith might have some additional
background on some enhanced disclosures about credit default and
structured, highly structured insurance-type products.

Chairman REED. Can you comment, Mr. Smith?

Mr. SMITH. Yes. In September, this month, we issued a final re-
quirement to improve the disclosures surrounding credit deriva-
tives. What happened was we had a project to address the account-
ing for financial guarantee industry, and in connection with that,
we proposed a number of disclosures surrounding the risks that an
entity takes on in issuing those guarantees—or that guarantee in-
surance. And we noted very—some similarities between those guar-
antees and the nature of credit derivatives.

So we basically embarked on another project to address the dis-
closures and credit derivatives, which, as I just said, were issued
earlier this month.

Chairman REED. Thank you. Senator Allard had to step out to
take a call, but that allows me, for the record, to ask Mr. White
and Mr. Kroeker a question that Senator Allard asked about the
timeliness of the rules, the ability to have the comments, and the
implementation. Do you think there is adequate time for the com-
ment period and also an adequate time for reporting companies to
adjust to the new rules?

Mr. WHITE. The 60-day comment period is the comment period
that we normally use on our rulemaking at the SEC. So certainly
my experience over the last few years has been that 60 days pro-
duces a flood of public comments and provides adequate time.

If T understand it, the disclosure rules where you are thinking
of 30 days, those are probably less complex and easier to under-
stand, and

Mr. SMITH. Yes.

Mr. WHITE. Probably that is part of the reasons why you went
to 30 days. The rest is so you could get them into effect earlier.

Mr. SmITH. Correct.

Chairman REED. Just a final question, and, again, Mr. Smith,
you might—I just want to make sure I understand. The disclosure
requirements would become effective very shortly after the rules
are finalized.

Mr. SmITH. That is correct.
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Chairman REED. Which would require, I think, or which could re-
quire immediate disclosure of significant off-balance-sheet assets or
liabilities, but they would not necessarily have to be brought on to
the balance sheet. Is that a fair way to——

Mr. SmITH. That is correct.

Chairman REED. I know that we are all arguing for disclosure,
but the disclosure itself would cause, I think, evaluation or reevalu-
ation of the reporting companies. That is fair to say, correct?

Mr. SMITH. Yes. The purpose of the disclosures is to enhance the
user’s ability to assess the risk that a company holds, regardless
of whether those assets are presented on the balance sheet or not.

Chairman REED. Senator Allard has other questions, I am sure.
So do I. We will keep the record open for several days, and if you
would be prepared to respond in writing to our written questions,
I would appreciate it, and other members of the panel. But thank
you very much, gentlemen, for your testimony, and I will call up
the second panel.

Well, I want to welcome the second panel, and thank you all for
joining us today. Let me introduce the panel; then I will ask you
to make your statements and try to stay within the 5-minute
guidelines. Your statements will be made part of the record auto-
matically. And, indeed, if you want to comment about what you
have heard, that is also appropriate.

First we have Joseph Mason. Mr. Mason holds the Hermann
Moyse Jr. Endowed Chair of Banking at the E.J. Ourso College of
Business, Louisiana State University. He has written extensively
on the role of securitizations in the mortgage problems the country
currently faces. Earlier in his career, he worked at the OCC and
studied the role of securitizations in banking. Thank you, Professor
Mason.

Elizabeth Mooney is an analyst for the Capital Strategy Research
of the Capital Group covering global accounting issues. She is a
certified public accountant and a member of the FASB Investor
Task Force and Investors Technical Advisory Committee and the
International Accounting Standards Board, and served a term on
the FASB Advisory Council. Thank you.

George Miller is the Executive Director of the American
Securitization Forum, an association that represents various par-
ticipants in the securitization industry. Previously, Mr. Miller was
an attorney at Sidley Austin where he specialized in structured fi-
nancial transactions.

Donald Young recently completed a term as a Board member of
FASB. He is current the Managing Director of Young and Company
where he provides consulting and research services for technology
and private equity clients.

Thank you all very much for joining us. Professor Mason. Turn
on the microphone, please.

STATEMENT OF JOSEPH R. MASON, HERMANN MOYSE JR./LOU-
ISIANA BANKERS ASSOCIATION PROFESSOR OF FINANCE,
E.J. OURSO COLLEGE OF BUSINESS, LOUISIANA STATE UNI-
VERSITY

Mr. MasoN. Thank you, Chairman Reed, Ranking Member Al-
lard, Members of the Committee, for the opportunity to testify
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today. Chairman Reed, as you pointed out earlier, this week’s fi-
nancial crisis was largely due to the lack of transparency about in-
vestment exposures, which has been promulgated by ineffective ac-
counting rules and inefficient bond ratings.

Back in 1997, Moody’s Investors Successful wrote, and I quote,
“The simple act of securitizing assets can affect the appearance of
the income statement and balance sheet in a profound manner
without, in many cases, significantly altering the underlying eco-
nomics of the seller. With securitization, reported earnings are
overstated and reported balance sheet leverage is understated
while there may be little, if any, risk transference.”

As early as 1987, Moody’s pointed out that while, and I quote,
“the practices developed by the accounting and regulatory world
. . . do not fully capture the true economic risks of a securitized
asset sale to the originator’s credit quality.” So, long ago, market
insiders fully realized that standard accounting rules do not apply
to securitizing firms. But while the market is well aware of these
problems, excess returns in recent years led to regulatory and in-
vestor complacency and the financial crisis we have with us today.

Recently, there have been suggestions that having sellers retain
some risk in their securitizations can align incentives of sellers and
investors as well as borrowers. The reality is that they have always
retained risk, and that retained risk is precisely the problem. That
retained risk is indelibly related to the variable interest entity that
was the foundation of the proposed FASB revisions. Prior to finan-
cial engineering, ownership—and, therefore, on-balance-sheet treat-
ment—was dictated by voting interest. If you owned more than 50
percent of voting equity shares, then you owned the firm.

With financial engineering, as demonstrated by Enron, all that
changed. The first attempt to account for ownership in financially
engineered construct was attempted in FASB 140, which stipulated
that if somebody else did not own at least 3 percent of the funding
liabilities and equity, you had to carry it on your own books. Of
course, Enron found this requirement very easy to obviate by lend-
ing someone else money to buy the 3 percent and then selling the
rest back by Enron guarantees, thus retaining a substantial first-
loss stake in the arrangement.

Under FIN 46, created to revise the rules that were used to cre-
ate the failed Enron structures, the 3-percent rule became the 10-
percent rule. The entities used by Enron were labeled “Variable In-
terest Entities,” and others were labeled “Qualified Special Purpose
Entities,” or QSPEs, which were excluded from the 10-percent rule
because they were thought to be what FASB termed “passive
securitizations.”

The key problem with us today is that the purportedly “passive”
credit card, mortgage, home equity, auto loan, and other QSPEs
are not really passive at all. Those passive structures routinely ma-
nipulate pool value through servicing and direct replacement of
loans in the pools under representations and warranties, just like
Enron. When there are no reserves behind the warranties, trouble
is hidden until the product breaks down. When loan performance
sours beyond the ability of the seller to support pool performance
out of regular operating earnings, the seller has to either increase
earnings or stem losses. Since the seller’s earnings primarily arise
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through making new loans to generate underwriting fees, the sell-
er, therefore, counterintuitively accelerates underwriting in these
circumstances. Since better-qualified borrowers will most likely ob-
tain cheaper loans from financially sound lenders, the seller targets
down-market consumers—subprime borrowers—for the new busi-
ness. Of course, less creditworthy borrowers mean more losses. As
the firm enters a death spiral, it attempts to modify loans using
repayment and forbearance plans, while aggressively re-aging loans
and even committing fraud to classify as much of the portfolio as
possible as “current.”

The loan servicing rights that allow such practices are often the
final asset remaining in the failing firm and the substantial poten-
tial for servicer malfeasance as the seller/servicer approaches bank-
ruptcy can deteriorate their value significantly. Since there is so
little to recover from a failed seller/servicer, the FDIC itself has
maintained that it may disallow “true sale” status if it desires and
seize those purportedly “truly sold” assets in a securitization to re-
cover deposit insurance outlays.

So this true sale that is the accounting foundation of
securitization itself does not make sense. The problem is a tragic
collision of economics, finance, and accounting. Economic risk has
been placed where it is difficult to value financially and even the
most complex accounting rules do not apply.

Any discussion of necessary accounting reforms for securitization
would be incomplete without a section on gain-on-sale accounting.
In short, in gain-on-sale accounting, the first estimates the value
of the thing that they want to sell with a financial model. Then
they sell the thing and receive some money and other items in the
actual sale of that thing. Then the firm gets to, last, record the dif-
ference between their own valuation of the thing that they sold and
the value of the cash and other things that they received as cash
revenue. Of course, this is not cash. So what we have here is a sit-
uation where many of the mortgage companies and similar firms
that have been associated with previous securitization fiascos—and
there have been many—have never been cash-flow positive in their
entire corporate lives. So we have a financial world that is littered
with hundreds of firms with exceedingly high stock values that had
never actually earned positive cash profits in a manner typical of
a classic bubble.

None of the problems I review here are new, unique, or un-
known, nor is their manifestation in today’s credit crisis. Rating
agencies’ characterizations of past crises eerily presage the present
crisis. In 2002, Moody’s wrote, and I quote, “The seller’s capital
structure, its diversity of funding sources, types of assets, and the
business factors motivating its securitizations are all important
considerations. The examples of deals gone ‘bad’ over history reveal
that an overreliance on securitization as a funding source is an im-
portant risk factor. The overuse of securitization coupled with ag-
gressive gain-on-sale accounting was a particularly lethal combina-
tion. . . . New or unusual asset classes pose particular risks as
well.” From 2002.

The current crisis, therefore, was merely wrapping all these in-
fluences into one and applying them to nearly all collateral types
in the market.
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In conclusion, while FASB continues to try to pigeonhole
securitization accounting into simple on- and off-balance-sheet clas-
sifications, the issue is far more complicated due to other legacy ac-
counting treatments surrounding the entire securitization process,
as well as securitizations’ unsettled legal status. And I think you
talked a little bit about this with derivative product companies. We
cannot expect any resolution to on- and off-balance-sheet treatment
by continuing to implement the dichotomous approach used so far.
Nor can we expect securitization accounting to improve signifi-
cantly without removing other perverse incentives in gain-on-sale
accounting and true sale status.

So while all this does not augur for prohibiting securitization in
the long term, it does provide a rationale for constraining financial
product development in a manner similar to that written into H.R.
6482 that was introduced in July on bond rating reform so that
new products do not grow systemically large before finance and ac-
counting can properly characterize their risks and their returns.

So much work remains to be done to adequately characterize
securitizations in a credible and transparent manner. Nonetheless,
we have had several decades to get this work done already. The
problems of both bond ratings and FASB, therefore, seem to be
that a private organization is operating in the public interest with
no overt responsibility or constraints imposed by the Government.
Perhaps it is time to expect something better.

Thank you.

Chairman REED. Thank you, Professor Mason.

Mr. Young.

STATEMENT OF DONALD YOUNG, MANAGING DIRECTOR,
YOUNG AND COMPANY LLC, AND FORMER FASB BOARD
MEMBER

Mr. YOUNG. Chairman Reed and Ranking Member Allard, thank
you for your interest in improving financial reporting.

Accounting standards have been a major factor in reducing
transparency for investors and have directly contributed to the cur-
rent credit crisis. I do not believe the proposed FASB solution will
stop the “cycle of crisis” that we have now repeated. And I believe
it would be a mistake to focus on expanded regulation alone.

A better solution is to provide transparency in the reporting of
securitizations and increase investor involvement in financial re-
porting to end this cycle of crisis.

Now, under the proposed FASB solution, which was exposed on
Monday, the self-administered test for qualified special purpose en-
tities in Statement 140 will be replaced by another self-adminis-
tered test in FIN 46(R).

These custom designed entities that are the subject of the self-
administered test provide little transparency to investors, and they
are not subject to the forces of the marketplace. They are custom
designed. Their business purpose is to get favorable accounting
treatment.

The proposed rules will likely force consolidation of special pur-
pose entities designed in the past. But the more important question
is: Will future securitization structures enable management to in-



21

appropriately de-recognize financial assets and gains? Unfortu-
nately, I believe the answer is yes.

Market transparency would be better served and the accounting
simplified if the FASB had pursued a model where an originator
continues to recognize financial assets and liabilities while there is
any continuing involvement. The determination of whether a sale
has occurred is shifted from management and auditors to investors
and markets.

In early 2005, when I joined the FASB, the Board was very
aware of the problems in accounting for securitizations. It was the
subject of a joint conference with the American Accounting Associa-
tion where research was presented that indicated investors’ near
complete distrust of FAS 140 accounting. Investors generally re-
versed the sale accounting propagated by the standard.

By the way, I have submitted a copy of this research with my
written testimony.

The FAS Board was working on changes to Statement 140 which
were exposed for comment in 2005, but very little progress was
made in 2006 and 2007 when the subprime securitization was rap-
idly expanding. In fact, I think there were two or fewer board
meetings held over a 2-year period.

Now, for most of the period, there was an unending series of
issues related to 140-and Larry Smith talked about some of those
today—where we made little progress, and in my written testi-
mony, I have outlined three troublesome examples of that.

Now, there is no question that the FASB knew it had a serious
problem in the financial reporting of securitizations. The question
is: Why was it not addressed until after this crisis was evident?

Now, when I asked the staff the reasons for the delay, I was in-
formed that there were concerns over the standard-setting actions
we were considering. The changes would more accurately reflect
the underlying economics, but this in turn would undermine com-
panies’ ability to execute securitizations worth many billions of dol-
lars. In other words, it would be bad for business to provide trans-
parency to investors—at least that could be said in the short term.

There was unending lobbying of the FASB not just by preparers,
which should be expected, who are in economic conflict with inves-
tors, but also by their regulators—all looking to preserve sale ac-
counting for activities that clearly indicate that there was no sale.

The SEC, for example, was actively involved in expanding the
originator’s ability as a servicer to renegotiate loans yet still keep
sale accounting and potentially harming investors in the
securitization. I have also documented that in my written testi-
mony in an SEC Office of the Chief Accountant letter from January
of 2008.

Another factor noted by the FASB staff was resistance from Fed-
eral Reserve regulators.

Now, my purpose is not to argue that company managements
need to be protected from harming themselves—because in the end
that is what happened—nor is it to criticize regulators but, rather,
to recognize the limitation of regulation.

The essential problem is that the FASB is not capable of pro-
viding financial reporting transparency until a crisis provides the
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political cover to overcome lobbying efforts that are in conflict with
serving investors and providing transparency to the markets.

Because managements and regulators control the financial re-
porting process, we will continue to be in the cycle of crisis where
we are unable to address financial reporting problems until a major
crisis unfolds. Enron all over again.

Now, you can end the cycle of crisis only by engaging the mar-
kets and investors in the financial reporting process, which re-
quires a fundamental change in the composition of standard setters
and their trustees. Instead of token investor representation or, in
the case of the FASB today, no investor representation, we need in-
vestors to be equally represented, both on the Board and in the
trustees. Then we would have a chance of stopping the cycle of cri-
sis.

Thank you again, Mr. Chairman, for inviting me to testify at this
hearing. I look forward to responding to your questions.

Chairman REED. Thank you very much, Mr. Young.

Ms. Mooney.

STATEMENT OF ELIZABETH F. MOONEY, ANALYST, CAPITAL
STRATEGY RESEARCH, THE CAPITAL GROUP COMPANIES

Ms. MooNEY. Thank you, Chairman Reed and Ranking member
Allard, for the opportunity to be here to testify on a very important
issue to investors.

I am an analyst with the Capital Group Companies and together
with our affiliates we manage the American Funds mutual fund
family and public and institutional retirement plans as well as pri-
vate client accounts. We are long-term investors in equities and
fixed-income securities globally, and we are one of the largest ac-
tive institutional money managers. We manage accounts, over 55
million accounts, primarily for individuals and institutions and em-
ploy over 9,000 people globally around the world. And we conduct
extensive, fundamental research on companies and rely heavily on
financial statements prepared by public companies.

At the Capital Companies, we feel that it is critical that the
views of investors are considered in establishing accounting stand-
ards. So thank you again for the opportunity to be here today.

There are six points I wish to emphasize today.

No. 1, that the current rules are inadequate and allow institu-
tions to have too much, far too much involvement and risk expo-
sures with entities off the balance sheet.

No. 2, while the FASB rule proposals have just come out and I
have not fully studied them, my preliminary view is that together
they represent a good response and a significant improvement over
what we have today. Reforms in this area need to be adopted on
a timely basis.

No. 3, the SEC should enforce the rules as enacted and not weak-
en them or permit management or auditors to weaken them
through interpretation, as they did with the current rules. The in-
adequate accounting as well as the weak enforcement of the cur-
rent rules equally contributed to the well-documented transparency
problems.

No. 4, the Congress should be supportive of FASB’s efforts and
not undermine them. In the oversight capacity with respect to the
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SEC, Congress should monitor and encourage enforcement of the
new rules. Congress does not need to legislate in this area.

No. 5, the FASB rule proposals are better than the current inter-
national standards, and we are waiting to see improvements to
IASB’s draft proposal. The U.S. should not adopt the International
Financial Reporting Standards if they are not substantially equiva-
lent to the FASB’s rules. We must be sure this fix is not undone
if IFRS rules are adopted in the U.S. U.S. and International stand-
ard setters should converge to the highest-quality accounting and
disclosure requirements.

No. 6, investors are an important constituent without a sufficient
voice at the table in accounting standard setting, as Mr. Young al-
luded to. The FASB and IASB should expand investor representa-
tion on their boards.

So it is important that the accounting gets fixed, that financings
get reflected on the balance sheets on a timely basis.

Thank you. That concludes my remarks, and I would be happy
to answer any questions.

Chairman REED. Thank you very much.

Mr. Miller.

STATEMENT OF GEORGE P. MILLER, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
AMERICAN SECURITIZATION FORUM

Mr. MiLLER. Thank you and good afternoon, Chairman Reed,
Ranking Member Allard, and Members of the Subcommittee. I very
much appreciate the opportunity to testify on behalf of the Amer-
ican Securitization Forum and the securities industry and Finan-
cial Markets Association. OQur members include issuers, investors,
financial intermediaries, and other professional organizations who
are involved in the securitization and broader financial markets.

Quality accounting standards are critically important to the ac-
curacy, relevance, and utility of financial reporting for
securitization transactions and to the efficient functioning of the fi-
nancial markets generally. We, therefore, strongly support the need
for high-quality accounting standards governing the removal of as-
sets from a transferor’s balance sheet and, similarly, robust consoli-
dation, financial reporting, and disclosure standards relating to off-
balance-sheet entities.

Briefly, “securitization” is a term that includes a wide range of
capital markets transactions that provide funding and liquidity for
an equally wide range of consumer and business credit needs.
These include securitizations of residential and commercial mort-
gages, automobile loans, student loans, credit card receivables,
equipment loans and leases, trade receivables, asset-backed com-
mercial paper, and other financial assets. Collectively,
securitization represents by far the largest segment of the U.S.
debt capital markets, with over $10 trillion of mortgage- and asset-
backed securities currently outstanding.

Many, but not all, securitizations qualify for off-balance-sheet ac-
counting treatment under current accounting guidance. By and
large, these transaction structures are long established and are ac-
companied by extensive risk and accounting disclosures. We agree
that a comprehensive review of de-recognition and consolidation of
accounting standards is in order. However, we are very concerned
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that FASB’s current proposals to amend FAS 140 and FIN 46(R)
in the near term without sufficient consideration of other and pos-
sibly superior accounting frameworks may have serious and unin-
tended consequences. Especially in light of the challenges facing
our financial markets, we believe that a more thorough and delib-
erative process in developing these changes is essential and will
produce better accounting policy, financial market and economic
outcomes in both the short and long term.

In particular, to the extent that FASB’s current proposals may
result in widespread consolidation of existing and future
securitization special purpose entities, the balance sheets of af-
fected entities would swell, impairing financial ratios and dis-
rupting financial covenant performance and regulatory capital
tests. Importantly, these results would be produced not by any
change in the economics of securitization transactions, but solely by
a change in accounting standards.

Although we cannot presently estimate which or how many
securitization transactions would be affected by the proposed
changes, consolidation of even a significant fraction of the multi-
trillion-dollar securitization market would represent a momentous
shift. The consequence of this change could be a material reduction
in the availability and increase in the cost of consumer and busi-
ness credit, precisely at a time when the availability of capital,
credit, and liquidity are severely constrained throughout the finan-
cial markets.

We encourage FASB and the policymaking community to work
together with the industry to develop a coherent, consistent, and
operational securitization accounting framework that better reflects
the economics of securitization transactions. We believe that a bi-
nary, “all-or-nothing” approach to consolidation—where an entity
consolidates either all or none of the assets and liabilities that re-
side in a securitization special purpose entity—often does not re-
flect the underlying economics of those transactions. Overconsolida-
tion of SPEs can be just as misleading to users of financial state-
ments as underconsolidation. For these reasons, we believe that a
different and more nuanced approach should be considered.

For several years, therefore, we have advocated linked presen-
tation as a concept that has great potential to resolve many of the
issues and ambiguities that surround securitization accounting.
Under a linked presentation approach, the non-recourse liabilities
that are issued in a securitization transaction would be shown di-
rectly on the balance sheet as a deduction from securitized assets.
We strongly advocate that FASB engage in a full exploration of
linked presentation, among other possible alternatives, as part of
the current round of accounting revisions.

Finally, we believe that proceeding with significant accounting
changes in the United States without meaningful convergence of
international accounting standards in this area risks prolonged
drain on the time and resources of FASB and industry participants
alike. We believe that FASB should coordinate now with the IASB
to develop and issue converged standards rather than proceeding
with a separate initiative.
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Thank you once again for the opportunity to present these views,
and I look forward to answering any questions that Members of the
Subcommittee may have. Thank you.

Chairman REED. Thank you. Thank you very much, ladies and
gentlemen.

Let me just start with Mr. Miller. What further studies might be
done to estimate the impact—your testimony suggests that there
will be an impact; I think we all recognize that. But what studies
should be done, or is it possible to quantify that impact?

Mr. MiLLER. Well, I think that is underway right now. I think
the most important predicate to being able to do that is the
issuance of guidance and to be able to evaluate that and develop
a clear understanding of how FASB’s proposals would apply in
practice to existing and future securitizations. So that is underway.

Chairman REED. As I understand from Mr. Smith, the first sig-
nificant implication of the changes would be disclosing these off-
balance-sheet engagements, but not necessarily bringing them back
onto the balance sheet. That sounds a little bit like the linked pres-
entation you talked about. Is that sort of a fair or rough analogy?

Mr. MiLLER. Well, the linked presentation, as we have proposed
it, actually would be an alternative accounting framework. The dis-
closures that other witnesses today have spoken about, I think it
is important to recognize there are already disclosures in place rel-
ative to off-balance-sheet entities. FASB has proposed enhance-
ments to those disclosures, and we certainly support enhanced dis-
closures as a step to aid and increase overall transparency regard-
ing relationships with off-balance-sheet entities. Beyond that, what
linked presentation would be is to serve as a potential alternative
to the accounting framework that FASB is proposing.

Chairman REED. Professor Mason and Mr. Young, your com-
ments on sort of a linked presentation as an alternative to what
FASB is proposing now or what you would think would be appro-
priate.

Mr. MasoN. I think a concept similar to a linked presentation
makes sense for at least part of a new accounting paradigm in this
area, particularly because there was discussion earlier today about
financial models reporting things like mean loss estimate. And, of
course, the first thing you learn in statistics is you do not just rely
upon the mean but you examine the median, the mode, then you
learn about standard deviation.

So the linked presentation gives an idea of really how bad things
can get, and if the bottom really fell out of the world, here is your
total off-balance-sheet exposure that could be, as we have seen in
recent cases, forced to be bought back through legal threats or
other means. But this is your total exposure, a worst-case scenario,
and leave it to the investor to participate in the process of valu-
ation by deciding what is the probability of that worst-case sce-
nario.

Chairman REED. Mr. Young, do you have any comments about
that approach?

Mr. YouNG. I actually strongly support it. I think that, in con-
junction with the no continuing involvement, displays the informa-
tion on the statement. You can use linked presentation as a de-rec-
ognition model. You can use it as a consolidation model. You can
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use it as a note structure. But I think as a basic way of imple-
menting any continuing involvement in securitization, it is the
most rational way that I have seen so far.

Chairman REED. Let me ask a question which will reveal, I
think, my lack of accounting training. The disclosure is important
to investors, but when you bring these assets on the balance sheet,
it has a significant impact particularly for regulated financial insti-
tutions, the capital ratios that they must maintain. Is it possible
that the disclosure, good disclosure would not be adequate because
it would not be able to force the entity to raise sufficient capital?
Is that a concern?

Mr. YOUNG. Well, I think what we found, what I found is the
compliance with disclosure is far below the compliance with state-
ments, particularly to go after, Chairman Reed, what you said
about capital requirements. One of the nice things about linked
presentation is that you show sort of a net exposure which does not
offset your—it does not make your total assets look large. It nets
it down for the beneficial interest or other liabilities that stand
against that asset. So, in a way, one of the attractions to linked
presentation, at least in the preliminary work I saw in the FASB
Board, was it would not screw up the capital markets.

Now, I did not talk about measurement might be different and
other things might be different, but the basic netting approach
would preserve, I think, some of the regulatory capital issues.

Chairman REED. Ms. Mooney, do you have a comment? I want
to make sure that you have an opportunity on this issue.

Ms. MooNEY. Well, I think the information on the balance sheet,
it is about conveying information about judgments that are made
by management and agreed to by auditors conveying that to inves-
tors; what happens with regulatory capital is between the banks
and the regulators. But we are talking right now about reporting
the information to investors, and we read a lot into the decisions
about whether an asset or liability goes on the balance sheet or off
the balance sheet. And we start with that when we are doing our
financial analysis, we start with the balance sheet. So it is really
critical to get that right and that financings are reflected on the
balance sheet.

Chairman REED. Professor Mason, do you have a quick comment?

Mr. MASON. Yes, I just wanted to weigh in on this. My own re-
search published in academic journals has shown that heavy
securitizers have, at least in the past, typically held a little bit of
extra capital on-balance sheet against the market risk that is out
there, typically about 2 percent as compared to an 8-percent bank
capital ratio.

Furthermore, the bank regulators under Basel II are beginning
to deal with some of these problems. The Basel II rules for credit
card securitization, in fact, require a bank to start holding capital
against their credit card securitizations as the performance of the
loans in those pools begins to sour, recognizing that in kind of an
end game, the bank will probably need some capital here to back
some of that off-balance-sheet risk.

Chairman REED. Thank you.

Both Mr. Young and Ms. Mooney indicated that part of the prob-
lem was not the rule, it was the enforcement interpretation sug-
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gesting that the SEC, in your case I think it gave permission to
begin renegotiating contracts. Can you comment about what spe-
cifically happened with respect to the SEC interaction with the
FASB rules?

Mr. YouNG. Well, I think it can change based on who is serving
in those positions.

Chairman REED. Right.

Mr. YOUNG. I can only comment on the time I was on the FASB
where I think a number of efforts—and I tried to document them
in my written testimony. Part of the activity of what is allowed in
this passive QSP entity that we have been talking about was put
forward by the Office of the Chief Accountant. And I also include
in my submitted written testimony some research done by the Fed-
eral Reserve of New York which talked about the steep economic
conflict between the servicer, which was getting the ability to do
more activities than 140 would normally allow and the investor,
what conflict they were. And it was, Chairman Reed, a little crazy
that here we are empowering the preparer or the servicer to take
gd\félntage of the investor. It is supposed to go the other way at the

EC.

Chairman REED. Ms. Mooney, do you have a comment?

Ms. MoOONEY. No.

Chairman REED. Because I think you made another comment
with respect to SEC involvement. OK. Thank you.

I will recognize my colleague, the Ranking Member, for his ques-
tions.

Senator ALLARD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I inquired somewhat about the timeline in implementing these
rules and regulations, and I think it was your letter, Mr. Miller,
that maybe prompted that in that you suggested that for a longer
timeline and give the public an opportunity to speak. Do you have
a timeline in mind that would be adequate from your point of view?

Mr. MiLLER. Well, to clarify, we see the fundamental issue as
being providing enough time to consider a range of potential alter-
natives to what has been proposed, including linked presentation.
Perhaps there are other alternatives. We are not taking issue nec-
essarily with the length of the comment period. I think 60 days is
probably sufficient to comment on the rules as proposed, although
I would note the effective comment period is 45 days because FASB
has scheduled a public roundtable meeting earlier than the close of
the comment process and would require anyone like ourselves who
would wish to participate to have our comment letter in early.

But leaving that aside, I think our fundamental concern is that
there be enough time provided to consider other frameworks and
have a thorough deliberation of them before making decisions
about changes to accounting standards, and for that reason, we
think the time should be taken between now—and we would agree
with a 2010 implementation date as long as there is sufficient time
allowed to thoroughly consider other potential alternatives.

Senator ALLARD. So you do not think that all of the alternatives
ha\fle?been checked out thoroughly enough? Do I understand that
right?

Mr. MiLLER. That is correct, and in particular relative to linked
presentation, I believe FASB had indicated that they simply did
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not feel that they had enough time to give that thorough or serious
consideration, and we strongly believe that they should, again,
among other potential alternatives.

Senator ALLARD. I see. This question here is for all of the wit-
nesses, and I hope I am not duplicating any questions that the
Chairman may have asked while I was not here. I apologize for my
absence.

I like the idea of transparency, and I support it. I think it is key,
if we want markets to work, to have informed consumers, and then
they can make decisions themselves, not get too heavy on the regu-
latory side.

These proposals could result in very significant changes to com-
panies’ balance sheets in a relatively short period of time. Do you
think that these sudden changes could in some way thwart the goal
of transparency? Anybody want to comment on that?

Ms. MOONEY. Having the transparency should help stabilize the
situation. Providing investors with transparency should improve li-
quidity and help stabilize the market.

Senator ALLARD. OK. So you do not think it any way or another
we have kind of forced this to come about so quickly that trans-
parency in some way would be maybe limited more than we would
expect it to?

Ms. MOONEY. Investors can use it and move on. Once they know
what the facts are, they can digest it and move on.

Senator ALLARD. OK. Mr. Miller?

Mr. MILLER. Yes, I think our concern in that respect, as I indi-
cated in my oral statement, would be that to the degree that adop-
tion of these rules results in overconsolidation of special purpose
entities, we do not see that as being particularly helpful. And I
would just also comment I think it is important to have sound ac-
counting rules and principles. There are many other steps that the
industry can and should undertake to promote broader and better
transparency about risk exposures in these vehicles, whether they
are on or off balance sheet.

Senator ALLARD. I see where you are concerned, not so much the
time to implement it, but this consolidation. OK.

In making the switch to accommodate these new off-balance-
sheet entities rules issued by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board, many financial institutions would have to raise additional
capital and significantly adjust their accounting practices. What
will be the full practical impact of these changes in today’s world
and the stress that everything is going through right now? And, in
particular, how will these significant changes affect an already
fragile and volatile market situation? Anybody want to comment on
that?

Mr. MAsSON. I want to say in reply to this and your previous
question, I think rapid implementation of good accounting rules is
not only desirable right now, but crucial right now. I think a rapid
implementation of bad rules can indeed be tremendously disrup-
tive. But, in fact, implementing a rule right now that would require
the entire recognition of a securitized arrangement on-balance
sheet enforce full capital raising against that, I think you are right,
is tremendously disruptive right now, and it is not necessarily a
good rule.
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While there is not complete risk transfer in today’s securitization
arrangements, there is some, as evidenced by the study I did that
showed that certainly banks do hold some capital against their
securitizations, even though they are not required to by regulators
or under accounting rules. But, clearly, the market believes that
there is a worthwhile goal of holding some capital.

So I think if we are looking for a kind of recognition paradigm,
an accounting paradigm, it is important, as Mr. Miller noted, to
look outside the box a bit to get away from this on- or off-balance-
sheet paradigm and see where the reality really is. If investors are
asking banks to hold not 8-percent but 2-percent capital, why
shouldn’t a bank regulator require that 2-percent capital holding,
which, in fact, the bank probably already has if it is a well-man-
aged bank. So that well-managed banks are not disrupted by the
transition, and, of course, ill-managed banks are. But then, again,
they should be, to help them recognize their true financial situa-
tion, help investors see the situation, invest in the good banks,
avoid the bad banks, and get over the crisis.

Senator ALLARD. Yes?

Mr. YOUNG. I guess, Senator Allard, I would look at that ques-
tion a little bit differently in light of recent events. We just had an
investment bank go bankrupt with a fair-value balance sheet that
showed it had plenty of assets and liabilities. And it almost seems
like financial reporting is out of control and not trusted and not be-
lieved in. And I think what we do here has got to establish trans-
parency.

If the transparency is such that we are going to bring out some
bad news that was not there before, that is a risk. But I think the
benefit of reestablishing confidence in the markets will overwhelm
that. And I think, you know, for us to say let’s go slow or not pro-
ceed when we have lost all confidence in financial reporting in
some cases now I think is a very difficult tradeoff to make. I would
think we would be—we do not have a whole lot to lose right given
the low level of confidence.

Senator ALLARD. Any other comment on that question? Yes?

Ms. MOONEY. I would just say that, you know, working on this
issue has been in the works for research and study by standard
setters for decades. So it is about time that we get it right, we get
financings on the balance sheet, transparent reported, so we can
get trust and confidence back in the markets. And we should be
able to do this on a timely basis after all the work that has been
put in.

Senator ALLARD. Yes, Mr. Miller?

Mr. MILLER. I would agree that it is very important to move for-
ward quickly to develop and implementation sound accounting
principles here. I believe there are great risks to the financial mar-
kets and to the economy of moving forward quickly with bad rules
and specifically especially given capital liquidity credit constraints
that are now being faced. It is not clear that there is sufficient ca-
pacity if many assets are moved back on-balance sheet for financial
institutions to be able to provide funding for the business and cred-
it—consumer and business credit needs that exist. So I think those
risks are very serious.

Senator ALLARD. Ms. Mooney?
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Ms. MOONEY. As I mentioned earlier, in terms of capital, which
you alluded to, regulatory capital decisions, if the Fed would feel
it prudent to—for prudential regulations to exercise some forbear-
ance on the capital and require more or less capital to be raised
despite the accounting, it should be done.

Senator ALLARD. Mr. Chairman, I have one more questions. Can
I ask it?

Chairman REED. Please.

Senator ALLARD. In your testimony—and this is to you, Ms.
Mooney—you testified that—or at least in your written testimony,
you raised concerns about the possibility of IFRS standards being
weaker than U.S. standards. How do you see these issues resolved
in the context of convergence?

Ms. MOONEY. I do not think we should be adopting IFRS if it is
not substantially equivalent to what the U.S. FASB comes up with
as a fix. Right now the international standard has as a lighter
qualitative test that even with reputation risk that could lead to,
you know, obligations to absorb losses that could potentially be sig-
nificant, to not have to consolidate that, and also have significant
voting rights to appoint directors. It would not be appropriate to go
backwards and adopt that. So we should not unless we——

Senator ALLARD. So you would be opposed to the IFRS standards
being applied at all?

Ms. MOONEY. In this area, absolutely. If we fix it—if we fix it in
the U.S. and come up with a higher-quality standard, convergence
should not only occur unless we have the highest-quality account-
ing and disclosure adopted in the U.S.

Senator ALLARD. OK. Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman REED. Well, thank you, Senator Allard. In fact, you
asked precisely one of the questions I was going to ask to Ms.
Mooney about this convergence issue of international standards
and our FASB standards.

The topic that I want to raise—and this is the end of the hear-
ing, so it might require educating me, which would take years. So
it is perfectly OK to say, you know, we will send you a note or
something.

It seems at the heart of this, Professor Mason and Mr. Young,
you know, stepping away from specific items of disclosure or bring-
ing back on the balance sheet, is this notion of whether it is a sale
or financing. Does that have to be reconciled, or are we sort of sub-
optimizing by saying, well, we got into the sale box years ago, and
now we just have to sort of do what we can to get as much informa-
tion on the balance sheet, in some cases bring the entity back on
the balance sheet? But if you can just briefly comment, Professor
Mason and Mr. Young, and if Ms. Mooney or Mr. Miller want to
also, on this whole issue of the sale versus financing.

Mr. MASON. Well, you are right, that is a big issue in the ac-
counting world. I have a working paper right now that looks at in-
vestor reactions to securitization and suggests that they react to a
securitization as if it is a financing not a sale. But in a way the
distinction is artificial. Perhaps securitization is something dif-
ferent. It is something in between. And, in fact, we should offer
firms an array of different arrangements, perhaps spanning the



31

middle ground between financings and sales. And as long as we
properly account for the risk transfer, I think that we have made
the system more efficient.

Now, the rub there is that accounting deals with accounting for
returns. There is no accounting system for risk. And in this world
where we have financial engineers shifting risk and moving risk
and slicing and dicing risk, it becomes critical to at least attempt
to track the risk, allocate it correctly, follow what the engineers are
doing, and build smart accounting rules that can at least get close.
And the problem is right now we are nowhere near close, and that
is evidenced by the cliff risk that we see in the market today. We
see firms that we thought there was no problem with suddenly fail.
So, clearly, the accounting has missed something, and that is what
we need to fix.

Chairman REED. Mr. Young, your comments?

Mr. YOUNG. Chairman Reed, I think that is a pivotal issue. The
determination of the sale has become too complex for accounting.
And when you look at the way securitizations can be structured,
how you can slice and dice them and spread the risk, it is hard for
FASB to come up with a way to do that. And that is why the state-
ment prior to 140 has had problems, why 140 had a problem, why
we had two exposure drafts that went nowhere in 2003 and 2005.
And I just think it is time to step back and say let’s not make a
judgment on whether they are sale or not by the accountants and
the management. Let’s put that information in the financial state-
ments in a way that is not detrimental to understanding and trans-
parency, and let the investor and the market decide. That is really
the gist of the question.

I think, you know, to FASB’s credit, in some ways they did that
in the disclosure requirements. In fact, if you are a sponsor, under
FIN 46(R) that they are proposing, you have to disclose any expo-
sure to a VIE where you are the sponsor, regardless of how signifi-
cant it is. I am just saying, instead of it being on the disclosure,
we ought to think more about putting that on the financial state-
ments.

Chairman REED. Ms. Mooney.

Ms. MoOONEY. I think the qualitative test is principles based, and
as you alluded to earlier, that it would be unfortunate if companies
defaulted to what we have today, which is broken, and I would
hope that that would be seriously revisited if that is the behavioral
fact pattern that results. But I do think, based on the examples
provided and the implementation guidance in the proposal, that it
would be a good step forward, especially and only if management,
auditors, and regulators complied with and enforced the rules.

Chairman REED. Mr. Miller, any comments?

Mr. MILLER. No.

Chairman REED. Thank you very much. Thank you very much
for your testimony, and my colleagues might have their own state-
ments, which will be made part of the record if they are submitted
no later than September 25th. We might have additional questions
for the record which we would get to you and ask you to respond
within 2 weeks in writing back to us.

Thank you very much for your very helpful testimony, and the
hearing is adjourned.
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[Whereupon, at 4:20 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.]
[Prepared statements supplied for the record follow:]
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Introduction

Chairman Reed, Ranking Mermber Allard, and Members of the Subcommittee:

Good afternoon. Iam Larry Smith, a member of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB” or
“Board™). 1am pleased to appear before you today on behalf of the FASB. 1 want to thank you for

inviting me to participate at this very important hearing.

1 have brief prepared remarks and would respectfully request that the full text of my testimony and all

supporting materials be entered into the public record.

The FASB is an independent private-sector organization. Our ability to conduct our work in a systematic,
thorough, and unbiased manner is fundamental to achieving our mission—to establish and improve
general-purpose standards of financial accounting and reporting for both public and private enterprises.
Those standards are essential to the growth and stability of the United States economy because creditors,
investors, and other consumers of financial reports rely heavily on credible, transparent, comparable, and
unbiased financial information to make economic decisions. In other words, financial accounting and
reporting is meant to tell it like it is, not to distort or skew information to favor particular industries, types

of transactions, or particular political, social, or economic goals.

Because the actions of the FASB affect so many organizations, our decision-making process must be
open, thorough, and as objective as possible. Our Rules of Procedure require an extensive and public due
process. That process involves public meetings, public roundtables, field visits, liaison meetings with
interested parties, consultation with our advisory councils, and exposure of our proposed standards to

external scrutiny and public comment.
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In setting our standards, the FASB gives priority to the needs of investors because, in our view, the
primary reason for developing high-quality accounting and external financial reporting standards is to
enhance the efficiency of the capital markets by giving potential investors the information to confidently
make lending and investing decisions. We also give careful consideration to the costs and benefits to
companies that prepare the accounting information as well as the costs imposed on auditors, regulators,
and the rest of society. In our view, these costs are important but secondary criteria for setting external

financial reporting policy.

As significant reporting issues arise, the Board endeavors to understand those issues and to identify the
reasons why they arose. Once the Board understands the underlying issues, it is able to assess whether
there are potential accounting standard-setting matters that may need to be addressed. The events that
have occurred recently in the credit markets resulted in such a review, and the Board accelerated its work

in several specific areas.

For example, in May 2008, the Board issued guidance to improve disclosures related to derivative
instruments and to improve accounting for revenues and expenses relating to financial guarantee
insurance contracts. And, in 2003, the Board, aware that the volume of “nontraditional” loan products
was proliferating and could increase the exposure of the originator, holder, investor. guarantor, and/or
servicer to the risk of nonpayment or realization, issued guidance to reinforce the extensive existing

accounting and disclosure requirements that would be applicable to such products.

The Board also is working on projects to improve disclosures about (a) credit derivatives and certain
guarantees, (b) loans and loan losses, and (c) assets held in employer-sponsored postretirement benefit

plans. While the work on all of these projects is important in light of recent economic events, the Board
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considers its work in the areas of transfers of financial instruments (i.e., Statement 140) and

consolidations of variable interest entities (i.c., Interpretation 46(R)) to be of paramount importance.

Proposed Improvements to Statement 140 Influenced by Recent Events in the Credit Markets

FASB Statement No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities, addresses the accounting and disclosure of transfers of financial
instruments. Its fundamental purpose is to address when the transfer of a financial instrument (such as a
loan receivable) should be accounted for as a sale rather than as a secured borrowing. One of the
fundamental criteria that must be met under Statement 140 to qualify as a sale is that the transferee, that
is, the buyer of the financial instrument, must be able to sell or pledge the financial instrument.
Nevertheless, transfers to special-purpose entities (that meet certain criteria) qualify for sale accounting
under Statement 140 despite provisions that prohibit the SPE from selling or pledging its assets. This
special provision for transfers to qualifying special-purpose entities (QSPEs) is what enables transferors
to derecognize loans sold through securitization transactions. The criteria to qualify as a QSPE relate to
restrictions on the permitted activities of a QSPE. Specifically, Statement 140 requires that the activities
of a QSPE must be “significantly limited” and “entirely specified” in the legal documents creating the
QSPE. In other words, the QSPE has very restricted decision-making authority because the entity was
supposed to be able to function on “autopilot.” This lack of decision-making authority is the basis for
allowing transfers to QSPEs to be accounted for as sales despite the restriction on a QSPE’s ability to
pledge or sell its assets. The QSPE was viewed as a way of selling financial instruments to a number of
buyers, that is, the holders of the beneficial interests in the QSPE, while restricting the ability of the

transferor to benefit from the operation of the QSPE.

The Board has a project under way to amend Statement 140 to address (a) practices that have developed

since that Statement’s issuance that are not consistent with the original intent and key requirements of the
4
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Statement and (b) concerns of financial statement users that many of the financial assets (and related
obligations) that have been derecognized should continue to be reported in the financial statements of
transferors. The Board’s current deliberations to revise the Statement are the result of an extensive review
of comments received on earlier Exposure Drafts to amend Statement 140, subsequent constituent
inquiries (including financial statement user requests for greater transparency), and market conditions
over recent years including, but not limited to, the impact of the recent credit crisis in the United States.
This research and analysis have led Board members to the conclusion that because of the range of
financial assets being securitized and the complexity of securitization structures and arrangements, the
current qualifying SPE criteria are being stretched well beyond the original intent and requirements of

Statement 140 that its activities be “significantly limited” and “entirely specified.”

The Board considered an approach that would have clarified and strengthened the existing criteria for a
qualifying SPE. After careful consideration Board members concluded that it is not possible to create an
entity that functions on “autopilot™ because few classes of financial assets are truly passive as envisioned
in the qualifying SPE concept. As a result, the Board decided to remove the concept of a qualifying SPE
from Statement 140. This change is a fundamental change in the accounting for transfers of financial
instruments and, as discussed in the next section, has significant implications on the consideration of who,

if anyone, should consolidate entities that were previously considered QSPEs.

Proposed Improvements (o Interpretation 46(R) Influenced by Recent Events in the Credit Markets

FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, was created post Enron to
address weaknesses in financial reporting of interests in thinly capitalized entities for which the traditional

concepts of consolidation for voting interest entities do not work. In creating Interpretation 46(R) the
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Board considered the existing restrictions surrounding the powers and activities of a QSPE and concluded
that QSPEs should not be subject to the consolidation model created by the Interpretation. The basis for
that decision was that the QSPE’s activities are extremely limited such that they are on “autopilot”; hence,

no one controls the QSPE.

As a result of its decision to remove the concept of the qualifying SPE from Statement 140, the Board
decided to remove the scope exception for qualifying SPEs from consolidation guidance, including the
guidance in Interpretation 46(R). The Board considered the potential impact of the elimination of the
qualifying SPE concept on the application of Interpretation 46(R) to formerly qualifying SPEs and noted
that the elimination would put additional pressure on the framework of the existing model under
Interpretation 46(R). Additionally, in light of recent events in the credit markets, financial statement users
have expressed concerns that many variable interest entities have not been consolidated by the entity that
maintains effective control over those SPEs. As a result of these and other concerns, the Board decided to

add a separate but related project to reconsider the guidance in Interpretation 46(R).

Currently, the guidance in Interpretation 46(R) requires an enterprise to consolidate a variable interest
entity if the enterprise has a variable interest or interests that will absorb the majority of the entity’s
expected losses, receive a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns, or both. The Board created
this requirement because it believed that the party that has the obligation and right to absorb a majority of
the entity’s expected losses or expected residual returns would be the party in control of the entity. That
assessment is performed by calculating the variable interest entity’s expected losses and expected residual
returns {(a quantitative analysis) to determine which enterprise, if any, is required to consolidate the

variable interest entity. A variable interest entity’s expected losses and expected residual returns are
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determined by calculating the expected negative variability (for losses) and positive variability (for

returns) in the fair value of its net assets, exclusive of variable interests.

Investors were troubled that the quantitative analysis often seems to identify a different primary
beneficiary of a variable interest entity from that identified by applying a qualitative analysis to the same
entity. For example, the Board understands that sponsors of certain structured finance vehicles that are
variable interest entities avoid consolidation of the entities by selling interests to third parties that would
absorb the majority of the expected losses (expected loss note holders). The expected loss note holder
receives a substantial return on its investment but typically has very limited power, if any, to direct
matters that most significantly impact the activities of the variable interest entity. Additionally, the
maximum exposure to economic losses that can be absorbed by the expected loss note holders is typically
limited to their investment in the notes, while other variable interest holders may be at risk of incurring
significantly larger economic losses. The Board understands that the expected loss note holders frequently
held a very minor position in the variable interest entity, yet, as a result of the judgments behind the

expected loss calculations, they were deemed to be the holder of the majority of expected losses.

The Board generally agreed with the concerns about the application of the quantitative analysis required
by Interpretation 46(R) and the related results. Some Board members believed that the predominant
issues may not be attributed to the calculation itself but to the quality of inputs into the analysis, including
the use of overly optimistic assumptions that did not contemplate all the relevant risks. However, Board

members acknowledged that the calculation was complex and difficult to apply.
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The Board decided to propose amending Interpretation 46(R) to require that an enterprise initially perform
a qualitative analysis about the enterprise’s power to direct the activities of the variable interest entity. A
quantitative analysis based on the expected losses calculation would be performed only when an
enterprise cannot determine whether or not it meets the qualitative criteria. The Board expects there will
be few situations in which an enterprise must perform a quantitative analysis and, thus, has proposed

requiring that the enterprise disclose an explanation for its use of that analysis,

In addition to the change discussed above, the Board decided that an entity’s status as a variable interest
entity and an enterprise’s status as primary beneficiary should be assessed in an ongoing manner rather

than performed only upon certain triggering events.

Proposed Enhanced Disclosure Requirements

Disclosures serve to provide complete and transparent information to users of financial statements. This
information enhances information contained in an enterprise’s financial statements by describing both
qualitative and quantitative information. Statement 140 currently includes disclosure requirements
regarding the transferor’s continuing involvement in a securitization transaction including, but not limited
to, servicing, recourse, and restrictions on retained interests. Likewise, Interpretation 46(R) requires an
enterprise that holds a significant variable interest in a variable interest entity to disclose the nature of its
involvement; the nature, purpose, size, and activities of the variable interest entity; and the entity’s
maximum exposure to loss as a result of its involvement with the variable interest entity. Despite these

requirements, the Board is making disclosure improvements to Statement 140 and Interpretation 46(R).
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First, the Board is proposing a short-term improvement designed to provide users with additional
information about transfers of financial assets and interests in variable interest entities until the
recognition and measurement amendments discussed earlier are effective. This short-term improvement
will include principal objectives of the disclosure requirements for both Statement 140 and Interpretation
46(R), which, if not met by the specific requirements, would require reporting entities to expand their
disclosures until the objectives are met.  Second, the short-term improvement will require certain
disclosures about {a) a sponsor that has a variable interest in a vartable interest entity (irrespective of the
significance of the variable interest) and (b) a nontransferor enterprise that holds a significant variable
interest in a qualifying SPE. And, third, the final amendments to Statement 140 and Interpretation 46 (R)
discussed above will include the applicable disclosure principal objectives and requirements that are
included in the short-term improvement. All of these disclosure improvements will provide users of
financial statements with (a) an improved understanding of a transferor’s continuing involvement with
transferred financial assets, the risks inherent in the transferred financial assets that have been transferred
or retained, and the nature and financial effect of restrictions on the transferor’s assets that continue to be
reported in the statement of financial position and (b) information about an enterprise’s involvement in a
variable interest entity, including a requirement for sponsors of a variable interest entity to disclose

information even if they do not hold a significant variable interest in the variable interest entity.

FExpected Impact of Proposed Changes

We expect that these improvements to financial reporting will provide users with more relevant,
comparable, and transparent information about the past and potential effects of a transferor’s continuing
involvement and the current or potential financial effects of an enterprise’s involvement with a variable
interest entity. This will better enable investors to understand the impact on an enterprise’s financial

position, financial performance, and cash flow.
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Effective Dates of Propused Amendments

Given the current economic environment, the Board concluded that the requirements of the proposed
Statements to amend Statement 140 and Interpretation 46(R) should be effective as soon as reasonably
possible. The Board considered various alternatives for the effective date; however, the majority of users
asserted that a single effective date would provide for a more rational and understandable implementation.
The Board recognizes the urgency of addressing these issues, but it ultimately concluded that the
proposed Statements should have one single effective date so as to provide sufficient time for preparers
and regulators to review the capital adequacy of regulated financial institutions and to provide preparers
with ample time to renegotiate items such as debt covenants, if necessary. When the Board concluded
that the proposed Statements should be effective as of the beginning of each reporting entity’s first fiscal
year that begins after November 15, 2009, the Board decided to issue the short-term disclosure
improvements discussed earlier (which will be effective at the end of the reporting period in which the
guidance is issued, regardless of whether it is an annual or interim period) to serve as interim guidance

unti] the final Statements become effective.

Future Project Plans

The Board issued the Exposure Drafts of the proposed amendments to Statement 140 and Interpretation
46(R) and the draft FASB Staff Position (FSP) on the short-term disclosure improvements on September
15 for public comment, and it plans to hold a public roundtable in November. The Board invites
individuals and organizations to send written comments on all matters of the proposed amendments. The

Board will consider all comments received during its redeliberations of the proposed amendments. The

10
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Board currently plans to complete its redeliberations and issue the final FSP in November and the final

amendments to Statement 140 and Interpretation 46(R) in the first quarter of 2009.

The FASB and the IASB have agreed to long-term objectives to improve, simplify, and reach
convergence on financial reporting requirements for financial instruments. A joint research project is
under way to simplify and improve the accounting for financial instruments. The FASB and the IASB
plan to discuss the status of the projects and future plans to work together at our upcoming joint Board

meeting in October.

Conclusion

I have provided an overview of the recent actions and activities at the FASB relating to “off-balance-sheet
entities.” We share your Subcommittee’s concerns about the role these entities have played in the current
financial crisis. The fundamental issue relates to shortcomings in the transparency of information
available to investors to enable them to understand the true financial reporting status of reporting entities,
particularly in the financial services industry. This is why the Board has undertaken these projects to

clarify and improve the standards for transfers of financial instruments and off-balance-sheet entities.

Thank you again, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Allard, and all of the Members of the Subcommittee.

I very much appreciate your continuing interest in, and support of, the mission and activities of the FASB.

I would be happy to respond to any questions.
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Chairman Reed, Ranking Member Allard, and members of the Subcommittee:

Thank you for the opportunity to testify today on behalf of the Securities and
Exchange Commission (Commission) concerning transparency in accounting and
the FASB’s proposed off-balance sheet accounting improvements. This
testimony is presented jointly on behalf of the Office of the Chief Accountant,
which advises the Commission on accounting and auditing matters, and of the
Division of Corporation Finance, which is responsible for overseeing disclosures
by domestic and foreign issuers of securities.

The Commission’s Commitment to High Quality Accounting Standards

High quality accounting standards are the foundation of a financial reporting
system that is responsive to investor needs. An open process that allows standard
setters to seek and thoughtfully consider the views of market participants is
critical to establishing, maintaining, and continually improving financial
accounting and reporting standards. We are committed to high quality accounting
standards and a transparent financial reporting system that meets the needs of
investors and other market participants.

The Commission’s Commitment to Improving Transparency in Financial
Reporting

Transparency is the cornerstone of world class financial reporting. Transparent
and unbiased financial reporting allows investors to make informed decisions
based upon a company’s financial performance and disclosures. A clear, concise,
and balanced view into the companies that participate in our capital markets is
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fundamentally important to those who choose to invest in our markets. Informed
decision making results in efficient capital allocation.

Transparent financial reporting that conveys a complete and understandable
picture of a company’s financial position reduces uncertainty in our markets.
Surprises are reduced or avoided when a company provides clear and
understandable information about existing risk and uncertainty, particularly where
such risk and uncertainty is reasonably likely to have a current or future impact on
that company. However, we do not live in a static world. Circumstances and
risks change and, as a result, disclosure about those risks evolves.

No better example of this exists than our recent experience with off-balance sheet
accounting and disclosure in the financial services sector. In response to the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Commission adopted a number of new and
revised disclosure requirements. Among these were the specific changes in Item
303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K relating to off-balance sheet transactions. Under this
disclosure requirement, financial institutions with off-balance sheet arrangements
are required to provide certain disclosure regarding those arrangements if those
arrangements are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on the
company’s financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations,
liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is material to investors. An
institution is not required to provide this disclosure until it determines that a
current or future effect is material and reasonably likely. A financial institution
with a large off-balance sheet arrangement may not provide disclosure about that
arrangement in one period because, at the date of the balance sheet for that period,
the institution determined that it was not reasonably likely to have a future
material impact upon the institution’s financial statements. However,
circumstances can, and often do, change. In a subsequent period, the institution
may reach a different materiality conclusion and determine that it is appropriate to
provide disclosure about that off-balance sheet arrangement. As its exposure to
loss evolves, the associated disclosure about the likely financial statement impact
will evolve as well.

We remain focused on enhancing financial reporting transparency. We continue
to work with companies to improve their disclosure about off-balance sheet
transactions. As part of our mandate, the Division of Corporation Finance (the
Division) regularly evaluates public company financial disclosure transparency.
Through its regular and systematic review of public companies, in 2007 the
Division determined it would be appropriate to identify a number of items
companies with off-balance sheet arrangements may want to consider in preparing
their Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations. In a December 2007 letter to a number of large financial
institutions, the Division highlighted these items and encouraged these companies
to consider whether they could improve the transparency of their financial
reporting based on this disclosure guidance.
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Another example of efforts to improve the transparency of financial reporting is
the Division’s March 2008 letter to large financial institutions concerning fair
value disclosure practices. Like the December 2007 letter regarding off-balance
sheet transaction disclosure, this letter highlighted items companies may wish to
consider in providing transparent disclosure of fair value accounting. Our
ongoing reviews of public companies suggested that additional guidance would be
helpful, and as a result, just this week, the Division issued a similar letter in which
it provided additional guidance on this topic.

Although we have noted an improvement in the transparency of financial
reporting relating to off-balance sheet transactions and fair value accounting, the
Division continues to monitor and evaluate disclosure about them. We will, as
necessary, ask companies to improve the transparency of their disclosure. Where
we are unable to achieve improved disclosure through the review and comment
process, we stand ready to take any necessary action, including referring
companies with material disclosure deficiencies to the Division of Enforcement.

Investors, analysts, auditors, and preparers of financial disclosure play a
fundamental role in improving the transparency of financial reporting. We
continually receive input on and suggestions for changes in the financial reporting
framework from a broad range of interested persons. In some instances this
exchange of information is informal and in others, it is more formal.

As an example, when we and market participants became concerned about
compliance with our disclosure rules relating to certain off-balance sheet
securitization arrangements, the FASB, at the request of the Commission’s Office
of Chief Accountant, hosted an educational forum in June 2007 where a diverse
range of market participant representatives discussed their concerns. The
discussion in this forum provided the necessary background information for staff
guidance on the accounting for mortgage loan modifications — guidance that was
vital given the growing concerns about the nation’s housing market.! Ongoing
market developments and the insight we gained at this forum highlighted the need
for the FASB to quickly address certain aspects of the accounting for off-balance
sheet arrangements. In a January 2008 letter to leaders in the financial reporting
community, the Commission’s Office of Chief Accountant provided additional
staff guidance on the accounting for mortgage loan modifications. In this letter,
we asked the FASB to prioritize its efforts to address the accounting for off-
balance sheet arrangements.”

As another example, the Commission held a roundtable in July 2008 during which
a broad range of market participants discussed fair value accounting standards and
the transparency of financial reporting. At that meeting, panelists discussed their
experience with fair value, or “mark-to-market,” accounting, and the challenges
they face in applying the accounting standard. Panelists agreed that fair value
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accounting increases transparency and provides relevant financial information.
Panelists also agreed that the FASB’s recent guidance on fair value accounting
helps improve transparency. However, the panelists shared their views on how
difficult it was to implement fair value accounting in the current market
environment. To address this feedback, we understand that the FASB is working
closely with its counterparts at the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) to consider whether additional real time guidance would be useful.

Finally, last month, the Commission hosted a roundtable at which panelists
discussed how International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and U.S.
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP) have performed during
the recent period of market turmoil.® Again, the Commission asked a broad range
of market participants to describe their experiences and share their thoughts. The
Commission invited the FASB and IASB to participate in the meeting as well. At
the meeting, while panelists generally agreed that the FASB and the IASB should
continue to work to improve the accounting for, and disclosures of, off-balance
sheet arrangements, a number of panelists clarified that international
consolidation standards, such as SIC 12, place a greater emphasis on control,
which often results in greater levels of assets and liabilities remaining on balance
sheet.

We have found educational forums and meetings to be extremely useful ways to
solicit market participant views on how we can improve transparency in financial
reporting. However, they are not the only source of this important input. For
instance, in July 2007, Chairman Cox established the Advisory Committee on
Improvements to Financial Reporting (CIFiR) and asked it to provide
recommendations on how our financial reporting system could be improved to the
benefit of investors. The CIFiR members represented a diverse group of capital
market leaders who provided a fresh perspective on the use of financial reporting.
In the 25 recommendations it presented in its August 2008 report, CIFiR made
clear that a straight-forward, understandable, and balanced financial reporting
framework provides investors with transparent information.” The Commission
and its staff look forward to working with the FASB and other market participants
as it considers the CIFiR recommendations.

FASB’s Proposal on Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The continued review of the effectiveness of existing accounting standards for
off-balance sheet arrangements and recent capital market pressures have
highlighted areas for improvement in the existing accounting guidance for off-
balance sheet arrangements.

The primary guidance for accounting for off-balance sheet arrangements for
financial instruments is contained in FASB Statement No. 140, Accounting for
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities,
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and FASB Interpretation No. 46R, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.
FAS 140 and FIN 46R are the two sources of guidance market participants have
identified for improvement.

In FAS 140, the FASB provides guidance on how a company should determine
whether it should account for cash received for a financial asset (for example, a
mortgage loan) as a sale (off-balance sheet) or as a secured loan {on balance
sheet). If the company does not account for the transaction as a sale, it must
record the mortgage loan and related borrowing of cash separately (i.e., grossed
up) on the balance sheet.

The FASB adopted FIN 46R to address off-balance sheet arrangements after the
Enron fallout. In FIN 46R, the FASB provides guidance on how a company
should determine whether it should include the assets and liabilities held in
special-purpose entities, or SPEs, including commercial paper conduits and other
structured finance vehicles, or SIVs, in its balance sheet. Following FIN 46R, a
company must consolidate the assets and liabilities of a SPE if it has the majority
of the associated risks or rewards. However, it is important to note that if assets
and liabilities are held by a securitization trust that is a Qualified SPE, or a
passive trust with limited and predetermined activities, FAS 140 prohibits their
consolidation and the company must keep those assets and liabilities off its
consolidated balance sheet. This exception is commonly referred to as a “QSPE
scope exception.” We believe that “scope outs” or “scope exceptions” should be
used sparingly since economically similar transactions will result in different
accounting outcomes. Such a result can unnecessarily increase the complexity of
financial reporting and, it is for this reason, the CIFiR recommended that the
FASB reduce or eliminate the use of scope exceptions when they develop
standards.

In January 2008, the Commission staff asked the FASB to consider the need for
further improvements to the accounting and disclosure for off-balance sheet
transactions involving securitization arrangements. Further, in March 2008, the
President’s Working Group on Financial Markets made similar recommendations
to improve the accounting and disclosure for these transactions. To address these
requests, the FASB has thoughtfully undertaken a project on off-balance sheet
arrangements and has moved expeditiously to expose proposed guidance. Based
on the potential far-reaching impact of this accounting topic and the important due
process procedures required to evaluate and implement any potential changes to
it, the speed at which the FASB has moved this project forward is commendable.

On Monday, September 15, 2008, the FASB proposed amendments to FAS 140
and FIN 46R. Under the proposed amendments, the FASB would eliminate what
is commonly referred to as the QSPE scope exception. Eliminating the QSPE
scope exception would subject all securitization transaction teusts and other
vehicles to a single consolidation accounting model. The FASB’s proposal would
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introduce a new accounting model that will focus the consolidation analysis on
qualitative indicators of control and reduce the reliance on mathematical
calculations. The new model, which more closely aligns with relevant
international standards than the current guidance, would become the relevant
guidance for companies to follow when determining whether they should
consolidate their SPEs.

In response to a number of other issues we have referred to the FASB as a result
of our ongoing review of company filings, the FASB’s revised model would also
require a company to take into account the impact of current economic conditions
at each balance sheet date as it makes its consolidation assessment. The existing
FIN 46R model generally requires a company to re-evaluate its consolidation of
off-balance sheet transactions only when there is a change in the SPE’s structure
or upon the company’s purchase of an additional interest in the SPE. As a result,
the existing model can result in a company’s identification of significant asset
exposure in the notes to its financial statements rather than in its balance sheet.

If the FASB adopts the proposed rule changes, we believe SPE sponsors would
consolidate a significant portion of existing off-balance sheet arrangements,
including some portion of the existing QSPEs, SIVs and commercial-paper
conduits. However, an accurate assessment of the full impact of the proposed
amendments will not be possible until companies have an opportunity to study
and measure their effects. It is difficult, if not impossible, to predict how
structured finance will evolve and how the proposed amendments will affect the
accounting for yet unforeseen arrangements. However, the Commission staff
strongly believes that the proposed amendments hold promise in enhancing
financial reporting transparency and we will monitor their effectiveness and
mandate further change if necessary.

In November 2008, after a 60-day public comment period, we expect the FASB to
host a public roundtable on the proposed amendments. While we strongly support
the FASB’s objective of improving the accounting and disclosure for off-balance
transactions, public input is critical to the development of high quality accounting
standards. We cannot predict the nature and extent of public response to the
proposed amendments, nor at this time can we predict the full impact the
proposed amendments may have on capital formation and the operation of our
capital markets. The Commission staff will monitor public comments on the
proposals as well as the views of all market participants and will work closely
with the FASB and other regulators as this important due process proceeds.

To ensure that market participants have adequate time to fully consider the
proposed amendments before the FASB finalizes and implements them, the FASB
has proposed that most companies apply changes in the reporting for off-balance
sheet transactions on January 1, 2010. Additionally, to provide enhanced
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financial reporting transparency prior to completing its work on the proposed
amendments, the FASB plans to adopt requirements for additional information
regarding the risk and involvement with SPEs before the end of this year. Under
the new requirements, companies will provide enhanced SPE disclosure no later
than first quarter 2009.

We remain committed to the ongoing review of our accounting framework to
identify enhancements to financial reporting transparency. Echoing our
commitment to continual review, CIFiR reaffirmed the benefits of a post-adoption
review of new accounting standards in its August 2008 report. Our work in the
area of the accounting for off-balance sheet arrangements is just an example of
why a post-adoption review is necessary to our ongoing efforts to improve
financial reporting.

Enforcement Related Activities

You asked us to discuss the adequacy of the Commission’s enforcement
mechanisms and any contemplated changes and to discuss planned enforcement
actions should companies fail to comply with required disclosure requirements.
As you probably know, it is the Commission’s policy to conduct investigations on
a confidential basis, and generally not to disclose the existence or non-existence
of an investigation until it is made a matter of public record in proceedings before
the Commission or the courts. That said, the Commission regularly investigates
allegations of possible accounting irregularities or reporting violations by issuing
subpoena requests for documents, taking sworn testimony of witnesses, and
otherwise vigorously investigating meritorious allegations, and it is fair to say
that, were the Commission to become aware of possible disclosure or accounting
issues involving FAS 140, the Division of Enforcement (“Enforcement™) would
undertake an initial investigation of those allegations and the Commission would
direct Enforcement to pursue a formal investigation if the facts warrant.

And, while we cannot comment on pending investigations, the Commission has
brought significant actions for failing to comply with the requirements of FAS
140 or its predecessor, FAS 125. Enforcement recently concluded a financial
fraud investigation involving improper accounting for mortgage-related
transactions under FAS 140 by three NYSE-listed Puerto Rico financial
institutions: Doral Financial, R&G Financial and First BanCorp. The
Commission alleged that Doral Financial improperly recognized gain on sales of
approximately $3.9 billion in mortgages to First BanCorp. Those transactions
allegedly were not true sales under FAS 140 because of oral agreements or
understandings between Doral Financial’s former treasurer and former director
emeritus and First BanCorp senior management providing for recourse beyond the
limited recourse established in the written contracts. The Commission alleged
that R&G Financial improperly recognized gain on sales of mortgages under FAS
140 because of full recourse provisions in the written contracts.
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Doral Financial settled for a fraud injunction and a $25 million penalty [SEC v.
Doral Financial Corporation, LR-19837 (Sept. 19, 2006)]; First Bancorp settled
for a fraud injunction and $8.5 million penalty [SEC v. First BanCorp, LR-20227
{August 7, 2007); R&G Financial settled for a fraud injunction [SEC v. R&G
Financial Corporation, LR-20455 (Feb. 13, 2008)]; a former Morgan Stanley
Vice President pleaded guilty to lying during the investigation; Doral Financial’s
former Treasurer was indicted on related criminal securities fraud charges; and
First BanCorp’s former CEO and CFO settled for fraud injunctions, officer and
director bars and civil money penalties [SEC v. Alvarez and Astor, LR-

(Sept. __,2008).

Additionally, the Commission has brought actions against Canadian Imperial
Bank of Canada, PNC and Raytheon for transactions accounted for under FAS
125 or FAS 140. The Commission has also named individuals for their role in
certain FAS 125 and FAS 140 transactions, including former Enron CEO and
Chairman Ken Lay, former Enron CEO Jeff Skilling, former Enron CFO Andrew
Fastow and former Enron CAO Richard Causey.

Going forward, in the event companies fail to comply with disclosure
requirements, the Commission would consider the individual facts and
circumstances as to why the companies failed to comply, and would take the fact
of failed compliance as well as other applicable facts into consideration in
determining whether enforcement action would be appropriate.

Conclusion

We are committed to our role in setting high quality accounting standards. We are
committed to supporting the FASB’s role in this process. The FASB’s recent
proposals regarding the accounting for off-balance sheet arrangements represent a
positive step in a necessary process of continually reevaluating our accounting
standards to make sure they result in transparent financial information.
Evaluating the views of all market participants is essential to developing effective
accounting standards. We believe the Commission’s and the FASB’s ongoing
efforts to improve the accounting for off-balance sheet arrangements are
consistent with our role in setting high quality accounting standards and
improving transparency in financial reporting information.

! http:/www . house.gov/apps/list/press/financialsves_dem/sec_response072507.pdf.
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2 Letter from SEC Chief Accountant to Arnold Hanish, Chairman, Committee on Corporate
Reporting, Financial Executive international and Sam Ranzilla, Chairman, Professional Practice
Executive Committee, The Center for Audit Quality, American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants concerning the American Securitization Forum’s Sireamlined Foreclosure and Loss
Avoidance Framework for Securitized Subprime Adjustable Rate Mortgage L.oans, January 8,
2008 .

® http://www.sec.gov/spotlight/ifrsroadmap/ifrsround080408-transcript.pdf.

* SIC Interpretation No. 12, “Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities”

® Final Report of the Advisory Committee on Improvements to Financial Reporting, August 1,
2008.
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Thank you Chairman Reed, ranking member Allard, and members of the committee, for
the opportunity to testify today. I am pleased to appear before you to discuss the role of the
accounting transparency and off-balance sheet entities precipitating the credit crisis, as well as
possible legislative options for accounting reforms. I am Joseph Mason, Herman Moyse,
Jr./Louisiana Bankers Association Professor of Finance at Louisiana State University and Senior
Fellow at The Wharton School, and these are my personal views, Before joining academe, 1
studied consumer credit, bankruptcy, and structured finance as a Senior Financial Economist at
the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, and have since advised bank and securities market
regulators as well as many industry groups and the press on the recent market and economic
difficulties.

1t is useful to teach securitization using the notion of a pool of assets segregated from the
seller' and funded by tranches of bonds and equity. The standard approach is to emphasize the
intent to segregate the assets from the seller in a bankruptcy remote subsidiary to achieve a lower
cost of financing in a sort of “super-collateralized” loan arrangement. Securities representing
claims against the collateral pool are then structured and sold as asset-backed or mortgage-
backed securities.

Of course, that simplified paradigm does not accurately reflect real-world practice. In the
real world, a number of intricacies erode the nature of the true sale. First, the bottom securities in
the structure of the securitization absorb losses first, so the majority of risk is effectively distilled

into those bottom elements. Bank regulators realized this some time ago and approved policy to

' 1 will use the term seller throughout to refer to the originator of the loans or the originator of the pool of loans.
Sometimes the term sponsor is used interchangeably with seller, though I will find it useful to use seller later on in
my written testimony when discussing loan servicing performed by the seller, in which case the seller is a seller-
servicer. Such circumstances are important because the most egregious problems have occurred with seller-
servicers.
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deal effectively with the situation in 2001 and with variations on the theme (most famously
promuigated by Enron) in 2003.

Second, “representations and warranties” have become a mechanism for subsidizing pool
performance, so that no asset- or mortgage-backed security investor experiences losses — until
the seller, itself, fails and is no longer able to support the pool. Regulators, policymakers, and
market participants again and again feign surprise when the seller fails and call for bailouts on
the basis of the purported systemic risk, if only because of the lack of their own attention to the
arrangements.

Third, “gain-on-sale” accounting creates paper earnings from securitizations that create the
appearance of solid financial performance for firms that can be posting big cash losses due to
operations. Regulators, policymakers, and even managers have known of this problem for
decades now, but again continue to feign surprise when such firms fail, suddenly changing from

record “earnings” to bankruptcy (because the accounting “earnings” are not real cash earnings).

L Asset Securitizations and Traditional Accounting Measures

While many other intricacies exist, it is important to realize that the market has been aware
of all of these situations for some time now. In 1997, Moody’s published their classic special
report on their internal methods for making sense of accounting for securitizations. Since the
industry was small at the time, Moody’s maintained an aggressive stance on clarity and accuracy.
Even then, however, Moody’s found it necessary to adjust earnings and leverage ratios for the
less palatable aspects of securitization accounting.

In 1997, Moody’s Investors Service wrote that “.. .the simple act of securitizing assets can

affect the appearance of the income statement and balance sheet in a profound manner without,
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in many cases, significantly altering the underlying economics of the [seller]. Under gain on sale
accounting, income statements reflect the present-value of lifetime earnings from assets in a
single quarter, predicated on numerous assumptions and calculations. Reported earnings may
give a false sense of the long term ability of the company to repay debt. Reported balance sheet
leverage declines as securitized assets are treated as “sold” for accounting purposes, although
there may be little, if any, risk transference.” (4lternative Financial Ratios for the Effects of
Securitization, Moody’s Investors Service, September 1997)

With respect to earnings, Moody’s adjusted the standard ratio used to express the ability of
companies to pay, or “cover,” interest expense from operating earnings, EBITDA coverage,
which is the ratio of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization to interest
expense. According to Moody’s this ratio may give a false sense of security when calculated for
sellers. In particular, Moody’s maintains, “...the inclusion of gain on sale in the numerator of
this ratio is inappropriate as [those] gains cannot be used to pay interest expense. To adjust for
this, [Moody’s] simply deduct[s] any gain on sale from earnings when calculating EBITDA
coverage. The result is adjusted EBITDA coverage. (Moody’s Investors Service, “Alternative
Financial Ratios for the Effects of Securitization,” September 1997, p. 9)

To adjust leverage for securitizations, Moody’s added the securitizations back onto on-
balance sheet debt. Then Moody’s adjusted common equity by reversing gains from
securitizations (gains-on-sale) and adding back excess spread as income to common equity.
Adjustments are also made for the different accounting methods firms would be subject to if they
did not account for securitizations as sales. Moody’s leaves it to the analyst to make additional
adjustments to these calculations. According to Moody’s, the result is that the equity base for the

effective leverage calculation is increased by the credit loss reserve related to a securitization,
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effectively giving sellers credit in their equity base for loss reserves, without requiring them to
establish an appropriate loss reserve. (Moody’s Investors Service, “Adlternative Financial Ratios
Jor the Effects of Securitization,” September 1997, p. 8)

In documents dating all the way back to 1987, Moody’s points out that while, “...the
practices developed by the accounting and regulatory world are useful starting points for the
credit analyst..., these guidelines often do not fully capture the true economic risks of a
securitized asset sale to the originator's credit quality.” Hence, Moody's maintains that their own
focus is not on whether a sale of assets is arbitrarily put on or kept off the balance sheet, but
rather on “...assessing the fundamental residual credit risks left with the originator from the asset
sale and the amount of the firm's equity base that should be allocated to support the transaction.”
(Moody’s Investors Service, “Asset Securitization and Corporate Financial Health,” December
1987, p. 3) Moody’s continues, “Because of different accounting treatment, any direct
comparison of results with financial services companies that do not securitize their assets
becomes misleading.” (4lternative Financial Ratios for the Effects of Securitization, Moody’s
Investors Service, September 1997, p. 1)

Hence, more than two decades ago market insiders fully realized that standard accounting

rules are not applicable to securitizing firms.

11 Retained Interests and Risk Distillation
Recently, there have been repeated calls to supposedly align incentives of sellers and
investors, as well as borrowers, by having sellers retain some risk in their securitizations. The

reality is that they have always retained risk, and that retained risk is precisely the problem.
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Old pass-through securitizations are about risk transfer. In those deals, the pool of loans is
funded by a single set of securities that represents identical interests in the pool. That is, the
securities all absorb losses equally.

Modern securitization is about creating a senior subordinate security structure wherein
some securities absorb risks before others, making those others safer (and higher-rated). In
senior-subordinate structures, essentially all the risk is distilled into the roughly 10% or less of
subordinate bonds. Hence, the senior bonds can achieve an (often real) AAA rating.

Suppose we sell a pool with a 2% expected loss rate, meaning we fully expect 2% of the
pool value to be lost to foreclosures after recovery. If losses are less than 2%, the “first-loss”
piece can be valuable. If losses climb to more than 2%, the piece is worthless. Certainly, no
investor will buy an interest in that almost guaranteed 2% first-loss piece, so the seller has to
retain that on their own balance sheet. Economically, the average risk level retained by the seller
is the same whether the pool is securitized or not.

In the past, the seller (if it is a commercial bank) would hold the Basel-required 8% capital
against the 2% first-loss piece retained on the balance sheet. Recognizing that the piece was
almost a guaranteed loss, in 2001 bank regulators required banks to hold 100% capital against
the first-loss piece. Nonetheless, the first expected loss portion of the deal was already retained
by sellers, so in fact now requiring sellers to retain that piece will change nothing.

Those retained interests are indelibly related to the “variable interest entity” that is the
foundation of the proposed FASB revisions. Prior to financial engineering, ownership (and
therefore on-balance sheet treatment) was dictated by voting interest: if a firm owned more than

50% of voting equity shares, they clearly owned the firm.
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With financial engineering (as demonstrated by Enron), all that changed. The first attempt
to establish ownership in financially-engineered construct was attempted in FASB140, which
stipulated that if somebody else did not own at least 3% of the funding liabilities and equity, you
had to carry it on your own books. Of course, Enron found this requirement very easy to obviate
by lending someone else money to buy the 3% and then selling the rest with Enron guarantees of
the securities’ performance, thus retaining a substantial first-loss stake in the arrangement.

Under FIN46, created to revise the rules that were used to create the failed Enron
structures, the 3% rule became the 10% rule. The entities used by Enron were labeled “Variable
Interest Entities” (VIEs) and others “Qualified Special Purpose Entities” (QSPEs), which were
excluded from the 10% rule because they are thought to be what FASB termed “passive
securitizations.”

Hence, a key problem with us today is that the purportedly “passive” credit card, mortgage,
home equity, auto loan and other qualified SPEs (QSPEs) were not passive at all. That trouble is
worsened when those “passive” structures are allowed to manipulate pool value through

servicing and direct replacement of loans in the pools.

HI.  True Sale and Risk Transfer
Let’s start with a simple notion of a “true sale.” Then, we can talk about active interests to
support the sale and intermediate notions in the real securitization world.
To form a view of the objective “truly passive” sale, it is useful to use the automobile
analogy. Suppose I sell you my car. I give you the car and receive cash in return. You drive

away. If the engine falls out two weeks later you are out of luck. Classical caveat emptor applies.
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That is a true sale. From an accounting perspective, we can clearly take the car off the balance
sheet and replace it with the cash at the time of the sale.

Now suppose [ give you a warranty at the time of sale: for six months, if anything happens
1 will give you your money back. I should probably keep some amount of cash on hand to satisfy
the obligation should you run into trouble. From an accounting perspective, it would make sense
that I should not close the sale until the six months have passed. That is, I should hold reserves
against the possibility that the car will break down. The entire car is still “on-balance sheet” (as a
contingent liability) but so is the cash so we have no effect until the warranty expires.

Now, adding complexity, suppose that I give you a warranty that states I will fix the car —
not give you your money back — if anything goes wrong. Perhaps [ don’t have to reserve against
the entire price of the car now, but only the cost of repairs. That could make sense, but the
maximum cost of repairs is still the total value of the car. Even if I could estimate the probable
cost of repairs, I may still want to remain aware of the total possible liability involved in
honoring the warranty.

Back in the early development of securitization, and indeed still today with most Real
Estate Mortgage Investment Conduits (REMICS), the underlying situation is that of the first
example of the true sale above. A pool of loans is purchased from the seller and financed through
RMBS. The pool is passive in the sense that the seller is legally restricted from swapping loans
into and out of the pool.

But as different securitization structures and paradigms developed, sellers and investors
saw the capacity for greater arbitrage through manipulating pools, rendering the passive view of
many securitizations revealed in even FASB’s view toward its FIN46 post-Enron reforms

obsolete. In 1989, early credit card securitizations showed the path forward. Because credit card
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accounts are, on average, outstanding less than a year it is necessary to structure a “revolving”
period so that the pool of loans can be funded by bonds of longer maturity than the loans,
themselves. During the revolving period, old credit card loans that have been paid off are
replaced with new loans so that the pool balance remains relatively constant. Since the early
1990s, there were concerns with “cherry picking” the new accounts to be added so as to increase
the credit quality of the pool. While such practice has never been officially confirmed or denied,
it has appeared as if regulators allow such practices to encourage stable funding for the industry.

But the idea of selling the loans while not really passing along the full risk of the loans’
performance was too attractive for the rest of the world to pass up. Hence, Enron embarked on a
similar endeavor, “selling” something for accounting purposes while retaining the economic risk.
Of course, the risk was truly borne by Enron until the firm failed, resulting the spectacular
disentangling of myriad funding conduits and instruments implemented in the process and sold
throughout the world.

While FASB’s FIN46 revised accounting rules to preclude another Enron, it specifically
exempted consumer credit securitizations from its rulemaking. Having had their future
demonstrated so clearly by Enron, however, non-bank financial firms like New Century,
investment banks like Bear Stearns, and even some banks and thrifts pursed the same strategy.
Those firms sold pools of mortgages that bore little resemblance to the early REMIC structures.
In the private-label RMBS, loans that didn’t perform well were repurchased in a ready and fluid
fashion, more akin to an inappropriately off-balance sheet covered bond than any sort of passive
true sale securitization envisioned by FASB.

Many sellers have voluntarily provided additional support to preserve the performance and

bond ratings of their structured transactions. (Moody’s Investor’s Service, “The Costs and
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Benefits of Supporting “Troubled” Asset-Backed Securities: Has the Balance Shifted?” January
1997) Still, it would be egregious to maintain that securitization transfers no risk at all. After all,
in the event of catastrophic asset quality problems, the seller may choose NOT to support a
troubled deal, notwithstanding any legal responsibility to do so. In such a case, the asset-backed
bond investors and any third-party credit enhancers, such as a bond insurer, would absorb the
residual losses. By contrast, a portfolio lender would have to absorb all losses.

Trouble begins in this paradigm, however, when loan performance sours beyond the ability
of the seller to support pool performance out of regular operating earnings. Then, the seller has to
either increase earnings or stem losses. Since the seller’s earnings primarily rise through
MAKING NEW LOANS TO GENERATE UNDERWRITNG FEES, the seller accelerates
underwriting. Since better-qualified borrowers will most likely obtain cheaper loans from
financially sound lenders, the seller targets down-market consumers — subprime borrowers — for
the new business.

Of course, less creditworthy borrowers mean more losses. So the deterioration in loan
petformance that prompted the decline is met with more deterioration in loan performance. As
the firm tumults down the death spiral, they attempt to modify loans using repayment and
forbearance plans, while aggressively reaging” loans to classify as much of the portfolio as
“performing” as possible. Some lenders, upon realizing that they were unable to generate enough
repayment and forbearance plans to feed the reaging process, resort to “amnesty” programs,

wherein they merely wrote off the past due balance and called the loan current once again —

? Reaging refers to the criteria for classifying a previously delinquent loan “current” again, Conservative reagers
(including commercial banks, by FFIEC rulemaking) require an account to post three consecutive on-time payments
to be classified as current again. Aggressive reagers (non-bank finance companies) can choose to reage on the mere
promise of a payment. Aggressive reaging has been found to have played a role in many of the mortgage firm
failures in the crisis.

10
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sometimes without the delinquent borrower even knowing their loan had been awarded this
“amnesty”!

Loan swapping under “representations and warranties,” therefore, together with loan
modifications carried out through ongoing servicing allow the seller to readily absorb the loan
risk that was purportedly sold. Hence, Nomura notes that, ... without audits or third-party
oversight, an ABS servicer in financial distress may manipulate amortization triggers, divert deal
cash flows, or otherwise misappropriate assets. (Nomura, “ABS Credit Migrations 2004,”
December 7, 2004, p. 41)

The financial prospects for a seller that is unable to muster the resources to voluntarily
support a securitization are grim. Such a seller would likely no longer receive any excess spread
from the securitization trusts and might have difficulty raising external cash due to uncertainty
over the asset quality of its serviced portfolio. Such a seller would surely not be able to issue
again in markets any time soon. Hence, the seller can be reasonably expected to fail outright in
the near term (Moody’s Investors Service, “Bullet Proof Structures Revisited: Bankruptcies and
a Market Hangover Test Securitizations' Mettle, August 30, 2002, p. 3)

Bondholders often have a legal right to replace the primary servicer with a backup servicer,
since, “...the performance of securitized assets can be impaired by actions taken by a servicer in
financial distress, but they usually need to do so before bankruptcy. The bankruptcy court may
not allow replacement of the servicer since servicer rights may be viewed as a property right of
the debtor's estate. Investors thus may have no choice but to continue with the original servicer
even if the quality of its servicing is poor. Even if the servicer is willing to give up servicing
rights, those can often be difficult to transfer because they are tainted by the servicer’s

malfeasance, often of too little value for a follow-up servicer to maintain on any reasonably
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profitable basis. (Moody’s Investors Service, “Bullet Proof Structures Revisited: Bankruptcies
and a Market Hangover Test Securitizations' Mettle, August 30, 2002, p. 4; Nomura, “ABS
Credit Migrations 2004,” December 7, 2004, p. 41)

Servicing rights also create difficulties for a bankruptcy trustee — including the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation — who seeks to liguidate the assets of a failed seller/servicer. The
loan servicing rights are often the final asset remaining in the firm and the substantial potential
for servicer malfeasance as the seller /servicer approaches bankruptcy can deteriorate their value
significantly. Thus, firms like IndyMac are difficult to liquidate because no other servicer is
willing to service the portfolio without substantial remuneration to insulate them from the losses
and legal ramifications of unwinding the potential fraud and malfeasance left over from the
previous distressed servicer. That is why the FDIC was left servicing the NextBank credit card
portfolio, and that is most likely the case at IndyMac as well (and some of that is probably
behind Bank of America’s purchase of Countrywide at a very favorable price).

Since there is so little to recover from a failed seller/servicer, the FDIC, itself, has
maintained that it may disallow “true sale” status if it desires to seize those “truly sold” assets to
recover deposit insurance outlays. Indeed, the legal status of securitizations remains unsettled.
One of the most intriguing cases in the history of structured finance, In re LTV Steel
Corporation, tested the fundamental tenet that assets can be isolated from the bankruptcy of their
seller through a "true sale." According to Moody’s Investors Service, “...in December 2000,
LTV Corporation (LTV), an integrated steel maker, and its operating subsidiaries filed for
protection under Chapter 11. LTV entered bankruptcy court without a DIP loan in place. Instead,

LTV requested and the court granted permission to use the cash generated from two of LTV's

12



65

securitizations in order to stay in business - despite the previous sale of these assets to two
SPVs.”

Even the court failed to see the logic in the securitization and was inclined toward allowing
the estate to seize the securitized pools, maintaining, “[T]here seems to be an element of
sophistry to suggest that Debtor does not retain at least an equitable interest in the property.... To
suggest that Debtor lacks some ownership interest in products that it creates with its own labor,
as well as the proceeds to be derived from that labor, is difficult to accept.” (Memorandum
Opinion, U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Ohio, Feb. 5, 2001) The case,
however, was never ruled upon, therefore the issue of true sale — itself the keystone of
securitization — remains contentions.

In summary, “true sale” as it has been practiced does not make sense. To get at any
meaningful FASB reforms, we need to go back to the principle of true sale. [ sold you the car.
Caveat emptor. Retaining servicing rights are like maintaining the car after the sale. Loan swap
agreements are simple warranties. In order to improve accounting standards, therefore, we have
to put a limit on the amount of money that can be spent on maintenance, i.e., loan servicing, after
the sale. While FASB has maintained that acting under representations and warranties is not
optional, they are interpreting that optionality only in the strict legal sense. There is always the
“real” option of simply refusing to support the pool representations and warranties, While that
may result in some lawsuits, in reality those can be beaten back for several years giving the firm
a chance to restore performance and eventually meet their contractual obligations. Hence, we
also need to financially value the option in the warranty.

The problem is a tragic collision of economics, finance, and accounting, where economic

risk is placed where it is difficult to value financially and even the most complex accounting
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rules do not apply. While that does not augur for prohibiting any of the above arrangements in
the long term, it does provide a rationale for constraining financial product developments so that
they do not grow systemically large before finance and accounting can properly characterize
their risks and returns. Hence, there may be reason to curb the over-reliance on financial
innovations — certainly within the realm of financial institutions that receive Federal and State
safety net protection — and require public reporting of such exposures and values to better align

incentives for innovation with the need for financial stability.

IV.  Gain on Sale Accounting and Perceived Profitability

Any discussion of necessary accounting reforms would be incomplete without a section of
gain-on-sale accounting.

FASB’S August 11, 2005, Revision of Exposure Draft Issued June 10, 2003, “Accounting
for Transfers of Financial Assets, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 140,” (Financial
Accounting Series No. 1225-001), explains gain-on-sale. Summarizing, in order to facilitate
“gain-on-sale accounting,” the firm (1) estimates the value of the thing they want to sell with a
financial model. Then, the firm (2) receives some money and other items in the actual sale of that
thing. Next, in what is the real arbitrary aspect of gain-on-sale accounting, the firm gets to (3)
record the difference between their own valuation of the thing that they sold and the value of the
cash and other items received in the sale as cash revenue.

Difficulties in the high-LTV home-equity loan crisis of the late 1990s were largely
attributable to aggressive gain-on-sale accounting. When firms, realizing the risks of gain-on-
sale accounting and the false earnings conditions they represented to investors, sought to pull

back from gain-on-sale and become more conservative, they were told by FASB that they if the

14
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firm adopted an unreasonably conservative approach that would be considered earnings
manipulation.

According to Moody’s:

In the late 1990's, several subprime home equity and auto lenders encountered financial

difficulty arising in part from explosive growth patterns, in part from using securitization

as a source of funds, and in part from overly aggressive use of gain on sale accounting.

Such accounting methodology made these companies look much stronger financially on

paper than they actually were. Companies that used gain on sale accounting included,

among subprime mortgage issuers, Contifinancial Corp., Southern Pacific Funding Corp.,

Cityscape, and United Companies Financial Corp.... Once the effect of gain on sale

accounting was removed from financial statements, leverage ratios were often high. These

companies also had weak capital positions compared to more diversified finance
companies. (Moody’s Investors Service, “Bullet Proof Structures Revisited: Bankruptcies

and a Market Hangover Test Securitizations' Mettle, August 30, 2002, p. 14)

The problem with gain-on-sale accounting is, therefore, that the revenue booked is not real
cash. Hence, many recently-failed mortgage companies and similar firms associated with
previous securitization fiascos have never been cash-flow positive in their entire corporate lives.
Thus, the financial world was recently littered with hundreds of firms with exceedingly high
stock values that had never actually earned positive cash profits in a manner typical of a classic

bubble.
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V. Summary and Conclusion: Everything Old is New Again

None of the problems above are anything new, unique, or unknown, nor is their
manifestation in today’s credit crisis. The only thing that increased the severity of the crisis this
time around is the sheer scale of the operation, which rose from less than $1trillion in the late
1990s to some nearly $10 trillion today.

Rating agencies’ characterizations of past crises eerily presage the present crisis. In 2001,
Moody’s wrote, “The seller's capital structure, its diversity of funding sources, types of assets,
and the business factors motivating its securitizations are all important considerations. The
examples of deals gone ‘bad’ reveal that an over-reliance on securitization as a funding source is
an important risk factor. The overuse of securitization coupled with aggressive gain-on-sale
accounting was a particularly lethal combination.... New or unusual asset classes pose particular
risks as well.” (Moody’s Investors Service, “Bullet Proof Structures Revisited: Bankruptcies and
a Market Hangover Test Securitizations’ Mettle, August 30, 2002, p. 1) The current crisis merely
wrapped all the most influences into one, and applied them to nearly all collateral types in the
market.

In conclusion, while FASB continues to try to pigeonhole securitization accounting into
simple on- and off-balance sheet classifications, the issue is far more complicated due to other
legacy accounting treatments surrounding the entire securitization process, as well as
securitizations’ unsettled legal status. We cannot expect any resolution to on- and off-balance
sheet treatment by continuing to implement the dichotomous approach used so far, Nor can we
expect securitization accounting to improve much without removing other perverse incentives in
gain-on-sale accounting and true sale status. Much work remains to be done to adequately

characterize securitizations in a credible and transparent manner. Nonetheless, we have had



69

several decades to get the work done, already. It is time to clean up reporting for the structured
finance marketplace, which has proven so useful in deepening capital of the banking system to
fund myriad consumer and commercial loan products — before the financial crisis gets even

deeper.
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Testimony of
Don Young
before the
Securities, Insurance, and investment Subcommittee
of the
Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs

September 18, 2008

Chairman Reed, Ranking Member Allard, and Members of the Subcommittee:
Thank you for your interest in improving Financial Reporting and promoting American leadership in Capital Markets.

Accounting standards have been a major factor in reducing transparency for investors and have directly contributed to
the current credit crisis. 1do not believe the proposed Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) solution will
stop the ‘cycle of crisis” that we have now repeated. And I believe it would be a mistake to focus on expanded
regulation alone.

A better solution is to provide transparency in the reporting of securitizations and increase investor involvement in
Financial Reporting to end the ‘cycle of crisis’.

The FASB Proposed Selution

.Jnder the proposed FASB solution, the self-administered test for “special purpose entities” in Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 140 (FAS 140} will be replaced by another self-administered test in a revised FASB
Interpretation No, 46 (revised) (Fin 46R).

These custom designed entities that are the subject of the self-administered test provide little transparency to investors
and are largely free from market forces. Their business purpose is to get favorable accounting treatment.

The proposed rules will likely force conselidation of special purpose entities designed in the past. But the more
important question is: “ Will future securitization structures enable management to inappropriately de-recognize
financial assets and labilities and book gains?” I believe preparers will continue to pass the self-administered test,

Market transparency would be better served and the accounting simplified if the FASB had pursued a model where an
originator/arranger continues to recognize financial assets and liabilities while there is any continuing involvement.
The determination of whether a sale has occurred is shifted from management and auditors to investors and markets.

Senator Reed’s letter of September 2, 2008 specifically asks about the implications of the deferral of the proposed
changes. I believe this is a critical question because it appears an option will be provided to certain preparers to adopt
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International Accounting Standard 39 at the same time as the
proposed changes to FAS 140 and Fin 46R.

In my discussions with International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) members and the examination of 20F
reconciliations by foreign filers with US GAAP, it is not clear whether international standards are any better or worse
han the existing FAS 140 application. (Ciesielski, 2007)

But this I can say. It is rare, if ever, that market transparency or investor’s needs are aided by optional accounting
treatments.
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Khe Cycle of Crisis.

In early 2005 when I first joined the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the board was very aware of the
problems in accounting for securitizations. It was the subject of a joint conference with the American Accounting
Association where research was presented that indicated investors’ near complete distrust of FAS 140 accounting.
Investors generally reversed the sale accounting propagated by the standard. (Yohn, 2005)

The FAS Board was working on changes to statement 140 which were exposed for comment in 2005 (this in turn
followed a failed exposure draft in 2003) but very little progress was made in 2006 and 2007 when the sub-prime
securitization was rapidly expanding.

For most of the period - there was an unending series of issues related to FAS 140 where we made little progress:

1. Can an affiliate of the securitization/originator/transferor provide credit support and still get “sale
accounting”™?

2. What are limits to activities in the passive securitization entities? (Can an entity that has invested in financial
instruments with long-term maturities and refinances with short-terma debt be a passive entity?)

3. What activities can a “servicer” perform and still get “sale accounting”™?

Thete is no question that the FASB knew it had a serious problem in the financial reporting of securitizations.
‘The question is: “ Why was it not addressed until after this crisis was evident?”

b‘/hen I asked the staff the reasons for the delay, I was informed that there were concerns over the standard setting
actions we were considering, which would more accurately reflect the underlying economics, would in turn
undermine companies’ ability to execute securitization worth many billions of dollars. It would be bad for business to
provide transparency ... at least in the short term.

There was unending lobbying of the FASB not just by preparers, which should be expected, but also by their
regulators ~ all looking to preserve “sale accounting’ for activities that clearly indicate that there was ‘no sale’.

The SEC, for example, was actively involve in expanding the originator’s ability as a servicer to renegotiating loans
yet still keep ‘sale accounting’ and potentially harming investors in the securitization ( Hewitt, 2007 and Ashcraft,
2007)

The FAS 140 exposure draft issued in 2005 failed to make much progress in 2006 and 2007. Another factor noted by
the FASB staff was resistance from Federal Reserve regulators.

My purpose is not to argue that company managements need to be protected from harming themselves — because in
the end that is what happened. Nor is it to criticize regulators but rather to recognize their limitations.

The essential problem is that the FASB is not capable of providing financial reporting traasparency — until a crisis
provides the political cover to overcome lobbying efforts that are in conflict with serving investors and providing
transparency to the markets.
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Reed for Governance to Be Aligned With Investors

Because managements and regulators control the financial reporting process, we will continue to be in the ‘cycle of
crisis’ where we are unable to address financial reporting problems until a major crisis unfolds.

You can end the *cycle of crisis’ only by engaging the markets and investors in the financial reporting process, which
requires a fundamental change in the composition of standard setters and their trustees. Instead of token investor
representation, or in the case of the FASB today — no investor representation, we need investors to be equally
represented. Then we would have a chance of stopping the ‘cycle of crisis’.

Thank you again Mr. Chairman for inviting me to testify at this hearing. 1 look forward to responding to your
questions.
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

January 8, 2008

QFFICE OF
THE CHIEF ACCOUNTANT

Mr. Amold Hanish, Chairman
Committee on Corporate Reporting
Financial Executives International
200 Campus Park Drive

Florham Park, NJ 07932-0674

Mr. Sam Ranzilla, Chairman

Professional Practice Executive Committee

The Center for Audit Quality

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
601 13th Street, NW

Washington, DC 20005

Dear Sirs:

On December 6, 2007, the American Securitization Forum (“ASF”) issued the
“Streamlined Foreclosure and Loss Avoidance Framework for Securitized Subprime
Adjustable Rate Mortgage Loans” (the “ASF Framework”). The ASF Framework
provides recommended guidance for servicers to streamline borrower evaluation
procedures and to facilitate the effective use of all forms of foreclosure and loss
prevention efforts, including refinancings, forbearances, workout plans, loan
modifications, deeds-in-licu and short sales or short payoffs. The ASF Framework is
focused on subprime first-lien adjustable-rate residential mortgages that have an initial
fixed interest rate period of 36 months or less, are included in securitized pools, were
originated between January 1, 2005 and July 31, 2007, and have an initial interest rate
reset date between January 1, 2008 and July 31, 2010 (*subprime ARM loans™).

The ASF Framework categorizes the population of subprime ARM loans into three
segments. Subprime ARM loans that meet the screening criteria in Segment 2 of the ASF
Framework are eligible for a fast track loan modification under which the interest rate
will be kept at the existing initial rate, generally for five years following the upcoming
reset (referred to hereafter as “Segment 2 subprime ARM loans”). The ASF Framework
indicates that for Segment 2 subprime ARM loans, the servicer can presume that the
borrower would be unable to pay pursuant to the original terms of the loan after the
interest rate reset, and thus, the loan is “reasonably foreseeable” of default in absence of a
modification.

The Office of the Chief Accountant (“OCA”) has been asked by preparers, auditors, ASF,
the U.S. Department of the Treasury, and others whether modifications of Segment 2
subprime ARM loans that occur pursuant to the ASF Framework would result in a change
in the status of a transferee as a qualifying special-purpose-entity (“QSPE”) under
paragraph 55 of FASB Statement No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of
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Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities (“Statement 140”). This letter
expresses only the view of QCA on this accounting issue, and its limited application
should not be extended by analogy or relied upon for any mortgage modification other
than one occurring pursuant to the specific screening criteria in Segment 2 of the ASF
Framework. This letter does not express any view or opinion regarding whether servicers
are legally permitted to modify the terms of subprime ARM loans pursuant to the
recommendations in the ASF Framework. This ability is determined by the contractual
provisions set forth in the governing documents for the securitization trust and by any
applicable laws. As with all staff guidance, this letter has not been approved by the
Commission.

Application of Statement 140 to Modifications of Mortgages Held by QSPEs When
Default is “Reasonably Foreseeable”

Statement 140 is a detailed accounting standard with many specific requirements, and its
application can be a complicated process. Paragraphs 35-55 of Statement 140, as
interpreted by the FASB Staff Implementation Guide: 4 Guide to Implementation of
Statement 140 on Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities (“Statement 140 Guide”), provides numerous conditions
that must be met for a transferee to meet the QSPE exception in paragraph 9(b) of
Statement 140. The basic underlying principle in this guidance is that assets transferred to
a securitization trust should be accounted for as a sale, and recorded off-balance sheet,
only when the transferor has given up control, including decision-making ability, over
those assets. If the servicer maintains effective control over the transferred financial
assets, off-balance sheet accounting by the transferor is not appropriate.

Paragraphs 35(b) and 35(d) of Statement 140 and the related interpretative guidance in
Statement 140 and the Statement 140 Guide discuss the permitted activities of a QSPE.
The objective is to significantly limit the permitted activities so that it is clear that the
transferor does not maintain effective control over the transferred financial assets.
However, neither Statement 140 nor the related interpretative guidance indicates whether
it would be appropriate for a servicer to modify a securitized mortgage in a QSPE prior to
an actual delinquency or default and, if so, the relevant disclosures that may be necessary
when such modifications occur. At the request of the Committee on Financial Services of
the U.S. House of Representatives, on July 24, 2007 the Chairman of the SEC issued a
letter to the Committee to address this accounting issue, attaching a memorandum on the
subject prepared by OCA (the “July 24, 2007 letter”). In a memorandum enclosed with
the July 24, 2007 letter, OCA indicated that it believed mortgage modifications that occur
when default is “reasonably foreseeable” would not invalidate the status of a trust as a
QSPE provided the nature of the modification activities are consistent with those when a
mortgage becomes delinquent or default has occurred. The view in the July 24, 2007
letter was consistent with a general agreement among participants at a June 22, 2007
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) educational forum. Additionally, at the
time the July 24, 2007 letter was issued, based on representations of participants at the
June 22, 2007 FASB educational forum, the Commission’s staff did not believe that



76

January 8, 2008
Page 3

additional interpretative accounting or disclosure guidance was necessary regarding the
contemplated types of securitized mortgage work-out activities.

Application of Statement 140 to Modifications of Subprime ARM Loans Pursuant to
Segment 2 of the ASF Framework

Subsequent to the issuance of the July 24, 2007 letter, the ASF Framework was issued.
As described above, the ASF Framework provides a standardized approach to facilitate
the effective use of a variety of foreclosure and loss prevention efforts. As a result of the
modifications of subprime ARM loans that may occur pursuant to Segment 2 of the ASF
Framework, a new accounting issue has arisen related to whether those loans are
“reasonably foreseeable” of default in absence of modification and, if so, the relevant
disclosures that may be necessary when such modifications occur. The issue arises
because those loan modifications will occur without a comprehensive loan-by-loan
analysis, based on current information, as to whether default is “reasonably foreseeable.”
OCA recognizes that the guidance in Statement 140 regarding servicer discretion can be
complicated to apply in practice and that specific accounting and disclosure guidance
does not exist in Statement 140 regarding the nature of permitted modification activities
of QSPEs. The FASB has had a project on its agenda since 2003 to address certain
Statement 140 application issues, including those pertaining to servicer discretion.’ The
purpose of this letter is to express the view of OCA on modifications of Segment 2
subprime ARM loans in order to provide interim accounting and disclosure guidance
until the FASB finishes its project.’

OCA has read the ASF framework and has concluded that it will not object to continued
status as a QSPE if Segment 2 subprime ARM loans are modified pursuant to the specific
screening criteria in the ASF Framework. Additionally, given the unique nature of the
contemplated modifications and other loss mitigation activities that are recommended in
the ASF Framework, OCA expects registrants to provide sufficient disclosures in filings
with the Commission regarding the impact that the ASF Framework has had on QSPEs
that hold subprime ARM loans.’

OCA reached this view based upon a consideration of several factors. First, OCA was
recently informed by preparers, auditors, ASF, the U.S. Department of the Treasury, and
others that there currently is a lack of relevant, observable market data that can be used to
perform an objective statistical analysis of the correlation between the specific screening
criteria in Segment 2 of the ASF Framework and the probability of default. Therefore, it
would be impracticable to precisely quantify the percentage of Segment 2 subprime ARM

! A summary of this agenda project can be found on the FASB’s website at:

http://www.fash.or; ject/transfers of financial assets.shtml

2 Given the lack of clarity in Statement 140 on the permitted activities of QSPEs, OCA believes
that interim guidance is necessary. For similar reasons, in November 2005, OCA provided an
informal view in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina. OCA indicated at that time that it would not
object to continued status as a QSPE if servicers took certain limited actions (including payment
extensions) to aid borrowers in areas devastated by Hurricane Katrina.

% See Appendix A to this letter for additional information regarding disclosures.
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loans that would experience a default in absence of a modification. While historical
default statistics are available for older subprime adjustable-rate residential mortgages,
that information is not expected to be representative of the default characteristics of
Segment 2 subprime ARM loans because of differences in underwriting characteristics,
housing market conditions, and credit conditions. Therefore, OCA understands that a
quantitative analysis of default probability using that historical data would be expected to
significantly underestimate the percentage of Segment 2 subprime ARM loans that would
default in absence of a modification. Secondly, although there is insufficient observable
market data to form a conclusion based solely on quantitative information, OCA believes
that it would be reasonable to conclude that Segment 2 subprime ARM loans are
“reasonably foreseeable” of default in absence of a modification based upon a qualitative
consideration of the expectation of defaults (1nade in the context of how defaults would
be expected to differ from historical defaults of older subprime adjustable-rate residential
mortgages).* Lastly, because the vast majority of modifications of Segment 2 subprime
ARM loans are expected to occur beginning in early 2008, OCA believes this is an
appropriate interim step at this time to address this issue given the complexity and lack of
specific guidance on the accounting and disclosure for these types of modifications.

Reconsideration of Statement 140 Guidance on QSPEs

The view of OCA expressed in this letter represents an interim step in addressing one
practice issue that exists in the application of paragraphs 9(b) and 35-55 of Statement
140. Concurrent with the issuance of this letter, OCA has requested the FASB to
immediately address the issues that have arisen in the application of the QSPE guidance
in Statement 140, OCA has requested that the FASB complete its project addressing the
guidance in paragraphs 9(b) and 35-55 of Statement 140 in order to be effective no later
than years beginning after December 31, 2008,

Further questions about these matters should be directed to James Kroeker, Deputy Chief
Accountant (202-551-5360), Paul Beswick, Senior Advisor to the Chief Accountant (202-
551-5364), or Ashley Carpenter, Professional Accounting Fellow (202-551-5307).

Sincerely,

Load b fosA

Conrad Hewitt
Chief Accountant

cc: Henry M. Paulson, Jr., Secretary, U.S. Department of Treasury
Robert H. Herz, Chairman, Financial Accounting Standards Board
Mark W. Olson, Chairman, Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
George P. Miller, Executive Director, American Securitization Forum
Jonathan L. Kempner, President and CEO, Mortgage Bankers Association

% See the letter issued by the U.S. Department of Treasury in Appendix B.
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Appendix A — Disclosures in Filings with the Commission

Registrants are individually responsible for determining the nature and extent of
disclosures that are necessary to provide users of the financial statements with sufficient’
information to understand their business, financial condition, results of operations, and
related risks and uncertainties. Registrants make judgments about the nature and extent of
disclosures provided in filings with the Commission based on the disclosure objectives
and minimum disclosure requirements outlined in the Commission’s rules and generaily
accepted accounting principles. In order to meet those disclosure objectives and
requirements, the Office of the Chief Accountant and the Division of Corporation
Finance believe that registrants that have transferred subprime ARM loans to QSPEs
should consider whether the following information should be included in filings with the
Commission.

Disclosures in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations (“MD&A”)

In order to meet the objective of the disclosures required in MD&A, the SEC staff would
generally expect MD&A to include sufficient information regarding the nature of the
ASF Framework, its impact on the loss mitigation strategies employed for subprime
ARM loans that are included in QSPEs, and its impact on the level of servicer discretion
related to subprime ARM loans that are included in QSPEs. To meet this objective,
registrants that have transferred subprime ARM loans to QSPEs should consider whether
to disclose the following information within the MD&A section of its filings with the
Commission:

¢ A general description of the ASF Framework, including the criteria used by the
registrant to define what constitutes a subprime mortgage and a statement that a
uniform definition of a subprime mortgage does not exist, the subprime ARM loans
that are included in the ASF Framework, and the borrower segmentation categories
that are included in the ASF Framework.

e A statement that the adoption of the loss mitigation approaches in the ASF
Framework did not impact the off-balance sheet accounting treatment of QSPEs that
hold subprime ARM loans.

e The total dollar amount of assets owned by QSPEs that hold subprime ARM loans as
of the date of the latest balance sheet. Additionally, the following supplemental
information about major categories of assets is relevant when the registrant is also the
servicer of the QSPE:
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¢ The dollar amount of subprime ARM loans that fall within each of the three
segments of the ASF Framework as of the latest balance sheet date;

¢ A description of the nature of loss mitigation activities for subprime ARM loans
that fall within each of the three segments of the ASF Framework, including the
doliar amounts of refinancings, modifications, and other loss mitigation activities
for the quarterly and year-to-date periods; and : :

» The dollar amount of other assets (including re-possessed real estate) owned by
QSPEs that hold subprime ARM loans as of the latest balance sheet, and a
description of the change in the amount of those assets for the quarterly and year-
to-date periods.

¢ The total principal amount of beneficial interests issued by QSPEs that hold subprime
ARM loans (segregated by third party and retained interests) as of the date of the
latest balance sheet, and the impact that loss mitigation efforts have had on the fair
value of the registrant’s retained interests and other forms of financial support
provided by the registrant.

Registrants are encouraged to provide additional quantitative or qualitative disclosures
necessary to facilitate a sufficient understanding of the activities of QSPEs that hold
subprime ARM loans subject to the ASF Framework. Registrants should also consider
including within the disclosures about critical accounting policies under FRR-60,
Cautionary Advice Regarding Disclosure About Critical Accounting Policies,
information about the permitted activities of QSPEs, including the loss mitigation
approaches in the ASF Framework.

Disclosures in the Notes to the Financial Statements

In order to meet the disclosure requirements of APB Opinion No. 22, Disclosure of
Accounting Policies, the SEC staff generally expects that a registrant’s disclosure of its
accounting policies would include a discussion of the permitted activities of off-balance
sheet QSPEs, including the ability of the servicer to modify subprime mortgages when
default is “reasonably foreseeable,” and the adoption of the specific screening criteria in
Segment 2 of the ASF Framework for purposes of determining the subprime ARM loans
that are “reasonably foreseeable” of default.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
WASHINGTON. D.C.

UNDER SECRETARY January 7, 2008

Mr. Conrad W. Hewitt

Chief Accountant .
Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, NE

Washington, DC 20549

Dear Mr. Hewitt,

Thank you for your letter dated December 4, 2007 regarding the American Securitization
Forum’s Streamlined Foreclosure and Loss Avoidance Framework (ASF Framework).
We look forward to your perspective regarding the consistency of the ASF Framework
with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No., 140, dccounting for Transfers
and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. In your letter, you
requested more data regarding the correlation between the pre-defined screening criteria
as described under the ASF Framework and the notion of “reasonably foreseeable”
default. In response to your query, the Treasury Department has prepared the attached
information with data provided by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and a large
mortgage servicer. )

We are pleased that mortgage investors and servicers worked through the ASF to develop
this streamlined process for fast-tracking refinancings and loan modifications where
doing so is in the interest of both homeowners and investors. We believe the ASF
Framework is an important too) to prevent avoidable foreclosures. Unfortunately, there is
no simple solution that will undo the housing excesses of the last few years. We are
committed to avoiding preventable foreclosures whenever possible while ensuring the
health of the mortgage market.

Thank you for all of your efforts. Please let me know if you héve any questions regarding

the attached information.

Sincerely,

&Ulc Stov

Robert K. Steel
Under Secretary of the Treasury
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Effectiveness of the American Securitization Forum Streamlined Foreclosure and Loss
Avoidance Framework at Identifying Loans Where Default is Reasonably Foreseeable

I. Overview

On December 6, 2007, the American Securitization Forum (ASF) published a
Streamlined Foreclosure and Loss Avoidance Framework (ASF Framework) to enable
mortgage servicers to streamline their loss avoidance and loan modification practices.
The ASF Framework applies to subprime, owner-occupied, two- and three-year
adjustable-rate mortgages, and is meant to expedite consideration of these loans for
refinancing or modification.

Under most pooling and service agreements, servicers have an obligation to implement
-all available loss-mitigation options, including loan modifications, to maximize cash
flow to the investment trusts. Under current loan modification practices, servicers
gather additional income and expense data from borrowers — effectively re-
underwriting loans to determine if borrowers need a modification. While this process
is effective in analyzing borrowers’ financial capacity, it is a time consuming process
that requires significant borrower contact. This burden will increase substantially over
the next two years, due to the large number of resetting subprime mortgages and the
expected increase in defaults.

Faced with this costly administrative burden, servicers, issuers and investors designed
the ASF Framework to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of servicer loss-
mitigation practices so they can analyze and process the increasing volume of
subprime mortgage resets more quickly. Approximately 1.8 million owner-occupied,
subprime two- and three-year adjustable-rate mortgages are expected to reset in 2008
and 2009,

The purpose of the ASF Framework is to streamline the procedures servicers use to
identify borrowers who are candidates for refinancings or loan modifications. The
parameters of the ASF Framework were designed to improve administrative efficiency
while still maximizing cash flow by appropriately identifying the following: borrowers
that can refinance into a sustainable mortgage; borrowers that should be modified into
a more affordable mortgage; and borrowers that require in-depth, case-by-case
analysis. Consistent with these goals, the ASF Framework was designed to fast-track
into loan modifications only those borrowers who have demonstrated the ability to pay
their starter rates, are unable to refinance, and are unable to afford their reset rates.

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and a major servicer both provided
data that reflect whether the criteria the ASF Framework uses to identify borrowers for
modifications are effective in preventing modifications where they are not needed (i.e.,
where the borrowers can afford the reset rates). Minimizing these false positives is
consistent with maximizing the cash flow to investment trusts. Absent the ASF
Framework, investors and servicers face a potential increase in false-negatives; i.e.,
loans entering foreclosure where modifications would have been a better outcome for
investors.

Page 1 of 6
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The ASF Framework uses a number of screens to determine the appropriate loss-
mitigation option for these subprime loans:

Test for ability to afford the starter rate: The ASF Framework first evaluates a
borrower’s ability to afford the starter rate, as demonstrated by a borrower not being

- more than 30 days delinquent, and having not been more than once 60 days delinquent

in the last 12 months, both under the OTS method. Borrowers who have not
demonstrated they can afford the starter rate will require in-depth, case-by-case
analysis by their servicer to evaluate potential loss-mitigation options.

Test for capability to refinance: The ASF Framework next evaluates (first-lien) loan-
to-value (LTV) fo determine if a borrower has the potential to refinance. If a borrower
has an LTV at origination greater than 97 percent, the ASF Framework assumes a
refinancing is not possible. A borrower with an LTV below 97 percent may require
additional information and analysis to determine if a refinancing is possible. If a
borrower is deemed unable to refinance, the servicer may then consider the borrower
for a fast-track modification.

Under the FHA Secure program, a borrower with an LTV up to 97 percent may be
eligible for a refinancing. In the current market environment, outside of the FHA
Secure program, most refinancing products require an LTV below 97 percent. Hence
the ASF Framework established 97 percent LTV as the first test to evaluate a
borrower’s ability to refinance.

Tests for ability to afford reset: Once the servicer has determined the borrower is
unable to refinance, the servicer then applies three tests to determine financial
difficulty: 1) borrower’s payment must increase by more than 10 percent, 2)
borrower’s current FICO must be less than 660, and 3) borrower’s FICO must not have
increased by more than 10 percent since origination. A borrower who fails to meet
these tests may still qualify for a loan modification, but the servicer may need to gather
additional information from the borrower to qualify the borrower for a modification.

The ASF Framework incorporated the FICO score of 660 as an initial indicator of
financial stress for borrowers based both on servicers’ default experience with
borrowers and also on the banking regulators’ report “Questions and Answers for
Examiners Regarding the Interagency Expanded Guidance for Subprime Lending
Programs Issued January 31, 2001,” which identifies a credit score of 660 as one that
generally indicates a higher default probability.

Limitations of Using Historical Data to Evaluate Future Application of the ASF
Framework

The ASF Framework applies to subprime, two- and three-year adjustable-rate

mortgages, originated between January 2005 and July 2007 and facing an initial reset
between January 2008 and July 2010. The data provided by FDIC and the major

Page 2 of 6
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servicer help assess the baseline default and foreclosure occurrences for the subset of
these loans that qualify for a modification under the ASF Framework. It is extremely
difficult to estimate the counterfactual of what will happen to these loaus if they do not
receive the modification. This difficulty arises because historical data of similar loans
are likely not representative of the underwriting, housing, and credit market conditions
of the current vintages of loans eligible for the ASF Framework.

Evaluating a borrower’s ability to afford the reset rate requires time to determine if a
borrower ultimately remains current or defaults. While data from older loans where
significant time has passed since reset provide sufficient time to determine if
borrowers ultimately defaulted, those loans were originated under higher quality
underwriting standards and experienced home price appreciation since origination.
Such data would therefore likely underestimate the defaults of loans qualifying for the
ASF Framework, because more recent vintages were originated with weaker
underwriting standards and faced lower home price appreciation or even depreciation.

The worsening condition of more recent subprime mortgages is demonstrated by the
significantly higher default percentage for the 2005 and 2006 vintages than for
previous vintages. Even at one year before the rate reset, the number of foreclosure
starts as a percentage of loans originated is much higher for recent vintages, moving
from 2.1 percent for the 2004 vintage to 3.4 percent for the 2005 vintage to 9.2 percent
for the 2006 vintage (i.e., foreclosure rates were approximately 1.6 and 4.4 times
greater for the 2005 and 2006 vintages.) The more than four-fold increase in the
foreclosure start rate one year before reset from the 2004 to 2006 vintage is likely
driven by both deteriorating underwriting standards as well as declining housing
prices. In fact, the cumulative foreclosure start rate for the 2006 vintage is higher than
for the 2004 vintage, even though the former has yet to reset and the latter has already
reset. Hence, data for the older vintages likely significantly underestimate the ultimate
defaults of the recent loans qualifying for the ASF Framework. Data from more recent
vintages that were originated with lower quality underwriting and that faced price
depreciation do not provide sufficient time post-reset fo determine if a borrower
ultimately remained current or defaulted.

It is also important to note that the current case-by-case system of evaluating loans for
modification will also result in some false positives (i.e., modifying loans that would
not otherwise default), especially given the increase in the administrative burden that
will result from the large number of impending resets. The relevant measure would be
the false positive rate for loans eligible for the ASF Framework’s fast-track
modification relative to the false positive rate under current practices. Unfortunately,
such a comparison is not feasible.

III. Historical Default Data
Both the FDIC and a major subprime servicer provided data that reflect the baseline

default and foreclosure rate for the population of loans expected to be eligible for the
fast-track modification under the ASF Framework.

Page 3 of 6
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Both data sources attempt to approximate the ASF Framework’s criteria for
modification eligibility and then quantify the subsequent outcomes of these loans.
Both data sources therefore examine owner-occupied, subprime two- and three-year
adjustable-rate mortgages that are still active at the reset date. They further restrict the
sample to include only those loans that had a FICO (at origination) of less than 660.
The data only record FICO at origination, so cannot include the ASF Framework’s
condition that a borrower’s FICO must not have increased by more than 10 percent
since origination, making the data less precise at forecasting default than the actual
Framework should be in practice. Also, the FDIC data (but not the private servicer’s
data) cannot measure whether the borrower’s payment increase is more than 10 percent
post-reset (note: typical rate increases for these loans is closer to 30 percent). Both of
these limitations will lead to a more conservative assessment by understating the
number of defanlts and foreclosures of loans that qualify for a fast-track modification
under the ASF Framework.

The two data sources take different approaches to limiting the sample to only those
loans that are unable to refinance. The FDIC restricts the data to those loans with an
LTV {at origination) above 97 percent, whereas the private servicer does not.
However, because the fast-track modification can be considered by the servicer only if
a borrower is unable to refinance, both data sets restrict the samples to those loans that
did not subsequently refinance after reset.

The remaining loans that are active at first reset (and that subsequently did not
refinance) provide the relevant population of loans for assessment. For these
populations (by month of vintage), each data set then measures the number that
subsequently default. Default is defined as 60 or more days delinquent, in Real Estate
Owned (“REO”) status, bankruptcy, or in foreclosure.

Results

The FDIC relies on First American’s LoanPerformance Mortgage Securities Database,
which is a representative, loan-level sample of more than $2 trillion worth of active
nonagency securitized mortgages. (See www.loanperformance.com for details about
the data.) This database represents about 85 percent of all nonagency mortgage
securities and approximately 76 percent of all mortgages in the United States.

The FDIC had data through September 2007. In order to assess default and
foreclosures one year post-reset, the FDIC data counts the relevant loans that reset in
September, 2006. There were 6,124 loans that reset during this month, of which 1,929
refinanced (while current) within the next year, Of the remaining 4,195 loans, 2,500
(60 percent) defaulted within a year of the first reset.

Nof surprisingly, older vintages have a still higher default rate, as more time has

elapsed for these at-risk loans to default. For example, for the relevant loans that reset
in March 2006 (1.5 years of elapsed time post-reset), the default rate is 68 percent. For
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the relevant loans that reset in September 2005 (two years of elapsed time post-reset),
the default rate is 76 percent. For the relevant loans that reset in March 2005 (2.5
years of elapsed time post-reset), the default rate is 81 percent.

The private servicer relies on proprietary data on the loans that it services. The data
are through November 2007. These data only examine the one-year window post-reset
for those loans that reset in November 2006. There were 1,512 two-year subprime
adjustable-rate mortgages that reset during this month that were active at the time of
reset, of which 351 refinanced (while fewer than 60 days delinquent) within the next
year. Of the remaining 1,161 loans, 657 loans (57 percent) were at least 60 days past
due during the year. Using a 30-day delinquency standard, of the original 1,512 loans
that were active at reset, 152 refinanced (while fewer than 30 days delinquent) within
the next year. Of the remaining 1,360 loans, 1,147 (84 percent) were at least 30 days
past due during the year. With additional time, undoubtedly the default rate will
continue to climb.

While default and foreclosure rates do typically vary across securitizations, the ASF
Framework considers the payment history, LTV and FICO for each loan individually,
on a case-by-case basis. Once that data has been considered in evaluating each loan,
there is likely to be far less systematic variation from securitization to securitization
and it is reasonable to conclude individual securitizations would perform in a similar
manner to the data presented here.

Estimation of Future Performance of ASF Framework

As noted above, the FDIC data indicate that, of the loans that reset in March 2005, 81
percent subsequently defaulted over the next 2.5 years. The data did not measure
vintages that reset before 2005, so one cannot measure the default rate over longer
elapsed times. However, based on the monthly vintage data, one can compute a simple
linear forecast of default rates moving forward.

The FDIC data track default rates every six months post reset, as well as at the latest
recorded date (September 2007). For those vintages with more than one year recorded
post-reset, the monthly increase in the default rate was 1.53 percentage points per
month, For each monthly vintage, one can extrapolate on a linear basis past the one
year post-reset rate using this monthly increase. Across monthly vintages, this leads to
a three-year default rate of between 92 percent and 98 percent.

Given that the loans in the private servicer sample were originated in 2004 and 84
percent were at least 30 days past due and 57 percent were at least 60 days past due
within one year post-reset, it is reasonable to expect far higher default rates one year
post-teset for the loans qualifying for the ASF Framework, since these loans were
originated from 2005 through 2007. As noted above, only 2.1 percent of the 2004
vintage had started foreclosure a year after origination, whereas 3.4 percent and 9.2
percent had started foreclosure a year after origination for the 2005 and 2006 vintages,
respectively.
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V. Conclusion

Based on the data of historical subprime loan performance post-reset and considering
the poor performance of recent vintages that qualify for the ASF Framework (driven
by poor underwriting standards and home price depreciation), our assessment is that
servicers who apply the ASF Framework can reasonably conclude that they are
modifying loans where default is reasonably foreseeable. Servicers can also reasonably
conclude that, absent modification, loans that qualify for the ASF Framework would
result in default.
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SYNOPSIS: A large number and cross-section of firms undertake financial asset trans-
fers. The Financial Accounting Standards Board and the international Accounting Stan-
dards Board have been grappling with the appropriate accounting for financial asset
transfers, especially with respect to derecognition—that is, when the assets shouid be
removed from the transferor's balance sheet. This paper discusses the financial re-
porting issues surrounding financial asset transfers and summarizes the related aca-
demic research. It also discusses potentially useful future research that could provide
insights for standard-setters and suggests some impediments to that research.

INTRODUCTION
his paper describes financial reporting standard-setting issues associated with the
accounting for transfers of financial assets, summarizes some findings of related
academic research, and links those research findings to the standard-setting issues.'
The paper also discusses unresolved financial reporting issues in the accounting for transfers
of financial assets where academic research might provide insights that could prove useful
to standard-setters, and identifies some potential impediments to that research,
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The threshold standard-setting issue in the accounting for transfers of financial assets
is derecognition; that is, whether and under what conditions the assets should be removed
from the transferor’s balance sheet. Resolution of this issue has both conceptual and prac-
tical implications, including significant implications for international convergence of ac-
counting standards and practices. With regard to conceptual issues, as part of a joint project
to complete, improve, and converge their respective conceptual frameworks, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) have identified derecognition as a significant and recurring conceptual issue (Bullen
and Crook 2005). The FASB and IASB have isolated the following questions that are
pertinent to financial asset derecognition: (1) Is derecognition simply the opposite of rec-
ognition (derecognition of an asset is appropriate when an item no longer meets the defi-
nition and recognition criteria for an asset), or should other considerations, including the
ownership history of the item, affect derecognition? (2) Should derecognition of a financial
asset be based on transfer of legal ownership, on surrender of control, or on transfer of
substantially all risks and rewards? (3) Should derecognition focus on the asset as a whole
or on its components? (4) How does derecognition interact with the choice of measurement
attributes?

The issue of financial asset derecognition has been debated for many years, but
standard-setters have not reached a satisfactory and durable solution. The FASB has ad-
dressed financial asset derecognition in Statement Nos. 77, 125, and 140, and has undergone
a project to amend Statement No. 140. The IASB has amended 1AS No. 39 several times.
Both boards have acknowledged needs for improvements in both conceptual and standards-
level guidance for asset derecognition.” In addition, and as discussed in more detail in later
sections, the existing authoritative guidance for financial asset derecognition, as well as
certain proposals for improving that guidance, appear to be based on divergent concepts
and approaches. Specifically, Statement No. 140 is based on the surrender of control, while
the approach taken in TAS No. 39 is based on the transfer of substantially all risks and
rewards. Finally, in addition to the approaches taken in Statement No. 140 and IAS No.
39, the Financial Instruments Joint Working Group (JWG) has proposed an approach that
analyzes a financial asset transfer in terms of components: The transferor accounts for the
rights and obligations that it retains and derecognizes transferred rights and obligations.’

This paper proceeds as follows. The following section summarizes accounting issues
related to financial asset transfers and shows how FASB and IASB have (for the time being)
resolved those issues. The next section summarizes some findings of academic research
that is motivated by issues surrounding financial asset transfers and discusses the standard-
setting implications of the research. The concluding section raises questions that academic
research might address to help standard-setters resolve open issues in the accounting for
financial asset transfers.

v

The February 27, 2006, Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between FASB and the TASB concerning their
joint international convergence efforts lists derecognition as a topic that is being researched but is not on cither
board's active agenda; a due-process document summarizing the results of staff research efforts is expected in
2008. The MOU is available at FASB's website (http:// www.fasb.org).

See Financial Accounting Standards Board (2000), The Financial Instruments Joint Working Group (TWG),
formed in 1997 and including representatives from the Intemational Accounting Standards Committec (the
predecessor to the IASB) and from standard-setters and professional organizations in 13 countries including the
United States, has provided a rescarch report that suggests derecognition principles for transferred financial
assets. Because we believe the JWG's proposals are likely to be considered by FASB and the IASB if they
undertake a joint project to improve and converge the accounting for transfers of financial assets, we discuss
some of those proposals.

-
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ACCOUNTING FOR TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
Derecognition is the Basic Accounting Issue

In a transfer of financial assets, one basic accounting question arises: Under what
conditions should the transfer cause derecognition (removal of the asset from the trans-
feror’s balance sheet)? The answer to this question has significant practical implications,
because a transfer of financial assets can be accounted for either as a sale or as a secured
borrowing. While the economic outcomes of asset sales and secured borrowings are fre-
quently similar, the accounting depictions differ greatly.* If the transfer is accounted for as
a sale, then the transferor removes the asset from its balance sheet and reports a gain or
loss, calculated as the difference between the sale proceeds and the book value of the asset
sold. If the transfer is accounted for as a secured borrowing, then the financial assets remain
on the balance sheet, and the transferor recognizes a liability for the proceeds.

While nonfinancial asset transfers also give rise to difficult accounting issues (e.g.,
lease accounting, sales of real estate, and revenue recognition generally), accounting issues
related to transfers of financial assets are particularly affected by certain distinguishing
characteristics of those assets. First, many financial assets appear in large homogeneous
pools that are almost wholly passive (in the sense that no operating decisions must be made
in order to realize the cash flows of the assets).® This characteristic raises the possibility
that control of the assets, in the sense of decision-making powers, might not be pertinent.
Second, financial assets, whether one at a time or in large pools, readily lend themselves
to subdivision into components (e.g., principal versus interest on loans), raising the possi-
bility that a part or component of a financial asset could be derecognized. Third, some
financial assets are readily available and fungible, and can therefore be (effectively) lent to
a transferee that can easily dispose of the assets and repurchase them when it is time to
return the assets to the transferor. This characteristic raises the question of whether the
ownership history of the asset, in combination with whether it is readily available, should
affect the accounting for a transfer of that asset.®

Fourth, and related to their other characteristics, it is easy to modify financial assets as
part of the transfer.” Modifications vary in the extent to which they introduce a new party
to the arrangement, other than the transferor and the transferee(s), and in the extent to
which they could require a party to the arrangement to pay cash, as opposed to forgoing a
cash receipt. Modifications in the form of derivatives and guarantees offset a risk that exists
in the transferred asset, introduce a new risk—counterparty performance—and introduce
the possibility that cash flows paid to investors in the transferred assets may come from
sources other than the transferred assets themselves. In contrast, modifications in the form

That is, the payoffs to the transferor and the investors in the financial assets can be similar for asset sales and
secured borrowings. In a sccurcd borrowing the borrower “reacquires™ the collateral when it is released, after
the debt is settled. In the casc of financial assets as collateral, most or even all of the cash flows of those assets
might have been realized by the time the debt is settled. The outcome of a secured borrowing is similar to that
of an asset sale to the extent that the borrower has transferred for consideration (the use of investors® cash) most
or all of the cash flows of the assct that serves as collateral.

However, this is not universally the case; some financial assets such as put or call options require the holder to
make decisions and some, such as equity instruments with voting rights, permir decisions.

Paragraph 32 of Statement No, 140 indicates that an option to reacquire assets that are readily available might
not preclude sale accounting (depending on other termis), but such an option would preclude sale accounting if
the assets are not readily available. However, ownership history also matters. That is, a transfer of an asset that
is not readily available with the option to reparchasc that asset would not result in derecognition, but an option
to purchase an asset that had not been previously owned—regardless of whether it is readily available—would
be accounted for simply as an option.

Of course, nonfinancial assets can also be sold with guarantecs of performance (e.g., warranties) and with other
modifications such as rights of return. These modifications give rise to their own accounting complications.

w
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of subordinated interests divide (as opposed to offset) a risk that exists in the transferred
assets, introducing no ncw risks and no new sources of cash flows (because the holder of
the subordinated interest is exposed to receiving no cash, as opposed to paying cash). The
relative ease of modification, as well as the many possible forms of modifications, raises
the question as to whether the characteristics of modifications of financial assets, made as
part of transfers of those assets, should affect the accounting for the transfers.

U.S. GAAP Requirements for Financial Asset Derecognition
Statement No. 77, Reporting by Transferors of Receivables with Recourse

Statement No. 77 was issued in December 1983. Statement No. 125 was then issued
in June 1996 to provide guidance for more complex transactions and to consider more types
of continuing involvement than recourse. Although Statement No. 77 was superseded by
Statement No. 125, we discuss Statement No. 77 because it reflects FASB’s initial approach
to financial asset derecognition and the handling of recourse, which is a recurring standard-
setting concern and a significant focus of academic research.

Statement No. 77 applied a control approach to derecognition of financial assets, con-
sidered as indivisible units. It identified three conditions that must be met for a transfer of
receivables with recourse to qualify for sale treatment: (1) The transferor surrenders control
(an option to repurchase would violate this condition).® (2) The transteror’s obligation under
the recourse provisions can be reasonably estimated. (3) The transferee cannot require the
transferor to purchase the receivables except pursuant to the recourse provisions. With
regard to measurement, the transferor is required to apply Statement No. 5 to accrue for
“probable adjustments,” that is, to apply Statement No. 5’s “probable” recognition thresh-
old and measurement guidance to recognize and measure the effects of debtor defaults,
prepayments, and possible legal defects in the receivables.

For our purposes, Statement No. 77 is noteworthy because it establishes the principle
that recourse per se does not preclude sale accounting.” The principle is based on the view
that loans collateralized by receivables are substantively different from transfers of receiv-
ables with recourse; in the latter arrangement (but not the former) the transferor has sur-
rendered control of the future economic benefits of the receivables in exchange for cash,
while retaining some of the risks of ownership. Recourse is merely one form of risk reten-
tion, and that alone is not enough to preclude sale accounting in Statement No. 77, as long
as it is possible to reasonably estimate the effects of that risk retention per Statement No.
5 (i.e., the recourse obligation is measured as ““all probable adjustments in connection with
the recourse obligations to the transferor” [Statement No. 77, paragraph 6]).!° In addition,
FASB reasoned that a requirement to treat a transfer entirely as a secured borrowing if
there is any risk retention would require the transferor to record as liabilities credits that
do not meet the accounting definition of labilities, because the transferor is not obligated

¥ This condition also illustrates the effect of ownership history on the accounting for financial asset transfers; sec
footnote 6. Becausc Statement No. 77 considers transfers of receivables, the question of how the ready availa-
bility of those assets would interact with an option to reacquire docs not arise.
¢ The two dissenters to Statement No, 77 argue that any form of recourse means that “the economic benefits and
inherent risks related to {the] receivables ... arc controlled by the transferor” because it benefits when the
receivables are collected and incurs costs when they are not, while the transferce is indiffercnt between those
two outcomes as long as it reccives the promised cash. That is, the dissenters argue that recourse is sufficient
to preclude derccognition of transferred assets, so that a transfer with recourse should be accounted for as a
secured borrowing.
Statement No. 77 does not require that recourse obligations bo measured at their fair values. Statement No. §'s
recognition criterion also implies that no obligations would be recognized unless and until payments under the
recourse provisions become probable.

3
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to repay a loan (the entire proceeds); it is obligated only to stand ready to perform under
the recourse provisions.

Statement No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities

Statement No. 140 was issued in September 2001, replacing Statement No. 125. (State-
ment No. 140 carries forward many of the provisions of Statement No. 125, so we do not
consider Statement No. 125 further.) Statement No. 140 uses “‘surrender of control” to
determine whether a transfer of financial assets is a sale or a secured borrowing. Control
is considered to be surrendered by the transferor if (1) the assets are isolated from the
transferor and its creditors, even in bankruptcy (a legal concept); (2) the transferee has the
right to pledge or exchange the assets, unless the transferee is a qualifying special purpose
entity (QSPE); and (3) the transferor does not maintain effective control over the assets
through certain forms of continuing involvement, including an agreement that entitles and
obligates the transferor to repurchase or redeem the assets before their maturity and the
ability to cause the holder to return the specific transferred assets (except for special treat-
ment of cleanup calls, certain removal-of-accounts provisions, and certain agreements to
repurchase items that are fungible and readily available).

Three features of Statement No. 140 are particularly pertinent for our discussion. First,
the requirement of legal isolation (also called bankruptcy remoteness) means that the pos-
sibility that the transferor or its creditors might reclaim the transferred assets, even if the
transferor were to enter receivership, is sufficient to preclude derecognition-—that is, legal
isolation is a recognition condition that does not affect measurement.”

An alternative, favored by the JWG, would use a measurement approach to capture the
effects of legal isolation. Such an approach would measure the fair value of the transferred
assets (or the claims on their cash flows) taking into account expectations about transferor
or creditor claims on those assets, and would apparently permit transfers of assets that do
not meet the legal isolation condition to be accounted for as sales, with the pricing of the
transfer capturing the lack of legal isolation. That is, investors would presumably pay less
for transferred assets that are not legally isolated. This is an example of measurement
interacting with recognition. Under the requirements of Statement No. 140, the legal iso-
lation criterion affects (de)recognition and has no explicit measurement effects, while under
a measurement approach, uncertainty about potential future transferor/creditor claims on
the transferred assets is captured by measurement.

Second, because of its requirement that the transferee can pledge or exchange the assets
it receives, Statement No. 140 makes the transferor’s accounting for a transfer of financial
assets a function of the rights of the transferee. While the right of the transferee to pledge
or exchange the transferred assets may constitute the ultimate evidence that the transferor
has given up control, Statement No. 140’s focus on that right has in turn necessitated the
creation of QSPEs (discussed later in this section).

Third, in Statement No. 140, relinquishment of control clearly does not preclude all
forms of continuing involvement in the asset on the part of the transferor. In practice,
determining the acceptable nature and magnitude of continuing involvement has proven
complex, and sometimes the determination depends in part on whether the transferred assets
are readily available (refer to footnote 6).

"' The idea of bankruptcy remoteness is not accepted in all jurisdictions. See, for example, Financial Accounting
Standards Board (2000, paragraph 3.80), which states: “‘bankruptcy remoteness is an unfamiliar and largely
untested notion in some jurisdictions.”
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With regard to recourse specifically, however, Statement No. 140 follows Statement
No. 77: A transfer of receivables with recourse is accounted for as a sale, with the sale
proceeds reduced by the fair value of the recourse obligation, if the criteria for a sale are
met. That is, the transferor would derecognize the transferred receivables and net the fair
value of the recourse obligation (the retained risk) against the assets received—the recourse
obligation is not separately recognized. However, Questions 67 and 68 of FASB’s 2001
Special Report on Statement No. 140 also make it clear that the method used to provide
recourse might affect the accounting for the transfer. If the recourse takes the form of
subordinated retained interests (the transferor holds an interest in the transferred assets that
is paid after other investors have been paid, thereby absorbing much or all of the credit
risk), there is no separate recourse liability, because the cash flows to the investors derive
from the transferred assets, not the transferor. Only if the transferor could be obligated to
pay investors—as opposed to forgoing payments on the interests it holds—would the trans-
feror record a recourse liability.'?

International Accounting Standard (IAS) No. 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement

The current version of IAS No. 39 (applicable for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2005) uses a risks-and-rewards approach to financial asset derecognition. Spe-
cifically, asset derecognition is determined based on the transfer of “substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership,” evaluated by analyzing whether the transferor’s post-
transfer exposure to the variability in amounts and timing of the cash flows of the transferred
assets is “‘no longer significant in relation to the total variability” of those cash flows
(paragraphs 20 and 21).

IAS No. 39 requires risk-and-reward analysis that focuses on the total variation of
outcomes (considering both upside rewards and downside risks). That analysis necessitates
the quantification and comparison of the various types of risk and reward inherent in fi-
nancial assets, including the risk/reward associated with changes in interest rates and for-
eign currency exchange rates, as well as changes in default risk and prepayment risk. IAS
No. 39 does not specify the procedures to be used in this analysis. For example, the standard
stipulates that *‘all reasonably possible variability™ is to be considered (paragraph 22), but
does not state whether the variability to be analyzed is the maximum amount, the expected
amount, or something else, and it does not provide guidance for determining what is a
“significant” exposure to variability. In its discussion of approaches considered but not
adopted in the development of Statement No. 125, FASB identified the requirement to
quantify and compare the various types of risk and reward and the difficulties in determining
when the threshold of “substantially all” has been met as reasons for rejecting a risks-and-
rewards approach in favor of a control-based approach.’®

IAS No. 39 is likely to differ from Statement No. 140 in its application for at least
two reasons. First, the determination of the transferor’s accounting in a risks-and-rewards

12 Casual observation of recent financial asset transfer arrangements suggests that subordination is more commonly
used than recourse.

'3 Those who favor a risks-and-rewards approach as being principles-based may wish to consider Statement No.
13, Accounting for Leases, often characterized as being highly rules-based. The basis for conclusions of State-
ment No. 13 (paragraph 60) makes it clear that FASB created the provisions of the statement to make operational
the view that “a lease that transters substantially all of the bencfits and risks incident to the ownership of
property should be accounted for as the acquisition of an asset and the incurrence of an obligation by the lessee.”
Similarly, Interpretation No. 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, An Interpretation of ARB No.
51. which uses risks and benefits as the determinants of consolidation (paragraph E7), has been criticized for
being rules-based and difficult to apply.

Accounting Horizons, March 2007



93

Issues and Research on Financial Asset Transfers 65

framework is not based on what the transferee can do with the transferred assets, Therefore,
IAS No. 39 does not explicitly specify a QSPE arrangement to permit sale treatment for
transfers to wholly passive entities that (1) are expected to hold passive financial assets for
the benefit of investors and (2) will not be consolidated by the transferor.'* (IAS No. 39
requires a consolidation analysis before the application of derecognition criteria, while
QSPEs are exempted from the provisions of Interpretation No. 46[R].) Second, IAS No.
39 is based on a consideration of all transferred and retained risks and rewards, so it does
not require a separate consideration of legal isolation or of all forms of continuing involve-
ment, including the possibility that the transferor or its creditors might be able to reclaim
the transferred assets, since these would presumably be part of the analysis of retained risks
and rewards.

Vexatious and Recurring Financial Reporting Issues
Distinctions between Control Approaches and Risk-and-Reward Approaches

To achieve international convergence of financial reporting standards for transfers of
financial assets, standard-setters will have to resolve the differences between the approaches
in Statement No. 140 and TAS No. 39.% Those approaches may at first appear (o be so
different as to be nearly irreconcilable; however, closer analysis reveals they are distinct,
but related. For example, control of an asset is neither necessary nor sufficient to receive
some or all of the risk and reward of that asset, because (at the cost of introducing the risk
of counterparty performance) a derivative can be used to shift some or all of either or both
the risk and reward of an asset to a party that has no ownership claim on that asset. On
the other hand, control without access to some or all of the risk and reward of an asset is
probably meaningless (the party in apparent control may be a fiduciary). This analysis
suggests that risk and reward may overlap with control, or that control may be fundamental
to risk and reward (the payoff structure that is captured by the risk and reward of an asset
is what makes control valuable).

Derecognition of Pieces (Components) of a Financial Asset

In its simplest form, a components approach would require transferors and transferces
to recognize and measure, after a transfer of financial assets, the financial statement ele-
ments (assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses) each has as a result of the transfer. For
example, a transferor would derecognize any transferred components that qualify as assets
and continue to recognize any retained components that qualify as assets.

While both Statement No. 140 and IAS No. 39 are partly based on a components
approach, neither standard completely resolves the treatment of pieces (components) of
financial assets. For example, Statement No. 140’s legal isolation criterion might seem to
apply to whole assets—that is, the whole asset must first be legally isolated in order for

4 However, paragraph 19 of TAS No. 39 describes a passive pass-through entity that is similar to a QSPE. In
addition, if the risks-and-rewards analysis is not determinative (i.c., the transferor has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the transferred asset), IAS No. 39 requires that the accounting
treatment be determined by whether the transferor has retained control of the asset. IAS No. 39s control analysis
(paragraph 23) rests on the ability of the transferee to sell the transferred asset.

Statement No. 140 and IAS No. 39 could require different accounting treatments for the same arrangement. For
example, supposc that a transferor transfers financial assets that are not readily available to an investor for cash
and enters into a contract with the investor to repurchase the financial assets in six months at their fair value.
Because the assets arc not readily available, the investor is restricted in its ability to sell or otherwise transfer
the financial assets. Under Statement No. 140’s control approach, the transferor would not derecognize the
financial assets. However, the transferor’s agreement to repurchase the financial assets at fair value would appear
to transfer the risks and rewards of those assets to the investor, suggesting that the application of 1AS No. 39
would result in the transferor derecognizing the transferred financial assets.

o
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any piece of that asset to qualify for derecognition.!* Similarly, 1AS No. 39 requires an
initial determination of whether its sale criteria are to be applied to the entire asset or to
certain specified parts (which need not be pro rata). In addition, agreement may not be
reached as to what constitutes a “component” of an asset that might qualify for separate
derecognition.!” For example, must a component be present in the original transferred asset
(e.g., a subordinated interest) or can it be added in connection with the transfer (e.g., a
guarantee)?

Ownership History of the Asset

The issue of ownership history arises when the transferor has continuing involvement
in the form of an opportunity to reacquire a transferred asset, for example, a fixed-price
call option. While a fixed-price option that entitles the holder to acquire an asset it has
never owned would be accounted for simply as a call option (asset), if that option pertains
to a transferred financial asset, Statement No. 140 requires an analysis of the details of the
arrangement and the institutional features of the marketplace for the asset, including
whether it is fungible and readily available (e.g., paragraph 32). That is, ownership history
affects the accounting.

In contrast, IAS No. 39 would focus on the transferor’s retention of downside risks and
upside rewards. A transferor that holds a fixed-price call option to repurchase a transferred
asset has upside rewards to the extent the asset’s price is above the strike price, and its
downside risk is limited to the loss of the option premium. Under IAS No. 39, if the call
option has caused the transferor to retain substantially all the risks and rewards of owner-
ship, then the asset would not be derecognized. If the transferor has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and has retained control, then
it would recognize “‘the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement” (par-
agraph 30). Finally, a pure components approach would, presumably, focus only on the
right retained by the entity (the call option) and would not record the underlying transferred
asset.

Transfers to a Passive Transferee that Cannot Pledge or Exchange
the Transferred Asset

To protect investors in the cash flows that will be generated by passive financial assets,
it may be necessary to transfer those assets to a passive transferee that cannot dispose of
the assets. Because a transfer to a transferee that cannot dispose of the transferred assets
would fail one of the sale criteria in Statement No. 140, FASB created an exception for
qualifying special purpose entity (QSPE) transferees. The FASB intended the QSPE to be
a structure that is so passive that control of it cannot be an issue; it was intended to be a
“pass-through” vehicle holding assets that require no decision-making, for the benefit of
investors in those assets. However, the passivity of such a structure can never be absolute
(for example, if debtors default, then some action must be taken to protect the structure’s
investors), so FASB has found it necessary, on more than one occasion, to reconsider the
limits of permitted activities of QSPEs.

' The question of whether, and under what conditions, a piece of a financial asset can be derecognized by a
transferor without first legally isolating the entire asset is part of FASB's current project on transfers of financial
asscts (as of August 2006).

"7 At least two approaches to defining components of financial assets might be considered. One approach would
build on the ideas in FASB’s 2000 Exposure Draft, Accounting for Financial Instruments with Characteristics
of Liabilities, Equities or Both, which defined six basic components of financial instruments (unconditional and
conditional payables and receivables, options, guarantees, forwards, and equity). Another approach would define
components of an asset as “rights and obligations (i.c., assets and liabilitics) embedded in that asset.”
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In addition, although IAS No. 39 does not explicitly contain the notion of a QSPE, the
standard does describe (paragraph 19) an cntity that receives cash flows of an asset, has a
contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to others—with that obligation limited to the
cash flows from the original asset, and cannot sell/pledge the original asset. Therefore, it
would appear that the JASB also found it necessary to create a passive transferee that would
not be able to dispose of transferred assets but whose presence in an arrangement would
not preclude sale accounting.

Measuring the Gain or Loss on a Sale of Financial Assets

A transferor often retains one or more interests in transferred financial assets, for ex-
ample, to monitor and service the assets (servicing rights) or to protect the transferee from
some amount of credit risk (subordinated interests). Both Statement No. 140 and IAS No.
39 require an allocation of the carrying value of the transferred assets between the assets
sold and the retained interests, based on their relative fair values.'®* A gain or loss is reported
for the assets sold, while no gain or loss is reported for the retained interest(s). Frequently,
no markets for the retained interests can be observed, so the relative fair values that deter-
mine gain or loss must often be measured using valuation techniques. That measurement
requires professional judgment, which has been viewed by some (incloding academic re-
searchers) as allowing the possibility of manipulations.

RESEARCH ON ACCOUNTING ISSUES RELATED TO TRANSFERS OF
FINANCIAL ASSETS

Academic research on transfers of financial assets has provided direct and indirect
evidence that standard-setters might find useful as they attempt to converge and improve
the accounting guidance for financial asset transfers. However, research has addressed only
a limited subset of the issues that standard-setters seek to resolve. Specifically, research has
addressed: (1) the magnitude of financial asset transfers and their impact on financial state-
ments; (2) motives for financial asset transfers; (3) motives for, and prevalence of, recourse
in financial asset transfers; (4) investor treatment of financial asset transfers; and (5) trans-
feror responses to changes in accounting standards for financial asset transfers. Because
banks are heavily involved in securitizing financial assets, a significant portion of this
research considers issues that are specific to banks, such as regulatory capital considerations.
In this section, we summarize research findings that pertain to each of these issues, discuss
potential standard-setting implications, note research Iimitations that could reduce its use-
fulness to standard-setters, and provide suggestions for future research.

Three general limitations apply to most or all of the research we consider. First, the
research uses archival data that reflect outcomes reported under the accounting and regu-
latory guidance in force at the time the outcomes occurred. Findings based on analyses of
different time periods with different accounting standards and regulatory requirements may
not apply to the current environment. Second, the research often aggregates, for purposes
of analysis, financial assct transfers with different structures and characteristics, without
controlling for ditferences that could have both accounting and regulatory irnplications.
Third, to the extent the research is descriptive, it is difficult to detect important relations
between the variables. In addition to these general limitations, we also note specific limi-
tations as applicable.

* For years beginning after September 15, 2006, Statement No. 156, Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets,
an amendment of FASB Statement No. 140, requires initial measurement of servicing rights at fair value, not
allocated carrying value, and permits (but does not require) subscquent measurement at fair value.
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The Magnitude of Financial Asset Transfers and Their Financial Statement Impact

Based on an analysis of the financial statements, footnotes, and management discussion
of 200 issuers, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) estimates that about 5.3
percent of active U.S. issuers (i.e., SEC registrants) reported transfers of financial assets at
the end of 2003, and that $1 trillion in financial assets were transferred and removed from
the transferors’ balance sheets but were still outstanding at the end of 2003 (SEC 2005)."°
This evidence indicates that financial asset transfers are economically significant, albeit
undertaken by less than 10 percent of U.S. public entities. Research also suggests that
securitization activities are concentrated among financial services firms, but other sectors
are also involved. Based on an examination of 127 10-K filings that disclose details on
securitizations from September 2000 to December 2002, Dechow et al. (2005) find that
approximately 30 percent of the sample represents nonfinancial firms, including the retail,
manufacturing, and real estate industries.

Niu and Richardson (2006) examine 535 securitization disclosures from 1997 to 2003,
and find that the average outstanding amount of transferred receivables minus the related
credit enhancements (retained interests) is about 4.3 times the market value of equity of
the transferors. For their sample, the mean debt-to-equity ratio of 5.9 reported using sale
accounting would have increased to 10.2 had the transferors accounted for the transfers as
secured borrowings. This evidence points to economically significant differences in leverage
ratios depending on whether transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales or
secured borrowings.

To summarize, research suggests that the accounting for financial asset transfers affects
a significant number of firms, in various industries, with concentration in financial services,
retailing, real estate, and manufacturing. In addition, the dollar magnitude of financial trans-
fer activities is significant, and differences in accounting treatment have substantial effects
on leverage ratios.

Motivations for Financial Asset Transfers

Motivations for financial asset transfers—selling and securitizing financial assets—can
be divided into two distinct types. First, motivations may be unrelated to accounting treat-
ments, and may include econromic reasons such as diversifying an asset pool, focusing on
competitive advantage, and obtaining liquidity for future growth. Securitizations, in partic-
ular, are attractive to firms seeking nonequity capital on favorable terms because they isolate
securitized assets in bankruptcy and create separate financial assets with varying risk char-
acteristics to satisfy investors with different risk preferences. The second type of motivation
is associated with the sale (derecognition) treatment permitted certain financial asset trans-
fers. Accounting for a transfer of financial assets as a sale provides a means to reduce
regulatory capital and to manage earnings. Research has provided evidence supporting each
of these motivations.

Economic Motivations for Financial Asset Transfers

Researchers have found evidence indicating that firms sell and securitize assets to di-
versify, to focus their efforts on activities in which they have competitive advantages, and
to meet liquidity needs. Pavel and Phillis (1987) find that banks that sell or securitize loans
have higher loan concentrations and, therefore, greater needs for asset diversification than

" The SEC examined the financial statements and disclosures of the 100 largest issuers (based on market capi-
talization on December 31, 2003) and 100 additional randomly selected issuers. The SEC excluded Fannie Mae
and Freddie Mac because they arc government-sponsored entities.
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other banks. In addition, both Pavel and Phillis {1987) and Karaoglu (2005) find that banks
are more likely to sell loans if they have a lower ratio of non-interest expense-to-total loans,
suggesting that banks that sell loans more efficiently originate loans. Finally, in terms of
meeting liquidity needs, Karaoglu {2005) finds that banks that sell or securitize loans have
a higher loan-to-deposit ratio, higher growth expectations as measured by the market-to-
book ratio, and stronger motives to avoid underinvestment as measured by the inter-
action between the market-to-book ratio and debt-to-equity ratio.

Because securitizations separate financial assets by risk characteristics to satisfy inves-
tors with different risk preferences, they reduce financing costs and thereby facilitate access
to nonequity capital. Minton et al. (2004) point out that the sale and securitization of low-
risk assets should lead to lower financing costs since riskier assets are more likely to be
discounted by relatively uninformed investors. Consistent with this motivation, Pavel and
Phillis (1987) and Ambrose et al. {2004) find that firms tend to sell and securitize their
higher quality assets and retain their lower quality assets.

Gorton and Souleles (2005) suggest that securitizations reduce financing costs by iso-
lating securitized assets from the expensive and lengthy bankruptcy process. Consistent
with this reasoning, they find that riskier firms are more likely to securitize. Similarly,
Minton et al. (2004) find that unregulated financial companies become more likely to se-
curitize with increased leverage. Examining the effect of LTV Steel’s bankruptcy, in which
a securitization was recharacterized as a secured loan, Ayotte and Gaon (2003) find that
spreads for asset-backed securities issued by transferors eligible for Chapter 11 bankruptcy
increased significantly more than spreads for securities of transferors not eligible for Chap-
ter 11 bankruptcy around LTV’s bankruptcy announcement. Consistent with the importance
placed on legal isolation in Statement No. 140, they conclude that *‘the creditor protection
provided by bankruptcy remoteness is indeed valuable and priced in financial markets™
(Ayotte and Gaon 2003, 1).

We interpret this research as providing evidence that financial asset transfers are eco-
nomically substantive, in the sense of being undertaken to provide real economic benefits.
We note that legal isolation appears to be an important element in obtaining these benefits,
consistent with the emphasis placed on this condition in Statement No. 140. However,
research results do not illuminate whether the measurement approach to legal isolation
(suggested by the JWG) might be superior to the recognition approach taken in Statement
No. 140.

Accounting-Based Motivations for Financial Asset Transfers

Management of bank regulatory capital. Financial asset transfers are often under-
taken by regulated banks that are required to meet certain regulatory capital requirements.
Those requirements are generally based on both reported (recognized) assets and exposures
to oft-balance sheet activities. Because of the significant balance sheet impact of sale treat-
ment, as opposed to secured borrowing treatment, banks might securitize assets to manage
their regulatory capital.? However, research does not support the view that bank securiti-
zations are primarily motivated by the desire to minimize regulatory capital. Minton et al.
(2004) find that commercial banks are Jess likely to securitize than unregulated firms and

* Banks are required to maintain regulatory capital greater than a specified percentage of risk-weighted assets,
computed as the sum of balance sheet assets and direct credit exposures from off-balunce sheet activities,
weighted according to their risk levels, For example, bank regulators require minimum capital based on a
combination of leverage ratios and risk-based capital ratios. The maximum leverage requirement is determined
as a fraction of total assets, and there is a risk-bascd capital requirement in which tier I (tier 1 plus tier 2)
capital as a pereentage of risk-weighted assets must be greater than 0.04 (0.08).
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that banks with lower capital ratios are less likely to securitize than banks with higher
capital ratios.

On the other hand, securitizations might be motivated by the desire to manage regu-
latory capital requirements in other ways—specifically, to hold assets whose risk charac-
teristics are commensurate with capital requirements. Nolan (2005, 4) notes that in calcu-
lating required capital ratios, prior to 2002, the risk weighting *‘was based exclusively on
the so called ‘standardized risk bucket approach’ which assigns risk weightings to different
categories of assets without distinguishing among different levels of risk within a single
asset category based on the relative credit worthiness of the obligor.” In addition, Nolan
(2005) notes that the required capital on residual interests was limited to a 100 percent risk
weighting.

Some argue that the failure to distinguish levels of risks, combined with the risk weight-
ing handling of residual interests, creates an opportunity for regulatory arbitrage through
securitizations. Consistent with results in Pavel and Phillis (1987) and Ambrose et al. (2004)
that banks securitize safer loans and retain riskier ones, Minton et al. (2004, 8) suggest that
a securitizing bank may wish to hold “high risk assets because the low risk assets require
the bank to hold more capital at the margin than is economically justified by their incre-
mental effect on the probability of insolvency.”

However, the retention of risky financial assets is also consistent with a desire to reduce
financing costs by retaining the assets most likely to be discounted by investors, so this
research does not unambiguously support the inference that bank securitizations are moti-
vated by regulatory capital arbitrage. In addition, recent (and proposed) changes in regu-
latory capital rules better align the risk weightings with their actual risk levels and place
additional restrictions on the treatment of retained interests, reducing both the opportunities
and incentives for regulatory capital arbitrage.

Earnings management. Similar to sales of available-for-sale financial instruments and
nonfinancial assets, financial asset sales and securitizations can be timed to manage earn-
ings. Karaoglu (2005) examines loan sales and securitizations, noting that both arrange-
ments allow discretion in the timing and the selection of loans to be transferred that could
be used to manage earnings. Consistent with this earnings management perspective, he
finds that banks are more likely to sell loans when their pre-transfer income does not meet
analyst forecasts or prior-year earnings. However {(and not consistent with an earnings
management perspective), he finds no relation between the decision to securitize loans and
meeting analyst forecasts and prior-year earnings.

Karaoglu (2005) also notes that accounting for securitizations requires more profes-
sional judgment and estimation than does accounting for loan sales, because, in a securi-
tization, managers not only decide when to transfer assets and which assets to transfer, but
also calculate a gain or loss based on the fair value of the retained interest. As previously
discussed, both Statement No. 140 and IAS No. 39 require that retained interests in secur-
itized assets be measured by allocating the carrying value of the transferred assets between
the assets sold and the retained interests based on their relative fair values, which typically
must be estimated. Therefore, under current accounting standards, a gain or loss is reported
for the assets sold, but not for the retained interests, and the fair value estimates affect the
magnitude of that reported gain or loss.

Although some (e.g., the American Accounting Association’s Financial Accounting
Standards Committee [AAA 1996}) argue that a transfer of financial assets that does not
change the fundamental attributes of those assets should not result in any gain or loss,
research has documented that transfers of financial assets usually result in reported gains.
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Specifically, Dechow et al. (2005) find that 76 percent of firms report gains, 14 percent
report no gain or loss, and 10 percent report losses from securitizations. They do not
investigate whether transferors modify the transferred assets but focus, instead, on mea-
surement issues. Specifically, they note differences between fair values and book values
and, therefore, that reported gains may be due to the use of internal discount rates, not
market rates, to discount the cash flows from the assets.

Consistent with the view that securitizations are used to manage earnings, Shakespeare
(2004) finds evidence that firms manage retained-interest fair-value estimates to meet an-
alyst forecasts and prior years earnings; Dechow et al. (2005) find that firms are more likely
to report large securitization gains when income is low or below the previous year’s income;
Dechow and Shakespeare (2006) find that the reporting of gains or losses from securitization
transactions appears to be influenced by financial reporting incentives (e.g., to exceed the
previous year’s income or analyst forecasts); and Karaoglu (2005) finds that securitization
gains are negatively related to the change in earnings before securitization gains. In addition,
Karaoglu (2005) finds less earnings management related to mortgage securitizations than
to other securitizations. He argues that firms are more likely to manage earnings related to
nonmortgage securitizations because they are less likely to have established market values
and therefore more likely to offer opportunities to manipulate fair value estimates.

In addition to earnings management incentives, Dechow and Shakespeare (2006) argue
that firms have timing incentives to arrange securitizations just before a financial reporting
date in order to increase efficiency ratios, decrease leverage ratios, and increase reported
operating cash flows. Consistent with this view, the authors find that securitization trans-
actions occur with greater frequency in the last few days of each month and in the last few
days of each quarter. On the other hand, the timing of these transactions, taken alone, does
not necessarily call into question either the economic validity of the transactions or the way
they are reported.

Implications of this research. This research may be interpreted in at least two ways.
First, standard-setters should consider the potential for earnings and balance sheet manage-
ment in establishing accounting standards for financial asset transfers. Second, managers,
auditors, and other participants in the financial reporting process, including audit commit-
tees and regulatory bodies, should be concerned about how those standards are imple-
mented. For example, Karaoglu (2005, 25) concludes that the evidence of biased reporting
raises concerns about ‘“‘the reliability of the reported fair values in the absence of liquid
markets that provide reference prices,” and Dechow et al. (2005, 28) suggest that standard-
setters should consider “limiting management’s flexibility in using their internal costs of
capital in determining the value of retained interests.”

We believe that, in this case, the earnings management behavior documented by re-
search arises from management’s implementation decisions, and not from the standards
themselves, so we do not believe that research provides evidence of a need for additional
standards governing the measurement of fair values in transfers of financial assets. Qur
conclusion rests on two bases. First, Statement No. 140 requires a fair value measurement,
and the objective of that measurement is stated in FASB’s conceptual framework. That is,
Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts (SFAC) No. 7 states that fair value is calcu-
lated using estimates and expectations that marketplace participants would use in deter-
mining the amount at which an asset could be bought or sold in a current transaction
between willing parties. Therefore, an implementation of Statement No. 140 that uses an
internal discount rate that is not consistent with market participant estimates and expecta-
tions to estimate the fair value of retained interests would not be consistent with a fair
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value measurement objective, and would therefore be an improper implementation of the
standard.?! Second, Dechow et al. (2005) find that firms with less powerful CEOs and more
outside monitoring are less likely to manage earnings through securitizations, suggesting
that appropriate governance arrangements would curtail this abuse.

We believe that the financial asset transfer issues identified by academic research can
be addressed by properly applying existing standards and through appropriate governance.
We also believe that these issues raise two more general standard-setting questions. First,
what should a standard-setter assume about the implementation of standards (and what
evidence should the standard-setter gather to form those assumptions)? Second, when are
implementation issues sufficiently serious to warrant a review and possible changes to the
standard?

Motives for, and Prevalence of, Recourse in Financial Asset Transfers

Background. As previously discussed, Statement No. 140 and IAS No. 39 specify
criteria to determine if a transferor of financial assets has surrendered control (Statement
No. 140) or transferred substantially all the risks and rewards (IAS No. 39) of those assets
and should treat the transfer as a sale. In making that determination, both Statement No.
140 and IAS No. 39 permit some continuing involvement. That is, IAS No. 39 (paragraph
21) requires that the transferor’s post-transfer exposure to cash flow variability “is no longer
significant in relation to the total variability” of those cash flows, so a fair value call option
or a retention of a pro rata share would be permitted, and Statement No. 140 describes
several forms of permissible continuing involvement.

Recourse is among the forms of continuing involvement permitted by Statement No.
140, provided the assets are deemed to be isolated from the transferor under applicable
laws and regulations. If a transfer of financial assets with recourse meets the conditions for
the surrender of control, then the transfer can be accounted for as a sale with any gain
recognized on the sale reduced by the fair value of the recourse obligation. (That is, the
fair value of the recourse obligation is accounted for but not as a separate obligation; it is
included ner with the rest of the arrangement.) As previously discussed, FASB has made
it clear, beginning with Statement No. 77, that it does not equate recourse with control.

Although existing accounting guidance does not view recourse per se as an impediment
to sale accounting for financial asset transfers, researchers have focused on this form of
continuing involvement. In fact, we could not find any research on other forms of continuing
involvement. In addition, research has focused specifically on noncontractual (i.e., implicit)
recourse, arguing that transfers of financial asscts sometimes include an unstated promise
that the transferor will provide an unspecified amount of recourse. Those researchers argue
that the balance sheet of a transferor that provides implicit recourse but accounts for the
transfer as a sale does not display all the transferor’s risks and obligations related to the
transferred assets. As result of the nonrecognition of implicit recourse, these researchers
say, investors might be misled and regulatory capital might be inadequate.

2 In addition, paragraph 68 of Statement No. 140 describes fair value in terms of a current transaction amount,
for which the best evidence is a quoted price in an active market, and paragraph 69 specifies that when mea-
surement techniques are used, the techniques *'should incorporate assumptions that market participants would
use.” This point is reinforced by EITF D-69, Gain Recognition on Transfers of Financial Assets under FASB
Statement No. 140, which emphasizes that "“using assumptions that are not consistent with current market
conditions in order to ascribe intentionally low or high values ... is not appropriate’™” (paragraph 2).

2 Tt is not clear whether these researchers mean the (implicit) recourse obligation should be, but is not, displayed
or disclosed separately instead of being netted against the proceeds of the transfer, or whether they mean that
the (implicit) recourse obligation is omitted from the accounting altogether.
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Evidence on the prevalence of implicit recourse. Calomiris and Mason (2004) note
that since 1996 regulators have expressed concerns about the provision of implicit recourse
and have issued guidance as to examples of actions that provide implicit recourse. However,
they argue that the practice continues and provide examples of implicit recourse as late as
2003.

Higgins and Mason (2004) also argue that transferors provide implicit recourse and
document 17 recourse events involving ten credit card banks, based on a search of Lexis-
Nexis from 1987 to 2001 for reports of “‘ratings affirmations” following a period of weak
collateral pool performance. The recourse events involve adding new, higher quality ac-
counts, selling new receivables to the pool at a discount to par, increasing the credit en-
hancement, getting investors to waive early amortization triggers, and getting the servicer
to reduce its fees. The authors also note that during 1987 to 2001, only two credit card
securitizations entered early amortization without recourse.”

Motives for providing implicit recourse. Calomiris and Mason (2004) suggest that
transferors may securitize with implicit recourse either to generate and exploit subsidies
from government safety nets (i.e., deposit insurance) or to allocate risk and capital more
efficiently. They examine securitizations without explicit recourse to provide evidence on
each motivation.

The safety net motivation implies that securitizing banks that provide implicit recourse
transfer some of the associated risk to the government via deposit insurance, an outcome
that some would view as socially undesirable. Empirically, the safety net motivation implies
that securitizing banks’ capital levels should be close to the minimum regulatory require-
ments. Calomiris and Mason (2004), however, find that capital levels of securitizing banks
exceed regulatory requirements, and they have equal or higher capital ratios than nonse-
curitizing banks. They suggest, therefore, that banks’ provision of implicit recourse is not
motivated by governmental safety nets.

The use of implicit recourse to allocate capital and risk more efficiently presumes that
bank managers and investors believe that capital regulatory requirements are too high, given
the risks of the related assets. Obtaining external financing by transferring assets with
implicit recourse is cheaper than issuing equity or transferring assets without implicit re-
course; therefore, healthy banks with scarce resources would reap the greatest benefits from
transfers with implicit recourse. In addition, if investor demand drives the use of transfers
with implicit recourse, then transferring banks’ capital should vary with the market percep-
tions of on- and off-balance sheet asset risks.

Consistent with this analysis, Calomiris and Mason (2004) find that securitizing banks
maintain lower capital ratios (relative to on- and off-balance sheet assets) than do nonse-
curitizing banks, and that securitizing banks’ capital is better explained by the managed
capital ratios (relative to on-balance sheet assets plus off-balance sheet securitized assets)
than the regulatory capital ratios (relative to on-balance sheet assets). Therefore, securitizing
banks are able to reduce their capital (relative to assets) below the levels that would be
required if the assets remained on the banks’ balance sheets. The evidence suggests that
investors believe that lower capital is adequate. The authors conclude that “this irplies
that the amount of capital needed to stand behind securitized receivables should be less
than the amount needed to stand behind receivables held on the balance sheet” (Calomiris

# Early amortization occurs when collateral is underperforming. Instead of purchasing new collateral from the
sponsor through the designated time period, the SPE makes payments to investors in order to prevent the loss
of principal.
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and Mason 2004, 20). Therefore, securitizing with implicit recourse appears to be motivated
by the wish to save required regulatory capital and maintain capital levels consistent with
market perceptions of risk.

Gorton and Souleles (2005) suggest that transferors that plan to return to the market
for financing at a later point must support current asset transfers by providing implicit
recourse. The authors examine 167 credit card asset-backed securities issued between 1988
and 1999. Consistent with this theory, they find a positive relation between the yields for
bonds issued by trusts (SPEs) and the risk of the sponsors, suggesting that sponsor risk is
related to the pricing of the SPE debt. However, this relation is documented for arrange-
ments prior to the issuance of Statement No. 140,

Characteristics of recourse providers. Higgins and Mason (2004) provide evidence
on characteristics of transferors that provide recourse by examining stock returns and prof-
itability in the periods surrounding a recourse announcement.”® They find that, relative to
a matched sample of nonrecourse firms, recourse firms experience lower profitability, de-
teriorating performance, and lower stock returns in the year prior to the recourse announce-
ment. They infer from this result that recourse events may be responses to poor perform-
ance. At the time a recourse action is announced, Higgins and Mason (2004) find, on
average, a positive abnormal stock return, followed by improved share returns and operating
performance. The authors also find that while the recourse firms face similar terms for
subsequent securitizations relative to their prior securitizations, they also face delays before
returning to the market. They conclude that “recourse may have beneficial effects for
sponsors by revealing that the shocks that made recourse necessary are transitory” (Higgins
and Mason 2004, 875).

Implications of this research. Several factors complicate the interpretation of research
findings on the provision of implicit recourse. First, the recourse events documented oc-
curred between 1991 and 2003, under three different accounting standards on financial asset
transfers.”® The research does not show clearly how each form of recourse documented was
handled by the standard in effect at the time and whether every form of recourse docu-
mented would have violated then-existing requirements for sale accounting. Second, it is
not clear whether these forms of recourse were indeed only implicit (that is, unstated) or
whether the recourse provisions were explicitly stated in the securitization transaction. That
is, research has identified recourse events, but the research does not always clearly show
whether these outcomes reflect implicit recourse or contractunally specified recourse. Third,
the research investigates recourse events only in (revolving) credit card securitizations, and
results may not generalize to other types of securitizations. Fourth, the research does not
consider (close) substitutes for recourse, in particular, the transferor’s holding of subordi-
nated interests in the transferred assets. The difference turns on whether the transferor
assumes credit risk by agreeing to be paid last (subordination) or by agreeing to make
payments if necessary.

The research on recourse raises several issues. One way to interpret researchers’ focus
on recourse is that FASB (and, possibly, the 1ASB) has overlooked a set of arrangements
that, if present, should invalidate sale accounting. In other words, has FASB misplaced its
emphasis by requiring analysis of other forms of continuing involvement and relatively

* Higgins and Mason's (2004) results should be interpreted cautiously, since the analysis is based on only ten
firms.

* Statement No. 77 was effective through December 31, 1996; Statement No. 125 was effective from January I,
1997, through March 31, 2001, and Statement No. 140 is currently in effect.
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briefly discussing recourse? Alternatively, the research may illuminate implementation is-
sues and not issues with the standards themselves. That is, given that Statement No. 140
requires that the fair value of recourse obligations accounted for as a sale be subtracted in
calculating the proceeds in a transfer of financial assets, are researchers and regulators in
fact expressing concerns about implementation?

A second issue, and one that extends beyond the financial reporting for asset transfers,
is whether implicit (as opposed to contractual or explicit) recourse meets the accounting
definition of a liability. More broadly, this issue concerns the treatment of implicit (that is,
unstated) arrangements, in particular, implicit promises to perform that might be inferred
from an entity’s actions and relied upon by others. FASB has grappled with this issue in
several contexts, as it has attempted to determine what types of arrangements give rise to
noncontractual obligations that should nonetheless be recorded as liabilities.”® However, it
is not clear whether an unstated promise to provide an unspecified amount of recourse in
a transfer of financial assets would qualify as a liability even under a generous interpretation
of the current definition, and even taking an expansive view of constructive obligations.”

Investor Treatment of Financial Asset Transfers

The evidence on how investors view financial asset transfers is sparse and largely
indirect, consisting of statements about how analysts, credit rating agencies, and regulatory
bodies treat securitizations, and empirical analyses of both systematic risk and valuation
effects of securitization gains/losses. With regard to statements about how analysts evaluate
securitizations, Niu and Richardson (2006) report that analysts generally treat securitizations
as secured borrowings because they believe that most or all of the risks of the transferred
assets remain with the transferor. Landsman et al. (2006) examine equity valuations of the
assets and liabilities of SPEs and find that the market views those assets and liabilities as
belonging to the sponsoring originator. Consistent with this view, Moody’s Investors Service
(2003, 4) states, ““To date, we have observed very few examples of meaningful risk trans-
ference through securitization.” When a securitization fails to transfer meaningful risk,
Moody’s (2003, 7) views “‘the securitization as the equivalent of on-balance sheet secured
financing.”

Regulatory bodies also indicate in their statements that they sometimes view securiti-
zations as being similar to secured borrowings, with respect to risk transfer. Again, the
focus seems to be on providing implicit recourse as a form of continuing involvement that
(should) preclude salc treatment. For example, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency
(2002) Guidance 2002-20 states that originators who provide implicit recourse must re-
recognize assets for determining regulatory capital requirements. The Federal Reserve Sys-
tem Board of Governors’ (2002, 1) Supervisory Letter states that providing implicit recourse
“demonstrates that the securitizing institution is reassuming risk associated with the secur-
itized asset that the institution initially transferred to the marketplace,” and “providing

* See, for example, paragraphs B18-B22 of Statement No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities, and paragraphs B21-B31 of Statement No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.
In both cases, FASB compares the arrangement at issue with the definition and characteristics of a hability,
including a present obligation that the entity has little or no discretion to avoid.

*? The issue appears to be one of economic compulsion, in which an entity's actions are determined by economic
self-interest, not contractual obligations. In this case, the transferor would take actions because of reputation
effects: a transferor that intended to securitize assets in the future might feel economically compelled to provide
recourse.
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implicit recourse can pose a high degree of risk to a banking organization’s financial con-
dition and to the integrity of its regulatory and public financial reports.”

Niu and Richardson (2006) empirically analyze both systematic risk and valuations of
securitization gains/losses. With regard to the former, they find that off-balance sheet debt
related to securitizations and on-balance sheet debt have the same relation to beta; that is,
securitizations are treated like secured borrowings in the determination of systematic risk.
(The authors do not examine whether investors appear to treat the transferred assets as if
they were in fact still under the control of the transferor.) With regard to the latter, they
find that gains from securitizations are less value-relevant than other earnings components,
and that those gains are less valued for firms with higher levels of off-balance sheet debt.
The authors conclude that investors are increasingly skeptical about the value-relevance of
the securitization gains as the amount of off-balance sheet debt increases.”

The research on investor treatment of financial asset transfers, while sparse and some-
times indirect, could suggest that investors tend to view most transfers as secured borrow-
ings—that is, the transferor still has the assets (even though transferred) and has encum-
bered those assets with a loan. The standard-setting implication of this interpretation, taken
to its extreme, is that investors believe the transferor (1) has retained the risk/reward of
the assets and presumably controls those assets and (2) has an obligation equal to the loan.
This extreme implication might, however, be affected by other considerations.

First, the existing research tends to focus on evidence that the transferor has retained
the credit risk of the transferred receivables by, for example, retaining a subordinated in-
terest. Research has not focused on whether investors view the transferred assets as contin-
ving under the transferor’s control; the legal isolation requirement of Statement No. 140
would imply that the transferor does not have access to the cash flows of those assets.

Second, and related to the first point, inspection of contractual arrangements governing
financial asset transfers indicates that the transferor has, typically, sold something, even if
not the entire bundle of risks and rewards that comprise the asset. Specificaily, even if the
transferor has retained a significant subordinated interest in the transferred assets, it no
longer has control of the cash flows of those assets (they are paid first to the investors in
the transferred assets). In addition, a transferor that retains a subordinated interest in order
to absorb most or all of the credit risk of the transferred assets does not have a liability.
Rather, it has a potentially low-value asset. Finally, even a transfer of receivables with full
recourse does not constitute a present obligation of the transferor to repay the entire loan—
the investors must look first to the transferred assets.

Transferor Responses to Changes in the Accounting Rules Related to Financial
Asset Transfers

As previously discussed, research suggests that accounting rules affect the structure of
financial asset transfers. In addition, anecdotal evidence suggests that transferors expend
resources to structure securitization transactions to meet the accounting requirements for
sale treatment, for example, to ensure that the legal entity used in a securitization transaction
is a qualifying SPE. It is not clear, however, whether firms expend resources to structure
transactions primarily to meet the requirements for sale accounting, or for economic
reasons.

* These results do not indicatc whether investors view sccuritization gains as being similar to other gains and
Josses, cither in terms of their transitory nature or in terms of measurement reliability. That is, the results do
not shed light on whether the market valuation of securitization gains and losses is similar to the valuation of
other gains and losses on, for example, sales of available-for-sale sccurities or sales of fixed assets.
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Some insight can be obtained on this issue by investigating responses to changes in
standards that affect the accounting for financial asset transfers. For cxample, Bens and
Monahan (2005) report a decline in the level of sponsorship of asset-backed commercial
paper conduits by U.S. banks following the release of Interpretation No. 46R, Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities.®® They also report that some U.S. banks created new (higher
cost) securities called “expected loss notes™ (ELN) to avoid consolidation of conduits. (The
holder of the ELN is the primary beneficiary of the variable interest entity and, therefore,
consolidates the conduit.) They conclude that, in response to the issuance of Interpretation
No. 46R, companies changed the structures of commercial paper conduits in order to obtain
a desired accounting outcome.

Bens and Monahan (2005) also conclude that the consolidation rules of Interpretation
No. 46R put U.S. banks at a disadvantage relative to U.S. nonbanks and foreign banks.
That is, U.S. banks appeared to lose market share to entities that are not subject to the
same accounting rules and to the same form of regulation that is tied to ratios based on
reported financial statements. If this conclusion is valid, then it highlights the importance
of convergence between the JASB and FASB on a single standard for asset derecognition
so that differing accounting standards do not affect competitiveness.

The standard-setting implications of research that documents firms’ responses to
changes in accounting standards are not clear. Guided by its conceptual framework, FASB
aims to promulgate standards that are neutral in the sense of unbiased and not intended to
influence the behavior of a particular group. FASB acknowledges that knowledge of finan-
cial reporting outcomes affects behavior, just as other measurements do; if a change in
financial reporting standards results in providing more decision-useful information, then
any subsequent changes in behavior will be based on better financial information.™

DISCUSSION AND SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH
Summary and Limitations of Research Findings

Research suggests that transfers of financial assets are economically significant in terms
of the amounts involved and effects on leverage ratios, and that transferors include retailing,
manufacturing, and real estate firms as well as financial institutions. Research also suggests
that financial asset transfers occur for a variety of reasons, including diversifying assets,
obtaining greater liquidity for growth, and reducing financing costs. Finally, researchers
have suggested the possibility of manipulated fair value measurements in connection with
calculating gain or loss on financial asset transfers accounted for as sales, although factors
associated with stricter corporate governance appear to mitigate this effect.

Sale accounting for transferred financial assets is not consistent with significant con-
tinued involvement with those assets. Although many forms of continued involvement exist,
research has tended to focus on providing implicit recourse and transferor motivations for
doing so. Finally, research suggests that both credit analysts and investors appear to treat
off-balance sheet financing related to financial asset transfers as if it were on-balance sheet
debt in assessing firm risk, and that firms alter their securitization activities in response to
changes in accounting requirements.

* Taterpretation No. 46R, using a risk-and-rewards approach to consolidation analysis. requires certain sponsors
of highly leveraged asset-backed commercial paper conduits to either redesign or consolidate the conduits (that
qualify as variable interest entitics).

3 Examples of FASB’s discussions of this issue includc paragraphs B29-B31 of Statement No. 123R, Share-Based
Payments, and paragraphs 130-132 of Statement No. 106, Employers’ Accounting for Postretivement Benefits
Other Than Pensions.
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Several characteristics of the research limit the implications of these findings. First,
much of the research discussed is unpublished; therefore, the results and inferences might
change as the papers are modified in response to the peer review process. Furthermore,
most issues discussed have been addressed by only one or two studies, some of which rely
on small sample sizes and/or limited time periods, without controls for differences in
accounting rules across periods. In addition, some of the studies examine credit card se-
curitizations, some examine loan securitizations, and some examine a combination of dif-
ferent types of securitizations. Future research could examine whether the type of securi-
tization or the specific features of the securitization are important factors in the analyses.

Examples of Open Issues that Could be Addressed by Research

While research provides insights into certain issues related to f{inancial asset transfers,
many questions remain unanswered. For example, while some researchers appear to draw
the inference that some, most, or even all financial asset transfers should not be accounted
for as sales, research has not addressed whether investors might be misled if all financial
asset transfers were accounted for as secured borrowings. That is, research could examine
whether investors would be misled if transferors’ balance sheets showed assets that have
been legally isolated from the transferor (so that the transferor cannot access its cash flows)
and a liability for the entire obligation (even though the transferor has no present obligation
to pay that amount). This research might provide evidence on what might be superior
criteria (relative to those in Statement No. 140) for distinguishing between financial asset
sales and secured borrowings. Research might also consider the advantages and disadvan-
tages of the all-or-nothing sale versus secured-borrowing approach in Statement No. 140
relative to the Joint Working Group proposal to account for the transferors’ assets (e.g.,
retained interests, call options) and liabilities (e.g., recourse obligations) after the transferor.

While research has examined whether investor assessments of systematic risk (beta)
appear to treat securitizations as if they were secured borrowings, further investigations
could provide additional insight into other investor judgments and decisions. For example,
research could examine whether investors® estimates of firm value are affected by variations
in the structures of financial asset transfers.

Research could also provide direct evidence of how equity and credit analyst judgments
and decisions are affected by differing accounting treatments of financial asset transfers.
Some research finds that analysts are not sophisticated in adjusting financial statements for
off-balance sheet items (for example, Hirst et al. {2004] find that commercial bank equity
analysts are able to analyze banks’ exposure to interest rate risk under recognition but not
disclosure of fair values), but the evidence discussed here suggests analysts make an explicit
adjustment for off-balance sheet debt.

Finally, in analyses of continuing involvement, academic research has focused on the
provision of implicit recourse in determining whether transferred financial assets should be
derecognized. However, other types of continuing involvement in transferred assets might
raise equally (or more) serious questions about whether the assets should be derecognized.

Impediments to Academic Research on Financial Asset Transfers

We believe that the lack of data is the most important impediment to archival-empirical
research on financial asset transfers. This impediment takes at least three forms.

First, Statement No. 140 has been in effect in the United States only since 2001; outside
the United States IAS No. 39 (as amended) has been effective only since 2005. Thus, as
noted earlier, there is a dearth of time-series outcomes under the accounting guidance that
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is currently in effect, and there is no way to know whether research results and inferences
based on outcomes reported under previous accounting guidance remain relevant.

Second, and equally important, it appears to be difficult to obtain (typically, to hand-
collect) data on financial asset transfers, and, sometimes, even to identify the arrangements.
For example, Niu and Richardson (2006) report that after attempts to identify “‘as many as
possible” U.S. firms that both undertook securitizations during 1997-2003 and were listed
on both CRSP and Compustat, they obtained 103 firms (535 firm-year observations) but
only 41 firms with complete data.>® Dechow et al. (2005) report that an EDGAR search of
Form 10-K filings of all firms filing with the SEC during September 2000 to December
2002 yielded 80 firms (127 firm-year observations) with the data required for their analyses.

Third, to the extent that the contractual provisions of financial asset transfers determine
both the economic characteristics and the accounting treatment, the data impediments are
even more formidable. While Form 10-K, containing the disclosures required by Statement
No. 140, is a searchable public document, the contractual provisions might be found only
in very difficult-to-access sources, for example, in the offering materials provided to
investors.
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It’s Not A Small World, After All: The SEC Goes International

Just two short years ago, the chief accountant of the SEC laid out a “road map to convergence” for the melding of
United States FASB accounting standards with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board. Don Nicolaisen's road map ultimately called for the elimination of the IFRS-to-
GAAP reconciliation in SEC filings by the year 2009 or sooner. “Sooner” is lovking like "now:” in July, the Commission
issued a proposal for the reconciliation’s current elimination. In August, the Commission issued a Concept Release to test
the merits of allowing U.S. registrants to choose between FASB standards and IASB standards in preparing their financial
statements - a more extensive propesal that could eventually put all accounting standards under one roof, but create
surprising costs and inefficiencies along the way.

Should these two proposals become reality, the main benefit to shareholders would be an increase in investment
choices on the United States exchanges: conversion to United States-style reporting, a long-standing barrier to foreign filers,
would be removed. The exchanges would likely be flooded with new registrants. The question: are more choices always worth
the cost? This report presents the highlights of the two proposals. It also compares 129 IFRS-to-GAAP reconciliations by
Joreign registrants to see if the two reporting systems currently produce similar results. The short answer: there are still plenty
of major differences between them.

I. Nothing To Explain

Foreign companies who wish to trade their stocks and debt in U. S. markets must file financial statements with the
Securities & Exchange Commission, just like domestic companies. Those financial statements might be prepared in terms of
United States accounting principles, but more likely, they’re presented in a firm’s native accounting format. Lately, the
presentation basis might be the IASB’s International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as their acceptance around the
world expands. Regardless, if a firm’s financial statements are not presented in U.S. GAAP, there’s a reconciliation between
as-presented earnings and stockholders” equity and their U.S. GAAP-prepared equivalents. That reconciliation has been a
fixture of 20-F filings used by foreign registrants since 1982. The reconciliation requirement imposed an unpleasant cost on
foreign companies wishing to trade their securities in U.S. markets: to be able to prepare the reconciliation, they had to
effectively keep two sets of books.

How useful has the reconciliation proved to investors and analysts? It doesn’t permit line-by-line comparisons of

foreign issuers to U.S. counterparts, automatically limiting its usefulness. Being part of a 20-F filing, the reconciliation hasn’t
been available to investors on a particularly timely basis, either: there’s a six-month filing deadline for 20-F’s. By comparison,
many U.S companies deemed “large accelerated filers” (over $700 million in market float) must file their 10-K’s within 60
days of their year end. To investors never satisfied with enough information, it seems like paltry, stale data, The reconciliation
glass is half empty.
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On the other hand. the SEC is charged with protecting the interests of investors - and the reconciliation gives investors
two key financial measurements used for valuing firms in terms comparable to the domestic measurements. Instead of

burdening investors with the cost of forcing imprecise adjustments of their own onto the foreign financial statements in order
to make them comparable to domestic counterparts, the cost is imposed on the firms benefitting from trading their securities
in the U.S. markets. While it is an added cost for those foreign filers, it’s also not as great as it would be if the Commission
required full GAAP financial statements - something that’s within the boundaries of the SEC’s authority. The reconciliation
has been a cost-effective way of providing something for everyone: bare-bones information for investors, at a minimized
incremental cost for foreign filers. It’s a compromise, guaranteeing that nobody will be completely happy.

Since the reconciliation was first required, much has changed in global markets - and in the setting of standards for
financial reporting, In 2001, the privately-funded International Accounting Standards Board was established as the successor
organization to the International Accounting Standards Committee, which bad issued 41 International Accounting Standards
during its Tifespan beginning in 1973. When the TASB replaced the IASC in 2001, an entire support system patterned after
the United States’ own standard-setting infrastructure went into place, too, The 1ASB is governed by the International
Accounting Standards Foundation, similar to the FASB and its relationship with the Financial Accounting Foundation.
Interpretations of TASB standards are carried out by an International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
whose American counterpart would be the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force, The IASB is advised by an Standards
Advisory Committee - just like the FASB is counseled by the Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Committee.

The IASB’s goal is “developing, in the public interest, a single set of high-quality, understandable and enforceable
global accounting standards that require transparent and comparable information in general purpose financial statements.™
It may well be succeeding: over 100 countries have adopted their standards, known as International Financial Reporting
Standards, or IFRS. More are on the way: Canada will be switching to IFRS as its accounting language over the next few
years.? Domestic standard setters in India and in Japan have also announced their plans to fully converge their standards with
IFRS by 2011. The European Union required its members to adopt reporting in IFRS terms beginning in 2005, greatly
increasing the “installed base” of firms publishing financials under the IASB standards.

Executive Summary

'From www.iash.org/About+Us/AbouttIASB/About HASE htm.

See details at http: rw.acsheanada.org/download.cfm?¢i id=32733&la id=1&re id=0 . Transition could take as long as five years.
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The United States is not ignoring the IASB movement, by any means, Under the “Norwalk Agreement™ reached in
2002, the FASB and the IASB have been working towards converging the two sets of standards “as soon as practicable.” Since
then, no major standard-setting project has been started by either body without a joint effort.

The SEC has been monitoring the convergence scene keenly in the past few years. In an April 2005 article in the
Northwestern University Journal of International Law and Business, Don Nicolaisen, the SEC’s chief accountant at the time,
declared: “... both the U.S. GAAP and IFRSs models have their place in the U.S. capital markets, and that convergence is the
enabler that will allow them to coexist. What is essential is that each set of standards be complete, that each produce financial
statements of high quality, that each set of standards enjoy wide acceptance and use, that the standards be reasonably
comparable to each other and that investors are capable of and comfortable in understanding the nature of differences between
the two sets of standards.”

Nicolaisen’s article included a “possible roadmap to convergence™ that would allow for the elimination of the GAAP
reconciliation for financial statements prepared on an IFRS basis by 2009 - or sooner. The Commission has stayed on the
roadmap’s course since then, and now asks the question of investors: Can we drop the reconciliation now for firms that report
on a pure IFRS basis - that is, with no exemptions from standards as published by the IASB? That’s “as published by the
1ASB” because some countries claim to have adopted 1ASB standards, but employ their version of a particular accounting
standard in lieu of the IASB’s, Another important exception is in the European Union: while they require their member
countries to use IFRS in their financial reporting, they’ve carved out an exception for the application of the hedging provisions
of International Accounting Standard 39: firms can elect whether or not to follow its hedge accounting provisions.”

The SEC can always drop the reconciliation - the better
question is whether or not that’s a good idea. Check the chart at left

Net Income and you might not think so: it shows the range of differences between

% Differences in Earnings IFRS-based financials and their GAAP-reconciled amounts. It’s based

: Y on 129 20-Fs found in the SEC’s EDGAR system, for 20 filers using

“genetically pure” IFRS reporting, another 101 using IFRS as

endorsed by the European Union, and another 8 filers whose native
tongue is Australian IFRS. All were from fiscal year 2006 filings.

No matter what the strain of IFRS in use may be - and they’re
all essentially the same in the data presented - the range of differences
between the IFRS-reported net income and the United States net
income is huge. The same is true of the stockholders’ equity
reconcilintions on the next page. If convergence between the

ipplication of U.S. standards and international standards had truly
been reached by now, the range of differences in these key
[] wrs>canr BB IFRS <GAAP measurements shonld be much narrower. (More on specific differences
later.)

Austrafian

The SEC’s proposal asks if there is “sufficient comparability among companies using IFRS as published by the IASB
to allow investors and others to use and understand the financial statements of foreign private issuers prepared in accordance
with IFRS as published by the IASB without a U.S. GAAP reconciliation.” This is the most important question of all for the
Commission to ask investors in deciding to drop the reconciliation, and the evidence from the filings of foreign issuers is that
there’s still quite a wide gulf between the two reporting systems.

Not all investors are going to be comfortable without the familiar touchstone of GAAP garnings in the foreign filings.
That’s contrary to the investor indifference towards the reconciliation uncovered by the Commission in the investor roundtable

* See httpy//www. fash.org/news/memorandum.pdf

“Full text at hitp:/sec.c0v/news/speech/spch040603dtn.him

*According to JASB member Thomas Jones in a panel discussion at the Council of Institational Investors Annual Meeting on September
17, the Board believes there are only 29 firms in the EU using that exemption out of thousands that are reporting on an IFRS basis.

¢ See Question 3 in “Acceptance from Foreign Private Issuers of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with Internationat Financial
Reporting Standards Without Reconciliation to U.S. GAAP” at http/sec.gov/rules/proposed/2007/33-88 1 8.pdf
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it sponsored to gather inputs on the entire roadmap process earlier this
year. _Wh'fle i't would‘ be sgrprisir}g to ‘ﬁr}d investors that use the Stockholders' Equity
reconciliation information directly in their investment analysis - and
therefore say they don’t find it useful - there are likely to be many
investors who use the reconciliation in a more indirect way. One way is
that it provides a handy context: if the foreign filer were reporting just ]| Australian -}
tike anyone else in the United States, how would they look? Better or
worse, on the basis of at least two metrics? Another way is that it
provides a proxy for complexity, something that turns off many EU IERS
investors, The sheer number of reconciling items and the magnitude of
the differences they create might convince some investors that such
foreign investments are outside their range of competence - or that the
effort to monitor such an investment might not be worth it. Another
indirect use of the reconciliation: investors might use it as “on the job”
training to learn about IFRS in real-world applications, rather than try to
parse it from the standards or textbooks. Removing the reconciliation IFRS > GAAP [ IFRS < GAAP
would take away a source of education for them, running somewhat
counter to the SEC’s mission of investor advocacy.

There's no question that convergence of the IFRS and FASB standards is a good idea: investors want to put their
capital where it’s going to earn the best return, and they like to have choices. Different reporting languages describing the
same economic events are an obstacle for capital flowing to where it’s best served.

It’s just that dropping the reconciliation might not be a great idea right now. There’s a “quantity versus quality™ aspect
to dropping the reconciliation at this time. Certainly it would open up more investment choices to investors because it would
make it easier for foreign filers to trade in United States markets. Even if greater number of investment choices was an
unalloyed benefit, there are nagging quality considerations if the reconciliation is dropped:

« Understanding IFRS. As the above charts show, there may not be as much symmetry between the two reporting
regimes as regulators hope. Do investors really understand the nuances of IFRS enough to compare the financials of different
companies using different standards? Unlikely: the level of education about IFRS at the American college level is practically
nil - and what little there may be is in the curricula for accounting degrees, not finance degrees.

« Enforcement. The SEC is depending on the uniform application of IFRS standards among different countries and
is relying on cooperation with other countries’ securities regulators to monitor and enforce that application. For new registrants
in the United States, that’s not going to result in enforcement that’s quite as direct.

* Many companies are still inexperienced in applying IFRS. As mentioned before, the European Union’s members
have only started using IFRS since the beginning of 2005; many companies have only had two years of experience in applying
the new reporting. The SEC has examined filings of IFRS-~reporting firms and noted problems in the application of the
standards in the areas of cash flow statements, accounting treatments for common control mergers, recapitalizations,
reorganizations, and acquisitions of minority interests, and similar transactions.®

« Convergence efforts might cease. Without a public display of how much work remains to be done to achieve
substantive convergence, there’s less incentive for the two key standard setters to continue working together. That’s unlikely,
however: the IASB and the FASB have a harmonious relationship and have demonstrated genuine commitment to the goal
of converging their standards. A longer-term plan for eliminating the reconciliation might actually improve convergence
efforts. Instead of simply achieving convergence by decree, a plan for eliminating the remaining differences by certain dates
would galvanize the efforts.

 Elevating IASB to recognized standard-setter status, If it elimi the reconciliation, the SEC effectively
recognizes the IASB as a standard setter. The standards of the IASB would have the same stature as the FASB’s, vet the
independence of the TASB is not the same. European Union politics have played a role in past IASB standards and could do
50 once again - another risk to achieving truly converged accounting standards between the United States and IFRS.

% Differences in Equity

Pure IFRS j

i

"See transcript at hiip;/

*See “SEC Staff Observations in the Review of IFRS Financial Statements,” July 2, 2007, found at:
http/iwwy sec.sovidivisionsicorpfin/ifs_staffobservations htm
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5.

1. Beyond Convergence

The Concept Release issued by the SEC in August® goes well beyond the convergence issues raised in the
reconciliation proposal. Why worry about remedying any disadvantages that U.S. companies might suffer if they have to
compete with foreign filers here that use IFRS instead of U.S. GAAP? If you can’t beat them, join them, in accounting terms.
The Concept Release effectively asks observers what could happen if U.S. companies were allowed to choose reporting on
an IFRS basis or a U.S. GAAP basis.

Such a choice would effectively level any uneven playing field that the reconciliation proposal might create -
situations that might oceur if the reconciliation proposal becomes a reality. Suppose United States firms in a particular industry
face competition from foreign companies that report on an IFRS basis and are consistently more profitable because of the
differences in the two sets of standards. Without the reconciliation, how would investors make a fair comparison? They really
couldn’t - so if there isn’t any reconciliation, the U.S. firms are at a disadvantage in the capital markets. Allowing them to
move their accounting to IFRS for their SEC filings provides relief. That's a scenario that could be on the increase: as the
Commission points out in its Concept Release, the continuing acceptance of IFRS around the world could lead to more
comparisons between U.S. firms and IFRS-adopting firms, and the comparisons could be especially pointed if those firms elect
to trade their securities in the United States should the reconciliation requirement be dropped. Furthermore, as U.S. firms
increase their global footprint, it becomes more likely that they may have to report subsidiary operations on an IFRS basis
to regulators in foreign countries. U.S. firms might thus be adopting IFRS reporting whether they want to do so or not.

Notice that if the two sets of standards - U.S. and IFRS - were genuinely converged already, none of this would matter.
Nor would the reconciliation matter: if the standards produced truly comparable results, the great majority of reconciliations
would read “Not Applicable.” The guestion of whether or not U.S. firms should be allowed to use IFRS in their SEC filings
would be moot: they'd be substantially the same as U.S. standards. Because they aren’t the same, the SEC is compelled to
raise questions about the effects of such a move in the Concept Release. That’s a strong indication that dropping the
reconciliation is a premature idea.

The Concept Release is an exploratory document: it’s less of a concrete rule proposal {like dropping the reconciliation
than it is an information-gathering attempt by the Commission. The SEC seeks advice on all the ramifications of offering
American firms the choice of reporting in IFRS. Here are some of the key issues.

« First of all: do investors and financial statement preparers believe that there should be a choice?

« Capital bias. Does such a choice give some firms an advantage over others? For instance, large multinational firms
might find it cost-effective to switch to IFRS, but small domestic firms with limited resources may not be able to make a
transition. If a firm enjoys a lower cost of capital by using IFRS, will some firms be at a natural disadvantage?

« Capital formation. 1f the option isn’t granted, what happens to capital formation in the United States as IFRS
adoption gains steam overseas? Will U.S. companies incorporate elsewhere?

» Investor usefulness. Wil investors be able to understand and use financial statements of U.S. firms prepared on an
IFRS basis? (The reconciliation elimination proposal, if enacted, would be a virtual “yes” answer by the SEC.)

* Barriers to switching. Would there be contractual barriers for U.S. firms in switching to IFRS? For example, many
covenants and ag) may be conti upon figures reported on a U.S, GAAP basis.

* Convergence efforts. What would be the effect on the FASB and standard-setting in the U.S.? How much would
convergence of U.S. standards and TFRS matter? If the FASB and the IASB were unable to converge certain standards, what
should the SEC do?

« Confidence in IFRS and the IASB process. Do investors and financial statement preparers have confidence in the
IASB process that has produced IFRS - and if s0, are they confident that the process will continue to be robust? If they’re
confident in the process and the standards, should it matter to them at all if the SEC officially recognizes the principles? Does
it matter to investors that the SEC has no direct oversight over the IASB - quite unlike its relationship with the FASB?

« Experience-gathering. Currently, IFRS is not part of many college accounting curricula; it isn’t even covered in
the Uniform CPA exam. If the accountants in the United States are unfamiliar with the standards due to lack of exposure, then
most investors are likely even farther behind. Should the Commission take it upon itself to provide education for investors?
1f so - how? What barriers and incentives exist for getting experienced professionals to adapt to a world that would embrace
IFRS more fully? What barriers and incentives exist for getting colleges and universities to do the same? Or for changing the
content of the CPA exam?

The “Concept Release on Allowing U.S. Issuers to Prepare Financial Statements in Accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards” can be found at htip://sec.gov/rules/concept/2007/33-883 1. pdf
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= Practice issues. What actual differences between the two sets of standards would pose problems for financial
statement preparers and their auditors in a conversion to an IFRS presentation? Do such differences matter in giving U.S.
preparers the choice of a basis? What might be the costs involved in a conversion, and what benefits would justify the costs?

* Auditing & regulation. Would auditing firms be willing to audit IFRS-basis financial statements? Would the relative
“balance of power” within the public accounting hierarchy be affected by giving companies the choice? Would the audit
quality of IFRS-based U.S. financial statements be satisfactory? Is the information-sharing ability among international
securities regulators sufficiently developed to ensure that IFRS is being applied properly?

* Transition & timing. Who should make the decision on such a switch in principles - management, board of directors
or shareholders? When would investors and auditors be ready for a system that allows a choice? Should the SEC establish a
timetable for giving an IFRS-basis option to U.S. firms? Should the choice be available to issuers for a limited time? Should
they be allowed to switch back to U.S. GAAP?

The devil is in the details, and the questions posed show that many are considerations needed before allowing a choice,
If every action has areaction, then it’s important to think a few steps ahead to figure out the consequences of an action. “Then
what?” is the most under-utilized question in the world, but at least the Concept Release forces affected parties to ask that
question many fimes.

The knee-jerk reflex of most investors to the first question posed in the Concept Release is probably “sure, give U.S.
companies a choice of accounting basis.” That response might be rooted in the twin naive beliefs that accounting doesn’t
matter, and that the two bases must be awfully similar if the SEC wants to waive the reconciliation for foreign filers. So - why
penalize domestic issuers? Let them have a choice and they’ll be able to compete more effectively with the foreign filers
who’ll flock to the United States markets.

Those are incorrect assumptions, because the dissimilarities will matter - and because the proposal to eliminate the
reconciliation is rooted more in politics than in standard-setting or regulation. (Or deregulation.) On April 30, 2007, the United

States - European Union Suramit took place in Washington, DC and resulted in a “Framework for Advancing Transatlantic
Economic Integration Between the United States of America and the European Union.”'” One part of that framework included
efforts to “promote conditions for the U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and International Financial Reporting
Standards to be recognized in both jurisdictions without the need for reconciliation by 2009 or possibly sooner.”"" While this
convergence touchstone has always been part of the SEC’s plan - remember, it was in the “convergence roadmap” set forth
by Don Nicolaisen in 2005 - it takes on significantly more urgency when the President of the United States commits to other
world leaders that it will happen by a certain date.

What may come out of the process is a more concrete plan for converging the IFRS standards with the FASB standards
by 2009. Again, that’s a process already well in place, one to which both standard setters agreed in 2002 with the Norwalk
Agreement - and they’ve worked diligently towards that end ever since. If there’s a more concrete plan that comes out of these
two SEC proposals, the big question may be whether “by 2009” means the “beginning of 2009” or the “end of 2009.”

Aswe’ll see in the next section, given the magnitudes of the differences produced by the two sets of standards, those
extra twelve months might come in pretty handy in any convergence process.

1 The framework in on the Web at http:

' 1bid, Annex 6, Financial Markets, part b.
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Il Are We There Yet?

How much work needs to be done to get IFRS and U.S. GAAP to speak (almost) the same language? As the graphs
in the first section showed, the difference between the IFRS-basis earnings and the GAAP-basis earnings can be very wide.
Those differences are based on a survey of 2006 20-F filings for 129 SEC registrants using IFRS reporting. Of the 129 firms,
20 of them declared that their financials were presented under International Financlal Reporting Standards as published by
the IASB, and their auditors attested to that declaration in their opinion, Another 101 firms presented their financials on the
basis of IFRS as adopted by the European Union. That's almost the same as using the standards as published by the IASB with
one exception: when the EU adopted IFRS as the mother tongue for its constituents, it carved an exception out of International
Accounting Standard 39, with regards to derivatives hedging. The exception made by the EU gave firms the choice of sticking
with the accounting endorsed by IAS 39 or using their own country’s standard; it’s not an exception that has been widely
chosen, meaning that most of those firms on the “IFRS-EU” basis are on the same playing field as those firms on the strict
“[FRS as published by the IASB” basis. Finally, 8 Australian firms rounded out the sample: their standards are the same as
the IFRS as published by the IASB.

The differences in the reconciliations show one thing for certain: there are still plenty of gaps between U.S. GAAP
and international GAAP. The table below provides an overview of the differences.

Headcount: How IFRS Differences Mattered To Earnings & Equity

IERS < IERS » Greatest Least Greatest
GAAR - Dilfer G 5 > GA AAl

Pure IFRS
IFRS as adopted by EU

Australian 8 3 4 |

128 44 83 836.4% H -336.6%
Median difference 514% 24% 127% NA

) fetve) b

IERS < IERS > Greatest Least Greatest Least
Yo GAAP GAAP  Differcnce IERS > GAAP IERS > GAAP  IFRS < GAAD [ERS < GAAP
Pure IFRS

{FRS as adopted by EU

Austratian 8 3 4 1 %
129 83 65 1 98.7%
Madian difference 02% | A27% 8.2% A | |

It’s an admittedly small sample. but vou can’t ignore two facts emerging from it. First, two firms with no difference
in earnings on the two bases doesn’t suggest a high degree of convergence. The medians suggest that the two accounting
systems produce earnings and equity values that are pretty far apart; so does the range information in the shaded area. Second
observation: with earnings showing up higher on an IFRS basis than on a GAAP basis over twice as often, U.S. firms might
be fairly interested in supporting the SEC’s concept release on allowing them a reporting choice,

The SEC has long been concerned about materiality of misstatements in financial reporting, due fo errors or
intentional misstatements.”” While the differences in the two bases of accounting aren't the results of errors or intentional
misstatements, they do introduce an element of imprecision into the language of investors, who may be basing their investment
decisions on information that may not be as complete as they thought it was, That's one reason the SEC is concerned about
the materiality of mi. s, and it's havd to square their position on materiality with the proposal to drop the
reconciliation.

Another fallout from dropping the reconciliation that the SEC might not expect: the differences between the two bases
might spur domestic firms to increase their pro forma reporting of earnings. U.S. firms that compete with foreign IFRS
reporters might take to putting some sort of hybrid information in their press releases to “help” analysts make comparisons.
Increases in pro forma measures don’t usually increase the consistency or quality of financial information.

The tables on the next two pages present the IFRS basis and GAAP basis earnings and stockholder’s equity
drawn {rom the reconciliations of the 129 filers summarized above, sorted in descending order of the difference
between the two bases of accounting.

For example, see Staff Accounting Bulletin No, 99 « Materiality at hy ni/sah¥99 him
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From The Current Reconciliations: Earnings Differences
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From The Current Reconciliations: Equity Differences
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currencies) 96 Diff.
¢ i ‘ L - .

Senith & Nephew

Paarson PLC

2,5920 § 2,868.0

Invasco fLondon

Publicis Group
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‘What caused the differences could fill a book - but it will fill only the next two pages for the 20 “IFRS as issued
by the IASB” filers. Only these 20 are presented here due to space limitations.

“Pure IFRS” Filers: Earnings Reconciliation To GAAP (Part 1)
China China China

(Al figures i matlions of native uBS Swiss: ‘Huaneny Southarn . Petr& Eastern
irrenti com . Fower . Abfines. " Chen,

n‘%‘term assets
et

Minority (n§eres£31 o adjustments

foleine i
R rucluring provisions
el

i
-

Assets rgci for disposal
oot

7 {130.0 ¢ H . . H 90.0F 950.0% {2082
{FRS Earnings H 83401 oM . . P10 is020! Gass
US GAAP Eamings 3 i 1b8s 3947 1 216.0 1 54,8620

Difference in samings

0o
i

A42%
e

I

Postitive adjustments
Negative adjustments
Total agjustments

B

}

®
o feo
.

i o

Could analysts and investors come up with the adjustments noted above and on the next page all on their own? Highly
doubtful; those adjustments are the result of transactions being given different accounting treatments. Those transactions
reside deep in the bowels of the firms’ general ledger and that’s where the different accounting treatments are applied - not
at the 30,000 foot level that analysts and investors see. Investors who believe that the two systems result in consistently close
results or that they can compensate for the major differences that occur without help from the firm are kidding themselves.
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“Pure IFRS” Filers: Earnings Reconciliation To GAAP (Part 2)

Natt: vanzhou Sinopes Ghina:
A figures in millions of pative. Turkcali Srupe Pétios: Teiephone Coal: = Shanghai Crodh i Teleconm:
ol fes] st i e Vs ial Mining Petroch: G

RS PURRRR
Minority Interests on adjus

Purch

R
ts: share based
(&;ﬂemcd invastments
sy e
e

Restracturing pro
e

Total reconciling items 73 : (424.0y ¢ (1,024.01} 8 : . (5,098.0) ¢ 2
IFRS Eamings 9} 182430 113097501 730} ! g 2714201 08
8.

US GAAP Bamings 187180 H1pe 3510} 8! 2204601
Pt
7%

Difference in earnings %

f

Positive adjustments
Negative adjustments
Total adjustments

e -

Should the SEC quit on the idea of drapping the recounciliation? Skouid it abandon efforts to hasten convergence?
“No” to both questions. That reconcilintion can be a tool for the SEC to prod the FASB and L48B to hasten their
convergence efforts by (the end of} 2009, if they help the standard setiers focus ¢fforts on the standards creating the most
significant differences. If the differences are due to legacy differences thas won’t ever go away - like the differences
between qe ing treat for busi inati before the two systems became more alike - then those
differences should continue to be disclosed. Perhaps a full-fledged reconciliation might not be necessary, but investors
deserve to know where convergence efforts can’t impreve financial reporting.

To simply eliminate the reconciliation anytime sooner, withous working on these differences, is to simply declare
vietory and go home. It’s convergence by decree, not in substanee.
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Abstract

In this paper, we provide an overview of the subprime mortgage securitization process
and the seven key informational frictions that arise. We discuss the ways that market
participants work to minimize these frictions and speculate on how this process broke
down. We continue with a complete picture of the subprime borrower and the subprime
loan, discussing both predatory borrowing and predatory lending. We present the key
structural features of a typical subprime securitization, document how rating agencies
assign credit ratings to mortgage-backed securities, and outline how thesc agencies
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Executive Summary

Section numbers containing more detail are provided in [square] brackets.

Until very recently, the origination of mortgages and issuance of mortgage-backed
securities (MBS) was dominated by loans to prime borrowers conforming to underwriting
standards set by the Government Sponsored Agencies (GSEs) [2]

By 2006, non-agency origination of $1.480 trillion was more than 45% larger than
agency origination, and non-agency issuance of $1.033 trillion was 14% larger than
agency issuance of $905 billion.

The securitization process is subject to seven key frictions.

D

2)

3)

b

5)

Fictions between the mortgagor and the originator: predatory lending [2.1.1]

» Subprime borrowers can be financially unsophisticated

» Resolution: federal, state, and local laws prohibiting certain lending practices, as
well as the recent regulatory guidance on subprime lending

Frictions between the originator and the arranger: Predatory borrowing and lending

[2.1.2]

» The originator has an information advantage over the arranger with regard to the
quality of the borrower.

» Resolution: due diligence of the arranger. Also the originator typically makes a
number of representations and watranties (R&W) about the borrower and the
underwriting process. When these are violated, the originator generally must
repurchase the problem loans.

Frictions between the arranger and third-parties: Adverse selection [2.1.3]

» The arranger has more information about the quality of the mortgage loans which
creates an adverse selection problem: the arranger can securitize bad loans (the
lemons) and keep the good ones. This third friction in the securitization of
subprime loans affects the relationship that the arranger has with the warehouse
lender, the credit rating agency (CRA), and the asset manager.

» Resolution: haircuts on the collateral imposed by the warehouse lender. Due
diligence conducted by the portfolio manager on the arranger and originator. CRAs
have access to some private information; they have a franchise value to protect.

Frictions between the servicer and the mortgagor: Moral hazard [2.1.4]

» In order to maintain the value of the underlying asset (the house), the mortgagor
(borrower) has to pay insurance and taxes on and generally maintain the property.
In the approach to and during delinquency, the mortgagor has little incentive to do
all that.

» Resolution: Require the mortgagor to regularly escrow funds for both insurance and
property taxes. When the borrower fails to advance these funds, the servicer is
typically required to make these payments on behalf of the investor. However,
limited effort on the part of the mortgagor to maintain the property has no
resolution, and creates incentives for quick foreclosure.

Frictions between the servicer and third-parties: Moral hazard {2.1.5]

» The income of the servicer is increasing in the amount of time that the loan is
serviced. Thus the servicer would prefer to keep the loan on its books for as long as



124

possible and therefore has a strong preference to modify the terms of a delinquent
loan and to delay foreclosure.

> In the event of delinquency, the servicer has a natural incentive to inflate expenses
for which it is reimbursed by the investors, especially in good times when recovery
rates on foreclosed property are high.

» Resolution: servicer quality ratings and a master servicer. Moody’s estimates that
servicer quality can affect the realized level of losses by plus or minus 10 percent.
The master servicer is responsible for monitoring the performance of the servicer
under the pooling and servicing agreement.

6) Frictions between the asset manager and investor: Principal-agent [2.1.6]

» The investor provides the funding for the MBS purchase but is typically not
financially sophisticated enough to formulate an investment strategy, conduct due
diligence on potential investments, and find the best price for trades. This service is
provided by an asset manager (agent) who may not invest sufficient effort on behalf
of the investor (principal).

» Resolution: investment mandates and the evaluation of manager performance
relative to a peer group or benchmark

7) Frictions between the investor and the credit rating agencies: Model error [2.1.7]

» The rating agencies are paid by the arranger and not investors for their opinion,
which creates a potential conflict of interest. The opinion is arrived at in part
through the use of models (about which the rating agency naturally knows more
than the investor) which are susceptible to both honest and dishonest errors.

» Resolution: the reputation of the rating agencies and the public disclosure of ratings
and downgrade criteria.

¢ Five frictions caused the subprime crisis [2.2]

Friction #1: Many products offered to sub-prime borrowers are very complex and
subject to mis-understanding and/or mis-representation.

Friction #6: Existing investment mandates do not adequately distinguish between
structured and corporate ratings. Asset managers had an incentive to reach for yield by
purchasing structured debt issues with the same credit rating but higher coupons as
corporate debt issues.!

Friction #3: Without due diligence of the asset manager, the arranger’s incentives to
conduct its own due diligence are reduced. Moreover, as the market for credit
derivatives developed, including but not limited to the ABX, the arranger was able to
limit its funded exposure to securitizations of risky loans.

Friction #2: Together, frictions 1, 2 and 6 worsened the friction between the originator
and arranger, opening the door for predatory borrowing and lending.

Friction #7: Credit ratings were assigned to subprime MBS with significant error. Even
though the rating agencies publicly disclosed their rating criteria for subprime, investors
lacked the ability to evaluate the efficacy of these models.

We suggest some improvements to the existing process, though it is not clear that any
additional regulation is warranted as the market is already taking remedial steps in the
right direction.

! The fact that the market demands a higher yield for similarly rated structured products than for straight corporate
bonds ought to provide a clue to the potential of higher risk.
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An overview of subprime mortgage credit [3] and subprime MBS [4]

Credit rating agencies (CRAs) play an important role by helping to resolve many of the

frictions in the securitization process

— A credit rating by a CRA represents an overall assessment and opinion of a debt
obligor’s creditworthiness and is thus meant to reflect only credit or default risk. Itis
meant to be directly comparable across countries and instruments. Credit ratings
typically represent an unconditional view, sometimes called “cycle-neutral” or
“through-the-cycle.” [5.1]

— Especially for investment grade ratings, it is very difficult to tell the difference between
a “bad” credit rating and bad luck [5.3]

— The subprime credit rating process can be split into two steps: (1) estimation of a loss
distribution, and (2) simulation of the cash flows. With a loss distribution in hand, it is
straightforward to measure the amount of credit enhancement necessary for a tranche to
attain a given credit rating. [5.4]

— There seem to be substantial differences between corporate and asset backed securities
(ABS) credit ratings (an MBS is just a special case of an ABS — the assets are
mortgages) [5.5]

» Corporate bond (obligor) ratings are largely based on firm-specific risk
characteristics. Since ABS structures represent claims on cash flows from a
portfolio of underlying assets, the rating of a structured credit product must take into
account systematic risk.

» ABS ratings refer to the performance of a static pool instead of a dynamic
corporation.

» ABS ratings rely heavily on quantitative models while corporate debt ratings rely
heavily on analyst judgment.

» Unlike corporate credit ratings, ABS ratings rely explicitly on a forecast of
(macro)economic conditions.

» While an ABS credit rating for a particular rating grade should have similar

expected loss to corporate credit rating of the same grade, the volatility of loss (i.e.

the unexpected loss) can be quite different across asset classes.

> Rating agency must respond to shifts in the loss distribution by increasing the
amount of needed credit enhancement to keep ratings stable as economic conditions
deteriorate. It follows that the stabilizing of ratings through the cycle is associated
with pro-cyclical credit enhancement: as the housing market improves, credit
enhancement falls; as the housing market slows down, credit enhancement increases
which has the potential to amplify the housing cycle. [5.6]

> An important part of the rating process involves simulating the cash flows of the
structure in order to determine how much credit excess spread will receive towards
meeting the required credit enhancement. This is very complicated, with results that
can be rather sensitive to underlying model assumptions. [5.7]

iii
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1. Introduction

How does one securitize a pool of mortgages, especially subprime mortgages? What is the
process from origination of the loan or mortgage to the selling of debt instruments backed by a
pool of those mortgages? What problems creep up in this process, and what are the
mechanisms in place to mitigate those problems? This paper seeks to answer all of these
questions. Along the way we provide an overview of the market and some of the key players,
and provide an extensive discussion of the important role played by the credit rating agencies.

In Section 2, we provide a broad description of the securitization process and pay special
attention to seven key frictions that need to be resolved. Several of these frictions involve
moral hazard, adverse selection and principal-agent problems. We show how each of these
frictions is worked out, though as evidenced by the recent problems in the subprime mortgage
market, some of those solutions are imperfect. In Section 3, we provide an overview of
subprime mortgage credit; our focus here is on the subprime borrower and the subprime loan.
We offer, as an example a pool of subprime mortgages New Century securitized in June 2006.
We discuss how predatory lending and predatory borrowing (i.e. mortgage fraud) fit into the
picture. Moreover, we examine subprime loan performance within this pool and the industry,
speculate on the impact of payment reset, and explore the ABX and the role it plays. In Section
4, we examine subprime mortgage-backed securities, discuss the key structural features of a
typical securitization, and, once again illustrate how this works with reference to the New
Century securitization. We finish with an examination of the credit rating and rating
monitoring process in Section 5. Along the way we reflect on differences between corporate
and structured credit ratings, the potential for pro-cyclical credit enhancement to amplify the
housing cycle, and document the performance of subprime ratings. Finally, in Section 6, we
review the extent to which investors rely upon on credit rating agencies views, and take as a
typical example of an investor: the Ohio Police & Fire Pension Fund.

We reiterate that the views presented here are our own and not those of the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York or the Federal Reserve System. And, while the paper focuses on subprime
mortgage credit, note that there is little qualitative difference between the securitization and
ratings process for Alt-A and home equity loans. Clearly, recent problems in mortgage markets
are not confined to the subprime sector.
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2. Overview of subprime mortgage credit securitization

Until very recently, the origination of mortgages and issuance of mortgage-backed securities
(MBS) was dominated by loans to prime borrowers conforming to underwriting standards set
by the Government Sponsored Agencles (GSEs). Outside of conforming loans are non-agency
asset classes that include Jumbo, Alt-A, and Subprime. Loosely speaking, the Jumbo asset
class includes loans to prime borrowers with an original grmmpai balance larger than the
conforming limits imposed on the agencies by Congress the Alt-A asset class involves loans
to borrowers with good credit but include more aggressive underwriting than the conforming or
Jumbo classes (i.e. no documentation of income, high leverage); and the Subprime asset class
involves loans to borrowers with poor credit history.

Table 1 documents origination and issuance since 2001 in each of four asset classes. In 2001,
banks originated $1.433 trillion in conforming mortgage loans and issued $1.087 trillion in
mortgage-backed securities secured by those mortgages, shown in the *Agency” columns of
Table 1. In contrast, the non-agency sector originated $680 billion ($190 billion subprime +
360 billion Alt-A + $430 billion jumbo) and issued $240 billion ($87.1 billion subprime +
$11.4 Alt-A + $142.2 billion jumbo), and most of these were in the Jumbo sector. The Ali-A
and Subprime sectors were relatively small, together comprising $250 billion of $2.1 trillion
(12 percent) in total origination during 2001.

Table 1: Orlgmatmn and Issue of Non-Agency Mortgage Loans
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A reduction in long-term interest rates through the end of 2003 was associated with a sharp
increase in origination and issuance across all asset classes. While the conforming markets
peaked in 2003, the non-agency markets continued rapid growth through 2005, eventually
eclipsing activity in the conforming market. In 2006, non-agency production of $1.480 trillion
was more than 45 percent larger than agency production, and non-agency issuance of $1.033
trillion was larger than agency issuance of $903 billion.

Interestingly, the increase in Subprime and Alt-A origination was associated with a significant
increase in the ratio of issuance to origination, which is a reasonable proxy for the fraction of
loans sold. In particular, the ratio of subprime MBS issuance to subprime mortgage origination
was close to 75 percent in both 2005 and 2006. While there is typically a one-quarter lag
between origination and issuance, the data document that a large and increasing fraction of both
subprime and Alt-A loans are sold to investors, and very little is retained on the balance sheets
of the institutions who originate them. The process through which loans are removed from the

* This limit is currently $417,000.

o]
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balance sheet of lenders and transformed into debt securities purchased by investors is called
securitization.

2.1. The seven key frictions

The securitization of mortgage loans is a complex process that involves a number of different
players. Figure | provides an overview of the players, their responsibilities, the important
frictions that exist between the players, and the mechanisms used in order to mitigate these
frictions. An overarching friction which plagues every step in the process is asymmetric
information: usually one party has more information about the asset than another. We think
that understanding these frictions and evaluating the mechanisms designed to mitigate their
importance is essential to understanding how the securitization of subprime loans could
generate bad outcomes.”

Figure 1: Key Players and Frictiouns in Subprime Mortgage Credit Securitization
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* A recent piece in The Economist (September 20, 2007) provides a nice description of some of the frictions
described here.
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New Century Financial $51.6 8.6% $52.7 -2.1%
Countrywide $40.6 6.8% 344.6 -51%
CitiGroup $38.0 6.3% 3205 85.5%
WMC Mortgage 3332 5.5% $31.8 4.3%
Fremont $32.3 5.4% $36.2 -10.9%
Ameriquest Morigage $29.5 4.9% $75.6 -61.0%
Option One $28.8 4.8% $40.3 -28.6%
Wells Fargo $27.9 4.6% $30.3 -8.1%
First Franklin $27.7 4.6% $29.3 -5.7%
| Top25 $543.2 90.59% $604.9 -10.2%
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Source: Inside Mortgage Finance (2007)

Table 3: Top Subprime MBS Issuers
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Washington Mutual 52838 $18.5 63.1%
First Franklin $28.3 519.4 45.7%
Residential Funding Corp $25.9 $28.7 -8.5%
| Lehman Brothers 5244 $35.3 -30.7%
| WMC Mortgage $21.6 $19.6 10.5%
Ameriquest 3214 $54.2 -60.5%
Top 25 $427.6 < $417.6 2.4%
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Table 4: Top Subprime Morigage Servicers
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Ameriquest $60.0 4.8% §75.4 -20.4%
Ocewen Financial Corp 3522 4.2% $42.0 24.2%
Wells Fargo 3513 4.1% $44.7 14.8%
Homecomings Financial $49.5 4.0% $55.2 -10.4%
HSBC $49.5 4.0% $43.8 13.0%
Litton Loan Servicing $47.0 4.0% 3420 16.7%
Top 30 $1,105.7 89.2% $1,057.8 4.5%
Total $1,240 100.0% $1,200 3.3%

Seurce: Inside Mortgage Finance 2007)
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2.1.1. Frictions between the mortgagor and originator: Predatory lending

The process starts with the mortgagor or borrower, who applies for a mortgage in order to
purchase a property or to refinance and existing mortgage. The originator, possibly through a
broker (yet another intermediary in this process), underwrites and initially funds and services
the mortgage loans. Table 2 documents the top 10 subprime originators in 2006, which are a
healthy mix of commercial banks and non-depository specialized mono-line lenders. The
originator is compensated through fees paid by the borrower (points and closing costs), and by
the proceeds of the sale of the mortgage loans. For example, the originator might sell a
portfolio of loans with an initial principal balance of $100 million for $102 million,
corresponding to a gain on sale of $2 million. The buyer is willing to pay this premium
because of anticipated interest payments on the principal.

The first friction in securitization is between the borrower and the originator. In particular,
subprime borrowers can be financially unsophisticated. For example, a borrower might be
unaware of all of the financial options available to him. Moreover, even if these options are
known, the borrower might be unable to make a choice between different financial options that
is in his own best interest. This friction leads to the possibility of predatory lending, defined by
Morgan (2005) as the welfare-reducing provision of credit. The main safeguards against these
practices are federal, state, and local laws prohibiting certain lending practices, as well as the
recent regulatory guidance on subprime lending. See Appendix 1 for further discussion of
these issues.

2.1.2. Frictions between the originator and the arranger: Predatory lending and
borrowing

The pool of mortgage loans is typically purchased from the originator by an institution known
as the arranger or issuer. The first responsibility of the arranger is to conduct due diligence on
the originator. This review includes but is not limited to financial statements, underwriting
guidelines, discussions with senior management, and background checks. The arranger is
responsible for bringing together all the elements for the deal to close. In particular, the
arranger creates a bankruptcy-remote trust that will purchase the mortgage loans, consults with
the credit rating agencies in order to finalize the details about deal structure, makes necessary
filings with the SEC, and underwrites the issuance of securities by the trust to investors. Table
3 documents the list of the top 10 subprime MBS issuers in 2006. In addition to institutions
which both originate and issue on their own, the list of issuers also includes investment banks
that purchase mortgages from originators and issue their own securities. The arranger is
typically compensated through fees charged to investors and through any premium that
investors pay on the issued securities over their par value.

The second friction in the process of securitization involves an information problem between
the originator and arranger. In particular, the originator has an information advantage over the
arranger with regard to the quality of the borrower. Without adequate safeguards in place, an
originator can have the incentive to collaborate with a borrower in order to make significant
misrepresentations on the loan application, which, depending on the situation, could be either
construed as predatory lending (the lender convinces the borrower to borrow “too much) or
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predatory borrowing (the borrower convinces the lender to lend “too much”). See Appendix 2
on predatory borrowing for further discussion.

There are several important checks designed to prevent mortgage fraud, the first being the due
diligence of the arranger. In addition, the originator typically makes a number of
representations and warranties (R&W) about the borrower and the underwriting process. When
these are violated, the originator generally must repurchase the problem loans. However, in
order for these promises to have a meaningful impact on the friction, the originator must have
adequate capital to buy back those problem loans. Moreover, when an arranger does not
conduct or routinely ignores its own due diligence, as suggested in a recent Reuters piece by
Rucker (1 Aug 2007), there is little to stop the originator from committing widespread
mortgage fraud.

2.1.3. Frictions between the arranger and third-parties: Adverse selection

There is an important information asymmetry between the arranger and third-parties
concerning the quality of mortgage loans. In particular, the fact that the arranger has more
information about the quality of the mortgage loans creates an adverse selection problem: the
arranger can securitize bad loans (the lemons) and keep the good ones (or securitize them
elsewhere). This third friction in the securitization of subprime loans affects the relationship
that the arranger has with the warehouse lender, the credit rating agency (CRA), and the asset
manager. We discuss how each of these parties responds to this classic lemons problem.

Adverse selection and the warehouse lender

The arranger is responsible for funding the mortgage loans until all of the details of the
securitization deal can be finalized. When the arranger is a depository institution, this can be
done easily with internal funds. However, mono-line arrangers typically require funding from
a third-party lender for loans kept in the “warehouse” until they can be sold. Since the lender is
uncertain about the value of the mortgage loans, it must take steps to protect itself against
overvaluing their worth as collateral. This is accomplished through due diligence by the lender,
haircuts to the value of collateral, and credit spreads. The use of haircuts to the value of
collateral imply that the bank loan is over-collateralized (o/c) — it might extend a $9 million
loan against collateral of $10 million of underlying mortgages —, forcing the arranger to assume
a funded equity position ~ in this case $1 million — in the loans while they remain on its balance
sheet.

We emphasize this friction because an adverse change in the warehouse lender’s views of the
value of the underlying loans can bring an originator to its knees. The failure of dozens of
mono-line originators in the first half of 2007 can be explained in large part by the inability of
these firms to respond to increased demands for collateral by warehouse lenders (Wei, 2007;
Sichelman, 2007).

Adverse selection and the asset manager

The pool of mortgage loans is sold by the arranger to a bankruptcy-remote trust, which is a
special-purpose vehicle that issues debt to investors. This trust is an essential component of
credit risk transfer, as it protects investors from bankruptcy of the originator or arranger.
Moreover, the sale of loans to the trust protects both the originator and arranger from losses on
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the mortgage loans, provided that there have been no breaches of representations and
warranties made by the originator.

The arranger underwrites the sale of securities secured by the pool of subprime mortgage loans
to an asset manager, who is an agent for the ultimate investor. However, the information
advantage of the arranger creates a standard lemons problem. This problem is mitigated by the
market through the following means: reputation of the arranger, the arranger providing a credit
enhancement to the securities with its own funding, and any due diligence conducted by the
portfolio manager on the arranger and originator.

Adverse selection and credit rating agencies

The rating agencies assign credit ratings on mortgage-backed securities issued by the trust.
These opinions about credit quality are determined using publicly available rating criteria
which map the characteristics of the pool of mortgage loans into an estimated loss distribution.
From this loss distribution, the rating agencies calculate the amount of credit enhancement that
a security requires in order for it to attain a given credit rating. The opinion of the rating
agencies is vulnerable to the lemons problem (the arranger likely still knows more) because
they only conduct limited due diligence on the arranger and originator.

2.1.4, Frictions between the servicer and the mortgagor: Moral hazard

The trust employs a servicer who is responsible for collection and remittance of loan payments,
making advances of unpaid interest by borrowers to the trust, accounting for principal and
interest, customer service to the mortgagors, holding escrow or impounding funds related to
payment of taxes and insurance, contacting delinquent borrowers, and supervising foreclosures
and property dispositions. The servicer is compensated through a periodic fee by paid the trust.
Table 4 documents the top 10 subprime servicers in 2006, which is a mix of depository
institutions and specialty non-depository mono-line servicing companies.

Moral hazard refers to changes in behavior in response to redistribution of risk, e.g., insurance
may induce risk-taking behavior if the insured does not bear the full consequences of bad
outcomes. Here we have a problem where one party (the mortgagor) has unobserved costly
effort that affects the distribution over cash flows which are shared with another party (the
servicer), and the first party has limited liability (it does not share in downside risk). In
managing delinquent loans, the servicer is faced with a standard moral hazard problem vis-a-vis
the mortgagor. When a servicer has the incentive to work in investors’ best interest, it will
manage delinquent loans in a fashion to minimize losses. A mortgagor struggling to make a
mortgage payment is also likely struggling to keep hazard insurance and property tax bills
current, as well as conduct adequate maintenance on the property. The failure to pay property
taxes could result in costly liens on the property that increase the costs to investors of
ultimately foreclosing on the property. The failure to pay hazard insurance premiums could
result in a lapse in coverage, exposing investors to the risk of significant loss. And the failure
to maintain the property will increase expenses to investors in marketing the property after
foreclosure and possibly reduce the sale price. The mortgagor has little incentive to expend
effort or resources to maintain a property close to foreclosure.
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In order to prevent these potential problems from surfacing, it is standard practice to require the
mortgagor to regularly escrow funds for both insurance and property taxes. When the borrower
fails to advance these funds, the servicer is typically required to make these payments on behalf
of the investor. In order to prevent lapses in maintenance from creating losses, the servicer is
encouraged to foreclose promptly on the property once it is deemed uncollectible. An
important constraint in resolving this latter issue is that the ability of a servicer to collecton a
delinquent debt is generally restricted under the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, Fair
Debt Collection Practices Act and state deceptive trade practices statutes. In a recent court
case, a plaintiff in Texas alleging unlawful collection activities against Ocwen Financial was
awarded $12.5 million in actual and punitive damages.

2.1.5. Frictions between the servicer and third-parties: Moral hazard

The servicer can have a significantly positive or negative effect on the losses realized from the
mortgage pool. Moody’s estimates that servicer quality can affect the realized level of losses
by plus or minus 10 percent. This impact of servicer quality on losses has important
implications for both investors and credit rating agencies. In particular, investors want to
minimize losses while credit rating agencies want to minimize the uncertainty about losses in
order to make accurate opinions. In each case articulated below we have a similar problem as
in the fourth friction, namely where one party (here the servicer) has unobserved costly effort
that affects the distribution over cash flows which are shared with other parties, and the first
party has limited liability (it does not share in downside risk).

Moral hazard between the servicer and the asset manager4

The servicing fee is a flat percentage of the outstanding principal balance of mortgage loans.
The servicer is paid first out of receipts each month before any funds are advanced to investors.
Since mortgage payments are generally received at the beginning of the month and investors
receive their distributions near the end of the month, the servicer benefits from being able to
earn interest on float.’

There are two key points of tension between investors and the servicer: (a) reasonable
reimbursable expenses, and (b) the decision to modify and foreclose. We discuss each of these
in turn.

In the event of a delinquency, the servicer must advance unpaid interest (and sometimes
principal) to the trust as long as it is deemed collectable, which typically means that the loan is
less than 90 days delinquent. In addition to advancing unpaid interest, the servicer must also
keep paying property taxes and insurance premiums as long as it has a mortgage on the
property. In the event of foreclosure, the servicer must pay all expenses out of pocket until the
property is liquidated, at which point it is reimbursed for advances and expenses. The servicer
has a natural incentive to inflate expenses, especially in good times when recovery rates on
foreclosed property are high.

* Several points raised in this section were first raised in a 20 February 2007 post on the blog
http://calculatedrisk blogspot.cony/ entitled “Mortgage Servicing for Ubemerds.”

* In addition to the monthly fee, the servicer generally gets to keep late fees. This can tempt a servicer o post
payments in a tardy fashion or not make collection calls until late fees are assessed.
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Note that the un-reimbursable expenses of the servicer are largely fixed and front-loaded:
registering the loan in the servicing system, getting the initial notices out, doing the initial
escrow analysis and tax setups, etc. At the same time, the income of the servicer is increasing
in the amount of time that the loan is serviced. It follows that the servicer would prefer to keep
the loan on its books for as long as possible. This means it has a strong preference to modify
the terms of a delinquent loan and to delay foreclosure.

Resolving each of these problems involves a delicate balance. On the one hand, one can put
hard rules into the pooling and servicing agreement limiting loan modifications, and an investor
can invest effort into actively monitoring the servicer’s expenses. On the other hand, the
investor wants to give the servicer flexibility to act in the investor’s best interest and does not
want to incur too much expense in monitoring. This latter point is especially true since other
investors will free-ride off of any one investor’s effort. It is not surprising that the credit rating
agencies play an important role in resolving this collective action problem through servicer
quality ratings.

In addition to monitoring effort by investors, servicer quality ratings, and rules about loan
modifications, there are two other important ways to mitigate this friction: servicer reputation
and the master servicer. As the servicing business is an important counter-cyclical source of
income for banks, one would think that these institutions would work hard on their own to
minimize this friction. The master servicer is responsible for monitoring the performance of
the servicer under the pooling and servicing agreement. It validates data reported by the
servicer, reviews the servicing of defaulted loans, and enforces remedies of servicer default on
behalf of the trust.

Moral hazard between the servicer and the credit rating agency

Given the impact of servicer quality on losses, the accuracy of the credit rating placed on
securities issued by the trust is vulnerable to the use of a low quality servicer. In order to
minimize the impact of this friction, the rating agencies conduct due diligence on the servicer,
use the results of this analysis in the rating of mortgage-backed securities, and release their
findings to the public for use by investors.

Servicer quality ratings are intended to be an unbiased benchmark of a loan servicer’s ability to
prevent or mitigate pool losses across changing market conditions. This evaluation includes an
assessment of collections/customer service, loss mitigation, foreclosure timeline management,
management, staffing & training, financial stability, technology and disaster recovery, legal
compliance and oversight and financial strength. In constructing these quality ratings, the
rating agency attempts to break out the actual historical loss experience of the servicer into an
amount attributable to the underlying credit risk of the loans and an amount attributable to the
servicer’s collection and default management ability.

2.1.6. Frictions between the asset manager and investor: Principal-agent

The investor provides the funding for the purchase of the mortgage-backed security. As the
investor is typically financially unsophisticated, an agent is employed to formulate an
investment strategy, conduct due diligence on potential investments, and find the best price for
trades. Given differences in the degree of financial sophistication between the investor and an
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asset manager, there is an obvious information problem between the investor and portfolio
manger that gives rise to the sixth friction.

In particular, the investor will not fully understand the investment strategy of the manager, has
uncertainty about the manager’s ability, and does not observe any effort that the manager
makes to conduct due diligence. This principal (investor)-agent (manager) problem is
mitigated through the use of investment mandates, and the evaluation of manager performance
relative to a peer benchmark or its peers.

As one example, a public pension might restrict the investments of an asset manager to debt
securities with an investment grade credit rating and evaluate the performance of an asset
manager relative to a benchmark index. However, there are other relevant examples. The
FDIC, which is an implicit investor in commercial banks through the provision of deposit
insurance, prevents insured banks from investing in speculative-grade securities or enforces
risk-based capital requirements that use credit ratings to assess risk-weights. An actively-
managed collateralized debt obligation (CDO) imposes covenants on the weighted average
rating of securities in an actively-managed portfolio as well as the fraction of securities with a
low credit rating.

As investment mandates typically involve credit ratings, it should be clear that this is another
point where the credit rating agencies play an important role in the securitization process. By
presenting an opinion on the riskiness of offered securities, the rating agencies help resolve the
information frictions that exist between the investor and the portfolio manager. Credit ratings
are intended to capture the expectations about the fong-run or through-the-cycle performance of
a debt security. A credit rating is fundamentally a statement about the suitability of an
instrument to be included in a risk class, but importantly, it is an opinion only about credit risk;
we discuss credit ratings in more detail in Section 5.1. It follows that the opinion of credit
rating agencies is a crucial part of securitization, because in the end the rating is the means
through which much of the funding by investors finds its way into the deal.

2.1.7. Frictions between the investor and the credit rating agencies: Model error

The rating agencies are paid by the arranger and not investors for their opinion, which creates a
potential conflict of interest. Since an investor is not able to assess the efficacy of rating
agency models, they are susceptible to both honest and dishonest errors on the agencies’ part.
The information asymmetry between investors and the credit rating agencies is the seventh and
final friction in the securitization process. Honest errors are a natural byproduct of rapid
financial innovation and complexity. On the other hand, dishonest errors could be driven by
the dependence of rating agencies on fees paid by the arranger (the conflict of interest).

Some crities claim that the rating agencies are unable to objectively rate structured products
due to conflicts of interest created by issuer-paid fees. Moody’s, for example, made 44 per cent
of its revenue last year from structured finance deals (Tomlinson and Evans, 2007). Such
assessments also command more than double the fee rates of simpler corporate ratings, helping
keep Moody’s operating margins above 50 per cent (Economist, 2007).

Beales, Scholtes and Tett (15 May 2007) write in the Financial Times:

10
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‘The potential for conflicts of interest in the agencies’ “issuer pays” model has drawn fire before, but the scale of
their dependence on inv banks for structured finance business gives them a significant incentive to look
kindly on the products they are rating, critics say. From his office in Paris, the head of the Autorité des Marchés
Financiers, the main French financial regulator, is raising fresh questions over their role and objectivity. Mr Prada
sees the possibility for conflicts of interest similar to those that emerged in the audit profession when it drifted into
consulting. Here, the integrity of the auditing work was thr d by the d ds of winning and retaining clients
in the more lucrative consultancy business, a conflict that ultimately helped bring down accountants Arthur
Andersen in the wake of Enron’s collapse. “I do hope that it does not take another Enron for everyone to look at
the issue of rating agencies,” he says.

This friction is minimized through two devices: the reputation of the rating agencies and the
public disclosure of ratings and downgrade criteria. For the rating agencies, their business is
their reputation, so it is difficult — though not impossible — to imagine that they would risk
deliberately inflating credit ratings in order to earn structuring fees, thus jeopardizing their
franchise. Moreover, with public rating and downgrade criteria, any deviations in credit ratings
from their models are easily observed by the public.®

2.2. Five frictions that caused the subprime crisis

We believe that five of the seven frictions discussed above help to explain the breakdown in the
subprime mortgage market.

The problem starts with friction #1: many products offered to sub-prime borrowers are very
complex and subject to mis-understanding and/or mis-representation. This opened the
possibility of both excessive borrowing (predatory borrowing) and excessive lending (predatory
lending.

At the other end of the process we have the principal-agent problem between the investor and
asset manager (friction #6). In particular, it seems that investment mandates do not adequately
distinguish between structured and corporate credit ratings. This is a problem because asset
manager performance is evaluated relative to peers or relative to a benchmark index. It follows
that asset managers have an incentive to reach for yield by purchasing structured debt issues
with the same credit rating but higher coupons as corporate debt issues.’

Initially, this portfolio shift was likely led by asset managers with the ability to conduct their
own due diligence, recognizing value in the wide pricing of subprime mortgage-backed
securities. However, once the other asset managers started to under-perform their peers, they
likely made similar portfolio shifts, but did not invest the same effort into due diligence of the
arranger and originator,

This phenomenon worsened the friction between the arranger and the asset manager (friction
#3). In particular, without due diligence by the asset manager, the arranger’s incentives to
conduct its own due diligence are reduced. Moreover, as the market for credit derivatives

€ We think that there are two ways these errors could emerge. One, the rating agency builds its model honestly,
but then applies judgment in a fashion consistent with its economic interest. The average deal is structured
appropriately, but the agency gives certain issuers better terms. Two, the model itself is knowingly aggressive.
The average deal is structured inadequately.

7 The fact that the market demands a higher yield for similarly rated structured products than for straight corporate
bonds ought to provide a clue fo the potential of higher risk.
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developed, including but not limited to the ABX, the arranger was able to limit its funded
exposure to securitizations of risky loans. Together, these considerations worsened the friction
between the originator and arranger, opening the door for predatory borrowing and provides
incentives for predatory lending (friction #2). In the end, the only constraint on underwriting
standards was the opinion of the rating agencies. With limited capital backing representations
and warranties, an originator could easily arbitrage rating agency models, exploiting the weak
historical relationship between aggressive underwriting and losses in the data used to calibrate
required credit enhancement.

The inability of the rating agencies to recognize this arbitrage by originators and respond
appropriately meant that credit ratings were assigned to subprime mortgage-backed securities
with significant error. The friction between investors and the rating agencies is the final nail in
the coffin (friction #7). Even though the rating agencies publicly disclosed their rating criteria
for subprime, investors lacked the ability to evaluate the efficacy of these models.

While we have identified seven frictions in the mortgage securitization process, there are
mechanisms in place to mitigate or even resolve each of these frictions, including for example
anti-predatory lending laws and regulations. As we have seen, some of these mechanisms have
failed to deliver as promised. Is it hard to fix this process? We believe not, and we think the
solution might start with investment mandates. Investors should realize the incentives of asset
managers to push for yield. Investments in structured products should be compared to a
benchmark index of investments in the same asset class. When investors or asset managers are
forced to conduct their own due diligence in order to outperform the index, the incentives of the
arranger and originator are restored. Moreover, investors should demand that either the
arranger or originator — or even both — retain the first-loss or equity tranche of every
securitization, and disclose all hedges of this position. At the end of the production chain,
originators need to be adequately capitalized so that their representations and warranties have
value. Finally, the rating agencies could evaluate originators with the same rigor that they
evaluate servicers, including perhaps the designation of originator ratings.

It is not clear to us that any of these solutions require additional regulation, and note that the
market is already taking steps in the right direction. For example, the credit rating agencies
have already responded with greater transparency and have announced significant changes in
the rating process. In addition, the demand for structured credit products generally and
subprime mortgage securitizations in particular has declined significantly as investors have
started to re-assess their own views of the risk in these products. Along these lines, it may be
advisable for policymakers to give the market a chance to self-correct.
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3. An overview of subprime mortgage credit

In this section, we shed some light on the subprime mortgagor, work through the details of a
typical subprime mortgage loan, and review the historical performance of subprime mortgage
credit.

The motivating example

In order to keep the discussion from becoming too abstract, we find it useful to frame many of
these issues in the context of a real-life example which will be used throughout the paper. In
particular, we focus on a securitization of 3,949 subprime loans with aggregate principal
balance of $881 million originated by New Century Financial in the second quarter of 2006.5

Our view is that this particular securitization is interesting because illustrates how typical
subprime loans from what proved to be the worst-performing vintage came to be originated,
structured, and ultimately sold to investors. In each of the years 2004 to 2006, New Century
Financial was the second largest subprime lender, originating $51.6 billion in mortgage loans
during 2006 (Inside Mortgage Finance, 2007). Volume grew at a compound annual growth rate
of 59% between 2000 and 2004. The backbone of this growth was an automated internet-based
loan submission and pre-approval system called FastQual. The performance of New Century
loans closely tracked that of the industry through the 2005 vintage (Moody's, 2005b).
However, the company struggled with early payment defaults in early 2007, failed to meet a
call for more collateral on its warehouse lines of credit on 2 March 2007 and ultimately filed
for bankruptcy protection on 2 April 2007. The junior tranches of this securitization were part
of the historical downgrade action by the rating agencies during the week of 9 July 2007 that
affected almost half of first-lien home equity ABS deals issued in 2006.

As illustrated in Figure 2, these loans were initially purchased by a subsidiary of Goldman
Sachs, who in turn sold the loans to a bankruptcy-remote special purpose vehicle named
GSAMP TRUST 2006-NC2. The trust funded the purchase of these loans through the issue of
asset-backed securities, which required the filing of a prospectus with the SEC detailing the
transaction. New Century serviced the loans initially, but upon creation of the trust, this
business was transferred to Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC in August 2006, who receives a fee of
50 basis points (or $4.4 million) per year on a monthly basis. The master servicer and
securities administrator is Wells Fargo, who receives a fee of 1 basis point (or $881K) per year
on a monthly basis. The prospectus includes a list of 26 reps and warranties made by the
originator. Some of the items include: the absence of any delinquencies or defaults in the pool;
compliance of the mortgages with federal, state, and local laws; the presence of title and hazard
insurance; disclosure of fees and points to the borrower; statement that the lender did not
encourage or require the borrower to select a higher cost loan product intended for less
creditworthy borrowers when they qualified for a more standard loan product.

¥ The details of this transaction are taken from the prospectus filed with the SEC and with monthly remittance
reports filed with the Trustee. The former is available on-line using the Edgar database at

htp:/fwww.sec gov/edgar/searchedgar/corapanysecarch.html with the company name GSAMP Trust 2006-NC2
while the latter is available with free registration from htip://www.absnet.net/,
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Key Institutions Surrounding GSAMP Trust 2006-NC2

New Century Financial
Originator
Initial Servicer

|

Goldman Sachs
Arranger
Swap Counterparty

|

GSAMP Trust 2006-NC2
Bankruptcy-remote trust
Issuing entity

Source: Prospeetus filed with the SEC of GSAMP 2006-NC2

3.1. Who is the subprime mortgagor?

The 2001 Interagency Expanded Guidance for Subprime Lending Programs defines the
subprime borrower as one who generally displays a range of credit risk characteristics,

including one or more of the following:

¢ Two or more 30-day delinquencies in the last 12 months, or one or more 60-day
delinquencies in the last 24 months;

Moody’s, S&P
Credit Rating Agencies

Ocwen
Servicer

Wells Fargo
Master Servicer
Securities Administrator

Deutche Bank
Trustee

¢ Judgment, foreclosure, repossession, or charge-off in the prior 24 months;
o Bankruptcy in the last 5 years;

o Relatively high default probability as evidenced by, for example, a credit bureau risk

score {FICO) of 660 or below (depending on the product/collateral), or other bureau or
proprietary scores with an equivalent default probability likelihood; and/or,

¢ Debt service-to-income ratio of 50 percent or greater; or, otherwise limited ability to
cover family living expenses after deducting total debt-service requirements from

monthly income.

The motivating example

The pool of mortgage loans used as collateral in the New Century securitization can be

summarized as follows:

*  98.7% of the mortgage loans are first-lien. The rest are second-lien home equity loans.
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» 43.3% are purchase loans, meaning that the mortgagor’s stated purpose for the loan was
to purchase a property. The remaining loans’ stated purpose are cash-out refinance of
existing mortgage loans.

¢ 90.7% of the mortgagors claim to occupy the property as their primary residence. The
remaining mortgagors claim to be investors or purchasing second homes.

s 73.4% of the mortgaged properties are single-family homes. The remaining properties
are split between multi-family dwellings or condos.

o 38.0% and 10.5% are secured by residences in California and Florida, respectively, the
two dominant states in this securitization.

¢ The average borrower in the pool has a FICO score of 626. Note that 31.4% have a
FICO score below 600, 51.9% between 600 and 660, and 16.7% above 660.

¢ The combined loan-to value ratio is sum of the original principal balance of alf loans
secured by the property to its appraised value. The average mortgage loan in the pool
has a CLTV of 80.34%. However, 62.1% have a CLTV of 80% or lower, 28.6%
between 80% and 90%, and 9.3% between 90% and 100%.

o The ratio of total debt service of the borrower (including the mortgage, property taxes
and insurance, and other monthly debt payments) to gross income (income before taxes)
is 41.78%.

It is worth pausing here to make a few observations. First, the stated purpose of the majority of
these loans is not to purchase a home, but rather to refinance an existing mortgage loan.
Second, 90 percent of the borrowers in this portfolio have at least 10 percent equity in their
homes. Third, while it might be surprising to find borrowers with a FICO score above 660 in
the pool, these loans are much more aggressively underwritten than the loans to the lower
FICO-score borrowers. In particular, while not reported in the figures above, loans to
borrowers with high FICO scores tend to be much larger, have a higher CLTV, are less likely
to use full-documentation, and are less likely to be owner-occupied. The combination of good
credit with aggressive underwriting suggests that many of these borrowers could be investors
looking to take advantage of rapid home price appreciation in order to re-sell houses for profit.
Finally, while the average loan size in the pool is $223,221, much of the aggregate principal
balance of the pool is made up of large loans. In particular, 24% of the total number of loans
are in excess of $300,000 and make up about 45% of the principal balance of the pool.

Industry trends

Table 5 documents average borrower characteristics for loans contained in Alt-A and Subprime
MBS pools in panel (a) and (b), respectively, broken out by year of origination. The most
dramatic difference between the two panels is the credit score, as the average Alt-A borrower
has a FICO score that is 85 points higher than the average Subprime borrower in 2006 (703
versus 623). Subprime borrowers typically have a higher CLTV, but are more likely to
document income and are less likely to purchase a home. Alt-A borrowers are more likely to
be investors and are more likely to have silent 2™ liens on the property. Together, these
summary statistics suggest that the example securitization discussed seems to be representative
of the industry, at least with respect to stated borrower characteristics.

The industry data is also useful to better understand trends in the subprime market that one
would not observe by focusing on one deal from 2006. In particular, the CLTV of a subprime
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foan has been increasing since 1999, as has the fraction of loans with silent second liens. A
silent second is a second mortgage that was not disclosed to the first mortgage lender at the
time of origination. Moreover, the table illustrates that borrowers have become less likely to
document their income over time, and that the fraction of borrowers using the loan to purchase
a property has increased significantly since the start of the decade. Together, these data suggest
that the average subprime borrower has become significantly more risky in the last two years.

Table 5: Underwriting Characteristics of Loans in MBS Pools

A Loans

80.6 16.4 457 29 47.9 708 389
B. Subprime Loans
78.8 68.7 30.1 53 28.7 603 0.5
79.5 73.4 36.2 5.5 25.4 596 13
80.3 715 313 33 210 605 28
80.7 65.9 299 54 20.3 614 29
824 63.9 30.2 56 23.2 624 3
839 62.2 35.7 5.8 24.6 624 158
85.3 583 40.5 55 26.8 627 24.6
85.5 57.7 42.1 8.8 289 623 27.3

All entries are in percentage points except FICO,
Source: LoanPerformance (2007)

3.2. What is a subprime loan?

The motivating example

Table 6 documents that only 8.98% of the loans by dollar-value in the New Century pool are
traditional 30-year fixed-rate mortgages (FRMs). The pool also includes a small fraction —
2.81% -- of fixed-rate mortgages which amortize over 40 years, but mature in 30 years, and
consequently have a balloon payment after 30 years. Note that 88.2% of the mortgage loans by
dollar value are adjustable-rate loans (ARMs), and that each of these loans is a variation on the
2/28 and 3/27 hybrid ARM. These loans are known as hybrids because they have both fixed-
and adjustable-rate features to them. In particular, the initial monthly payment is based on a
“teaser” interest rate that is fixed for the first two (for the 2/28) or three (for the 3/27) vears,
and is lower than what a borrower would pay for a 30-year fixed rate mortgage (FRM). The
table documents that the average initial interest rate for a vanilla 2/28 loan in the first row is
8.64%. However, after this initial period, the monthly payment is based on a higher interest
rate, equal to the value of an interest rate index (i.e. 6-month LIBOR) measured at the time of
adjustment, plus a margin that is fixed for the life of the loan. Focusing again on the first 2/28,
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the margin is 6.22% and LIBOR at the time of origination is 5.31%. This interest rate is
updated every six months for the life of the loan, and is subject to limits called adjustment caps
on the amount that it can increase: the cap on the first adjustment is called the initial cap; the
cap on each subsequent adjustment is called the period cap; the cap on the interest rate over the
life of the loan is called the lifetime cap; and the floor on the interest rate is called the floor. In
our example of a simple 2/28 ARM, these caps are equal to 1.49%, 1.50%, 15.62%, and 8.62%
for the average loan. More than half of the dollar value of the loans in this pool are a 2/28
ARM with a 40-year amortization schedule in order to calculate monthly payments. A
substantial fraction are a 2/28 ARM with a five-year interest-only option. This loan permits the
borrower to only pay interest for the first sixty months of the loan, but then must make
payments in order to repay the loan in the final 25 years. While not noted in the table, the
prospectus indicates that none of the mortgage loans carry mortgage insurance. Moreover,
approximately 72.5% of the loans include prepayment penalties which expire after one to three
years.

These ARMs are rather complex financial instruments with payout features often found in
interest rate derivatives. In contrast to a FRM, the mortgagor retains most of the interest rate
risk, subject to a collar (a floor and a cap). Note that most mortgagors are not in a position to
easily hedge away this interest rate risk.

Table 7 illustrates the monthly payment across loan type, using the average terms for each loan
type, a principal balance of $225,000, and making the assumption that six-month LIBOR
remains constant. The payment for the 30-year mortgage amortized over 40 years is lower due
to the longer amortization period and a lower average interest rate. The latter loan is more
risky from a lender’s point of view because the borrower’s equity builds more slowly and the
borrower will likely have to refinance after 30 years or have cash equal to 84 monthly
payments. The monthly payment for the 2/28 ARM is documented in the third column. When
the index interest rate remains constant, the payment increases by 14% in the month 25 at
initial adjustment and by another 12% in month 31. When amortized over 40 years, as in the
fourth column, the payment shock is more severe as the loan balance is much higher in every
month compared to the 30-year amortization. In particular, the payment increases by 18% in
month 25 and another 14% in month 31. However, when the 2/28 is combined with an interest-
only option, the payment shock is even more severe since the principal balance does not decline
at all over time when the borrower makes the minimum monthly payment. In this case, the
payment increases by 19% in month 23, another 26% in month 31, and another 11% in month
61 when the interest-only option expires. The 3/27 ARMs exhibit similar patterns in monthly
payments over time.

In order to better understand the severity of payment shock, Table 8 illustrates the impact of
changes in the mortgage payment on the ratio of debt (service) to gross income. The table is
constructed under the assumption that the borrower has no other debt than mortgage debt, and
imposes an initial debt-to-income ratio of 40 percent, similar to that found in the mortgage
pool. The third column documents that the debt-to-income ratio increases in month 31 to
50.45% for the simple 2/28 ARM, to 52.86% for the 2/28 ARM amortized over 40 years, and to
58.14% for the 2/28 ARM with an interest-only option. Without significant income growth
over the first two years of the loan, it seems reasonable to expect that borrowers will struggle to
make these higher payments. It begs the question why such a loan was made in the first place.

17
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The likely answer is that lenders expected that the borrower would be able to refinance before
payment reset.

Industry trends

Table 9 documents the average terms of loans securitized in the Alt-A and subprime markets
over the last eight years. Subprime loans are more likely than Alt-A loans to be ARMs, and are
largely dominated by the 2/28 and 3/27 hybrid ARMs. Subprime loans are less likely to have
an interest-only option or permit negative amortization (i.e. option ARM), but are more likely
to have a 40-year amortization instead of a 30-year amortization. The table also documents that
hybrid ARMSs have become more important over time for both Ali-A and subprime borrowers,
as have interest only options and the 40-year amortization term. In the end, the mortgage pool
referenced in our motivating example does not appear to be very different from the average
loan securitized by the industry in 2006.

The immediate concern from the industry data is obviously the widespread dependency of
subprime borrowers on what amounts to short-term funding, leaving them vulnerable to
adverse shifts in the supply of subprime credit. Figure 3 documents the timing ARM resets
over the next six years, as of January 2007. Given the dominance of the 2/28 ARM, it should
not be surprising that the majority of loans that will be resetting over the next two years are
subprime loans. The main source of uncertainty about the future performance of these loans is
driven by uncertainty over the ability of these borrowers to refinance. This uncertainty has
been highlighted by rapidly changing attitudes of investors towards subprime loans {(see the box
below on the ABX for the details). Regulators have released guidance on subprime loans that
forces a lender to qualify a borrower on a fully-indexed and ~amortizing interest rate and
discourages the use of state-income loans. Moreover, recent changes in structuring criteria by
the rating agencies have prompted several subprime lenders to stop originating hybrid ARMs,
Finally, activity in the housing market has slowed down considerably, as the median price of
existing homes has declined for the first time in decades while historical levels of inventory and
vacant homes.

Table 6: Loan Type in the GSAMP 2006-NC2 Mortgage Loan Pool

e
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Source: SEC filings, Author’s caleulations
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Table 7: Monthly Payment Across Mortgage Loan Type

1,566.1 .

100 1.60 1.00 1.00 100

1.00 114 118 1.00 1.00

100 114 118 1,00 1.00

100 126 132 1.00 1.00

1.00 1,26 132 1.00 1.00

1.00 196 .32 113 118

1.00 1.26 1.32 143777 48

1,00 1.28 1.32 1.27 1.34

1,00 1.26 132 1.27 1,34

100 1.286 132 1.27 143

1.00 B 1.32 127 1.43

1.00 1,26 1,32 127 143
1.00 1.26 1.32 1.27 143

. 8381 126 100.72 1.56 T 105,60
30 years 40ysars . 30 years 40 years 30years | 30 years 40 years

Nate: The first line documents the average initial monthly payment for each loan type. 'The subsequent rows document the ratio of the future
to the initial monthly payment under an assumption that LIBOR remains at $,31% through the life of the loan.
Sewrce: SEC filing, Author™s Caleulations

Table 8: Ratio of Debt to Income Across Morigage Loan Type

40.00% 40.00% ) 40.00% 40.00%

40.00% 40.00% 40.00% 40.00% 40,00% 40.00%

40.00% 45.46% 47.28% 47.44% 40.00%

40.00% 45,46% 47.28% | a7.44% 40.00%

40.00% 50.35% | 5286% 56.14% 40.00%

40.00% 3 50.35% 52.86% 58.44% | 4000% |
TA000% T 40.00% 50.48% 5286% | s814% 45.36%

40.00% 40.00% 50 45% 52.86% 58.14% 45.36%

40.00% 40.00% 50.45% 52 86% 58.14% 50.83% 53, :

40.00% 40.00% 50.45% 52.86% 58.14% 50.83% 5353%

40.00% 40.00% 50.45% 52.86% 58.14% 50.83% 87.08%
40.00% | aD00% | 50.48% 52.86% 58.14% | 50.83% 57.08%

40.00% 40.00% 50.45% | 52.86% | 6220% | 5083% | 57.08%

4000% | 40.00% | 50.458% | 52.86% 6226% | 5083% 57.08%

40.00% 3352.60% 50.45% 4028,84% £2.29% 50.83% 4223,92%
30 years 40 years 30 years 40 years 30 years 30 years 40 years

Note: The table documents the path of the debt-to-income tatio over the life of each loan type under an assumption that LIBOR remains at
5.31% through the life of the loan. The calculation assumes that all debt is mortgage debt
Source: SEC filing, Author’s Caleulations
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Table 9: Terms of Mortgage Loans in MBS Pools

B. Subprime

51.0 31.0 16.2 0.6 4.1 0.0 0.0
64.5 45.5 16.6 0.6 0.0 0.1 0.0
66.0 52,1 12.4 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0
71.6 574 121 1.4 0.7 0.0 0.0
67.2 54.5 10.6 1.5 3.6 0.0 0.0
78.0 61.3 14,7 1.6 15.3 0.0 0.0
83.5 66.7 13.3 1.5 277 0.0 5.0

{4 81.7 68.7 10.0 2.5 18.1 0.0 26.9
urce: LoanPerformance (2007)

Figure 3: ARM reset schedule
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The impact of payment reset on foreclosure

The most important issue facing the sub-prime credit market is obviously the impact of
payment reset on the ability of borrowers to continue making monthly payments. Given that
over three-fourths of the subprime-loans underwritten over 2004 to 2006 were hybrid ARMS, it
is not difficult to understand the magnitude of the problem. But what is the likely outcome?
The answer depends on a number of factors, including but not limited to: the amount of equity
that these borrowers have in their homes at the time of reset (which itself is a function of CLTV
at origination and the severity of the decline in home prices), the severity of payment reset
{which depends not only on the loan but also on the six-month LIBOR interest rate), and of
course conditions in the labor market.

A recent study by Cagan (2007) of mortgage payment reset tries to estimate what fraction of
resetting foans will end up in foreclosure. The author presents evidence suggesting that in an
environment of zero home price appreciation and full employment, 12 percent of subprime
foans will default due to reset. We review the key elements of this analysis.”

Table 10 documents the amount of loans issued over 2004-2006 that were still outstanding as
of March 2007, broken out by initial interest rate group and payment reset size group. The data
includes all outstanding securitized mortgage loans with a future payment reset date. Each row
corresponds to a different initial interest rate bucket: RED corresponding to loans with initial
rates between 1 and 3.9 percent; YELLOW corresponding to an initial interest rate of 4.0 to
6.49 percent; and ORANGE with an initial interest rate of 6.5 to 12 percent. Subprime loans
can be easily identified by the high original interest rate in the third row {ORANGE). Each
column corresponds to a different payment reset size group under an assumption of no change
in the 6-month LIBOR interest rate: A to payments which increase between 0 and 25 percent; B
to payments which increase between 26 and 50 percent; C to payments which increase between
51 and 99 percent; and D to payments which increase by at least 100 percent. Note that almost
all of subprime payment reset is in either the 0-25% or the 26-50% groups, with a little more
than $300 billion in loans sitting in each group. There is a clear correlation in the table
between the initial interest rate and the average size of the payment reset. The most severe
payment resets appear to be the problem of Alt-A and Jumbo borrowers.

Table 10: Distribution of Loans by First Reset Size

$0
$545 3477
$366 $316 349 $631
3811 $793 $212 $2,276

Seurce./Cégalx (2007); data refer to m ARMs originated 2004-2006.
Cagan helpfully provides estimates of the distribution of updated equity across the initial
interest rate group in Table 11. The author uses an automated appraisal system in order to
estimate the value of each property, and then constructs an updated value of the equity for each

° The author is a PhD economist at First American, a credit union which owns LoanPerformance.



148

borrower. The table reports the cumulative distribution of equity for each initial interest rate
bucket reported in the table above. Note that 22.4 percent of subprime borrowers (ORANGE}
are estimated to have no equity in their homes, about half have no more than 10 percent, and
two-thirds have less than 20 percent. Disturbingly, the table suggests that a national price
decline of 10 percent could put half of all subprime borrowers underwater.

Table 11: Cumulative distribution of equity by initial interest rate

In order to transform this raw data into estimates of foreclosure due to reset, the author makes
assumptions in Table 12 about the amount of equity or the size of payment reset and the
probability of foreclosures.'® A borcower will only default given difficulty with payment reset
and difficulty in refinancing. For example, 70% of borrowers with equity between -5% and 5%
are assumed to face difficulty refinancing, while only 30% of borrowers with equity between
15% and 25% have difficulty, At the same time, the author assumes that only 10 percent of
borrowers with payment reset 0-25% will face difficulty with the higher payment, while 70
percent with a payment reset of 51-99% will be unable to make the higher payment.

Table 12: Assumed probability of default by reset size and equity risk group

Pr(difficuity)
10%
30%
50%
70%
9%

Source: Cagan (2007).

Estimates of foreclosure due to reset in an environment of constant home prices are
documented in Table 13. The author estimates that foreclosures due to reset will be 3.5%
(=106.2/3033.1) for the 0-25% reset group and 13.5% (= 446.4/3282.8) for the 26-50% group.

'* The author offers no rationale for these figures, but the analysis here should be transparent enough that one
could use different inputs to construct their own alternative scenarios.
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Given the greater equity risk of subprime mortgages documented in Table 11, a back-of-the-
envelope calculation suggests that these numbers would be 4.5% and 18.6% for subprime
mortgages.

3033.1

106.2
3282.8 446.4
839.2 182.1
1,216.7 438.0
8,371.9 1,172.7
| | Percent foreclosures 14.0%

Souree: Cagan (2007).

The author also investigates a scenario where home prices fall by 10 percent in Table 14, and
estimates foreclosures due to reset for the two payment reset size groups to be 5.5% and 21.6%,
respectively. Note that the revised July 2007 economic forecast for Moody’s called for this
exact scenario by the end of 2008.

Table 14: Summary of foreclosure estimates under 10% national home price decline

5.5% 3033.1 166.8

40% 54% 21.6% 32828 709.1
70% 51% 35.7% 839.2 299.6
100% 6% 36.0% 1,216.7 6813
Total 83719 1856.8
Percent forgclosures 22.2%

Seurce: Cagan (2007).

Market conditions have deteriorated dramatically since this study was published, as the
origination of both sub-prime and Alt-A mortgage loans has all but disappeared, making the
author’s assumptions about equity risk even in the stress scenario for home prices look
optimistic. Moreover, the authot’s original assumption that reset risk is constant across the
credit spectrum is likely to be optimistic. In particular, sub-prime borrowers are less likely to
be able to handle payment reset, resulting with estimates of foreclosures that are quite modest
relative to those in the research reports of investment banks.

3.3. How have subprime loans performed?

Motivating example

Table 15 documents how the GSAMP 2006-NC2 deal has performed through August 2007,
The first three columns report mortgage loans still in the pool that are 30-days, 60-days, and
90-days past due. The fourth column reports loans that are in foreclosure. The fifth column
reports loans where the bank has title to the property. The sixth column reports actual
cunmuative losses. The last column documents the fraction of original loans that remain in the
pool.
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Table 15: Performance of GSAMP 2006-NC2

day. | B0 Y
6.32% 3.36% 1.70% 7.50% 0.80% 3.66% 6.25% 20.35% | 70.48%
5177% 347% 131% 731% 1.03% 5% 0.40% 20.77%
5.61% 309% | 1.48% 692% 1 070% 2.63% 0.10% 35.26%
4.91% 3.34% 1.38% 6.48% T0.78% 1.83% 0,08% 19.18% | 77.26%
i68% 338% 1.18% 8.77% 0.50% 6.73% 6.04% 1EYI% T T8e8%
4.74% 277% 1.42% 8.76% 6.38% 0.31% 0.02% 15.03% " 084%
e 479% 2.59% 0.65% 6.60% 0.37% 0.03% 0.00% 23.08% | 81.29%
[ Jngr | 458% 2.85% 0.88% 5.04% 0.36% 0.00% 0.00% 28.54% | 83.18%

orce: ABSNet

What do these numbers imply for the expected performance of the mortgage pool. UBS (June
2007) outlines an approach to use actual deal performance in order to estimate lifetime losses.
Using historical data on loans in an environment of low home price appreciation (less than 5
percent), the author documents that approximately 70 percent of loans in the 60-day, 90-day,
and bankruptcy categories eventually default, defined as the event of foreclosure. Interestingly,
only about 60-70 percent of loans in bankruptey are actually delinquent. Moreover, these
transitions into foreclosure take about 4 months.

The amount of default “in the pipeline” for remaining loans in the next four months is
constructed as follows:

Pipeline default = 0.7 x (60-day + 90-day + bankruptcy)
+ (foreclosure + real-estate owned)

For GSAMP 2006-NC?2, the pipeline default from the August report is 15.45%, suggesting that
this fraction of loans remaining in the pool are likely to default in the next four months.

Total default is constructed by combining this measure with the fraction of loans remaining in
the pool, actual cumulative losses to date, and an assumption about the severity of loss. In the
UBS study, the author assumes a loss given default of 37%.

Total default = pipeline default x (fraction of loans remaining) + (Cum loss)/(loss severity)

For the GSAMP 2006-NC2, this number is 11.88%, which suggests that this fraction of the
original pool will have defaulted in four months.

Finally, the paper uses historical data in order to estimate the fraction of total defaults over the
life of deal. In particular, a mapping is constructed between weighted-average loan age and the
fraction of lifetime default that a deal typically realizes. For example, the typical deal realizes
33% of its defaults by month 13, 59% by month 23, 75% by month 35, and 100% by month 60.

Projected cumulative default = Total default/Default timing factor
The New Century pool was originated in May 2006, implying that the average loan is about 16

months old at the end of August 2007, The default timing factor for 20 months, which must be
used since defaults were predicted through four months in the future, is 51.2%, suggesting that
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projected cumulative default on this mortgage pool is 23.19%. Using a loss severity of 37%
results in expected lifetime loss on this mortgage pool of 8.58%.

There are several potential weaknesses of this approach, the foremost being the fact that it is
backward-looking and essentially ignores the elephant in the room, payment reset. In
particular, in the fact of payment reset, losses are likely to be more back-loaded than the
historical curve used above, implying the fraction of lifetime losses which have been observed
to date is likely to be too small, resulting in lifetime loss estimates which are too low. In order
to address this problem, UBS (23 October 2007) has developed a shut-down model to take into
account the inability of borrowers to refinance their way out of payment resets. In that article,
the authors estimate the lower prepayment speeds associate with refinancing stress will increase
losses by an average of 50 percent. Moreover, the authors also speculate that loss severities
will be higher than the 37 percent used above, and incorporate an assumption of 45 percent.
Together, these assumptions imply that a more conservative view on losses would be to scale
those from the loss projection model above by a factor of two, implying a lifetime loss rate of
17.16% on the example pool.

Industry

UBS (June 2007) applies this methodology to home equity ABS deals that constitute three
vintages of the ABX: 06-1, 06-2, and 07-1. In order to understand the jargon, note that deals in
06-1 refer mortgages that were largely originated in the second half of 2005, while deals in 06-
2 refer to mortgages that were largely underwritten in the first half of 2006.

Figure 4 illustrates estimates of the probability distribution of estimated losses as of the June
remittance reports across the 20 different deals for each of the three vintages of loans. The
mean loss rate of the 06-1 vintage is 5.6%, while the mean of the 06-2 and 07-1 vintages are
9.2% and 11.7%, respectively. From the figure, it is clear that not only the mean but also the
variance of the distribution of losses at the deal level has increased considerably over the last
year, Moreover, expected lifetime losses from the New Century securitization studied in the
example are a little lower than the average deal in the ABX from 06-2.
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Figure 4: Subprime Projected Losses by Vintage
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3.4. How are subprime loans valued?

In January 2006, Markit launched the ABX, which is a series of indices that track the price of
credit default insurance on a standardized basket of home equity ABS obligations.!! The ABX
actually has five indices, differentiated by credit rating: AAA, AA, A, BBB, and BBB-. Each
of these indices is an equally-weighted average of the price of credit insurance at a maturity of
30-years across similarly-rated tranches from 20 different home equity ABS deals. For
example, the BBB index tracks the average price of credit default insurance on the BBB-rated
tranche.

Every six months, a new set of 20 home equity deals is chosen from the largest dealer shelves
in the previous half year. In order to ensure proper diversification in the portfolio, the same
originator is limited to no more than four deals and the same master servicer is limited to no
more than six deals. Each reference obligation must be rated by both Moody’s and S&P and
have a weighted-average remaining life of 4-6 years.

In a typical transaction, a protection buyer pays the protection seller a fixed coupon ata
monthly rate on an amount determined by the buyer. For example, Table 16 documents that the
price of protection on the AAA tranche of the most recent vintage (07-2) is a coupon rate of 76

'{n the jargon, first-lien sub-prime morigage loans as well as second- lien home equity loans and home equity
tines of credit (HELCQs) are all part of what is called the Home Equity ABS sector. First- lien Alt-A and Jumbo
{oans are part of what is called the Residential Mortgage-backed Securities (RMBS) sector.
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basis points per year. Note the significant increase in coupons on all tranches between 07-1
and 07-2, which reflects a significant change in investor sentiment from January to Jul 2007.

When a credit event occurs, the protection seller makes a payment to the protection buyer in an
amount equal to the loss. Credit events include the shortfall of interest or principal (i.e. the
servicer fails to forward a payment when it is due) as well as the write-down of the tranche due
to losses on underlying mortgage loans. In the event that these losses are later reimbursed, the
protection buyer must reimburse the protection seller.

For example, if one tranche of a securitization referenced in the index is written down by an
amount of 1%, and the current balance of the tranche is 70% of its original balance, an
institution which has sold $10 million in protection must make a payment of $583,333

[=810m x 70% x (1/20)] to the protection buyer. Moreover, the future protection fee will be
based on a principal balance that is 0.20% [= 1% x (1/20)] lower than before the write-down of
the tranche.

Changes in investor views about the risk of the mortgage loans over time will affect the price at
which investors are willing to buy or sell credit protection. However, the terms of the
insurance contract (i.e. coupon, maturity, pool of deals) are fixed. The ABX tracks the amount
that one party has to pay the other at the onset of the contract in order for both parties to accept
the terms. For example, when investors think the underlying loans have become more risky
since the index was created, a protection buyer will have to pay an up-front fee to the protection
seller in order to only pay a coupon of 76 basis points per year. On 24 July, the ABX.AAA.07
was at 98.04, suggesting that a protection buyer would have to pay the seller a fee of 1.96% up-
front. Using an estimate of 5.19 from UBS of this tranche’s estimated duration, it is possible to
write the implied spread on the tranche as 114 basis points per year {= 100 x (100 - 98.04)/5.19
+76].

Figure 5 documents the behavior of the BBB-rated 06-2 vintage of the ABX over the first six
and a half months of 2007. Note from Table 16 that the initial coupon on this tranche was 133
basis points. However, the first two months of the year marked a significant adverse change in
investor sentiment against the home equity sector. In particular, the BBB-rated index fell from
95 to below 75 by the end of February. Using an estimated duration of 3.3, the implied spread
increased from just under 300 basis points to almost 900 basis points. Through the end of May,
this index fluctuated between 80 and 85, consistent with an implied spread of about 650 basis
points. However, the market responded adversely to a further deterioration in performance
following the May remittance report, and at the time of this writing, the index has dropped to
about 54, consistent with an implied spread of approximately 1800 basis points.

While it is not clear what exactly triggered the sell-off in the first two months of January, there
were some notable events that occurred over this period. There were early concerns about the
vintage in the form of early payment defaults resulting in originators being forced to repurchase
loans from securitizations. These repurchase requests put pressure on the liquidity of
originators. Moreover, warehouse lenders began to ask for more collateral, putting further
liquidity pressure on originators,
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W@ ‘a 1 B
Source: Coupon and Price: Markit (24 July 2007); duration: UBS; Implied spread is author’s calculation as follows:
implied spread = 100*[100-price}/duration + coupon rate.

Figure 5: ABX.BBB 06-2
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4. Overview of subprime MBS

The typical subprime trust has the following structural features designed to protect investors
from losses on the underlying mortgage loans:

Subordination
Excess spread
Shifting interest
Performance triggers
Interest rate swap

® & ® & ©

We discuss each of these forms of credit enhancement in turn.

4.1. Subordination

The distribution of losses on the mortgage pool is typically tranched into different classes. In
particular, losses on the mortgage loan pool are applied first to the most junior class of
investors until the principal balance of that class is completely exhausted. At that point, losses
are allocated to the most junior class remaining, and so on.

The most junior class of a securitization is referred to as the equity tranche. In the case of
subprime mortgage loans, the equity tranche is typically created through over-collateralization
(0/¢), which means that the principal balance of the mortgage loans exceeds the principal
balance of all the debt issued by the trust. This is an important form of credit enhancement that
is funded by the arranger in part through the premium it receives on offered securities. O/C is
used to reduce the exposure of debt investors to loss on the pool mortgage loans.

A small part of the capital structure of the trust is made up of the mezzanine class of debt
securities, which are next in line to absorb losses once the o/c is exhausted. This class of
securities typically has several tranches with credit ratings that vary between AA and B. With
greater risk comes greater return, as these securities pay the highest interest rates to investors.
The lion’s share of the capital structure is always funded by the senior class of debt securities,
which are last in line to absorb losses. Senior securities are protected not only by o/c, but also
by the width of the mezzanine class. In general, the sum of o/c and the width of all tranches
junior is referred to as subordination. Senior securities generally have the highest rating, and
since they are last in line (to absorb losses), pay the lowest interest rates to investors.
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R,

$239,618,000 27.18%
$214,090,000 24.29% 48.53% AAA Aaa 0.07% 0.14%
$102,864,000 11.67% 36.86% AAA Aaa 0.09% 0.18%
$99,900,000 11.33% 25.53% AAA Aaa 0.15% 0.30%
$42,998,000 4.88% 20.65% AAA Aaa 0.24% 0.48%
$35,700,000 4.05% 16.60% AA+ Aal 0.30% 0.45%
$28,649,000 3.25% 13.35% AA Aal 031% 0.47%
$16,748,000 1.90% 11.45% AA- Aa3 0.32% 0.48%
$14,986,000 1.70% 9.75% At Al 0.35% 0.53%
$14,545,000 1.65% 8.10% A A2 0.37% 0.56%
$13,663,000 1.55% 6.55% A~ A3 0.46% 0.69%
$12,341,000 1.40% 5.15% BBB+ Baal 0.90% 1.35%
$11,019,000 1.25% 3.90% BBB Baa2 1.00% 1.50%
$7,052,000 0.80% 3.10% BRB- Baa3 2.05% 3.08%
$6,170,000 0.70% 2.40% BB+ Bal 2.50% 3.75%
$8,815,000 1.00% 1.40% BB Ba2 2.50% 3.75%
$12,340,995 1.40% 0.00% NR NR N/A NA

Seurce: Prospectus filed with the SEC of GSAMP 2006-NC2

Figure 6: Typical Capital Structure of Subprime and Alt-A MBS

Average Subprime MBS Capital Structure® Average Alt.A MBS Capital Structure®

100%
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Source: Bear Steamnz * Excludes evcess spread 0C:0.8%

The capital structure of GSAMP 2006-NC1 is illustrated in Table 17. First, note that the o/c is
the class X, which represents 1.4% of the principal balance of the mortgages. There are two B
classes of securities not offered in the prospectus. The mezzanine class benefits from a total of
3.10% of subordination created by the o/c and the class B securities. However, note that the
mezzanine class is split up into 9 different classes, M-1 to M-10, which class M-2 being junior
to class M-1, etc. For example, the M-8 class tranche, which has an investment grade-rating of
BBB, has subordination of 3.9% and pays a coupon of 100 basis points. Investors receive 1/12
of this amount on the distribution date, which is the 25" of each month. The senior class
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benefits from 20.65% of total subordination, including the width of the mezzanine class
(19.25%).

Note that the New Century structure is broken into two groups of Class A securities,
corresponding to two sub-pools of the mortgage loans. In Group 1 loans, every mortgage has
original principal balance lower than the GSE-conforming loan limits. This feature permits the
GSEs to purchase these Class A-1 securities. However, in the Group 11 loans, there is a mixture
of mortgage loans with original principal balance above and below the GSE-conforming Joan
limit.

The table does not mention either the class P or class C certificates, which have no face value
and are not entitled to distributions of principal or interest. The class P securities are the sole
beneficiary of all future prepayment penalties. Since the arranger will be paid for these rights,
it reduces the premium needed on other offered securities for the deal to work. The class C
securities contain a clean-up option which permits the trust to call the offered securities should
the principal balance of the mortgage pool fall to a sufficiently low level.” In our example
deal, the offered debt securities are rated by both S&P and Moody’s. Note that Table 17
documents that there is no disagreement between the agencies in their opinion of the
appropriate credit rating for each tranche.

4.2. Excess spread

Subordination is not the only protection that senior and mezzanine tranche investors have
against loss. As an example, the weighted average coupon from the mortgage loan will
typically be larger than fees to the servicers, net payments to the swap counterparty, and the
weighted average coupon on debt securities issued by the trust. This difference is referred to as
excess spread, which is used to absorb credit losses on the mortgage loans, with the remainder
distributed each month to the owners of the Class X securities. Note that this is the first line of
defense for investors for credit losses, as the principal of no tranche is reduced by any amount
until credit losses reduce excess spread fo a negative number. The amount of credit
enhancement provided by excess spread depends on both the severity as well as the timing of
losses.

In the New Century deal, the weighted average coupon on the tranches at origination is LIBOR
plus 23 basis points. With LIBOR at 5.32% at the time of issue, this implies an interest cost of
5.55%. In addition to this cost, the trust pays 51 basis points in servicing fees and initially pays
13 basis points to the swap counterparty (see below). As the weighted average interest rate on

collateral at the time of issue is 8.30%, the initial excess spread on this mortgage pool is 2.11%.

More generally, the amount of excess spread varies by deal, but averaged about 2.5 percent
during 2006. Dealers estimate that loss rates must reach 9 percent before the average BBB
minus bond sustains its first dollar of principal loss, about twice its initial subordination of 4.5
percent in Figure 6 above.

'* The figure also omits discussion of certain “residual certificates” that are not entitled to distributions of interest
but appear to be related to residual ownership interests in assets of the trust.
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4.3. Shifting interest

Senior investors are also protected by the practice of shifting interest, which requires that all
principal payments to be applied to senior notes over a specified period of time (usually the
first 36 months) before being paid to mezzanine bondholders. During this time, known as the
“lockout period,” mezzanine bondholders receive only the coupon on their notes. As the
principal of senior notes is paid down, the ratio of the senior class to the balance of the entire
deal (senior interest) decreases during the first couple years, hence the term “shifting interest”.
The amount of subordination (alternatively, credit enhancement) for the senior class increases
over time because the amount of senior bonds outstanding is smaller relative to the amount
outstanding for mezzanine bonds.

4.4, Performance triggers

After the lockout period, subject to passing performance tests,” the o/c is released and principal
is applied to mezzanine notes from the bottom of the capital structure up until target levels of
subordination are reached (usually twice the initial subordination, as a percent of current
balance). In addition to protecting senior note holders, the purpose of the shifting interest
mechanism is to adjust subordination across the capital structure after sufficient seasoning.
Also, the release of o/c and pay-down of mezzanine notes reduces the average life of these
bonds and the interest costs of the securitization,

In our example securitization, o/c is specified to be 1.4% of the principal balance of the
mortgage loans as of the cutoff-date, at least until the step-down date. The step-down date is
the earlier of the date on which the principal balance of the senior class has been reduced to
zero and the later to occur of 36 months or subordination of the senior class being greater than
or equal to 41.3% of the aggregate principal balance of remaining mortgage loans. The trigger
event is defined as a distribution date when one of the following two conditions is met:

* The rolling three-month average of 60-days or more delinquent (including those in
foreclosure, REO properties, or mortgage loans in bankruptey) divided by the remaining
principal balance of the mortgage loans is larger than 38.70% of the subordination of
the senior class from the previous month; or,

¢ The amount of cumulative realized losses incurred over the life of the deal as a fraction

of the original principal balance of the mortgage loans exceeds the thresholds in Figure
7.

1f the trigger event does not occur, the deal is 36 months old, and the subordination of the
senior class is larger than 41.3%, then the deal will step-down. In this case, o/c is specified to
be 2.8 percent of the principal balance of the mortgage loans in the previous month, subject to a
floor equal to 0.5% of the principal balance of the mortgage loans as of the cut-off date. At this
time, any excess o/c is released to holders of the Class X tranche. Note that the trigger event
only affects whether or not o/c is released,

¥ There are two types of performance tests in subprime deals, one testing the deal’s cumulative losses against a
loss schedule, and another test for 60+ day delinguencies.
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4.5, Interest rate swap

While most of the loans are ARMs, as discussed above, the interest rates will not adjust for two
to three years following origination. It follows that the trust is exposed to the risk that interest
rates increase, so that the cost of funding increases faster than interest payments

received on the mortgages. In order to mitigate this risk, the trust engages in an interest rate
swap with a third-party named the swap counterparty. In particular, the third-party has agreed
to accept a sequence of fixed payments in return for promising to send a sequence of
adjustable-rate payments.

In our example, Goldman Sachs is the Swap counterparty, which has agreed to pay 1-month
LIBOR and accept a fixed interest rate of 5.45% on a notional amount described in Figure 8
over a term of 60 months. Note that the notional amount hedged decreases over time, as the
trust expects pre-payments of principal on the pool of mortgage loans to reduce the amount of
debt securities outstanding.

Figure 7: Cumulative Loss Thresholds for GSAMP Trust 2006-NC2 Trigger Event
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Source: SEC Prospectus for GSAMP Trust 2006-NC2
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Figure 8: Schedule of Interest Swap Notional for GSAMP Trust 2006-NC2
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4.6  Remittance reports

The trustee makes monthly reports to investors known as remittance reports. In this section, we
use data from these reports in order to document the performance of the New Century deal
through August 2007.

Table 18 documents cash receipts of the trust. Scheduled principal and interest are collected
from a borrower’s monthly payment. Unscheduled principal is collected from borrowers who
pay more than their required monthly payment, as well as borrowers who either pre-pay or
default on their loans. The first three columns of the table report the remittance of scheduled
and unscheduled principal as well as interest and pre-payment penalties. The fourth column
reports advances of principal and interest made to the trust by the servicer to cover the non-
payment of these items by certain borrowers. The fifth column documents the repurchase of
loans by New Century which have been determined to violate the originator’s representations
and warranties. Note that only one loan has been repurchased with a principal balance of
$184,956 as of this writing. Finally, realized losses are reported in the sixth column.
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Source: remittance reports through ABSNet

Table 19 documents the cash expenses of the trust. The net swap payments are reported in the
first column. Recall that the trust pays Goldman Sachs a fixed interest rate of 5.45 percent and
receives an amount equal to one-month LIBOR, each on the amount referenced by Table 18
above. The servicer fees are based on the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage loans
at the end of the last month, with 50 basis points paid to the servicer (Owcen) and just under 1
basis point paid to the master servicer (Wells Fargo). All principal paid by the borrower is
advanced to the holders of Class A certificates. Each tranche is paid the stated coupon from
Table 18 above based on the amount outstanding at the end of the previous month. Prepayment
penalties are paid to the owners of the Class P tranche. The residual is denoted excess spread,
and is paid to the owners of the Class X tranche each month.

The face value of the Class X tranche is $12.3 million. To date, this tranche has been paid
excess spread in the amount of $16.1 million. Note that the amount paid to this tranche has
decreased over time as credit losses have reduced excess spread. Interestingly, even if the
owners of this class are not paid another dollar of interest, they will have received an amount

equal to 130.9% of par.™

Table 19: Trust cash ou
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82,088 338423 1,191,300 $43,264,545 $3,518752 $293,961 31539086
64,178 120,054 1,174,086 $21,109,962 $3463517 272433 $1.313,044
86,137 11,001 51,342,346 §16,141,301 53,573,069 245315 1,035,558
$72.641 $304,238 $1.203,706 $12,782,.974 $3,058.308 $150401 $1.283008
$74,677 298810 $1,346,26% $10,239,650 $3219,019 3128060 $1,045,393
§71,316 $204463 1,360,108 $12.480.803 3,172,768 202,855 $868,082
$0,108 | $89,163 $1,493,314 16,605,497 $3,220305 $237,753 826,037
864,343 L1 1,577,756 $13044672 $3.041,335 196,941 $297,443
567,536 5276574 1.712,i17 $12,502,671 3,280,603 $190,972 $349,654

Source: remittance reports from ABSNet

' Note given the amount of cash being paid out to equity tranche investors in such a bad state of nature, it is likely
that these investors have paid a premium over par for these securities, so this should not be interpreted as a return.
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There are two trigger events which prevent the release of over-collateralization at the step-
down date, as shown in Table 20. The trigger amount in the third column for the 3-month
moving average of 60-day delinquencies is 38.7 percent of the previous month’s senior
enhancement percentage reported in the fourth column. Recall that the trigger amount for the
cumulative losses is constant at 1.3 percent over the first two years of the deal. While losses to
date remain lower than the loss trigger amount, the 3-month moving average of 60-day
delinquencies has been larger than the threshold amount since the April 2007 remittance report.

0.04% 7.99% 20.87% 41.30% 0.00%

iR
3.35%

e S 18 ) 41.30% 0.00%
O N S Y 3 S 41.30% 0.00%
A 232% 838% D% 4130% 0.00%

53%% 4.34% TTRE% 284% 4130% 0.00%
ke 6.42% 884% 24.18% 41.30% 0.00%

535% 797% 9.35% EE 7 4130% 0.00%
532% 512% 961% 2540% 41.30% 0.00%
532% 4.47% 583% 2386% 41.30% 0%
530% 12.62% 10,10% 2625% 4130% 0.04%
532% 14.32% 10,16% B73% 41.30% 0.08%
5.32% 16.07% 1034% 27.40% 4130% 0.10%
5% % 10.60% 2784% 41.30% 0.15%
530% 19.66% wil% 28.4%% 41.30% 024%

Source: remittance reports from ABSnet

The remittance report also discloses loan modifications performed by the servicer each month.
Note that through the August remittance report, there have been no modifications of any
mortgage loan in the pool. This is not surprising as the first payment reset date for these 2/28
ARMs will not be until spring 2008.

Finally, the remittance report also discloses information that permits a calculation of loss
severity. At the time of this writing, the trust has incurred a loss of $2.199 million on 44
mortgage loans with principal balance of $5.042 million, for a loss severity of 43.6 percent.
This number is only modestly higher than the assumption used in forecasting the lifetime
performance of the deal using the UBS methodology.

5.  An overview of subprime MBS ratings

This section is intended to provide an overview of how the rating agencies assign credit ratings
on tranches of a securitization. We start with a general discussion of credit ratings before
moving into the details on the rating process. We continue with an overview of the process
through which the credit rating agencies monitor performance of securitization deals over time,
and review performance of credit ratings on securities secured by subprime mortgages. In this
section there are a number of asides to complement the analysis: conceptual differences
between corporate and structured credit ratings; a note on how through-the-cycle structured
credit ratings can amplify the housing cycle; an explanation of the timing of recent
downgrades.



163

5.1. What is a credit rating?

A credit rating by a CRA represents an overall assessment and opinion of a debt obligor’s
creditworthiness and is thus meant to reflect only credit or default risk. To be sure, it is not the
obligor but the instrument issued by the obligor which receives a credit rating. The distinction
is not that relevant for corporate bonds, where the obligor rating is commensurate with the
rating on a senior unsecured instrument, but is quite relevant for structured credit products such
as asset-backed securities (ABS). Nonetheless, in the words of a Moody’s presentation
{(Moody’s 2004), “[tThe comparability of these opinions holds regardless of the country of the
issuer, is industry, asset class, or type of fixed-income debt.” A recent S&P document states
“[o]ur ratings represent a uniform measure of credit quality globally and across all types of debt
instruments. In other words, an ‘AAA’ rated corporate bond should exhibit the same degree of
credit quality as an ‘AAA’ rated securitized issue.” (S&P 2007, p.4).

This stated intent implies that an investor can assume that, say, a double-A rated instrument is
the same in the U.S. as in Belgium or Singapore, regardless whether that instrument is a
standard corporate bond or a structured product such as a tranche on a collateralized debt
obligation (CDO); see also Mason and Rosner (2007). The actual behavior of rated obligors or
instruments may turn out to have more heterogeneity across countries, industries, and product
types, and there is substantial supporting evidence. See Nickell, Perraudin, and Varvotto
(2000) for evidence across countries of domicile and industries for corporate bond ratings, and
CGFS (2005) for differences between corporate bonds and structured products,

The rating agencies differ about what exactly is assessed. Whereas Fitch and S&P evaluate an
obligor’s overall capacity to meet its financial obligation, and hence is best through of as an
estimate of probability of default, Moody’s assessment incorporates some judgment of recovery
in the event of oss. In the argot of credit risk management, S&P measures PD (probability of
default) while Moody’s measure is somewhat closer to EL (expected loss) (BCBS, 2000)."
Interestingly, these differences seem to remain for structured products. In describing their
ratings criteria and methodology for structured products, S&P states: “[wle base our ratings
framework on the likelihood of default rather than expected loss or loss given default. In other
words, our ratings at the rated instrument level don’t incorporate any analysis or opinion on
post-default recovery prospects.” (S&P, 2007, p. 3) By contrast, Fitch incorporates some
measure of expected recovery into their structured product ratings.'®

Credit ratings issued by the agencies typically represent an unconditional view, sometimes
called “cycle-neutral” or “through-the-cycle:” the rating agency’s own description of their
rating methodology broadly supports this view.

(Moody’s 1999, p. 6-7) “..[O]ne of Moody’s goals is to achieve stable expected [italics in original] default rates
across rating categories and time ... Moody’s believes that giving only modest weight to cyclical conditions serves
the interests of the bulk of investors.”

% Specifically, EL = PDxLGD, where LGD is loss given default. However, given the paucity of LGD data, little
variation in EL exists at the obligor (as opposed to instrument) level can be attributed to variation in LGD making
the distinction between the agencies modest at best,

1 See hitp:/fwww fitchratings.com/corporate/fitchResources.cfm?detail=1&rd_file=introfirtng_actn,

L8]
-}



164

{S&P 2001, p. 41): “Standard & Poor’s credit ratings are meant to be forward-looking; ... Accordingly, the
anticipated ups and downs of business cycles ~ whether industry specific or related to the general economy —
should be factored into the credit rating all along ... The ideal is to rate ‘through the cycle™.

This unconditional or firm-specific view of credit risk stands in contrast to risk measures such
as EDFs (expected default frequency) from Moody’s KMV. An EDF has two principal inputs:
firm leverage and asset volatility, where the latter is derived from equity (stock price) volatility.
As a result EDFs can change frequently and significantly since they reflect the stock market’s
view of risk for that firm at a given point in time, a view which incorporates both systematic
and idiosyncratic risk.

Unfortunately there is substantial evidence that credit rating changes, including changes to
default, exhibit pro-cyclical or systematic variation (Nickell, Perraudin, and Varotto, 2000;
Bangia et. al, 2002; Lando and Skodeberg, 2002), especially for speculative grades (Hanson
and Schuermann, 2006).

5.2. How does one become a rating agency? "’

Credit ratings have a long history of playing a role in the regulatory process going back to the
1930s in the U.S. (Sylla, 2002). Asset managers such as pension funds and insurers often have
strict asset allocation guidelines which are ratings driven, such as, for instance, a ceiling on the
amount that can be invested in speculative grade debt."® With the introduction of the Basel 2
standards, ratings have entered bank capital regulation. But whose ratings can be used is left up
to the host country supervisor.”” In the U.S. we use the SEC designation of a “Nationally
Recognized Statistical Rating Organization,” NRSRO, introduced in 1975. All three main
rating agencies at the time — Moody’s, S&P and Fitch — received this designation (White,
2002). It was not until 1997 that the SEC laid out formal criteria for becoming an NRSRO
(Levich, Majnoni and Reinhart, 2002). Only with the Credit Rating Agency Reform Act of
2006 did the SEC officially obtain authority to regulate and supervise CRAs that have been
designated NRSROs.%°

Under the Reform Act, in order to qualify as an NRSRO, a credit agency must register with the
SEC and it must have been in business as a credit rating agency for at least three consecutive
years proceeding the date of its application.! The application must contain, among other
things, information regarding the applicant’s credit ratings performance measurement statistics
over short-term, mid-term, and long-term periods; the procedures and methodologies that the
applicant uses in determining credit ratings; policies or procedures adopted and implemented to
prevent misuse of material, nonpublic information; and any conflict of interest relating to the
issuance of credit ratings by the applicant.™ All documentation submitted by the applicant

17 We are indebted to Michelle Meertens for help with this section.

¥ ERISA, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, is one such example.

¥ Buropean guidelines can be found in “Committee of European Banking Supervisors, Guidelines on the
Recognition of External Credit Assessment Institutions (Jan 20, 2006); available at
http:/Awww.bundesbank. de/download/bankenaufsicht/pdficebs/GLO7.pdf.

* The final rule did not come out yntil June 2007 (httpy//www.sec.gov/rules/final/2007/34-358 5 7{r.pdf).
2 15U.8.C. 78c(a)(62).

15 US.C. T80-7(a)(1)(B).
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must be made publicly available on its website,”” and the information must be kept up to date
and current.*

Since the early 1970s (1970 for Moody’s and Fitch, S&P a few years later), issuers rather than
investors are charged for obtaining a rating. These ratings are costly: $25,000 for issues up to
$500 million, ¥ bp for issues greater than $500 million (Kliger and Sarig, 2000). Treacy and
Carey (2000) report that the usual fee charged by S&P is 3.25 bp of the face amount, though it
may be up to 4.25 bp (Tomlinson and Evans, 2007); Fitch charges 3-7 bp (Tomlinson and
Evans, 2007). The fees charged for rating structured credit products are higher: up to 12 bp by
S&P and 7-8 bp by Fitch (Tomlinson and Evans, 2007). Moody’s does not publish its pricing
schedule.

5.3. When is a credit rating wrong? How could we tell?

Highly rated firms default quite rarely. For example, Moody’s reports that the one-year
investment grade default rate over the period 1983-2006 was 0.073% or 7.3 bp. This is an
average over four letter grade ratings: Aaa through Baa. Thus in a pool of 10,000 investment
grade obligors or instruments we would expect seven to default over the course of one year.
What if only three default? What about eleven? Higher than expect default could be the result
of either a bad draw (bad luck) or an indicator that the rating is wrong, and it is very hard to
distinguish between the two, especially for small probabilities (see also Lopez and Saidenberg,
2000). Indeed the use of the regulatory color scheme, which is behind the 1996 Market Risk
Amendment to the Basel I, was motivated precisely by this recognition, and in that case the
probability to be validated is comparatively large 1% (for 99% VaR) (BCBS, 1996) with daily
data.

There are other approaches. Although rating agencies insist that their ratings scale reflects an
ordinal ranking of credit risk, they also publish default rates for different horizons by rating.
Thus we would expect default rates or probabilities to be monotonically increasing as one
descends the credit spectrum. Using ratings histories from S&P, Hanson and Schuermann
(2006) show formally that monotonicity is violated frequently for most notch-level investment
grade one-year estimated default probabilities. The precision of the probability of default (PD)
point estimates is quite low; see Appendix 3 for further discussion. Indeed there have been no
defaults over one year for triple-A or AA+ (Aal) rated firms, yet surely we do not believe that
the one-year probability of default is identically equal to zero.

Although the one-year horizon is typical in credit analysis (and is also the horizon used in Basel
2), most traded credit instruments have longer maturity. For example, the typical CDS contract
is five years, and over that horizon there are positive empirical default rates for Aaa and Aal
which Moody’s reports to be 7.8bp and 14.9bp respectively (Moody’s, 2007¢).

“We perform a very significant but extremely limited role in the credit markets. We issue
reasoned, forward-looking opinions about credit risk,” says Fran Laserson, vice president of
corporate communications at Moody’s. “Our opinions are objective and not tied to any
recommendations to buy and sell.”

B15U.8.C. 780-7(a)(3).
#15U.8.C. 780-7(b)(1).
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5.4. The subprime credit rating process

The rating process can be split into two steps: (1) estimation of a loss distribution, and (2)
simulation of the cash flows. With a loss distribution in hand, it is straightforward to measure
the amount of credit enhancement necessary for a tranche to attain a given credit rating. Credit
enhancement (CE) is simply the amount of loss on underlying collateral that can be absorbed
before the tranche absorbs any loss. When a credit rating is associated with the probability of
default, the amount of credit enhancement is simply the level of loss CE such that the
probability that loss is higher than CE is equal to the probability of default.

Figure 9 below illustrates how one can use the portfolio loss distribution in order map the PD
associated with a credit rating on a particular tranche to a level of credit enhancement required
for that tranche. For example, given a PD associated with a AAA credit rating, the credit
enhancement is quite high at CE(AAA). However, given a higher PD associated with a BBB
credit rating, the required credit enhancement is much lower at CE(BBB). A better credit
rating is achieved through greater credit enhancement.

In a typical subprime structure, credit enhancement comes from two sources: subordination and
excess spread. Subordination refers to the par value of tranches with claims junior to the
tranche in question relative to the par value of collateral. It represents the maximum level of
loss that could occur immediately without investors in the tranche losing one dollar of interest
or principal. Excess spread refers to the difference between the income and expenses of the
structure. On the income side, the trust receives interest payments and prepayment penalties
from borrowers, On the expense side, the trust pays interest on tranches to investors, pays a fee
to the servicer, and might have other payments to make related to derivatives like interest rate
swaps. In most structures, excess spread is captured for the first three to five years of the life of
the deal, which increases the amount of subordination for each rated tranche over time.
Determining how much credit excess spread can be given to meet the required credit
enhancement is a dynamic problem that involves simulating cash flows over time, and is the
second step of the rating process. We now discuss each of these two steps in greater detail.
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Figure 9: Mapping the Loss Distribution to Required Credit Enhancement
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5.4.1. Credit enhancement

In the first step of the rating process, the rating agency estimates the loss distribution associated
with a given pool of collateral. The mean of the loss distribution is measured through the
construction of a baseline frequency of foreclosure and loss severity for each loan that depends
on the characteristics of the loan and local area economic conditions. The distribution of losses
is constructed by estimating the sensitivity of losses to local area economic conditions for each
mortgage loan, and then simulating future paths of local area economic conditions.

In order to construct the baseline, the rating agency uses historical data in order to estimate the
likely sensitivity of the frequency of foreclosure and severity of loss to underwriting
characteristics of the loan, the experience of the originator and servicer, and local area and
national economic conditions. Most of the agencies claim to rely in part on loan-level data
from LoanPerformance over 1992-2000 in order to estimate these relationships.

The key loan underwriting characteristics include:

cumulative loan-to-value ratio (CLTV)

consumer credit score (FICO)

loan maturity (15 years, 30 years, 40 years, etc)

interest rate

fixed-rate (FRM) vs. adjustable-rate (ARM)

property type (single-family, townhouse, condo, muiti-family)
home value

documentation of income and assets

® & 9 9 ® B & &
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loan purpose (purchase, term refinance, cash-out refinance)
owner oceupancy (owner-occupied, investor)

mortgage insurance

asset class (Jumbo, Alt-A, Subprime)

e & »

The key originator and servicer adjustments include:

past performance of the originator’s loans

underwriting guidelines of the mortgage loans and adherence to them
loan marketing practices

credit checks made on borrowers

appraisal standards

experience in origination of mortgages

collection practices

loan modification and liquidation practices

*
L
L
°
@
.
L
®

Table 21 documents how the credit support (the product of the frequency of foreclosure and
loss severity) for a pool of mortgage loans is sensitive to changes in loan attributes.

R -28%
-5% 2.49 -3%
8% 275 7%
4,68 48% 3.91 52%
2.62 -17% 2,13 -16%
3.69 16% 2.99 16%
242 -24% 1.93 -25%
347 9% 2.81 9%
3.31 4% 2.68 4%
3.33 6% 2,78 8%
38 20% 3.10 21%

ouree: Moodv ) Mortgage Metrics

Pool A: LTV 67, FICO 732, CashOut 19%, Purch 219%, Smg e Fam 89%, Owner 98%, Fulldoc 75%, 30-year 98%, Fixed Rate
100% Pool B: LTV 65, FICO 744, CashOut 17%, Purch 21%, Single Fam 85%, Owner 96%, Fulldoc 93%, 30-year 98%, Fixed
Rate 100%

The Aaa credit enhancement for the base pools are illustrated in the first row. AsPool A hasa
higher LTV, lower FICO, and lower percentage of full documentation than Pool B, ithas a
higher level of credit support (3.17 percent versus 2.57 percent). Table 21 also illustrates the
impact of changing one characteristic of the pool for all loans in the pool, holding all other
characteristics constant. For example, if all loans in the pool were underwritten under an
Alternative Documentation program, the credit support of Pool A would increase by 6 percent
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to 3.35 percent and Pool B would increase by 8 percent to 2.78 percent. Note that the change in
support depends on both the sensitivity of support to the loan characteristic as well as the size
of the change in the characteristic. Changes in leverage appear to have significant effects on
credit support, as an increase of five percentage points is associated with an increase in credit
support by more than one-third »

The rating agency will typically adjust this baseline for current local area economic conditions
like the unemployment rate, interest rates, and home price appreciation. The agencies are quite
opaque about this relationship, and for some reason do not illustrate the impact of changes in
local area economic conditions on credit enhancement in their public rating criteria. For
example, Fitch employs scaling factors developed by University Financial Associates which
control for four different components of regional factors: macro factors like employment rates
and construction activity, demographic factors like population growth; political/legal factors;
and even topographic factors that might constrain the growth of housing markets. The
multipliers typically range from 0.5 to 1.7 and are updated quarterly.

In order to simulate the loss distribution, the rating agency needs to estimate the sensitivity of
fosses to local area economic conditions. Fitch tackles this problem by breaking out actual
losses on mortgage loans into independent national and state components for each quarter. The
sensitivity of losses to each factor is equal to one by construction. The final step isto fix a
distribution for each of these components, and then simulate the loss distribution of the
mortgage pool using random draws from the distribution of state and national components of
unexpected loss.

5.5, Conceptual differences between corporate and ABS credit ratings

Subprime ABS ratings differ from corporate debt ratings in a number of different dimensions:

e Corporate bond (obligor) ratings are largely based on firm-specific risk characteristics.
Since ABS structures represent claims on cash flows from a pertfolio of underlying
assets, the rating of a structured credit product must take into account systematic risk. It
is correlated losses which matter especially for the more senior (higher rated) tranches,
and loss correlation arises through dependence on shared or common (or systematic)
risk factors.” For ABS deals which have a large number of underlying assets, for
instance MBS, the portfolio is large enough such that all idiosyncratic risk is diversified
away leaving only systematic exposure to the risk factors particular to that product class
(here, mortgages). By contrast, a substantial amount of idiosyncratic risk may remain in

¥ Note that Moodys have increased subordination fevels in subprime RMBS by 30 percent over last three years,
and this can be largely attributed to an increase in support required by a decline in underwriting standards.

* Note that Fitch actually simulates the frequency of foreclosure and loss severity separately, but the discussion
here focuses on the product (expected loss) for simplicity. Each of the national and state components is likely
transformed by subtracting the mean and dividing by the standard deviation, so that the distribution converges to a
standard normal distribution. This permits the agency to use a two-factor copula model in order to simulate the
loss distribution, Note that the sensitivity of losses to the normalized component would be equal to the inverse of
the standard deviation of the actual component,

" Note that correlation includes more than just economic conditions, as it includes (a) model risk by the agencies
(b) originator and arranger effects (c) servicer effects.
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ABS transactions with smaller asset pools, for instance CDOs (CGFS, 2005; Amato and
Remolona, 2005).

Because these deals are portfolios, the effect of correlation is not the same for all
tranches: equity tranches prefer higher correlation, senior tranches prefer lower
correlation (tail losses are driven by loss correlation). As correlation increases, so does
portfolio loss volatility. The payoff function for the equity tranche is, true to its name,
like a call option. Indeed equity itself is a call option on the assets of the underlying
firm, and the value of a call option is increasing in volatility. If the equity tranche is
long a call option, the senior tranche is short a call option, so that their payoffs behave
in an opposite manner. The impact of increased correlation on the value of mezzanine
tranches is ambiguous and depends on the structure of a particular deal (Duffie, 2007).
By contrast, correlation with systematic risk factors should not matter for corporate
ratings.

As a result of the portfolio nature of the rated products, the ratings migration
behavior may also be different than for ordinary obligor ratings. Moody’s (2007a)
reports that rating changes are much more common for corporate bond than for
structured product ratings, but the magnitude of changes (number of notches up- or
downgraded) was nearly double for the structured products.

Subprime ABS ratings refer to the performance of a static pool instead of a dynamic
corporation. When a firm becomes distressed, it has the option to change its investment
strategy and inject more capital. As long as a firm is deemed to be creditworthy during
neutral economic conditions, it is reasonable to expect that the firm could take prompt
corrective action in order to avoid defaulting on its debt during a transitory decline in
aggregate or industry conditions. However, the pool of mortgages underlying subprime
ABS is fixed, and investors do not expect an issuer o support a weakly-performing
deal.

Subprime ABS ratings rely heavily on quantitative models while corporate debt ratings
rely heavily on analyst judgment. In particular, corporate credit ratings require the
separation of a firm’s long-run condition and competitiveness from the business cycle,
the assessment of whether or not an industry downturn is cyclical or permanent, and
determination about whether or not a firm could actually survive a pro-longed transitory
downturn.

Unlike corporate credit ratings, ABS ratings rely heavily on a forecast of economic
conditions. Note that a corporate credit rating is based on the agency’s assessment that
a firm will default during neutral economic conditions (i.e. full employment at the
national and industry level). However, the rating agency is unable to focus on neutral
economic conditions when assigning subprime ABS ratings, because in the model,
uncertainty about the level of loss in the mortgage pool is driven completely by changes
in economic conditions. If one were to fix the level of economic activity — for example
at full employment — the level of losses is determined, and according to the model, the
probability of default is either zero or one. It follows that the credit rating on an ABS
tranche is the agency’s assessment that economic conditions will deteriorate to the point
where losses on the underlying mortgage pool will exceed the tranche’s credit
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enhancement. In other words, it is largely based on a forecast of economic conditions
combined with the agency’s estimated sensitivity of losses to that forecast.

e Finally, while an ABS credit rating for a particular rating grade should have similar
expected loss to corporate credit rating of the same grade, the volatility of loss can be
quite different across asset classes.

5.6. How through-the-cycle rating could amplify the housing cycle

Like corporate credit ratings, the agencies seek to make subprime ABS credit ratings through
the housing cycle. Stability means that one should not see upgrades concentrated during a
housing boom and downgrades concentrated during a housing bust.

It is not difficult to understand that changes in economic conditions affect the distribution of
losses on a mortgage pool. The unemployment rate and home price appreciation have obvious
effects on the ability of a borrower to avoid default and the severity of loss in the event of
default.

Consider a AAA-rated tranche issued during an environment of high home price appreciation
(HPA). Figure 10 illustrates that the level of credit enhancement is determined using the
probability associated with a AAA credit rating and the rating agency’s estimate of the loss
distribution (blue) in this economic environment. However, as the housing market slows down,
the loss distribution shifts to the right, as any level of probability is now associated with a
higher level of loss. If the rating agency does not respond to this new loss distribution and uses
the same level of credit enhancement to structure new deals in a tough economic environment,
the probability of default associated with these AAA-rated tranche will actually be closerto a
AA than a AAA. It follows that keeping enhancement constant through the cycle will result in
ratings instability, with upgrades during a boom and downgrades during a bust.

Rating agency must respond to shifts in the loss distribution by increasing the amount of
needed credit enhancement to keep ratings stable as economic conditions deteriorate, as
illustrated in the Figure. It follows that the stabilizing of ratings through the cycle is associated
with pro-cyclical credit enhancement: as the housing market improves, credit enhancement
falls; as the housing market slows down, eredit enhancement increases.

This phenomenon has two important implications:

* Pro-cyclical credit enhancement has the potential to amplify the housing cycle, creating
credit and asset price bubbles on the upside and contributing to severe credit crunches
and on the downside. In order to understand this point, consider the hypothetical
example in Figure 11. On the left is an aggressive structure based on strong housing
market conditions. The AAA tranche is 80 percent of the funding, and the weighted-
average cost of funds is LIBOR+92 bp. However, as the housing market slows down,
the rating agency removes leverage from the structure, and increases the subordination
of the AAA-rated tranche from 20 to 25 percent. By requiring a larger fraction of the
deal to be financed by BBB-rated debt, the weighted-average cost of funds increases to
LIBOR+100 bp. This higher cost of funds will require higher interest rates on subprime
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mortgage loans, or will require a significant tightening in underwriting standards on the
underlying mortgage loans. Note that the de-leveraging the structure has a knock-on
effect on economic activity by reducing the supply of credit. It is difficult at this point
to assess the importance of this phenomenon to what appeared to be a bubble in housing
credit and prices on the upside. One source of concern is that the ratio of upgrades to
downgrades appeared to be fairly stable for home equity ABS over 2001-2006 (see the
discussion on rating performance below). However, the impact on the downside is
fairly certain. One week after a historical downgrade action by the agencies, leading
subprime lenders discontinued offering the 2/28 and 3/27 hybrid ARM (see the
discussion of ratings performance below).

¢ Investors in subprime ABS are vulnerable to the ability of the rating agency to predict
turning points in the housing cycle and respond appropriately. One must be fair to note
that the downturn in housing did not surprise the rating agencies, who had been warning
investors about the possibility and the impact on performance for quite some time.
However, it does not appear that the agencies appropriately measured the sensitivity of
losses to economic activity or anticipated the severity of the downturn.

Figure 10: Credit enhancement and economic conditions
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Figure 11: Procyclical eredit enhancement
Economic conditions worsen
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57. Cash Flow Analytics for Excess Spread

The second part of the rating process involves simulating the cash flows of the structure in
order to determine how much credit excess spread will receive towards meeting the required
credit enhancement. As an example, in Table 22 we consider the credit enhancement
corresponding to a hypothetical pool of subprime mortgage loans. In this example, the required
credit enhancement for the Aaa tranche is 22.50%. A simulation of cash flows suggests that
excess spread can contribute 9.25% to meet this requirement, suggesting that the amount of
subordination for this tranche must be 13.25%. In this section, we briefly describe how the
rating agencies measure this credit attributed to excess spread, focusing on subprime RMBS.

Table 22: Cash flow analytics

SRRt th L e ‘ e . i c
22.50% 9.25% 13.25% 86.75%
16.75% 9.25% 7.50% 5.75%
12.25% 8.75% 3.50% 4.00%
3 - 8.50% 8.50% 0.00% 3.50%
o 100%
Source: Moody’s

The key inputs into the cash flow analysis involve:

the credit enhancement for given credit rating
the timing of these losses

prepayment rates
interest rates and index mismatches

trigger events

® o © ¢ €
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weighted average loan rate decrease
prepayrment penalties

pre-funding accounts

swaps, caps, and other derivatives.

® ® & @

The first input to the analysis is amount of losses on collateral that a tranche with a given rating
would be able to withstand without sustaining a loss, which corresponds to the required credit
enhancement implied from the loss distribution. Note that better credit ratings are associated
with higher levels credit enhancement, and thus are associated with a higher level of expected
loss on the underlying collateral.

The timing of losses

Table 23 illustrates Moody’s assumption about the timing of losses, which is based on
historical performance over 1993-1999. Note there are slight differences in the timing between
fixed-rate and ARMs. Except for the first year, losses are assumed to be distributed evenly
throughout the year. In the first year, losses are distributed evenly throughout the last six
months. Adjustments to this assumption need to be made if the pool contains seasoned or
delinquent loans.

Source: Moody’s; based on historical
performance over 1993-1999,

Note that an acceleration in the timing of losses implies a lower level of excess spread in later
periods, which reduces the contribution that excess spread can make to meet the required credit
enhancement. It follows that a conservative approach to rating involves front-loading the
timing of osses. Moreover, given the importance of the timing, it is possible to understand
how the existence of elevated early payment defaults observed in the 2006 vintages of RMBS
will correspond to significant adverse effects on the ratings performance.

Prepayment risk

Prepayments of principal include both the voluntary and involuntary (i.e. default) varieties.
Note that the path of the dollar value of involuntary prepayments over time has been tied down
by assumptions about the level and timing of losses. It follows that assumptions about the
prepayment curve really just pin down the severity of loss on defaulted mortgages (in order to
identify the number of involuntary prepayments) and the number of voluntary prepayments.
Table 24 documents Moody’s assumptions about prepayment rates for a Baa2-rated tranche
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secured by a portfolio of subprime loans. The standard measure of prepayment frequency is the
Constant Prepayment Rate (CPR), defined as the annualized one-month prepayment rate of
loans that remain in the pool.

5.5% .
Toy 1.33%/mth | T by 1.639%/mth | Thy 1.639%/mth | T by 1.639%/mth
30% 35% 33% 33%
30% 35% 55% 33%
30% 35% 33% 33%
30% 35% 33% 55%
30% 35% 33% 33%

For both fixed-rate (FRMs) and adjustable-rate mortgages (ARMs), the CPR increases every
month until the 19" month, where it stays constant through the remaining life of the deal.
However, for hybrid ARMs, which have a fixed interest rate for either 2 or 3 years and then
revert to an ARM, there is a spike in the CPR in the six months following payment reset. Note
that since prepayments include defaults, it is necessary to adjust the prepayment curve for the
credit rating of the tranche under analysis. Recall that a better credit rating is associated with a
higher level of loss on collateral, which means a higher frequency of involuntary prepayments.
Table 25 documents adjustments that Moody’s makes to the CPR by rating category. For
example, the prepayment rate is 15 percent higher for a Aaa-rated tranche than a Baa2-rated
tranche in order to capture the higher frequency of involuntary prepayment (i.e. default)
associated with the Aaa level of loss.

Table 25: Adjustments by tranche credit rating to Baa2 pre-payment curves

L R RN
133% 115%
126% 112.5%
120% 110%
117% 108.5%
113% 106.5%
110% 105%
107% 103.5%
103% 101.5%
100% 100%
97% 98.5%
93% 96.5%
90% 95%
87% 93.5%
83% 91.5%
- | 80% 90%
LB T% 88.5%
Source: Moody’s

The assumptions made above identify the dollar value of involuntary prepayments and the total
number of prepayments. In order to identify the number of involuntary prepayments (and
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consequently the number of voluntary prepayments), it is necessary to make an assumption
about loss severity. Note that this assumption about severity is different from the one used in
the determination of credit enhancement in the first step outlined above. Moody’s makes the
assumption that the fraction of involuntary prepayments in total prepayments increases with the
severity of loss (i.e. as the credit rating improves). This phenomenon is described in Table 26.

d

Table 26: Loss Severity Assumptions for 1% lien subprime mortgages

60%
55%
50%
45%
42.5%
40%

Source: Moody’s

In the end, voluntary prepayments reduce principal and thus the benefit of excess spread. It
follows that a conservative view toward rating will typically make high and front-loaded
assumptions about the path of voluntary prepayments, as this reduces the contribution that
excess spread makes towards credit enhancement.

Interest rate risk

The key remaining source of uncertainty in the analysis of cash flows is the behavior of interest
rates. Note that the coupons on tranches typically have floating interest rates tied to the one-
month LIBOR. Moreover, note that interest rates on some of the underlying loans are
adjustable, which makes receipts from collateral vary with the level of inferest rates. Interest
rate risk is created by mis-matches between the sensitivity of collateral and tranches to interest
rates. Some examples include:

» Fixed rate loans funded with floating rate certificates
e Prime rate index funded with LIBOR based certificates
o gix-month LIBOR loans funded with one-month LIBOR certificates

Based on a number of factors, including the state of the economy, the forward-rate curve, and
the current level of interest rates, interest rate stresses are determined,

Interest rate risk had an adverse impact on the performance of RMBS structures issued during
the 2002 to 2004. In particular, throughout 2002 to mid-2004, the one-month LIBOR
maintained a level to 1% - 1.8%. However, in June 2004, the one-month LIBOR began to
increase quickly, reaching 5.3% in 2006, This increase in interest rates has an adverse impact
through three channels. First, the coupons on ARM collateral adjust less quickly than the
coupons on floating-rate certificates. Second, while rising rates will reduce the prepayment of
fixed-rate loans, they also encourage a deterioration in the coupons on adjustable-rate loans as
these obligors refinance out of high interest-rate loans, leaving a higher fraction of low- and
fixed-interest rates in the pool. Finally, the increase in prepayment rates leads to quick return
of principal to investors in senior tranches, where credit spreads are the smallest. Each of these
factors leads to a compression of excess spread.
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Many structures enter into an interest rate swap agreement which replaces the flexible-rate
coupon paid to the tranches with a fixed-rate coupon in order to avoid this type of problem.
However, note that this swap does not completely remove interest rate risk. For example, when
pools contain ARM mortgages, the structure is vulnerable to a decline in interest rates which
reduces the cash flows from collateral.

The approach of the rating agencies to interest rate risk is to construct a path of interest rate
stresses in order to capture the worst likely movement in interest rates. Table 24 illustrates the
interest rate stresses used by Fitch,

Table 27: Interest Rate Stresses

L .
0.88% 3.10%

1.22% 2.02% 3.06% 4.66%
2.01% 3.15% 4.63% 6.90%
2.18% 3.43% 5.05% 7.53%
2.52% 3.85% 5.58% 8.24%
2.65% 4.02% 5.79% §.52%

24%
| 181%  -209%  -237%  -2.76%
| -228%  -2.68%  -3.08%  -3.64%
| 252%  -295%  -339%  -4.00%
| 252%  297%  -343%  -4.09%
L 2.52%  -298%  -345%  -4.12%
Source: Fitch (August 2007)

Note that these are changes (in percentage points) relative to the one-month LIBOR. The
magnitude of the interest rate shocks is larger for better credit ratings and longer maturities.

Other details

Cash flow analysis is performed incorporating step-down triggers. For each rating level, the
triggers are analyzed for the probability that they will be breached. As the triggers are set at
levels which protect the rated tranches, they typically will be breached in stress scenarios. It
follows that one typically assumes that the transaction does not step down (i.e. credit
enhancement is not released) and that all tranches are paid sequentially for its life. Finally,
mortgage loans with higher interest rates tend to prepay first, which reduces excess spread of
the transaction over time. In order to capture this, Moody’s assumes that the weighted average
coupon (WAC) of the loans decreases by one basis point each month over the first three years
of the deal.

Motivating example

In order to better understand the cash flow analysis, we will illustrate using a structure similar
to GSAMP Trust 2006-NC2. In particular, we focus on a hypothetical pool of 2/28 ARM
mortgage loans with an initial interest rate of 8 percent, a margin of 6 percent, and interest rate
caps of 1.5%. The servicer receives a fee of 30 bp and master servicer receives a fee of 1 bp,
each per annum and senior to any distributions to investors., The trust enters into an interest
rate swap with a counterparty paying a fixed rate of 5.45% and receiving LIBOR ~ initially at
5.32% --according to a swap notional schedule described in Figure 8. Each month, the net
payment to the swap counterparty is senior to any distributions to investors. Table 28
documents that the capital structure is similar to that of the New Century deal, but with fewer
tranches in order to simplify the analysis.
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Table 28: Capital Structure

We focus our analysis on the BBB-rated tranche. Our analysis starts with prepayment rates,
which are illustrated in Figure 12. The total CPR is the fraction of remaining loans which
prepay each month at an annualized rate, and is taken from Table 24 above for 2/28 ARMs.
Notice the spike in prepayment rates shortly following payment rest at 24 months. The
involuntary CPR is tied down by (a) the level of losses, assumed in this case to be 10% given
the BBB rating; (b) the timing of losses documented in Table 23; () and the severity of losses
from Table 26 in order to convert dollars of principal loss into an involuntary prepayment rate.
Since the timing assumption precludes losses after 72 months, we only focus on the first six
years of the deal life. As the capital structure of the deal is fixed, this exercise is essentially a
test of whether or not the BBB-rated tranche as structured can receive a 6.9% credit (= 10% -
3.1%) from excess spread to meet the required credit enhancement.

Figure 12: Decomposing Constant Prepayment Rates (CPRs)
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Figure 13: LIBOR stress, trust earnings, and the net swap payment
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Note: the swap payment and earnings are each measured at a monthly rate and relative to original portfolio par.
Earnings is defined as the difference between mortgage interest income, the net swap payment, and servicer fees of
51 basis points per annum,

Given the path of pre-payments, one needs to use the interest rate stresses in order to simulate
future cash flows. Since the structure is hedged, the most severe interest rate shock is a decline
in interest rates. When the interest rate on mortgages declines but the interest rate on tranches
is fixed there is pressure on earnings. Figure 13 documents that assumed path of LIBOR, taken
from Table 27 above, but converted into a monthly interest rate. The slow decrease over the
first 24 months in the mortgage income reflects adverse selection in prepayment high interest
rates pre-paying first). There is an obvious spike in the mortgage interest rate at 24 months
once payments reset. As LIBOR is falling, there is a net payment made to the swap
counterparty, but this declines over time as the amount of swap notional goes to zero over the
five-year life of the contract. The earnings of the trust before distributions and loss falls over
time as mortgages prepay and the interest rate on remaining mortgages falls.
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Figure 14: Earnings, Tranche Interest, and Credit Loss
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Note: Earnings, tranche interest, and credit loss are measured each at a monthly rate and relative to original
portfolio par

Figure 14 documents the path of trust earnings, tranche interest, and credit losses over time,
each measured at a monthly rate and relative to portfolio par. Tranche interest declines over
time as interest rates fall and as pre-payments reduce the principal value of the senior tranche.
While earnings are adequate to cover tranche interest initially, after the first year credit losses
are eating into over-collateralization. After 42 months, earnings no longer cover losses, and the
structure is struggling greatly.

Figure 15: Dynamic subordination of mezzanine tranches (10% required enhancement)
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Figure 15 documents that these losses reduce the subordination available to each tranche over
time. At 56 months, over-collateralization has been exhausted and the BB-rated tranche
defaults. However, the BBB-rate tranche is able to survive until 72 months, suggesting that this
tranche could withstand a loss rate of 10 percent. Tt follows that the deal is structured
adequately.

Figure 16: Dynamic subordination of mezzanine tranches (10.5% required enhancement)
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Figure 16 documents the dynamic subordination of the same capital structure in the event that
losses are only 50 basis points higher. In this case, the BBB rated tranche defaults in month 70.
The actual losses to investors in this tranche would be quite low because there are no losses
after 72 months. However, when losses on the pool increase to 14%, the investors in the BBB-
rated tranche are completely wiped out and the A-rated tranche defaults.

5.8. Performance Monitoring

The rating agencies currently monitor the performance of approximately 10,000 pools of
mortgage loan collateral. Deal performance is tracked using monthly remittance from Intex
Solutions, Ine. Since there is no uniform reporting methodology, the first step is to ensure the
integrity of the data.

The agencies use this performance data in order to identify which deals merit a detailed review,
but do complete such a review for every deal at least once a year. The key performance metric
is the loss coverage ratio (LCR), which is defined as the ratio of the current credit enhancement
for a tranche relative to estimated unrealized losses. Note that losses are estimated using
underwriting characteristics for unseasoned loans (less than 12 months), and actual
performance for seasoned loans. When the loss coverage ratio falls below an acceptable level
given the rating of the tranche, the agency will perform a detailed review of the transaction, and
consider ratings action.
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In the example subprime deal described in Table 29, which is taken from a Fitch (2007) and
does not correspond to the New Century deal, the pipeline measure of loss is constructed by
applying historical default rates to the fraction of loans in each delinquency status bucket, and
applying a projected loss severity. For example, the rating agency assumes that 68 percent of
loans 90 days past due will default, while only 11 percent of current loans will default.

tL X X 3
fhe e 100.0 20.0 35 7.1
Notes: The example transaction is 18 months seasoned, has 63% of the original pool remaining (called the pool factor),
incurred 0.77% loss to date, and reports a 60+ day of 13.15% (=2.6+2.5+1.7+3.8+2.8). The delinquency bucket figures (with
the exception of REO) have a 98% home price appreciation adjustment applied, The example deal’s current three-month loss
severity is 25%, and the projected lifetime loss severity is approximately 35%. The expected loss figures are as a percentage
of the ining pool balance. The expected loss as a percentage of original pool bal is 5.25% = (7.1%%63%+0.77%)

The current subordination of a tranche reflects excess spread that has been retained as well as
any losses to date. In this example in Table 30 the M-1 tranche rated AA currently has
subordination of 20.61 percent. However, due to expected future accumulation of excess
spread, this class can withstand losses of 26.90 percent, corresponding to a loss coverage ratio
of 3.8 (=26.9/7.1). Note that the target loss coverage ratio for the AA rating is 2.82, suggesting
that the original rating is sound. However, the B-2 class rated BBB- currently has
subordination of 3 percent and a break-loss rate of 10.41 percent. Note that the target break-
loss for this rating is 11.04 percent, and the target break-loss of 9.95 for the BB+ rating (not
reported). In this case, the rating agency is using tolerance to prevent this tranche from being
downgraded at this time. A conversation with a ratings analyst suggested that a tranche would
not be downgraded until it failed the target break-loss level for one full rating-grade below the
current level.
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Table 30 gures

T

Ak .
Neotes: The example transaction is 18 months seasened and has a projected loss as a percent of current balance of 7.1%.
Based on the projected delinquency, the triggers will pass at the step-down date and toggle thereafter, The current annualized
excess spread available to cover losses is 3.10% (including interest rate derivatives). Current break-loss: the amount of
collateral loss that would call the elass to default. This figure includes excess spread and triggers. Current loss coverage ratio
{LCR): determined by dividing the bond’s current break-loss amount by the current base-case projected loss of 7.1%. Model
proposed: Considers the difference between the current LCR and the target LCR

Figure 17: Anatomy of a downgrade
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it is worth taking the time to highlight how changes in rating criteria affect the ratings
monitoring process. In particular, if the rating agencies become more conservative in
structuring new deals, it is not clear that anything should change when it comes to making a
decision to downgrade securities secured by seasoned loans. The numerator of the loss
coverage ratio is the current subordination of the tranche, which is unaffected by any change in
criteria. The denominator is the estimated unrealized loss. Unless the rating agency also
changes its mapping from current loan performance to the probability of default, or updates its
view on loss severity, the key input into the ratings monitoring process is unchanged. In this
sense, there is no need to change the way the agency monitors existing transactions. If an
existing transaction was structured with inadequate initial subordination, the normal ratings
monitoring process will pick this up and downgrade appropriately. In this sense, there is no
need to update existing transactions.
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5.9, Home Equity ABS rating performance

Table 31 documents the performance of Moody’s Subprime RMBS over the last five years.
The table documents downgrades in the top panel and upgrades in the bottom panel, broken out
across first- and second-lien mortgage loans, as well as by origination year. Rating actions are
measured by fraction of origination volume affected, the fraction of tranches affected, and the
fraction of deals affected. The first observation to note is that by any measure, the rating
agencies have appeared to struggle rating subprime deals throughout the period, as the ratio of
downgrades to upgrades is larger than one. That being said, the recent performance of
subprime RMBS ratings has been historically bad. The table documents that 92 percent of 1%-
lien subprime deals originated in 2006 as well as 84.5 percent of 2™.lien deals originated in
2005 and 91.8 percent of 2™-lien deals originated in 2006 have been downgraded.

Note that half of all downgrades of tranches in the history of Home Equity ABS were made in
the first seven months of 2007. About half of these were made during the week of 9 July, when
Moody’s downgraded 399 tranches. About two-thirds of these downgrades involved
securitizations by four issuers who accounted for about one-third of 2006 issuance: New
Century, WMC, Long Beach, and Fremont. Note that 86% of the downgraded tranches were
originally rated Baa2 or worse, which meant that the notional amount downgraded was only
about $9 billion. However, the ratings action affected just under 50 percent of 2006 1%-lien
deals and almost two-thirds of 2005 2™-lien deals, and the mean downgrade severity was 3.2
notches. Table 32 documents the ratings transition matrices for the 2005 and 2006 vintages
across 1% and 2™-lien status as of October 2007. It is clear from the table that ratings action has
been concentrated in the mezzanine tranches, but there are some notable downgrades of Aaa-
rated tranches in the 2006 vintage of 2"-lien loans.

In addition to the ratings action, the rating agencies announced significant changes to rating
criteria, and took a more pessimistic view on the housing market, At the time of the downgrade
action, Moody’s announced that it expected median existing family home prices to fall by 10
percent from the peak in 2005 to a trough at the end of 2008, The rating agency also
significantly increased its loss expectations for certain flavors of sub-prime mortgages (hybrid
ARM, stated-income, high CLTV, first-time home-buyer), reduced the credit for excess
spread, and adjusted its cash flow analysis to incorporate the likely impact of loan
modifications.

In response to the historic rating action on subprime ABS during the week of 9 July 2007, the
rating agencies were heavily criticized in the press about the timing. In particular, investors
pointed to the fact that the ABX had been trading at very high implied spreads since February.
Some examples of recent business press:

“A lot of these should be downgraded sooner rather than later,” said Jeff Given at John Hancock Advisors LLC in
Boston, who oversees $3.5 billion of mortgage bonds. The ratings companies may be embarrassed to downgrade
the bonds, he said. “It’s easier to say two years from now that yon were wrong on a rating than it is to say you
were wrong five months after you rated it.” [Bloomberg, 29 June 2007]

“Standard & Poor's, Moody's Investors Service and Fitch Ratings are masking burgeoning losses in the market for
subprime mortgage bonds by failing to cut the credit ratings on about $200 billion of securities backed by home
loans...Almost 65 percent of the bonds in indexes that track subprime mortgage debt don't meet the ratings criteria
in place when they were sold, according to data compiled by Bloomberg.” [ibid]
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In response, the rating agencies counter that their actions are justified.

“People are surprised there haven't been more downgrades,” Claire Robinson, a managing director at Moody's,
said during an investor conference sponsored by the firm in New York on June 5. “What they don't understand
about the rating process is that we don't change our ratings on speculation about what's going to happen.”
Bloomberg, 10 July 2007]

From the description of the ratings monitoring process above, it is clear that for unseasoned
loans, the rating agencies weight their initial expectations of loss heavily in computing lifetime
expected loss on the vintage. While the 2006 vintage did show some early signs of trouble with
early payment defaults (EPDs), it was not clear if this just reflected the impact of lower home
price appreciation on investors using subprime loans to flip properties, or foreshadowed more
serious problems.

Figure 17 documents that the increase in serious delinquencies on a month-over-month basis on
the ABX 06-1 and 06-2 vintages was actually slowing down through the remittance report
released at the end of April. Figure 18 documents that implied spreads on the ABX tranches
retreated from their February highs through the end of May. However, the remittance report at
the end of May suggested a reversal of this trend, as serious delinquency accelerated. This
pattern was confirmed with the report at the end of June, and the ratings action came
approximately two weeks after the June 25 report.

While the aggregated data helps the rating agencies tell a reasonable story, it is certainly
possible that aggregation hides a number of deals that were long overdue for downgrade.
Given the public rating downgrade criteria, this is a quantitative question that we intend to
address with future empirical work.*®

* Note that the rating agencies took another wave of rating actions on RMBS in October.
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Figure 17: Change in Serious Delinquency on Mortgages Referenced by the ABX
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Figure 18: ABX Implied Spreads and Remittance Reporting Dates
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Table 31: Rating Changes in RMBS and Home Equity ABS, by Year

ERany R R LS Bl S i R St Ry 2
2002 2.90% 13.80% 48.80% 1.50% 4.00% 9.10% 2.90% 13.20% 46.40%
2003 L70% 10.10% 38.50% 0.70% 290% 11.10% 10.60% 9.60% 36.30%
2004 0.90% 6.20% 34.30% 170% 3.90% 44.00% 0.90% 6.20% 35.00%
2003 0.60% 3.60% 20.90% 3.30% 18.50% 85.40% 0.70% 4.90% 28.00%
2006 13.40% 48.00% R.10% 60.00% 84.50% 91.80% 16.70% 52.30% 92.00%

Positive

2.10% 20.80% 17.30% | 63.60% 23.50%
280% | 8.60% | 2640% | 920% | 30.10% | 8330% | 290% 10.00% 3050% |
120% | 330% | 1500% | 720% | 2230% @ 5600% | 140% 430% 17.90%
T000% | 0.00% | 000% | S30% . 960% | 39.60% | 020% 0.90% 440%
0.00% | 000% | 0.00% | 000% | 000% | 0.00% | 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Source: Moodys (26 October 2007)

Table 32: Rating Transition Matrices
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2.50% | 3B80% | 2790% | 660% | (60% | 050% | 0011 183 0 140
T00% | 3260% | 3580% . 1L80% | 0.50% | 0064 | 0.089 71 o
S60% U3E0 | 1780% | 610% | 0l4s 0425 1 [} 0
[T 0051 0379 % 0 %
Souree: Moodys (26 October 2007)

6. The reliance of investors on credit ratings: A case study
A recent New York Times Editorial (08/07/2007) writes:

Protecting pensioners from bad investments will not be easy. A good place to start would be to make rating
agencies more accountable, perhaps by asking regulators to monitor their quality. Many pension plans lack the
analytical skills needed to evaluate these investments, relying on outside advisers and rating agencies. But the
stellar triple-A rating assigned to many of these bonds proved to be misleading -- with the agencies now rushing to
downgrade them.
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In a recent Fortune article by Benner and Lachinsky (5 July 2007), Ohio Attorney General
Marc Dann claims that the Ohio state pension funds have been defrauded by the rating
agencies. “The ratings agencies cashed a check every time one of these subprime pools was
created and an offering was made. [They] continued to rate these things AAA. [So they are]
among the people who aided and abetted this continuing fraud.” The authors note that Ohio
has the third-largest group of public pensions in the United States, and that The Ohio Police &
Fire Pension Fund has nearly 7 percent of its portfolio in mortgage- and asset-backed
obligations:

Dann and a growing legion of critics contend that the agencies dropped the ball by issuing investment-grade
ratings on securities backed by subprime mortgages they should have known were shaky. To his mind, the
seemingly cozy relationship between ratings agencies and investment banks like Bear Stearns only heightens the
appearance of impropriety.

In this section, we review the extent to which investors rely on rating agencies, focusing on the
case of this Ohio pension fund, drawing upon on public disclosures of the fund.

» Overview of the fund
» Fixed-income investment guidelines
e Conclusions

6.1. Overview of the fund

The Ohio Police & Fire Pension Fund (hitp://www.op-f.org/) is a cost sharing multiple-
employer public employee retirement system. The fund provides pension and disability
benefits to qualified participants, survivor and death benefits as well as access to health care
coverage for qualified spouses children, and dependent parents. In 2006, the fund had 912
participating employers from police and fire departments in Ohio municipalities, townships,
and villages. Membership in the plan at the end of 2006 included 24,766 retired employees and
28,026 active employees. At the end of 2006, the fund had an investment portfolio of $11.2
billion. The fund’s total rate of return was 16.15 percent in 2006 and 9.07 percent in 2005,
each relative to an assumed actuarial rate of return of 8.25 percent.

Fund adequacy

The current actuarial analysis performed on the pension benefits reflects an “infinite”
amortization period and a funding level of 78.3 percent. While the fund believes that the
current funding status is strong, Ohio law requires that a 30-year amortization period is
achieved.®® A plan was approved by the Board and submitted to ORSC that included major
changes to health care funding and benefits, and a recommendation that the legislature amend
the law to provide for member contribution increases and employer contribution increases.
However, the legislature has not taken action on the recommended contribution increases.

* Page ix in the 2006 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, available at http:/www.op-
f.org/downloads/reports/CAFR2006.pdf.
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Portfolio composition

Table 33 documents the exposure of the total fund to different asset classes. Atthe end of
2006, about 6.7% of total assets are invested in mortgages and mortgage-backed securities.

Table 33: Investment Portfolio
Ex

2.15
L o S B 100.0
Seurce: 2006 Comprehensive Annual Fi ial Report, Ohie Police & Fire Pension Fund

Table 34 documents the composition of the investment-grade fixed-income portfolio in 2006
and 2005. Non-agency MBS are likely included in the first four columns of the second row,
which report the amount of mortgage and MBS broken out by credit rating, At the end of 2006,
it appears that the fund held $740 million in non-agency MBS which had a credit rating of A-
or better. Moreover, note that the share of non-agency MBS in the total fixed-income portfolio
increased from 12% (245/2022) in 2005 to 34% (740/2179) in 2006. In other words, the
pension fund almost tripled its exposure to non-agency MBS. Further, note that this increase in
exposure to risky MBS was at the expense of exposure to MBS backed by full faith and credit
of the United States government, or an agency or instrumentality thereof, which dropped from
$489.6 million to $58.9 million.
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Fixed Income Investment Portfolio for 2006 [2005]

$179.9 $2.1 $783.7
[$187.6] [$416.2] [$2.91 | [$709.5]
$740.4 $58.9 $799.4
[$245.01 [$489.61 [$734.6]
$37.7 $377
[$3.8] [$3.8]
[$36.4] [$36.4]
$623 $62.3
[829.4] [$29.4]
$496.1 $496.1
[$508.5] [$508.5]
$958.1 | $73.0 | $4382 | $695 | $6174 $2.1 $2179.3
[$472.8] | [$67.1] | [$416.2] | [$35.8] | [$1027.5] 1$2.91 | [$2022.3]

Sorc : 06 Cx ‘ prel ive Annual Fi ial Report, Ohio Police & Fire Pension Fund

In order to better understand the motivation for such a shift, consider Table 35, which
illustrates spreads on the ABX and credit derivatives (CDS) by credit rating during 2006.
While MBS backed by full faith and credit trade at close to zero credit spreads, securities
secured by subprime loans pay significantly higher spreads.

154 48 133 43

LBbE
Source: ABX from Markit tranche coupon; CDS spread from Markit, average across US firms for S-year contract with

modified restructuring documentation clause.

6.2. Fixed-income asset management

From the investment guidelines in the 2006 annual report:

The fixed-income portfolio has a target allocation of 18% of total fund assets, witha
range of 13% to 23%. The portfolio includes investment grade securities (target of
12%), global inflation-protected securities (target of 6%), and commercial real estate
(target of 0% and maximum of 2%).

The investment grade fixed income allocation will be managed solely on an active basis
in order to exploit the perceived inefficiencies in the investment grade fixed income
markets.

The return should exceed the return on the Lehman Aggregate Index over a three-year
period on an annual basis.
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e The total return of each manager’s portfolio should rank above the median when
compared to their peer group over a three-year period on an annualized basis and should
exceed their benchmark return as specified in each manager’s guidelines.

Mandates (from ORC Sec 742.11)

L

vk W

6.

7.

The main focus of investing will be on dollar denominated fixed income securities. Non-
US dollar denominated securities are prohibited.

. The composite portfolio as well as each manager’s portfolio shall have similar portfolio

characteristics as that of the Lehman Aggregate Index.

Issues must have a minimum credit rating of BBB- or equivalent at the time of purchase.
Each manager’s portfolio has a specified effective duration band.

For diversification purposes, sector exposure limits exist for each manager’s portfolio. In
addition, each manager’s portfolic will have a minimum number of issues.

Each manager’s portfolio has a maximum threshold for the amount of cash that may be held
at any one time.

Each manager’s portfolio must have a dollar-weighted average quality of A or above.

Note that the Lehman Aggregate Index has a weight of less than one percent on non-agency
MBS.

Asset management

In 2006, the fund’s assets were 100% managed by external investment managers. The fixed-
income group is comprised of eight asset managers who collectively have over $2.2 trillion in
assets under management (AUM). They are (with AUM in parentheses):

JPMorgan Investment Advisors, Inc. ($1.1 trillion, 2006)
Lehman Brothers Asset Management ($223 billion, 2006)
Bridgewater Associates ($165 billion, 2006)

Loomis Sayles & Company, LP (§115 billion, 2006)
MacKay Shields LLC ($40 billion, 2006)

Prima Capital Advisors, LLC (81.8 billion, 2006)
Quadrant Real Estate Advisors LLC ($2.7 billion, 2006)
Western Asset Management ($598 billion, 2007)

® & @ @& & & & o

The 2005 performance audit of this fund suggested that investment managers in the core fixed
income portfolio are compensated 16.3 basis points. The fund paid these investment managers
approximately $1.304 million in 2006 in order to manage an $800 million portfolio of
investment-grade fixed-income securities. While the 2006 financial statement reports that these
managers out-performed the benchmark index by 26 basis points (= 459 - 433), this was
accomplished in part through a significant reallocation of the portfolio from relatively safe to
relatively risk non-agency mortgage-backed securities. One might note that after adjusting for
the compensation of asset managers, this aggressive strategy netted the pension fund only 10
basis points of extra yield relative to the benchmark index, for about $2.1 million.
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7. Conclusions

While this paper focuses on the securitization of subprime mortgages, many of the basic issues
— intermediation and the frictions it introduces — are generic to the securitization process,
regardless of the underlying pool of assets. The credit rating agencies play an important role in
resolving or at least mitigating several of these frictions.

Our view is that the rating of securities secured by subprime mortgage loans by credit rating
agencies has been flawed. There is no question that there will be some painful consequences,
but we think that the rating process can be fixed along the lines suggested in the text above.

However, it is important to understand that repairing the securitization process does not end
with the rating agencies. The incentives of investors and investment managers need to be
aligned. The structured investments of investment managers should be evaluated relative to an
index of structured products in order to give the manager appropriate incentives to conduct his
own due diligence. Either the originator or the arranger needs to retain unhedged equity
tranche exposure to every securitization deal. And finally, originators should have adequate
capital so that warranties and representations can be taken seriously.
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Appendix 1: Predatory Lending

Predatory lending is defined by Morgan (2007) as the welfare-reducing provision of credit. In
other words, the borrower would have been better off without the loan. While this practice
includes the willful misrepresentation of material facts about a real estate transaction by an
insider without the knowledge of a borrower, it has been defined much more broadly. For
example, the New Jersey Division of Banking and Insurance (2007) defines predatory lending
as an activity that involves at least one, and perhaps all three, of the following elements:

« Making unaffordable loans based on the assets of the borrower rather than on the
borrower's ability to repay an obligation;

» Inducing a borrower to refinance a loan repeatedly in order to charge high points and
fees each time the loan is refinanced ("loan flipping"); or

« Engaging in fraud or deception to conceal the true nature of the loan obligation, or
ancillary products, from an unsuspecting or unsophisticated borrower.

Loans to borrowers who do not demonstrate the capacity to repay the loan, as structured, from
sources other than the collateral pledged are generally considered unsafe and unsound. Some
anecdotal examples of predatory lending:

Tra and Hazel purchased their home in 1983, shortly after getting married, financing their purchase with a loan
from the Veterans” Administration. By 2002, they had nearly paid off their first mortgage. The elderly couple gota
call from a lender, urging them to consolidate all of their debt into a single mortgage. The lender assured the
husband who had excellent credit that the couple would receive an interest rate between 5-6% which would reduce
their monthly mortgage payments. However, according to the couple, when the lender came to their house to have
them sign the paperwork for their new mortgage, the lender failed to mention that the loan did not contain the low
interest rate which they had been promised. Instead, it contained an interest rate of 9.9% and an annual percentage
rate of 11.8%. Moreover, the loan contained 10 "discount points" ($15,289.00) which were financed into the loan,
inflating the loan amount and stripping away the elderly couple’s equity. Under the new loan, the monthly
mottgage payments increased to $1,655.00, amounting to roughly 57% of the couple’s monthly income.
Moreover, the loan contained a substantial prepayment penalty, forcing them to pay approximately $7,500 to
escape this predatory loan.

Source: Center for Responsible Lending (2007)

In 2005, Betty and Tyrone, a couple living on the south side of Chicago, took out a refinance loan with a lender in
order to refurnish their basement. “We just kept asking them whether we were going to remain on a fixed rate,
and they just kept lying to us, telling us we’d get a fixed rate,” Betty alleges in a lawsuit against lender. As they
later discovered, however, the terms of the loan were not as they expected. Not only did the loan have an
adjustable rate that can go as high as 13.4 percent, but the couple allege that the lender faisely told them that their
home had doubled in value since they had bought it a few years earlier, thus qualifying them for a larger loan
amount. As the lender didn’t give them copies of their loan documents at closing, and the couple did not realize
that the terms had been changed until well after the three-day period during which they could legally cancel the
loan. They have since tried to refinance, but have been unable to find another lender willing to lend them the
amount currently owed, as the artificially-inflated appraisal value has in effect trapped them in a loan with a rising
interest rate.

Source: Gourse (2087)

One scheme targets distressed borrowers at risk of foreclosure. The predator claims to the borrower that it is

necessary to add someone else with good credit to the title, and their good credit will help secure a new loan on
good terms. After the title holder uses the loan to make payments for a year, predator claims that the title would
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be transferred back to the original borrower, However, predator cashes most of the remaining equity out of the
house with a larger loan, and leaves the distressed borrower in a worse situation.
Source: Thompson (2006}

The Center for Responsible Lending has identified seven signs of a predatory loan:

e Excessive fees, defined as points and other fees of five percent or more of the loan

« Abusive prepayment penalties, defined as a penalty for more than three years ot in an
amount larger than six months interest

¢ Kickbacks to brokers, defined as compensation to a broker for selling aloanto a
borrower at a higher interest rate than the minimum rate that the lender would be
willing to charge

o Loan flipping, defined as the repeated refinancing of loans in order to generate fee
income without any tangible benefit to the borrower

e Unnecessary products

o Mandatory arbitration requires a borrower to waive legal remedies in the event that loan
terms are later determined to be abusive

e Steering and targeting borrowers into subprime products when they would qualify for
prime products. Fannie Mae has estimated that up to half of borrowers with subptime
mortgages could have qualified for loans with better terms

The role of the rating agencies

The rating agencies care about predatory lending to the extent that federal, state, and local faws
might affect the amount of cash available to pay investors in residential mortgage-backed
securitizations (RMBS) in the event of violations, Moody's analysis of RMBS transactions
“includes an assessment of the likelihood that a lender might have violated predatory lending
laws, and the extent to which violations by the lender would reduce the proceeds available to
repay securitization investors” (Moody’s, 2003).

In particular, Moody’s requires that loans included in a securitization subject to predatory
lending statutes satisfy certain conditions: (1) the statue must be sufficiently clear so that the
lender can effectively comply; (2) the penalty to the trust for non-compliance is limited; (3) the
lender demonstrates effective compliance procedures, which include a third-party review; (4)
the lender represents that the loans comply with statutory requirements and agrees to
repurchase loans that do not comply; (5) the lender indemnifies the trust for damages resulting
from a particular statute; (6) the lender’s financial resources and commitment to the business
are sufficient to make these representations meaningful; and (7) concentration limits manage
the risk to investors when penalties are high or statues are ambiguous.
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Appendix 2: Predatory Borrowing:

While mortgage fraud has been around as long as the mortgage loan, it is important to
understand that fraud becomes more prevalent in an environment of high and increasing home
prices. In particular, when home prices are high relative to income, borrowers unwilling to
accept a low standard of living can be tempted into lying on a mortgage loan application.
When prices are high and rapidly increasing, there is an even greater incentive to commit fraud
given that the cost of waiting is an even lower standard of living. Rapid home price
appreciation also increases the return to speculative and criminal activity. Moreover, while
benefits of fraud are increasing, the costs of fraud decline as expectations of higher future
prices create equity that reduces the probability of default and severity of loss in the event of
default.

In support of this claim, the IRS reports that the number of real-estate fraud investigations
doubled between 2001 and 2003. Recent statistics from the FBI and Financial Crimes Network
(FINCEN) document that suspicious activity reports (SARs) filed by federally-regulated
institutions related to mortgage fraud have increased from 3,500 in 2000 to 28,000 in 2006.
The Mortgage Asset Research Institute (2007) estimates that direct losses from mortgage fraud
exceeded $1 billion in 2006, more than double the amount from 2005. The rapid slowdown in
home price appreciation has made it more difficult to buy and seil houses quickly for profit, is
quickly revealing the extent to which fraud permeated mortgage markets. For example,
subprime and Alt-A loans originated in 2006 have experienced historical levels of serious early
payment default (EPD), defined as being 90 days delinquent only three months after
origination. Moody’s (2007) notes that EPDs appear to be driven by borrowers using the loan
to purchase for investment purposes, as opposed to borrowers refinancing an existing loan or
purchasing a home for occupancy.

Predatory borrowing is defined as the willful misrepresentation of material facts about a real
estate transaction by a borrower to the ultimate purchaser of the loan. This financial fraud
might also involve cooperation of other insiders — realtors, mortgage brokers, appraisers,
notaries, attorneys. The victims of this fraud include the ultimate purchaser of the loan (for
example a public pension), but also include honest borrowers who have to pay higher interest
rates for mortgage loans and prices for residential real estate. Below, 1 summarize the most
common forms of predatory borrowing.

Fraud for housing

Fraud for housing constitutes illegal actions perpetrated solely by the borrower in order to
acquire and maintain ownership of a home. This type of fraud is typified by a borrower who
makes misrepresentations regarding income, employment, credit history, or the source of down
payment. A recent example from Dollar (2006):

A real estate agent would tell potential home buyers that they could receive substantial funds at closing under the
guise of repair costs that they would be able to use for their personal benefit so long as they agreed to purchase
certain “hard to sell” homes at an inflated price. Brokers would facilitate the submission of fraudulent loan
applications for the potential homeowners that could not qualify for the loans. In some cases temporary loans
were provided to buyers for down payments with the understanding they would be reimbursed at closing from the
purported remodeling or repair costs, marketing services fees and other undisclosed disbursements. The buyers in
those cases would falsely represent the sources of the down payments.
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Fraud for profit

Fraud for profit refers to illegal actions taken jointly by a borrower and insiders to inflate the
price of a property with no motivation to maintain ownership. The FBI generally focuses its
effort on fraud perpetrated by industry insiders, as historically it involves an estimated 80
percent of all reported fraud losses. A recent example from Hagerty and Hudson (2006):

The borrowers, who include truck drivers, factory workers, a pastor and a hair stylist, say they were duped by
acquaintances into signing stacks of documents and didn’t know they were applying for loans. Instead, they
thought they were joining a risk-free “investment group.” Now, many of the loans are in default, the borrowers’
credit ratings are in ruins, and lenders are pursuing the organizers of the purported investment group in court.
Companies stuck with the defaulting loans include Countrywide Financial Corp., the nation’s largest home lender,
and Argent Mortgage Co., another big lender. A lawsuit filed by Countrywide accuses the organizers of acquiring
homes and then fraudulently selling them for a quick profit to the Virginia borrowers. Representatives of the
borrowers put the total value of loans involved at about $80 million, which would make it one of the largest
mortgage-fraud cases ever.

A summary by the Federal Bureau of Investigation of some popular fraud-for-profit schemes:

#  Property flipping involves repeatedly selling a property to an associate at an artificially inflated price
through false appraisals.

e A silent second the non-disclosure of a loaned down-payment to a first lien lender.

»  Nominee loans involve concealing the true identify of the true borrower, who use the name and credit
history of the of the nomines’s name to qualify for a loan. The nominee could be a fictitious or stolen
identity.

» Inflated appraisals involve an appraiser acts in collusion with a borrower and provides a misleading
appraisal report to the fender.

+  Foreclosure schemes involve convineing homeowners who are at risk of defaulting on loans or whose
houses are already in foreclosure to transfer their deed and pay up-front fees. The perpetrator profits
from these schemes by re-mortgaging the property or pocketing fees paid by the homeowner,

o Equity skimming involves the purchase of a property by an investor through a nominee, who does not
make any mortgage payments and rents the property until foreclosure takes place several months later,

®  Air Loans involve a non-existent property loan where a broker invents borrowers and properties,
establishes accounts for payments, and maintains custodial accounts for escrows.

Souree: Federal Bureau of Investigation

The role of the rating agencies

(Moedy’s, 1996) claim that the vast majority of all securitizations are tightly structured to
eliminate virtually all fraud risk. The risk of fraud is greatest when

structures and technology developed for large, established issuers are mis-applied to smaller,
less experienced issuers. Moreover, the lack of third-party monitors or involvement of entities
with little or no track record increases the risk of fraud. The authors identify three potential
types of fraud in a securitization:

e borrower fraud: the misrepresentation of key information during the application process
by the borrower

« fraud in origination: misrepresentation of assets by the originator before securitization
occurs, resulting in assets which do not conform with transaction’s underwriting
standards
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e servicer fraud: the deliberate diversion, commingling, or retention of funds that are
otherwise due to investors; the risk most significant among unrated, closely-held
servicers that operate without third-party monitoring.

ComFed is a historical example of fraud in a mortgage securitization:

The parties involved at ComFed exaggerated property values to increase the volume-oriented commissions that
they received for originating loans. To increase underwriting volumes still more, ComFed employees granted
loans to unqualified borrowers by concealing the fact that these obligors had financed down payments with
second-lien mortgages.

To prevent such instances of lower-level fraud, the originator’s entire underwriting process
should be reviewed to ensure that marketing and underwriting capacities remain entirely
separate. Personnel involved in credit decisions should report to executives who are not
responsible for marketing or sales. Underwriters” compensation should not be tied to volume;
rather, if an incentive program is in place, the performance of the originated loans should be
factored into the level of compensation.

(Moody’s, 1996) claim that exposure to fraud can be minimized by the following:

+ determine the integrity and competence of the management of the seller/servicer of a
transaction through due diligence and background checks

e complete a thorough review of the underwriting process, including lines of reporting
and employee compensation, to eliminate interests conflicting with those of investors

e establish independent third part monitoring of closely held entities with little external
accountability that originate or service assets

* consider internal and external factors that could influence a servicer’s conduct during
the life of a securitization

This statement makes it clear that it is largely the responsibility of investors to conduct their
own due diligence in order to avoid becoming victims of fraud.

Investors do receive a small but important amount of protection against fraud from
representations and warranties made by the originator. Standard provisions protect investors
from misinformation regarding loan characteristics, as well as guard against risks such as fraud,
previous liens, and/or regulatory noncompliance.

{Moody’s, 2005a) documents that an originator’s ability to honor it obligation is the crucial
component in evaluating the importance of these warranties. An investment grade credit rating
often suffices to meet this standard. Otherwise, the rating agency claims that it will review
established practices and procedures in order to ensure compliance and adequate tangible net
worth relative to the liability created by the representations and warranties.
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Appendix 3: Some Estimates of PD by Rating

A credit rating at a minimum provides an ordinal risk ranking: an AAA rating is better (in the
sense of lower likelihood of default and loss) than an AA rating which is better than a BBB
rating, and so on. More useful, however, is a cardinal ranking which would assign a numerical
value such as a PD to each rating. Roughly speaking obligor PDs increase exponentially as one
descends the credit spectrum.

The three major rating agencies have seven broad rating categories as well as rating modifiers,
bringing the total to 19 rating classes, plus ‘D’ (default, an absorbing state™) and ‘“NR (not
rated — S&P, Fitch) or *WR’ (withdrawn rating — Moody’s).”' Typically ratings below ‘CCC?,
e.g. ‘CC’ and ‘C, are collapsed into *“CCC’, reducing the total ratings to 172 Although the
rating modifiers provide a finer differentiation between issuers within one letter rating
category, an investor may suffer a false sense of accuracy. Empirical estimates of PDs using
credit rating histories can be quite noisy, even with over twenty-five year years of data. Under
the new Basel Capital Accord (Basel 2), U.S. regulators would require banks to have a
minimum of seven non-default rating categories (FRB, 2003).

A detailed discussion of PD accuracy is given in Hanson and Schuermann (2006), but in Table
36 we provide smoothed one-year PD estimates using S&P ratings histories from 1981-2006
for their global corporate obligor base. We present estimates at both the grade and notch level.
Guided by the results Hanson and Schuermann (2006), we assign color codes to the PD
estimates reflecting their estimation accuracy, with green being accurate, yellow moderately
and red not accurate.® Hanson and Schuermann, using a shorter sample period (1981-2002),
show that 95% confidence intervals of notch-level PD estimates are highly overlapping for
investment grades (AAA through BBB-) but not so for speculative grades (BB through CCC).
Since the point estimates for investment grade ratings are very small, a few basis points or less,
it is effectively impossible to statistically distinguish the PD for an AA-rated obligor from an
A-rated one. Indeed the new Basel Capital Accord, perhaps with this in mind, has set a lower
bound of 3bp for any PD estimate (BCBS 2005, §285), commensurate with about a single-A
rating.

*% One consequence of default being an absorbing state arises when a firm re-emerges from bankruptcy, They are
classified as a new firm.

3 The CCC (S&P) and Caa (Moody’s) ratings contain all ratings below as well — except default, of course. Fitch
uses the same labeling or ratings nomenclature as S&P.

* Sometimes a C rating constitutes a default in which case it is included in the *D’ category. For no reason other
than convenience and expediency, we will make use of the S&P nomenclature for the remainder of the paper.

¥ Accurate (green) means that adjacent notch-level PDs are statistically distinguishable, moderately accurate
(yellow) means that PDs two notches apart are distinguishable, and not accurate (red) means that PDs two notches
apart are not distinguishable (but may be so three or more notches apart),

75



202

Rating Smoothed Smoothed PD
Categories  PD estimates estimates

(notch level)  (grade level)*
AAA 0.02 002
AA+ 0.06

AA
AA-
A+

0.8

2.1

835

BBB- 126
BB+ 22.5
BB 40.1

Table 36: S&P one-year PDs in basis points (1981 - 2006), global obligor base. Each entry

is the average of two approaches: cohort based on monthly migration matrices and duration or
intensity based.

3 Note that grade level PD estimates for a given grade, say AA, need not be the same as the mid-point of the notch

level PD estimate because a) PDs increase non-linearly (in fact approximately exponentially) as one descends the
ratings spectrum, and b) the obligor distribution is uneven across (notch-level) ratings.
* Includes all grades below CCC.
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U.S. Senate Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs
Subcommittee on Securities, Insurance, and Investment
Hearing on “Transparency in Accounting:

Proposed Changes to Accounting for Off-Balance Sheet Entities”
September 18, 2008
Written Testimony of Elizabeth F. Mooney, CFA, CPA
Accounting Analyst
Capital Group Companies

Thank you Chairman Reed, Ranking member Allard, and committce members for the
opportunity to be here today to testify on the topic of accounting for off-balance-sheet
entities and activities, a very important issue to investors.

I am an analyst with the Capital Group Companies, an organization which, through affiliates,
manages the American Funds Family as well as institutional, endowment and private client
accounts. Capital Research Global Investors, Capital World Investors and Capital Guardian
Trust Company are long-term investors in equities and fixed income securities globally, We
are one of the largest active investment managers with over $1 trillion of assets under
management representing over 55 million accounts primarily for individuals and institutions,
We employ over 9,000 people globally. We conduct extensive, fundamental, on-the-ground
company research and we rely heavily on financial statements prepared by public companies.
For more information about The Capital Group Companies, please see our website

WwWww.Capgroup.com.

Additionally, T am a member of the Financial Accounting Standard Board’s (FASB) Investor
Task Force and the Investors Technical Advisory Committee (ITAC), the FASB and the
International Accounting Standards Board’s (IASB) Joint Advisory Committee for the
Financial Statement Presentation Project (JIG), and am a former member of FASB’s
Advisory Council (FASAC).!

At the Capital Group Companies, we feel that it is critical that the views of investors be
considered in the formulation of accounting standards. So, thank you, again, for the
opportunity to be here.

The key points I wish to emphasize are as follows:

1. The current rules are inadequate and allow institutions to have too much involvement
and risk exposures with entities off the balance sheet.

2. While the FASB rule proposals have just been released and I have not fully studied
them, my preliminary view is that together they represent a good response and
significant improvement over what we have today. Reforms in this area should be
adopted on a timely basis.

! For more information about ITAC, FASAC, ITF and JIG, see FASB.org and IASB.org.
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3. The SEC should enforce the new rules as enacted and not weaken them or permit
management or auditors to weaken them through interpretation as it did with the
current rules. The inadequate accounting as well as the weak enforcement of the
current rules equally contributed to the recent well-documented transparency
problems.

4. The Congress should be supportive of FASB’s efforts and not undermine them. In
the oversight capacity with respect to the SEC, Congress should monitor and
encourage enforcement of the new rules. Congress does not need to legislate in this
area.

5. The FASB rule proposals are better than the current international standards and we
are waiting to see improvements to IASB’s draft proposal. The US should not adopt
the IFRS rules if they are not substantially equivalent to FASB’s rules. We must be
sure this fix is not undone if IFRS rules are adopted in the U.S. U.S. and
International standard setters should converge to the highest-quality accounting and
disclosure requirements.

6. Investors are an important constituent without a sufficient voice at the table in
accounting standard setting. The FASB and IASB should expand investor
representation on their boards.

First I will give you my view of why the issue of off-balance-sheet accounting is extremely
important to investors. Then I will address what I consider to be some of the important
elements of an accounting solution to this issue.

It is well accepted that the lack of transparency in financial reporting creates unwarranted
confusion and unnecessarily produces higher cost of capital, misallocates capital across
industries and distorts securities valuations. In particular, the accounting for securitizations
and special-purpose entities (SPEs) lacks sufficient transparency for efficient capital markets,
and has been a contributing cause to the current financial crisis. In this decade, investors
have suffered substantial losses over this accounting issue, twice: once after Enron and again
in the current mortgage crisis. The present problems in the financial markets are directly
linked to insufficient reporting of exposures on the balance sheet and confusion between
what is exposure and what is not.

Many of the losses incurred over the last year stemmed in part from companies” ability to
easily transfer loans and other assets to off-balance-sheet entities - entities for which
investors often have limited information, with inadequate accounting for, or disclosure of, the
risks retained by such companies. As of March 2008, the International Monetary Fund (IMF)

% Securitization is defined by Investopedia as “The process through which an issuer creates a financial
instrument by combining other financial assets and then marketing different tiers of the repackaged instruments
to investors.” ar http://www investopedia.com/terms/s/securitization.asp.  Securitization is the sale or transfer
of assets in exchange for cash; the assets are typically transferred to a special-purpose entity (SPE), which raises
cash by issuing securities, i.e. the repackaged instruments.
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forecasted $720 billion® of potential losses primarily on asset-backed securities, which are
complex securities typically collateralized by loans and receivables transferred off balance
sheets. Often the economics of these transactions were structured financings, yet those assets
and Habilities did not appear on the balance sheets, and when the assets declined in value, the
accompanying risks and losses were also not apparent to investors or regulators.

Two recent academic papers discuss research on the reasons why loan securitizations result
in poor loan origination and screening practices and higher default rates, particularly in the
subprime debacle. Research by A. Mian and A. Suffi with The University of Chicago in
January 2008 concluded:

“We directly link the disintermediation process [i.e., the process in which
organizations sell mortgages in the secondary market shortly after origination] to
credit expansion, house price appreciation, and ultimate defaults by showing that
these changes take place in precisely those zip codes that experienced the greatest
increase in disintermediation.”*

Also, research by B. Keys et al. in January 2008 found:

“Conditional on being securitized, the portfolio that is more likely to be securitized
defaults by around 20% more than a similar risk profile group with a lower
probability of securitization,"®

In the recent past, during a period of easy credit availability and without transparent
accounting that accurately reflects risks, financial institutions appeared especially profitable
and attracted capital to the sector. They also added many jobs. In summary, employment,
industry practices, corporate profits, capital allocation, executive compensation, risk
management and prudential regulation may be adversely impacted by poor reporting of
structured financings. Investors have been surprised that accounting in this area has not been
made more transparent since Enron. Iz is clearly time to set forth transparent, high quality
accounting and disclosure requirements and to enhance the way the standards are
implemented and enforced by auditors and the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

In its letter to FASB dated February 15, 2008, the ITAC wrote:
“The general consensus of the ITAC: the reporting of securitization transactions

currently provided to investors has significant deficiencies, and has contributed to
uncertainty and volatility in the capital markets. Accordingly, we applaud and support

? International Monetary Fund. Global Financial Stability Report, Containing Systemic Risks and Restoring
Financial Soundness, Table 1.1, 12. (April 2008), (Estimated potential losses of the financial sector in total,
including unsecuritized loan losses, were $945bn as of March 2008), ar
http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/gfsr/2008/01 /pdfitext.pdf.

* Atif Mian & Amir Sufi, The Consequences of Morigage Credit Expansion: Evidence from the 2007 Morigage
Default Crisis, p. 2, 5 (Jan. 2008), at

http://faculty chicagogsb.edu/workshops/finance/pdf/MianSufi_Housing.pdf.

> Benjamin I. Keys, et al., Securitization and Screening: Evidence From Subprime Morigage Backed Securities,
(Jan. 2008), at http://'www2.law.columbia.edu/contracteconomics/conferences/laweconomicsS08/Vig%20paper.pdf.
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efforts of the FASB to improve financial transparency that will allow investors to
make fuily informed and timely decisions.”®

Now, I will move on to discuss some important elements of a transparent, high-quality
accounting solution.

First, put a stop to financial-engineering opportunities that allow inaccurate reporting of risk
and reward profiles. We now know that a number of companies have retained substantial
risks in many of their off-balance-sheet entities, while providing at best only limited
disclosures to investors regarding their off-balance-sheet risks. Financial reporting should
result in the substance of transactions, rather than their oblique “engineered legal forms”
being reported to investors. Financial engineering should not result in companies being able
to report financial results and conditions that misrepresent the underlying economics of their
businesses, and to report balance sheets that omit millions or billions of dollars of liabilities,
or fail to disclose significant risks. When a public company effectively controls or has power
over the assets and liabilities of other entities, those entities along with their assets and
liabilities should be consolidated by the company on the face of its balance sheet. There may
not be any legal obligation for sponsoring institutions to financially support their off-balance-
sheet entities, but sponsors have demonstrated willingness to lend to their off-balance-sheet
entities and take losses for them, and therefore have significant moral or substantive recourse
and other strings attached that need to be considered in the accounting.’

In its letter to FASB dated February 15, 2008, the ITAC expressed similar views:

“Short-term repairs to Statement [of Financial Accounting Standards No.] 140
[Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of
Liabilities] will do nothing to address the issue of structured investment vehicles (STVs)
and other similar asset-backed securitization transactions that are not effected through a
QSPE [Qualifying Special Purpose Entity] (e.g., many ABCP [Asset-Backed
Commercial Paper] transactions), most of which did not exist on the balance sheets of
companies that have originated them and have benefited from their borrowing
activities. We believe investors have not been provided with meaningful information
about potential risks associated with such activities — partly attributable to the
insufficient balance-sheet accounting for them despite the application of Interpretation
46R, and partly attributable to the lack of full-throated disclosures. Such vehicles have
been the cause of much market tumult over the last six months, and there appears to be
a substantial lack of transparency surrounding them.”®

Moreover, in its letter to FASB dated July 31, 2003, the Corporate Disclosure Policy
Committee (CDPC, formerly the Financial Accounting Policy Committee) of the CFA
Institute wrote the following:

¢ Letter from Investors Technical Advisory Committee, to Robert Herz, Chairman, FASB, (February 15, 2008),
available af http://www.fasb.org/investors_technical_advisory_committee/ITAC_Stmt140.pdf.

" FASB has incorporated the notion of substantive obligations into accounting for other commitments, for
example Statements 87 and 106 addressing accounting for pensions and post-retirement obligations.

8 Letter from Investors Technical Advisory Committee, supra, footnote 6.
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“The [CDPC] has expressed its concern on several occasions with companies'
continued ability under current accounting standards to hide assets and obligations by
removing them from the financial statements. Statements that understate assets or
liabilities and other risks of a company severely impair the usefulness of the
information to investors and other users. The needs of investors for complete,
reliable, relevant and timely financial information should supersede all other
interests,”®

What is on-balance sheet for accounting purposes is about conveying to investors
information and judgments made by management and agreed to by its auditors. The
objective of financial reporting is not to achieve appropriate regulatory capital; that is a
different matter between the banks and banking regulators. If the Federal Reserve believes it
appropriate for prudential regulation to have temporary regulatory forbearance on capital and
reserve requirements that is fine, but in my opinion bank regulators should not manage the
financial reporting to investors. That is, if regulators think transparency in financial
reporting results in asset sales and therefore excessive losses, then regulators could prevent
forced deleveraging by easing up on capital requirements. If the economics are such that
banks regulators think holding more or less capital would be prudent then that should be
required despite the accounting.

Accounts reported on the face of the financial statements are most critical and relevant to
investors. The accounts represent the starting point to financial analysis, which must be
complemented by high-quality footrote disclosures. Numerous academic studies' reinforce
this notion and suggest that data in financial statement footnote disclosures are lower quality
and taken far less seriously by companies, auditors, and investors, than what is reported on
the face of the financial statements. It is common knowledge in the accounting field that
disclosures are an inadequate substitute for good accounting; rather good disclosures must go
hand in hand with good accounting.

Second, the accounting solution should be accompanied with useful disclosures. It is
important that companies provide additional information that augments and explains items on

the face of financial statements so users may understand financial risks and benefits facing
companies, and forecast future cash flows. A few examples, and there are many more, of
information that should be included in disclosures to investors are as follows:

? Letter from Financial Accounting Policy Committee (FAPC), CFA Institute, to Suzanne Bielstein, FASB (July
31, 2003). ("The FAPC has expressed its concern on several occasions with companies’ continued ability under
current accounting standards to hide assets and obligations by removing them from the financial statements.
Staternents that understate assets or liabilities and other risks of a company severely impair the usefulness of the
information to investors and other users, The needs of investors for complete, reliable, relevant and timely
financial information should supersede all other interests."), available at
hitp://www.cfainstitute.org/centre/topics/comment/2003/03fas_proposal .html.

1 K atherine Schipper, Required Disclosures in Financial Reports, The Accounting Review, 82 (2): 301-326
(2007). Robert Libby, Mark W, Nelson, & James E. Hunton, Recognition v. Disclosure, Auditor Tolerance for
Misstatement, and the Reliability of Stock-Compensation and Lease Information, Journal of Accounting
Research, 44 (3): 533 (2006). Anwer S. Ahmed, Emre Kilic, & Gerald I. Lobo, Does Recognition Versus
Disclosure Matter? Evidence From Value-Relevance of Banks' Recognized and Disclosed Derivative Financial
Instruments, The Accounting Review 81 (3): 567588 (2006). Preeti Choudhary, Reliability of Recognition
versus Disclosure in Input Assumptions to Compensation Expense, (2006), available at
http://papers.ssm.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract id=945398.
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¢ Complete and accurate information about the company's continuing involvement in
assets that it has transferred to SPEs.

¢ The nature and financial effect of restrictions on the SPE assets, especially on the
assets carried on the balance sheet.

« Sufficiently disaggregated information about assumptions used to value retained
interests and sensitivity to those assumptions.

o [fthere is any continuing involvement with the assets transferred, the company
should disclose information about the assets and liabilities transferred, including
understandings, terms of any arrangements or other circumstances that could require
or compel the company to provide financial support to the SPEs (e.g. economic
compulsion, dependency, implicit or indirect guarantees).

e Information about how the company has benefited from or provided any support to
the SPE or its beneficial interest.

Third, a high-quality, workable and effective accounting solution should be in place without
further delay from the timing in the current FASB proposal.'' Regulators worldwide have
expressed concern about the market impact of poor financial reporting of off-balance-sheet
exposures, and have urged accounting standard setters to act. For instance:
» Inits report to Congress in June 20035, SEC Staff identified off-balance-sheet
financial reporting as an area needing improved transparency in reporting. 2
» The Financial Stability Forum (FSF) highlighted in its report issued to the G7 group
of Finance Ministers and Central Bank Governors that “a lack of adequate and
consistent disclosure of risk exposures and valuations continues to have a corrosive
effect on confidence,”" and recommended that “Standard setters take urgent action to
improve and converge financial reporting standards for off-balance-sheet vehicles.”
» The European Commission has indicated concern about insufficient disclosures
regarding securitization activity and exposures.'*
» The Senior Supervisots Group in its letter to the FSF expressed a similar view.

15

" FASB, Exposure Draft on Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R), Accounting for Transfers of
Financial Assets - an amendment of FASB Statement No. 140, FSP FAS 140-e and FIN 46(R)-¢ (September
2008), available at http://www.fasb.org/draft/index.shtml.

"2 SEC Office of the Chief Accountant, Office of Economic Analysis and Division of Corporate Finance, Report
and Recommendations Pursuant to Section 401 (c) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 On Arrangements with
Off-Balance Sheet Implications, Special Purpose Entities, and Transparency of Filings by Issuers, submission
to the President of the United States, the Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs of the United
States Senate and the Committee on Financial Services of the United States House of Representatives, June 15,
2005. (Staff wrote that it “believes that investors—and the market as a whole—are best served by financial
information that is presented fully and clearly... What presents difficulties for investors, as well as the market as
a whole, is a lack of information about potential positive and negative cash flows.™), at

http://www sec.gov/news/studies/soxoffbalancerpt.pdf.

'* Financial Stabitity Forum, Report of the Financial Stability Forum on Enhancing Market and Institutional
Resilience, p. 4, 22. Materials issued to the G7 group of Finance Ministers and Central Bank Governors, April
7, 2008; endorsed by the G7, April 11, 2008, ar http:/www.fsforum.org/publications/r_0804.pdf.

' Katie McCaw & Jonathan Walsh, Basel I Big Bang: Full Implementation of the CRD, Baker & McKenzie's
Securitisation & Structured Capital Markets Newsletter Edition 5, (2008). (In the article the law firm states, “The
[European] Commission's view is that there is insufficient disclosure of firms' securitisation activity generally
(including their use of offshore special purpose vehicles), as well as a great deal of uncertainty about firms'
individual exposures to securitisation transactions).
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» The President’s Working Group on Financial Markets recommended that “Authorities
should encourage FASB to evaluate the role of accounting standards in the current
market turmoil. ... include[ing] an assessment of the need for further modifications to
accounting standards related to consolidation and securitization,...” '

Moreover, since 1999, CFA Institute members have repeatedly expressed their need for
better information through their responses to its surveys on corporate reporting and
disclosures. In three surveys conducted, respondents consistently ranked information about
off-balance-sheet items as being the most important of the corporate disclosures listed in the
survey questionnaire. In addition, respondents consistently ranked the quality of off-balance-
sheet disclosure near the bottom, resulting in the largest informational gap for those
disclosures listed in the survey.!?

Investors should not have to wait any longer for progress to be made in financial reporting of
off-balance-sheet activities. The numerous attempted accounting improvements over the
years'® have not worked. Indeed, for many years, standard setters have thoroughly studied
the accounting for off-balance-sheet entities, and they have researched it particularly
intensively over the last couple of years. The IASB and FASB understand that both IFRS
and US GAAP derecognition standards need improvement. In the Information for Observers
handout distributed in advance of the joint IASB/FASB meeting on April 21, 2008, it
highlighted that “Statement 140 was then [in 2006] deemed to be irretrievably broken, and
still is despite ongoing repair and maintenance work. [AS 39 was then, and still is, viewed by
many as internally inconsistent, and anecdotal evidence indicates that it is inconsistently
applied in practice.”'® Accordingly, both the FASB and IASB should achieve a standard that
results in the substance of these transactions being reflected in the balance sheets and
income statements of public companies.

'3 Senior Supervisors Group, Observations on Risk Management Practices during the Recent Market
Turbulence, March 6, 2008. Transmittal letter from William L. Rutledge, Chairman, to FSF Chairman Mario
Draghi. “[Wle will support efforts in the appropriate forums to address issues that may benefit from discussion
among market participants, supervisors, and other key players (such as accountants). One such issue relates to
the quality and timeliness of public disclosures made by financial services firms and the question whether
improving disclosure practices would reduce uncertainty about the scale of potential losses associated with
problematic exposures. Another may be to discuss the appropriate accounting and disclosure treatments of
exposures to off-balance-sheet vehicles.”), at
http://www.newyorkfed.org/newsevents/news/banking/2008/SSG_Risk_Mgt_doc_final.pdf.

' The Presidents Working Group on Financial Markets, Policy Statement on Financial Market Developments,
p. 6, (March 2008), at http://www.ustreas.gov/press/releases/reports/pwgpolicystatemktturmoil _03122008.pdf.
71 etter from CDPC, CFA Institute to SEC (December 7, 2007). Re: File Number $7-20-07

Concept Release on Allowing U.S. Issuers to Prepare Financial Statements in Accordance With International
Financial Reporting Standards. available at
http://www.cfainstitute.org/centre/topics/comment/2007/pdficoncept_release_reporting.pdf.

8 See e.g. AICPA Statement of Position {SOP) 74-6;, Financial Accounting Standard No. (FAS) 77, FAS 125,
FAS 140; Emerging Issues Task Force Consensus 90-15 (1990), FASB Interpretation No. (FIN) 46, FIN 46R;
FASB Staff Position (FSP) papers, and Q&A Implementation Guidance.

' Note from the JASB/FASB, Completing the February 2006 Memorandum of Understanding: Developing a
progress report and timetable for convergence between IFRSs and US GAAP (Agenda paper 3) issued at the
TASB/FASB Joint Meeting, (April 21, 2008), p. 11, at http//www iasplus.com/resource/0804j030bs.pdf.
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Fourth. the U.S. and International standard setters should converge to the highest-quality
accounting and disclosure requirements. Our experience is that both IFRS and US GAAP
accounting did not sufficiently capture important off-balance-sheet exposures over the last
year, and the disclosures were poor. We noted that in a number of issued annual and interim
balance sheets, income statements and footnote disclosures, investors were not advised that
off-balance-sheet risk of loss existed. The FSF has recommended that the IASB im?rovc the
accounting and disclosure requirements for off-balance-sheet entities and activities.”® Recent
research by PriceWaterhouseCoopers®' found meaningful deficiencies and incomparability in
financial reporting of structured finance activities and entities under IFRS.

In my view the FASB’s proposal® is superior to current IFRS, and the IASB Staff Working
Draft ED,* however that Draft appears fairly fluid and not yet approved by IASB board
members. In the latest available Draft proposal prepared by IASB Staff, a financial
institution could avoid putting a SIV on the balance sheet despite having significant
involvement with the SIV, including participating in the SIV’s governing body and having
sufficient voting rights to appoint directors, servicing and administering the SIV’s assets and
liabilities, appointing its management personnel, dominating the major contracts and having
meaningful reputation risk. Because of that risk, a financial institution could have the
obligation to absorb losses, which could potentially be significant. IASB has not yet
responded to investor concerns on this issue and should adopt FASB’s anticipated new
approach and disclosures if it would be more useful than IASB’s current draft proposal and
help make a better financial reporting system. It is important at this juncture that we have a
coordinated global effort to improve the accounting and enforcement in order to ensure a
level playing field and the highest quality compliance with the new rules.

Fifth, the SEC, external auditors, audit committees, and management should be held
accountable if they fail to implement and enforce the standard for securitizations and special-
purpose entities. Once we have a clear and high-quality accounting standard that makes
sense, compliance can follow. If it does not, then Congress should support the SEC,
auditors, and standard setters to properly enforce the accounting in the interest of investors.
A high-quality accounting standard is of limited value to investors and other market
participants if enterprises fail to comply with its requirements, including disclosures.
Investors should be able to rely on financial statements and the accompanying disclosures to
report the risks and substance of the economics of transactions, including those that are
structured financings and not true sales, rather than be left in the dark as current accounting
standards permit.

There has been poor compliance and enforcement of the existing accounting rules for
securitizations and special-purpose entities put in place following the Enron debacle. FASB
Chairman Mr. Bob Herz highlighted several compliance issues in his letter to Senator

» Financial Stability Forum, supra, footnote 13, p. 25.

! PriceWaterhouseCoopers, Accounting for Change: Transparency In the Midst of Turmoil, (August 2008), at
http://www.pwe.com/Extweb/onlineforms.nsf/doc

2 FASB, supra, footnote 11.

B 1ASB, Exposure Draft on Proposed Improvements to IFRSs, (August 2008), available at

http:/fiash org/About+Us/About+the+1ASB/Response+totthetcreditterisis.htinl, Round table meetings on
Consolidation, 03 September 2008.
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Reed. The SEC must responsibly enforce compliance with the new accounting and
disclosure requirements concurrent with the new standard becoming effective, rather than
wait until another crisis develops. The SEC through its Division of Corporation Finance
should engage in a targeted review of compliance through its comment letter process with
the objective of reducing diversity in practice and improving comparability in application
and implementation before any SEC enforcement would be needed. Knowing that an SEC
review of their implementation of the standard was coming, companies would then have a
good incentive to have transparent financial reporting, and investors would benefit in the
process.

If the accounting is transparent and complied with, then companies would have every
incentive to pull together sufficient information to conduct proper internal risk management,
regulators would have the data to enforce the rules and prudentially regulate, and investors
would have the information for valuing the companies in which they invest and for holding
managements and boards accountable.

Sixth, the FASB and IASB should have more investor members and better investor
participation in the accounting standard setting process. We believe the boards of trustees,
i.e. both the Financial Accounting Foundation (FAF) and International Accounting Standards
Committee Foundation (IASCF), should actively seek out, and have as voting FASB and
IASB members, several people from the investment community with significant experience
using financial statements in the research process. We also believe the trustees of the FASB
and TASB should include significant representation from among such investors. Simply
stated, investor participation is critical to developing high-quality, transparent, relevant,
consistent and comparable accounting standards.

ok k

In conclusion, the current lack of transparency has real economic costs including
unwarranted confusion and unnecessarily high cost of capital, misallocated capital across
industries over the long term, discounted securities valuations through higher risk premiums
and uncertainty penalties, and also costs employment practices, people’s savings and
livelihoods. 1t is critical for U.S. and non-U.S. capital markets to receive the information
necessary for market participants to analyze transactions, so that market disciplinary and
capital allocation mechanisms can properly function. If high-quality, properly-enforced
financial reporting and information is provided on a timely basis, then reasonable investors
can quickly digest it and move forward. If not, market inefficiencies get created that can
have unfortunate outcomes for investors, the capital markets and the economy. We must

* Letter from FASB Chairman Bob Herz to The Honorable Jack Reed , p. 13-14, March 31, 2008, “[W]e have
questions about compliance with the existing standards and requirements in the following areas:
a. The use of QSPEs to securitize assets for which decisions were required that may have extended beyond
those specified in legal documents.
b. The completeness and reasonableness of probability assessments used in estimating expected losses for
determining the primary beneficiary of a securitization entity.
c. Whether all involvements with a securitization entity were considered in determining the primary
beneficiary (including, for example, implied guarantees and support arrangements).
d. The adequacy of disclosures made pursuant to the requirements.”
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have truth and accountability in financial reporting to help put the current credit and
confidence crisis behind us.

Thank you. That concludes my remarks and I would be happy to answer any questions
committee members might have.
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L Introduction
Chairman Reed, Ranking Member Allard and Members of the Subcommittee on
behalf of the American Securitization Forum (ASF)' and the Securities Industry and

Financial Markets Association (SIFMA)?, 1 appreciate the opportunity to testify today on

" The American Securitization Forum (“ASF™) is a broadly-based professional forum of participants in the
U.S. securitization market. Among other roles, ASF members act as issuers, underwriters, dealers,
investors, servicers and professional advisers working on securitization transactions. More information
about ASF and its involvement in financial accounting matters may be found at
www.americansecuritization.com. ASF is an adjunct forum of SIFMA.

2 SIFMA brings together the shared interests of more than 650 securities firms, banks and asset managers.
SIFMA'’s mission is to promote policies and practices that work to expand and perfect markets, foster the
development of new products and services and create efficiencies for member firms, while preserving and
enhancing the public’s trust and confidence in the markets and the industry. Additional information
concerning SIFMA, its members and activities may be found at www sifma.org.



214

transparency in accounting, specifically in connection with proposed changes to
accounting for off-balance sheet entities under U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP). We commend you for holding this hearing on this timely and
important topic.

1 am here today representing the views of ASF and SIFMA, whose members
collectively include securitization issuers, investors, financial intermediaries and other
institutions involved in the U.S. securitization market. Over the years, our organizations
and members have interacted extensively with FASB on issues relating to securitization
accounting and financial market accounting matters. Specifically with reference
to accounting for securitizations and off-balance sheet entities, we have submitted
detailed comments and recommendations on multiple previous FASB proposals,
participated in public roundtable meetings and educational sessions sponsored by FASB,
and have engaged in an ongoing dialogue with federal regulators and other

policymakers.

1L The Role of Accounting Standards in Securitization Transactions
Transparent, timely and accurate accounting is of critical importance to the

quality and utility of financial reporting for securitization transactions, and to the efficient

functioning of the financial markets generally. We therefore strongly support the need

for high quality accounting standards governing when financial assets may be removed
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from a transferor’s” balance sheet, as well as accounting standards governing
consolidation and financial reporting for off-balance sheet entities.

As the Committee is aware, FASB has projects underway to revise relevant
accounting standards in these areas under U.S. GAAP. These include FAS 140, which
deals with accounting for transfers of financial assets, and FIN 46R, which governs
consolidation of special purpose entities. In basic terms, FAS 140 governs when
financial assets transferred by an entity should be considered as a sale for accounting
purposes (in which case those assets are removed from the transferor’s balance sheet)
versus when that transfer should be considered as a secured borrowing for accounting
purposes (in which case the assets remain on the transferor's balance sheet). FIN 46R
governs when assets transferred to a special-purpose entity — as further described below,
typically a stand-alone entity that exists solely to facilitate a financing transaction — must
nevertheless be consolidated on the balance sheet of another entity.

These accounting standards are important in a variety of commercial and financial
market contexts. They are of particular relevance to the world of securitization and
structured finance, where on- or off-balance sheet accounting treatment for
transactions may have significant business and economic consequences.

Securitization and structured finance are terms that include a wide range of capital
markets transactions that provide funding and liquidity for an equally wide range of
consumner and business credit needs. These include securitizations of residential and
commercial mortgages, automobile loans, student loans, credit card financing, equipment

loans and leases, business trade receivables, and the issuance of asset-backed commercial

? “Transferor” refers to the entity that transfers financial assets into a special purpose entity (which may be
an off-balance sheet entity) that issues securities, the payments upon which are supported primarily by
cashflows generated by the financial assets.
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paper, among others. Collectively, securitization represents by far the largest segment of
the debt capital markets in the United States, with over $10 trillion mortgage and asset-
backed securities currently outstanding.

Securitization transactions can take a variety of forms, but most share several
common characteristics. First, securitizations typically rely on cashflows generated by
one or more underlying financial assets (such as mortgage loans), which serve as the
principal source of payment to investors, rather than on the general credit or claims-
paying ability of an operating entity. Securitization thus often allows the entity that
originates or holds the assets to fund those assets more efficiently, since cashflows
generated by the securitized assets can be structured, or “tranched,” in a way that can
achieve targeted credit, maturity or other characteristics desired by investors. To realize
this efficiency, most securitizations rely on transaction structures that isolate the assets
that are the principal source of investor payments from other assets that may be held on
an originator's balance sheet. Second, to achieve this isolation of assets, many
transaction structures utilize a special purpose entity, or SPE (also sometimes referred to
as a special purpose vehicle, or SPV), which exists solely to hold assets that are
transferred to it for purposes of securitization, and to issue securities to investors that are
backed by cashflows produced by those assets.

Historically and today, many (but not all) securitizations that utilize SPEs
to isolate assets for purposes of financing those assets in capital markets transactions
qualify for off-balance sheet accounting treatment under relevant U.S. GAAP accounting
guidance, including the current versions of FAS 140 and FIN 46R. Common
securitization transaction structures — including the segregation of assets in off-balance

sheet SPEs — are long-established, extensively disclosed and well-understood by
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investors and other securitization market participants. The funding efficiencies that can
be realized via securitization (including off-balance sheet financing) are ultimately passed
through to borrowers — both consumers and businesses — who have access to a wider
range of credit at lower cost. This is because the sale of assets via securitization and
removal of those assets from the transferor’s balance sheet generates capital and liquidity
that can be used for additional asset origination, often at funding costs that are superior to

those available from other financing techniques.

III.  Views on Current Accounting Standards Projects Affecting Off-Balance
Sheet Entities; Potential Market Impacts

FASB is presently engaged in projects that would significantly revise current
accounting standards under FAS 140 and FIN 46R. On September 15th, 2008, FASB
issued comprehensive proposed revisions to FAS 140 and FIN 46R, with public
comments due by November 14th. FASB’s current projects represent the latest phase in
an almost continuous dialogue that has taken place regarding revisions and adjustments to
these standards ever since they were initially issued. In the case of FAS 140, there have
been multiple revisions projects, technical amendments, FASB staff positions and other
guidance proposed and enacted since the original adoption of FAS 125 (the predecessor
standard to FAS 140) in 1995. FIN 46 has experienced a similar history. Shortly after
the original adoption of FIN 46 in January 2003, FASB revised the standard via the
adoption of FIN 46R in December 2003, and there have been ongoing interpretative,
operational and practical issues surrounding the application of this standard since that

time. In early 2008 FASB announced its current projects to revise FAS 140 and FIN
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46R, and established a deadline for implementing theses changes. That deadline was
subsequently extended to January 2010.

We agree that given the importance of FAS 140 and FIN 46R, the continuing
policy debate about the appropriate accounting treatment and financial reporting and
disclosure standards for off-balance sheet entities, and the continuing difficulties that
have been encountered by both preparers and users of financial statements in applying
these standards in a clear, consistent, operational and transparent manner, that
a comprehensive revisitation and revision by FASB is in order. We also recognize that
FASB and other policymakers believe that speedy and decisive actions are necessary in
response to the ongoing credit and liquidity crisis confronting our nation’s financial
markets. However, we are very concerned that FASB’s current course of action and
timetable, in which it appears that FASB may adopt far-reaching changes to FAS 140 and
FIN 46R in the near term without considering other, and possibly superior accounting
frameworks, may have serious and unintended consequences. We believe that a 60-day
public comment period* does not provide adequate time to consider the proposed
revisions and other possible alternatives, before final decisions are made on how current
accounting standards will change.

To the extent that FASB’s current proposals result in abrupt revisions to existing
derecognition guidance and/or the widespread consolidation of securitization SPEs,
these outcomes would likely swell the balance sheets of affected entities, impairing
financial ratios and financial covenant performance and regulatory capital tests. Without

sufficient time to consider appropriate regulatory, rating agency and other responses to

* The effective comment period is less than 60 days for organizations like ours, who intend to participate in
FASB’s public roundtable meeting on November 6" to discuss the proposed changes
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such far-reaching changes in accounting, regulated entities will face potentially
significant capital constraints, and both regulatory and unregulated entities will face
substantial challenges (and their capital raising efforts will be complicated) by being
forced to explain dramatic changes in their financial statements to investors and lenders,
with potentially little or no change to the economics of the subject transactions. As
further discussed below, significant accounting changes that are unrelated to changes in
the economic or risk profile of securitizations may lead not only to capital constraints, but
also to a diminution of credit and liquidity available to consumers and businesses
generally.

Moreover, accounting policy changes under U.S. GAAP without meaningful
convergence of international accounting standards in this area risks a prolonged drain on
the time and resources of FASB and industry members alike, as further changes to
derecognition and consolidation policies are virtually certain to result from the eventual
convergence process. In this context, we note that the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) recently issued its own proposed staff guidance on these
topics, which differs from the approach suggested in FASB’s current proposals.

Given that the SEC has recently proposed a roadmap for U.S. public companies to
adopt International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as early as 2010, we believe
that these revisions projects should be coordinated with the IASB. The IASB also has a
project on its agenda to develop a new standard on derecognition and ultimately, the two
Boards will seek to issue a converged standard. We believe that implementing these short
term revisions and then a different converged standard in several years would be very
costly and burdensome for preparers. The two Boards should coordinate to issue a

converged standard instead of issuing these short term revisions.
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We appreciate that FASB extended (in response to recommendations from
industry participants and others) their originally-announced deadline for completing these
revisions projects by one year. However, we remain very concerned that FASB is
nevertheless moving forward with proposed revisions that could have dramatic and far-
reaching consequences, without allowing for a full discussion and deliberation of possible
policy alternatives. Given what is at stake, we believe that a more thorough and
deliberative process is essential, and will produce better outcomes for accounting policy,
the economy and the markets in both the short and long term.

Banks, finance companies and other entities, possibly including Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac, that currently do not consolidate the issuing entities used in securitizations
may be required to consolidate some or all of those entities. The affected transactions
may include many garden variety transactions (such as prime mortgage loan, credit card,
student loan and retail automobile loan securitizations) that have not been contributing
factor to the current credit and liquidity crisis. From this perspective, the revisions being
contemplated affect large markets that provide substantial funding for U.S. consumers
and businesses. As of December 31, 2007, the aggregate outstanding balance of
potentially affected transactions include:

o $7.2 trillion mortgage-related securities;

o $2.5 trillion other asset-backed securities (excluding asset-backed commercial
paper); and

e $816 billion asset-backed commercial paper
Although we cannot presently estimate which or how many of these transactions
would be affected by the proposed changes, consolidation of even a significant fraction

would be a momentous change, with significant market and economic consequences.
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These could include a material reduction in the availability and increase in the cost of
credit, precisely at the time that the availability of capital, credit and liquidity are severely

constrained throughout the financial markets.

IV. FASB Should Proceed Carefully and Deliberately in Considering Changes to
Existing Standards, and Should Consider Other Alternatives, Including “Linked
Presentation”

While we agree that changes in disclosure and financial reporting by entities
engaged in securitization transactions that involve on- and off-balance sheet entities
should be pursued, we believe that it is essential for FASB to take the time necessary to
produce a standard that will result in an improvement in accounting in these areas, rather
than merely produce a change for the sake of change, or to meet an arbitrary deadline for
making those changes.

As noted above, FASB has been involved in multiple projects relating to
securitization accounting in recent years. There are a number of reasons why these
initiatives have required the expenditure of significant time and resources to resolve.
Among others, the subject transactions are often complex; the market is relatively young
and has evolved and grown rapidly; and FASB and the IASB have historically taken
different approaches in this area, which are the subject of an ongoing international
accounting standards convergence project. Undue haste to revise accounting standards
applicable to securitization transactions and off-balance sheet entities will be
counterproductive if it prevents FASB and other policymakers from giving full

consideration to other accounting policy options, direct and indirect consequences of
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proposed accounting policy changes, and possible compensating adjustments to bank
capital rules and other regulations.

1t is important to remember that over-consolidation of SPEs can be just as
confusing to users of financial statements as under-consolidation. We believe that a
binary, “all-or-nothing” approach to consolidation (where an entity consolidates either all
or none of the assets transferred to a securitization SPE) can produce these distorted
effects. To prevent this from happening, we believe that more nuanced approaches
should be considered, and in particular, approaches that (1) enable users of financial
statements to differentiate between assets that are truly controlled by the consolidated
reporting entity versus those that have been isolated from that entity and its creditors, and
(2) appropriately recognize differences between and among prevailing structures used for
various asset classes. For several years, ASF has advocated “linked presentation” as a
concept with great potential as part of a final resolution of current issues and ambiguities
surrounding securitization accounting. Unfortunately, FASB has indicated that it does
not have sufficient time to consider the relative merits of a linked presentation approach
prior to moving forward with the current, proposed revisions to FAS 140 and FIN 46R.
We disagree, and strongly advocate that FASB engage in a full exploration of linked
presentation — among other possible alternatives — as part of the current round of
accounting policy changes.

Briefly, under a linked presentation approach, the liabilities that are issued in
securitizations would be shown on the asset side of the balance sheet, as a deduction from
the amount of securitized assets. Linked presentation in essence results in an on-balance
sheet financial statement presentation, as it would provide users with all relevant

information regarding transferred assets directly on the balance sheet.

10
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The principle behind this approach is that to the extent a transfer of financial
assets qualifies as a sale under FAS 140, and those assets have been legally isolated from
the transferor, it is more appropriate and relevant to present as a liability on the balance
sheet of the transferor only the amount of recourse that exists to the general assets of the
transferor. Where legal isolation has been established, the transferor no longer has access
to the transferred assets, and the cash flows generated by those assets would be used only
to repay the related obligations. In this circumstance, we believe that it would be
inappropriate to require the transferor to consolidate on its balance sheet all of the assets
and liabilities of the securitization SPE, as clearly the transferor is neither fully entitled to
the benefits of those assets nor fully exposed to those liabilities. Although significant
additional work will be needed to define the conditions under which linked presentation
may be used, and to specify the elements of this approach, we continue to believe that a
linked presentation model along these broad conceptual lines is worth pursuing. ASF and
SIFMA stand ready to work with FASB and other policymakers to develop an effective

and operational linked presentation model.

V. Conclusion

Once again, ASF and SIFMA appreciate this opportunity to convey our views.
We stand ready to work with the Subcommittee, FASB, regulatory agencies and our
members to develop and implement sound and operational accounting standards
governing securitization transactions, and would be pleased to provide any additional

information that may be helpful in achieving that goal.
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